AUTOIMMUNE RESPONSES

TO THYROID/BREAST SHARED ANTIGENS

TO DEVELOP NOVEL AND SPECIFIC

THERAPIES AND DIAGNOSTICS

By Dr. Ilaria Muller



Thyroid Research Group

Centre for Endocrine and Diabetes Sciences

School of Medicine

A dissertation submitted to Cardiff University in accordance

with the requirements of the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy (PhD), School of Medicine

January 2016

AUTHOR'S DECLARATION

This work has not been submitted in substance for any other degree or award at this or any other university or place of learning, nor is being submitted concurrently in candidature for any degree or other award.

Signed (candidate) Date

STATEMENT 1

This thesis is being submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of PhD

Signed (candidate)

Date

STATEMENT 2

This thesis is the result of my own independent work/investigation, except where otherwise stated.

Other sources are acknowledged by explicit references. The views expressed are my own.

Signed (candidate) Date

STATEMENT 3

I hereby give consent for my thesis, if accepted, to be available for photocopying and for inter-library loan, and for the title and summary to be made available to outside organisations.

Signed (candidate) Date

STATEMENT 4: PREVIOUSLY APPROVED BAR ON ACCESS

I hereby give consent for my thesis, if accepted, to be available for photocopying and for inter-library loans after expiry of a bar on access previously approved by the Academic Standards & Quality Committee.

Signed (candidate) Date

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First of all, I want to thank my supervisors, Prof. Marian Ludgate and Prof. Colin Dayan, for their incredible support during this PhD. Not only they provided excellent guidance, scientific expertise and generous availability, but they have also been invaluable in their support for personal circumstances. In fact these years of PhD coincided with one of the worst period of my life: my mother unfortunately was diagnosed with metastatic lung cancer just a few months after the beginning of my PhD and she died one year ago. I am an only child so during the last 2.5 years I had been travelling constantly to Italy and spent there lots of my time. Despite this, I have been able to submit my PhD thesis at the earlier possible submission deadline, since I registered for the PhD last July 2013. For this I have again to thank my extraordinary supervisors, that did all they could to help me in this difficult period. And especially to Marian, that spent her Christmas 2015 holidays correcting my thesis! I will never forget this!

I want also to thank the rest of the wonderful "thyroid research group" team: Dr. Fiona Greenan-Jones, Dr. Shazli Mohd Draman, Dr. Lei Zhang, Dr. Peter Taylor, Charlotte Hales, Dionne Shillabeer, Dr. Ameen Bakhsh, Dr. Mark Lewis, Giulia Masetti, Dr. Ioannis Ladas, Lynne Hope and Lynn Taylor. Some of them are still here, some have now gone, but they will also be present in my mind and heart. A big thank also to my work roommates (and friends) Dr. Mohammad Alhadj Ali and Dr. Maitrayee Choudhury, that encouraged me every day and brightly tolerated my mood swings in this difficult time.

I want also to thank Prof. Claudio Giani, my previous Italian supervisor for having established a few years ago a precious research collaboration with Marian and Colin: if today I am here, studying and working in Cardiff, I owe this to him. Moreover, the topic of breast cancer and thyroid autoimmunity has always been his favourite one and he spent all his life studying it. Now that he has retired, I promise that I will do my best to continue to investigate this research field.

Then I want of course to thank my whole family, that gave me the opportunity to study and to follow my passion for research. And in particular thanks Mum: I have surely inherited from you the love and dedication to the study, as well as your tenacity and stubbornness! I would really like if you could see my efforts and results: you have always been proud of me and encouraged me in my work and study. Really many thanks for this.

Last but not least, I would like to thank Pierfrancesco, the most important person in my life. He has always been supportive in my work, even if this required to leave Italy and to move to the UK, alone. This period of separation and serious personal issues has incredibly strengthened our union and one day, I am sure, we will find the way to live closer again.

Finally, I would like to report specific thanks for some chapters:

- Chapter 2: this project has been supported by the "2013 Tenovus Innovation Grant" of Tenovus your cancer charity (Cardiff, Wales, UK), where I was the Principal Investigator. I am also grateful to Dr. P.A. Smanik and Dr. S.M. Jhiang for the provision of hNIS cDNA and to Dr S. Costagliola [IRIBHM (Institute of Interdisciplinary Research in Molecular Human Biology), Université Libre de Bruxelles, Brussels, Belgium] for the gift of the NIS antibody VJ2.
- Chapter 3: this project has been supported by the 2010 grant "3E Program Exchange in Endocrinology Expertise" of the European Board of Endocrinology of the UEMS, where I was the Principal Investigator. I am also grateful to Fiona Ruge, Department of Surgery, School of Medicine, Cardiff University, for providing her technical expertise with immunofluorescence. I would also like to thank Alenka Janezic from Cardiff University for the gift of the APRT plasmid.
- Chapter 4: this project has been supported by the same grant of chapter 2: the 2013 Tenovus Innovation Grant of Tenovus Cancer Care (Cardiff, Wales, UK), where I was the Principal Investigator. I also thank all the patients who participated in this study and all the investigators involved in the TACT trial [funded by Cancer Research UK; The Institute of Cancer Research Clinical Trials & Statistics Unit (ICR-CTSU), London, UK, also receives core funding from Cancer Research UK]. I also thank Lucy Kilburn and Prof. Judith Bliss (ICR-CTSU) for performing the statistical analysis and Prof. Peter Barrett-Lee (Breast Cancer Centre, Velindre NHS Trust, Cardiff, UK) for providing his expertise in breast cancer. I am also grateful to Dr. Carol Evans and her team (Department of Medical Biochemistry, School of Medicine, Cardiff University) for running the laboratory assays.

ABSTRACTS AND PUBLICATIONS ARISING FROM THIS WORK

PEER-REVIEWED PUBLICATIONS

- Does thyroid peroxidase provide an antigenic link between thyroid autoimmunity and breast cancer? Muller I, Giani C, Zhang L, Grennan-Jones FA, Fiore E, Belardi V, Rosellini V, Funel N, Campani D, Giustarini E, Lewis MD, Bakhsh AD, Roncella M, Ghilli M, Vitti P, Dayan CM, Ludgate ME. International Journal of Cancer. 2014 Apr 1;134(7):1706-14. Epub 2013 Oct 15
- The sodium iodide symporter is unlikely to be a thyroid/breast shared antigen. Muller I, Zhang L, Giani C, Dayan CM, Ludgate ME and Grennan-Jones F. Journal of Endocrinological Investigation. 2015 Aug; DOI 10.1007/s40618-015-0368-6
- Thyroid autoimmunity as a biomarker of outcome in women with breast cancer: a large scale study using data from the Taxotere as Adjuvant Chemotherapy Trial (TACT CRUK01/001). Muller I, Kilburn LS, Taylor PN, Barrett-Lee P, Bliss JM, Ellis P, Ludgate ME and Dayan CM. Planned to be submitted to the Journal of the American Medical Association Spring 2016.

ABSTRACTS PRESENTED AT INTERNATIONAL MEETINGS

- 15th International Thyroid Congress (ITC) 2015 (18th-23rd Oct), Orlando, Florida, USA: Short Oral Communication and Poster Presentation. I have also been awarded as Finalist of the ITC 2015 Trainee Poster Contest. "Thyroid autoimmunity as a biomarker of outcome in women with breast cancer large scale study using data from the Taxotere as Adjuvant ChemoTherapy (TACT) trial (CRUK01/001)".
- ETA 2014 (6th-10th Sep), Santiago de Compostela, Spain: Poster Presentation.
 "Investigating the sodium iodide symporter (NIS) as a possible candidate shared antigen in thyroid autoimmunity and breast cancer".

ABSTRACTS PRESENTED AT NATIONAL MEETINGS

15th November 2013, Postgraduate Research Day, Cardiff University: I planned a Poster Presentation but family illness prevented me from attending. "Does thyroid peroxidase provide an antigenic link between thyroid autoimmunity and breast cancer?"

- 12th December 2014, Postgraduate Research Day, Cardiff University: I planned a Poster Presentation but family illness prevented me from attending. "Shared immune response in thyroid autoimmunity and breast cancer: the sodium iodide symporter (NIS) is unlikely to be involved".
- 12th November 2015, Infection & Immunity meeting, Cardiff University: Poster Presentation. "Analysis of links between thyroid autoimmunity and breast cancer".
- 27th November 2015, Postgraduate Research Day, Cardiff University: Poster Presentation. "Thyroid autoimmunity as a biomarker of outcome in women with breast cancer - large scale study using data from the Taxotere as Adjuvant Chemotherapy Trial (TACT) CRUK01/001".

SUMMARY

An association between breast cancer (BC) and thyroid autoimmunity (TA) has been frequently observed and several small-scale studies correlated the presence of thyroid peroxidase (TPO) autoantibodies (TPOAb) with an improved BC outcome. The presence of an immune response to shared thyroid/breast antigens has been hypothesized: both tissues express the sodium iodide symporter (NIS) and have a peroxidase activity: TPO in thyroid and lactoperoxidase (LPO) in breast. I have identified 3 possibilities: i) BC patients with TPOAb may also have autoantibodies to NIS (NISAb) ii) BC may express TPO iii) TPOAb may cross-react with LPO in BC. This thesis aimed to identify the TA/BC shared antigen(s) and also investigated the prognostic role of TPOAb in a large cohort of BC patients.

The presence of NISAb was investigated by flow cytometry using CHO cells stably transfected with human NIS. No positive response was obtained in 42 patients with BC and/or TA, therefore NIS is unlikely to be an antigen.

TPO transcripts (RT-PCR, QPCR, LongRange PCR) and protein (western blot, immunohistochemistry, immunofluorescence) were detected in BC tissues but at levels 10^4 times less than in thyroid tissue. TPO was also expressed in adipose tissue and different cancers. Some potentially BC specific TPO isoforms were identified.

The observational large-scale study conducted on 1974 women affected with BC did not reveal any evidence for a significant impact of TPOAb and/or thyroid function on BC prognosis.

In conclusion, BC and thyroid tissues share similar properties and could be common targets of TA, with TPO being the most likely common antigen; further studies are needed to clarify the role of tissue-specific TPO isoforms. The roles of TPOAb and thyroid function on BC prognosis have to be reconsidered, maybe focusing on different TA aspects (e.g. goitre, different autoantibodies).

٧I

ABBREVIATIONS

А	adenosine
AA	amino acid
Ab	antibody
AC	adenylate cyclase
AD	adipose tissue
ADP	adenosine diphosphate
AD-A	abdominal adipose tissue
AD-K	adipose tissue from knee
AD-O	orbital adipose tissue
AD-S	subcutaneous adipose tissue
Ag	antigen
AITD	autoimmune thyroiditis
APC	antigen-presenting cell
Арс-Су7	Allophycocyanin - cyanine Cy-7 tandem conjugate
APRT	adenine phosphoribosyltransferase
APS	ammonium persulfate
ATP	adenosine triphosphate
ATPase	adenosine triphosphatase
A _{260/280}	absorbance at 260 and 280 nm
BC	breast cancer
BC/TA	(patients affected with) breast cancer and thyroid autoimmunity
bp	base pairs
BSA	bovine serum albumin
BTD	benign thyroid disorders
С	cytosine
cAMP	3',5'-cyclic adenosine monophosphate
CA15.3	cancer antigen 15.3
Ca ²⁺	calcium ion
ССР	complement control glycoprotein
cDNA	complementary deoxyribonucleic acid
CD25	cluster of differentiation 25
CD40	cluster of differentiation 40
CEA	carcinoembryonic antigen
СНО	Chinese hamster ovary
CHO-NIS	CHO cells transfected with pcDNA3-hNIS
CHO-NIS-1	CHO-NIS clone 1

CHO-NIS-6	CHO-NIS clone 6
CHO-Empty	CHO cells transfected with empty pcDNA3 vector
cm ²	squared centimeter
CO	controls (patients affected with non-autoimmune thyroid disorders)
CTCs	circulating tumour cells
ctDNA	circulating tumour DNA
CTLA-4	cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated molecule-4
C cells	calcitonin-producing parafollicular cells
dH ₂ O	distilled water
DIT	3,5-diiodo-L-tyrosine
DM	diabetes mellitus
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
dNTP	deoxy-nucleoside triphosphate
DUOX1	dual oxidase 1
DUOX2	dual oxidase 2
D1	deiodinase 1
D2	deiodinase 2
D3	deiodinase 3
E	culture medium supplemented with 1nm 6-estradiol
EDTA	ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
EGF	epidermal growth factor
EGTA	ethylene glycol tetraacetic acid
EI	culture medium supplemented with 1nm $\ensuremath{\texttt{6}}\xspace$ -estradiol/100ng/uL IGF-II
ELISA	enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
EPO	eosinophil peroxidase
ER	oestrogen receptor
ER+	oestrogen receptor positive
ER-	oestrogen receptor negative
ESR	erythrocyte sedimentation rate
Fab	variable region of immunoglobulins
Fc	constant region of immunoglobulins
FCS	foetal calf serum
FFPE	formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded
FGF	fibroblast growth factor
FISH	fluorescence in situ hybridization
FITC	fluorescein isothiocyanate

Flow buffer	PBS/0.5% BSA/2mM EDTA/20 mM Hepes
FOXP3	forkhead box P3
FRTL-5	Fisher rat thyroid line
FSC	forward scatter
FSH	follicle-stimulating hormone
FT3	free-Triiodothyronine(T3)
FT4	free-Thyroxine(T4)
g	times gravity
G	guanosine
GD	Graves' disease
GH	growth hormone
GnRH	gonadotropin-releasing hormone
GO	Graves' orbitopathy
Group M	6 young human males
G418	one aminoglycoside antibiotic
G-I	gastro-intestinal
hCG	human chorionic gonadotropin
H&E stain	hematoxylin and eosin stain
HER2	human epidermal growth factor receptor type 2
HER2+	human epidermal growth factor receptor type 2 positive
HER2-	human epidermal growth factor receptor type 2 negative
HLA	human leukocyte antigen
hNIS	human sodium iodide symporter (NIS)
hPL	human placental lactogen
HR	Hazard Ratio
HRP	horseradish peroxidase
H_2O_2	hydrogen peroxide
I	culture medium supplemented with 100ng/uL IGF-II
ICR-CTSU	Institute of Cancer Research - Clinical Trials & Statistics Unit
IF	immunofluorescence
IFN-α	interferon alpha
lg(s)	immunoglobulin(s)
lgG(s)	immunoglobulin(s) class G
IGF(s)	Insulin-like growth factor(s)
IGF-I	Insulin-like growth factor type I
IGF-II	Insulin-like growth factor type II
IHC	immunohistochemistry
IL-2	interleukin-2

IYD	iodotyrosine dehalogenase
l.	lodide
I ₂	lodine
kb	kilobases
kbp	kilo-base pairs
kDa	kilodaltons
K⁺	potassium ion
LB	loading buffer
LDL	low density lipoproteins
LH	luteinizing hormone
log	logarithm
LPO	lactoperoxidase
LYP	lymphoid tyrosine phosphatase
L 100	Ladder 100 base pairs (bp)
MCT8	monocarboxylate transporter 8
$MgCl_2$	magnesium chloride
mgNIS	sodium iodide symporter express in mammary gland
Mg ²⁺	magnesium ion
МНС	major histocompatibility complex
MHC-I	MHC class I
MHC-II	MHC class II
miRNA	microRNA
MIT	3-monoiodo-L-tyrosine
МКС	hepatic metastasis of kidney carcinoma
mL	milliliter
mΜ	millimolar
MPO	myeloperoxidase
mRNA	messenger ribonucleic acid
мтс	medullary thyroid carcinoma
MW	molecular weight
M-MLV	Moloney Murine Leukemia Virus
Ν	normal culture medium
NaOAc	sodium acetate
Na⁺	sodium ion
$Na^+/K^+-ATPase$	Na ⁺ /K ⁺ -adenosine triphosphatase
ng	nanogram
NIS	sodium iodide symporter
NISAb	autoantibodies to NIS

nm	nanometer
odT	oligo-deoxy-thymine
PAX-8	paired box gene 8
PBS	phosphate buffered saline solution
PC	pancreatic adenocarcinoma
pcDNA3-hNIS	pcDNA3 vector containing hNIS gene
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
PDGF	Platelet-derived growth factor
PEG	polyethylene glycol
P _i	inorganic phosphate group
PI3K	phosphoinositide-3 Kinase
РКС	primary kidney carcinoma
pmol	picomolar
PMSF	phenylmethanesulfonylfluoride (proteases inhibitor)
PPAR-y1	peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor γ
PR	progesterone receptor
PRL	prolactin
PR+	progesterone receptor positive
PR-	progesterone receptor negative
PS	penicillin/streptomycin
PT	peri-tumoural breast tissue
PTC	papillary thyroid carcinoma
PTPN22	protein tyrosine phosphatase non-receptor type 22
PVDF	polyvinylidine fluoride
RDf-dH₂O	RNase - DNase free distilled water
RET	rearranged during transfection
RNA	ribonucleic acid
rNIS	rat sodium iodide symporter (NIS)
rpm	revolutions per minute
RPMI	Roswell Park Memorial Institute
RT	reverse transcription
SDS	sodium dodecyl sulfate
SDS-PAGE	sodium dodecyl sulfate - polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
SHBG	sex-hormone-binding globulin
SNPs	simple nucleotide polymorphisms
SSC	side scatter
т	thymidine
ТА	thyroid autoimmunity

TAb	anti-thyroid autoantibodies
TAE	Tris-acetate-EDTA
TBG	thyroxine-binding globulin
TBS-T	Tris-buffered saline, 0.1% Tween 20
TCR	T-lymphocyte's receptor
TEMED	tetramethylethylenediamine
Tg	thyroglobulin
TgAb	anti-thyroglobulin (Tg) autoantibodies
TGFB	transforming growth factor beta
Th1	CD4 T-lymphocytes type I
Th2	CD4 T-lymphocytes type II
tNIS	sodium iodide symporter express in thyroid
TNM	primary tumour (T) regional lymph nodes (N) distant metastases (M)
ТРО	thyroid peroxidase
TPOAb	anti-thyroid peroxidase (TPO) autoantibodies
TRAb	autoantibodies to TSHR
Treg(s)	regulatory T-lymphocyte(s)/cell(s)
TR	thyroid hormone receptor
TREs	thyroid hormone response elements
TRH	thyrotropin-releasing hormone
TSH	thyroid-stimulating hormone
TSHR	thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSH) receptor
TT	thyroid tissue
Т3	triiodothyronine
T4	thyroxine
u	units
US	ultrasonography
UV	ultraviolet
Vis	visible
VJ2	mouse monoclonal antibody to an extracellular domain of hNIS
VPO	vascular peroxidase
WB	Western Blot
WHO	World Health Organization
X3	three times
μ g	microgram
μι	microliter
1 st Ab	first antibody
°C	degree Celsius

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1-1: Actions of thyroid hormones on target organs 7
Table 1-2: Classification of thyroiditis
Table 1-3: Causes of hypothyroidism 20
Table 1-4: Causes of hyperthyroidism and thyrotoxicosis 21
Table 1-5: Clinical manifestations of hypo- and hyper-thyroidism in adults 22
Table 1-6: Classification of thyroid primary malignant neoplasms 23
Table 1-7: BC WHO histopathological classification of malignant lesions of the
breast epithelium
Table 1-8: BC molecular classification based on IHC staining
Table 2-1: Characteristics of individuals providing sera 57
Table 2-2: D values of human sera 60
Table 3-1: Summary of known TPO isoforms' characteristics 70
Table 3-2: Peroxidases 71
Table 3-3: Characteristics of BC tissues analyzed 73
Table 3-4: TPO F and R primers 75
Table 3-5: PCR expected amplicons according to known TPO mRNA isoforms 75
Table 3-6: Deparaffination and rehydration procedure 79
Table 3-7: 16 different combinations for each BC cell line 83
Table 3-8: Summary of F13/R17 PCR (40 cycles) in tissue samples 89
Table 3-9: Summary of F13/R17 PCR in BC cell lines 89
Table 3-10: Absolute QPCR values for TPO copy number obtained in human tissues
Table 3-11: Absolute TPO and APRT QPCR values obtained in MCF-7 BC cell lines 95
Table 3-12: Absolute TPO QPCR results for T-47D and MDAMB-231 BC cell lines 96
Table 3-13: Correspondence between TPO mRNA and protein expression 101
Table 3-14: Summary of TPO regions in relation to MPO 105
Table 4-1: BC TNM staging of breast cancer 117
Table 4-2: Baseline characteristics of all TACT trial participants, those in the
TPOAb study and non-studied women125
Table 4-3: BC treatments and DFS events of all TACT trial participants, those in
the TPOAb study and non-studied women126
Table 4-4: Baseline characteristics by TPOAb and thyroid function status 128
Table 4-5: BC treatments by TPOAb and thyroid function status 129
Table 4-6: Events contributing to DFS and numbers of deaths by dichotomized
TPOAb status131
Table 4-7: Multivariable analysis of DFS by dichotomized TPOAb

Table 4-8: Multivariable analysis of OS and TTR by dichotomized TPOAb 135
Table 4-9: Multivariable analysis of DFS, OS and TTR by TPOAb tertiles137
Table 4-10: Univariate analysis of DSF, OS and TTR by FT4 and TSH variables \dots 138
Table 4-11: Multivariable analysis of DFS, OS and TTR by FT4 variable140
Table 4-12: Multivariable analysis of DFS, OS and TTR by TSH variable141
Table 4-13: Multivariable analysis of DFS, OS and TTR by thyroid function status
(TSH/FT4 combined categories)142
Table 4-14: Multivariable analysis of DFS by TPOAb (dichotomized) and thyroid
function status (TSH/FT4 combined categories)143
Table 5-1: Adsorption experiments with TPO and LPO in ELISA and WB

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1-1. Thyroid anatomy1
Figure 1-2: Thyroid histology2
Figure 1-3: Structures of thyroid hormones and their precursors2
Figure 1-4: Thyrocyte structure and thyroid hormone synthesis4
Figure 1-5: Hypothalamic - Pituitary - Thyroid Axis5
Figure 1-6: Immunological synapse 11
Figure 1-7: Mammary gland and its associated structures
Figure 1-8: Breast lobule and maternal milk production
Figure 1-9: Schematic representation of thyroid/tumoural breast cells' similar
properties 41
Figure 2-1: Schematic representation of NIS transmembrane glycoprotein 43
Figure 2-2: NIS protein function and regulation
Figure 2-3: Schematic representation of a flow cytometry experiment
Figure 2-4: Gating cells with FlowJo in order to exclude damaged and dead cells 54
Figure 2-5: Kolmogorov Smirnov statistics
Figure 2-6: 207bp expected PCR amplicon in CHO-NIS cells
Figure 2-7: Flow cytometry with mouse monoclonal NISAb VJ2 and anti-mouse 2^{nd}
Ab 59
Figure 2-8: Flow cytometry results using human sera
Figure 2-9: Standard flow cytometry with human sera
Figure 2-10: Pre-adsorbed flow cytometry: difference in aspecific background 62
Figure 2-11: Pre-adsorbed flow cytometry: effects on signal specificity
Figure 2-12: Flow cytometry with permeabilized cells
Figure 3-1: TPO gene and protein
Figure 3-2: Indirect IF results using pooled human sera
Figure 3-3: Indirect IF results using monoclonal TPOAb
Figure 3-4: RNA quality control (representative samples)
Figure 3-5: Standard PCR for APRT gene (representative samples)
Figure 3-6: F13/R17 PCR results in representative tissue samples
Figure 3-7: New TPO mRNA isoform lacking exons 14 and 16
Figure 3-8: F13/R17 PCR results (50 cycles) in all BC cell line combinations 90
Figure 3-9: F7/R9 PCR (50 cycles)
Figure 3-10: Summary of newly identified TPO mRNA isoforms with standard PCR92
Figure 3-11: LongRange RT-PCR (F2/R17) results
Figure 3-12: 105-110 kDa band observed with WB
Figure 3-13: Absorption of first antibody with TPO fragments and bovine LPO 97

Figure 3-14: Entire WB obtained in thyroid tissue
Figure 3-15: Entire WB on human tissues
Figure 3-16: Western Blot for B-actin
Figure 3-17: Indirect IHC results in 2 fresh frozen BC100
Figure 3-18: Amino acidic sequence of human peroxidases alignment and
comparison
Figure 3-19: ab76935 and ab12500 binding site on human TPO107
Figure 3-20: TPO and LPO amino acidic sequence alignment (TPO AA $672-780$) . 108
Figure 4-1: Flowchart regarding sample availability and data handling124
Figure 4-2: Histograms of TSH, ln(TSH) and FT4 values127
Figure 4-3: Correlation between thyroid markers130
Figure 4-4: Univariate analysis of DFS by dichotomized TPOAb131
Figure 4-5: Subgroup analyses of DFS by dichotomized TPOAb133
Figure 4-6: Univariate analysis of OS and TTR by dichotomized TPOAb134
Figure 4-7: Univariate analysis of DFS, OS and TTR by TPOAb tertiles136
Figure 4-8: Univariate analysis of DFS, OS and TTR by thyroid function status
(TSH/FT4 combined categories)139

CONTENTS

Author's o	leclarationI
Acknowle	dgmentsII
Abstracts	and publications arising from this workIV
Summary	VI
Abbreviat	ionsVII
List of tab	lesXIII
List of fig	uresXV
1 GENE	RAL INTRODUCTION
1.1 TH	IE THYROID GLAND
1.1.1	Anatomy and histology1
1.1.2	Physiology and synthesis of thyroid hormones2
1.1.3	Hypothalamic – Pituitary –Thyroid Axis4
1.1.4	Transport and metabolism of thyroid hormones
1.1.5	Actions of thyroid hormones7
1.2 TH	IYROID DISORDERS
1.2.1	Thyroiditis
1.2.2	Thyroid autoimmunity9
1.2.3	Goitre and iodine deficiency
1.2.4	Hypothyroidism and hyperthyroidism20
1.2.5	Thyroid neoplasms
1.3 BF	REAST CANCER24
1.3.1	Breast anatomy and physiology24
1.3.2	Risk factors
1.3.3	Classification
1.3.4	Clinical manifestations
1.3.5	Blood biomarkers
1.4 TH	IYROID DISEASES AND BREAST CANCER
1.4.1	Benign thyroid diseases and breast cancer: an overview
1.4.2	Thyroid function and breast cancer
1.4.3	Thyroid autoimmunity and breast cancer
1.4.4	Iodine deficiency, goitre and breast cancer
1.4.5	Thyroid cancer and breast cancer40
1.5 TH	IESIS AIMS
1.5.1	Common antigens between thyroid and breast cancer tissues41
1.5.2	Prognostic role of TPOAb in a large cohort of women with breast cancer42

2 NEUTRAL SERUM AUTOANTIBODIES TO THE SODIUM IODIDI	E
SYMPORTER (NIS)	43
2.1 INTRODUCTION	43
2.1.1 Human NIS gene and protein: molecular characterization, func	tion,
regulation	43
2.1.2 NIS expression in breast tissue and other tissues	45
2.1.3 NIS protein as possible autoantigen and autoantibodies to NIS	(NISAb) 46
2.1.4 Hypothesis and aims	48
2.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS	48
2.2.1 Establishment of CHO cell lines expressing hNIS	48
2.2.2 Flow cytometry	52
2.2.3 Human sera tested with flow cytometry	56
2.3 RESULTS	57
2.3.1 Characterization of CHO-NIS cell lines	57
2.3.2 Flow cytometry with human sera	59
2.4 CONCLUSIONS	64
2.4.1 NIS as common antigen between thyroid and breast cancer tiss	sues64
2.4.2 Aspecific background: human Abs against CHO cells surface an	tigens 66
3 THVROID PEROXIDASE (TPO) EXPRESSION IN BREAST CANC	FR 68
3 1 INTRODUCTION	68
	68
3.1.2 Hypothesis	
3.1.2 hypothesis	
3.2 MATERIAI S	
3.2 Third Lines	72
3.2.2 BC cell lines	74
3.3 METHODS	74
3.3.1 Analysis of TPO mRNA expression	74
3.3.2 Analysis of TPO protein expression	79
3.3.3 Cell culture conditions	
3.4 RESULTS	83
3.4.1 TPOAh display auto-reactivity to a breast cancer antigen	83
3.4.2 TPO gene expression (mRNA)	
3 4 3 TPO gene expression (nrotein)	۵۶ ۹۶
3.4.4 TPO gene expression: correspondence between mRNA and pro	itein. 100
3.5 CONCLUSIONS	
	101

3.5	.2 TPOAb cross-reactivity with other peroxidases	105	
3.5	.3 TPO isoforms	109	
4 TP	OAb IMPACT ON BREAST CANCER PROGNOSIS	113	
4.1	INTRODUCTION	113	
4.1	.1 Impact of thyroid autoimmune diseases on breast cancer prognosis	114	
4.1	.2 Impact of thyroid autoimmunity on other cancer prognosis	115	
4.1	.3 Major breast cancer known prognostic factors	116	
4.1	.4 Prognostic tools and decision-making for breast cancer treatment	118	
4.1	.5 Aims of the study	120	
4.2	MATERIALS AND METHODS	120	
4.2	.1 Patients	120	
4.2	.2 Laboratory measurements	121	
4.2	.3 Statistical analysis	122	
4.3	RESULTS	124	
4.3	.1 Distribution of TPOAb and thyroid function	127	
4.3	.2 TPOAb and breast cancer prognosis	130	
4.3	.3 Thyroid function and breast cancer prognosis	138	
4.3	.4 Impact of TPOAb and thyroid function on breast cancer prognosis	142	
4.4	CONCLUSIONS	143	
4.4	.1 Comparison with results from previous studies	144	
4.4	.2 Impact of other examined factors on breast cancer prognosis	145	
4.4	.3 Principal limitations of the study	146	
4.4	.4 Conclusions about thyroid autoimmunity and breast cancer prognos	is 148	
5 GE	NERAL DISCUSSION	149	
5.1	Summary of main findings	149	
5.2	How do my results compare with those of others?	150	
5.2	.1 Cross-reactivity of circulating TPOAb with different peroxidases	150	
5.2	.2 TPO isoforms and epitopes	152	
5.3	Future directions	153	
5.3	.1 Functional and immunological characterization of breast cancer-spe	cific	
TP	0 isoforms	154	
5.3	.2 Prospective study	156	
5.3	.3 In vitro studies investigating the regulation of TPO expression in bre	ast	
cancer cell lines			
5.4 Summary conclusions158			
References			

1 GENERAL INTRODUCTION

1.1 THE THYROID GLAND

1.1.1 Anatomy and histology

The thyroid is one of the largest endocrine glands and is located in the neck, just below the larynx. It is made of two lateral lobes, right and left, connected by a central isthmus, with occasionally an accessory pyramidal lobe discernible as a finger-like projection directed upward from the isthmus. Behind the thyroid are located the parathyroid glands, different endocrine glands involved in calcium metabolism (1) (Figure 1-1).





Adapted from © 2012 Terese Winslow LLC. Panel A: localization of the thyroid in the neck. Panel B: details of thyroid gland

The structure of the gland is composed of closely packed follicles, spherical units characterized by a lumen containing proteinaceous colloid surrounded by a continuous single layer of thyroid epithelial cells, named thyrocytes or follicular cells (Figure 1-2). The diameter of the follicles varies considerably, even within a single gland, but averages about 200 nm. The follicular cells vary in height with the degree of glandular stimulation, becoming columnar when active and cuboidal when inactive. The epithelium rests on a basement membrane that is rich in glycoproteins and separates the follicular cells from the surrounding capillaries. Between 20 and 40 follicles are demarcated by

connective tissue septa to form a lobule supplied by a single artery. The functional activity of a given lobule may differ from that of its neighbors. The thyroid gland contains also calcitonin-producing parafollicular cells (C cells), usually localized along the basement membrane of the thyroid epithelium (1).





Panel A, adapted from (2): schematic representation of thyroid histology. Panel B, adapted from (3): cross-section of thyroid tissue with hematoxylin and eosin stain (H&E stain).

1.1.2 Physiology and synthesis of thyroid hormones

The thyrocytes' main function is producing thyroid hormones thyroxine (T4) and triiodothyronine (T3), homodimer peptides deriving from the iodination and coupling of the amino acid L-tyrosine (Figure 1-3).





Adapted from NEUROtiker, Brenton, Hoffmeier (https://commons.wikimedia.org). MIT= 3-monoiodo-L-tyrosine; DIT= 3,5-diiodo-L-tyrosine; T3= triiodothyronine; T4= thyroxine.

The synthesis of thyroid hormones is a complex process involving different and polarized activities of the thyrocytes (1) (Figure 1-4):

- The basolateral cell membrane is in contact with the blood circulation, from where it takes up the necessary elements to synthetize T3 and T4: amino acids and iodide ion (I⁻) by the sodium iodide symporter (NIS), a transmembrane glycoprotein.
- Inside the thyrocytes two of the main thyroid proteins implicated in thyroid hormone production are thyroglobulin (Tg) and thyroid peroxidase (TPO). Tg is secreted through the apical membrane inside the follicular lumen and it represents the major component of colloid. TPO is a transmembrane protein and is located on the apical membrane of thyrocytes.
- The apical border is the key site where T3 and T4 are synthetized. I is transported into the follicular lumen by a transporter called Pendrin situated on the apical membrane. In the follicular lumen specific tyrosine residues of Tg homodimers are iodinated to form 3-monoiodo-L-tyrosine (MIT) and 3,5-diiodo-L-tyrosine (DIT), the precursors of thyroid hormones. TPO catalyzes the oxidation of I and its transfer to tyrosine; this process requires the formation of hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) that is produced by the transmembrane enzymes dual oxidase 1 (DUOX1) and DUOX2. TPO also catalyzes the fusion of two DIT molecules in order to synthetize T4 and of one MIT and one DIT to produce T3. At this stage MIT, DIT, T3 and T4 are still attached to Tg protein and stored in the colloid.

When the thyroid has to release T3 and T4, a multi-step process is activated:

- Apical membrane of thyrocytes: endocytosis of colloid from the follicular lumen through both macropinocytosis (pseudopods) and micropinocytosis (small coated vescicles).
- Inside the thyrocytes: endocytic vescicles fuse with lysosomes and proteolysis determines the release of iodotyrosines (MIT, DIT, T3, T4) from Tg. MIT and DIT are then deiodinated by the iodotyrosine dehalogenase (IYD), encoded by the *IYD* gene, to allow recycling of the iodide together with Tg.
- On the basolateral side of thyrocytes, T3 and T4 are secreted into the blood stream through transmembrane protein transporters, including the monocarboxylate transporter 8 (MCT8), specific for the transport of thyroid hormones (4).



Figure 1-4: Thyrocyte structure and thyroid hormone synthesis

DIT= 3,5-diiodo-L-tyrosine; DUOX1= dual oxidase 1; DUOX2= dual oxidase 2; H_2O_2 = hydrogen peroxide; IYD= iodotyrosine dehalogenase; I⁻= iodide; MCT8= monocarboxylate transporter 8; MIT= 3-monoiodo-L-tyrosine; Na⁺= sodium; NIS= sodium iodide symporter; Tg= thyroglobulin; TPO= thyroid peroxidase; T3 = triiodothyronine; T4= thyroxine.

1.1.3 Hypothalamic - Pituitary -Thyroid Axis

The thyroidal secretion of T3 and T4 is controlled by the thyroid-stimulating hormone or thyrotropin (TSH), a peptide produced by endocrine cells in the anterior pituitary named thyrotrophs (5). TSH production is regulated by two interacting systems (Figure 1-5):

1) open-loop neural control by hypothalamic hypophysiotropic factors

2) negative feedback by thyroid hormones

The neural control is mainly exerted by the thyrotropin-releasing hormone (TRH), a peptide produced by the paraventricular neurons of the hypothalamus that binds to specific receptors on the plasma membrane of the thyrotrophs, stimulating their production of TSH (5). TSH secretion is also influenced by other hormones including oestrogens, glucocorticoids and possibly growth hormone (GH), while it is inhibited by cytokines in the pituitary and hypothalamus (6).

Thyroid hormones, both T3 and T4, exert their negative feedback control on both the pituitary and the hypothalamus, determining a reduction in TRH and TSH release. Circulating T3 and T4 are transported inside the brain, where T4 is converted into T3 by type II deiodinase and then T3 interacts with thyroid hormone receptors (7).

Figure 1-5: Hypothalamic - Pituitary - Thyroid Axis



Modified from Hiller-Sturmhöfel S et al. (8). TSH = thyroid-stimulating hormone; TRH = thyrotropin-releasing hormone; T3 = triiodothyronine; T4 = thyroxine; += activation; -= inhibition.

TSH binds to its specific receptor (TSHR) located on the basolateral membrane of thyrocytes and exerts several functions acting via different intracellular signaling cascades. TSH main actions include: 1) induction of thyroid hormone synthesis 2) stimulation of endocytosis on the apical membrane, causing internalization and digestion of colloid with consequent thyroid hormone release into the blood from the basolateral membrane 3) maintenance of trophic thyroid cell integrity and tropism (9). In particular, two main aspects of thyroid hormone synthesis induction are: A) Tg/TPO/NIS genes transcription induction via adenylate cyclase (AC), an enzyme that catalyzes the conversion of adenosine triphosphate (ATP) to 3',5'-cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) and pyrophosphate B) H_2O_2 generation via Gq-phospholipase C cascade leading to increased intracellular levels of diacylglycerol and calcium ion (Ca²⁺) (10).

TSH is a glycoprotein hormone composed by two subunits: α and β . The β subunit is unique to TSH and therefore determines its receptor specificity. The α subunit contains the effector region and it is nearly identical to other hormones, such as the human chorionic gonadotropin (hCG), luteinizing hormone (LH) and follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH) (5).

1.1.4 Transport and metabolism of thyroid hormones

T4 and T3 are released by the thyroid gland with a 10:1 ratio. They are both poorly soluble in water and therefore bind reversibly to plasma proteins, principally thyroxine-binding globulin (TBG) and less to transthyretin and albumin. The small amount of hormones that is not bound to such proteins, respectively 0.02% for T4 and 0.3% for T3, is that available for uptake by peripheral tissues. This fraction is called free-T4 (FT4) and free-T3 (FT3) and is determined by the concentration and degree of saturation of these proteins, especially TBG (1).

For this reason in clinical practice the thyroid status correlates with FT4 and FT3, not with T4 and T3. The normal serum concentrations are usually within the range of respectively 9 to 30 pmol/L (0.7 to 2.5 ng/dL) for FT4 and 3 to 8 pmol/L (0.2 to 0.5 ng/dL) for FT3 (1). There is a linear inverse relationship between the serum FT4 concentration and the logarithm (log) of the TSH, making the serum TSH concentration an exquisitely sensitive indicator of the thyroid state of patients with an intact hypothalamic-pituitary axis (1). As will be better explained in paragraph 1.2.4, the term "euthyroidism" defines the situation when FT4, FT3 and TSH are within the normal range, while the terms "hypothyroidism" and "hyperthyroidism" define a situation of reduced FT4,FT3/increased TSH and increased FT4,FT3/decreased TSH levels, respectively.

The transport of T3 and T4 across the cell membrane of peripheral target organs is mainly mediated by transporter proteins, including MCT8 (4).

Despite T4 being the most abundant hormone produced by the thyroid gland, the principal effector in the target cells is T3, 80% of which is derived from T4 by deiodinases in the peripheral tissues that catalyze the removal of a single 5' iodine atom from T4 (11). In particular there are 3 types of deiodinases: deiodinase 1 (D1), deiodinase 2 (D2) and deiodinase 3 (D3). Both D1 and D2 produce T3 from T4 but they differ in terms of tissue location and regulation. In particular D1 is mainly present in liver and kidney, while D2 is mainly located in the central nervous system, pituitary, skeletal muscle, brown adipose tissue, placenta and heart. D3 has a different function in deactivating both T3 and T4 and it is mainly located in the central nervous system, placenta, liver and skeletal muscle (1).

T3 and T4 are partly degraded intracellularly before exit by peripheral deiodinases (12). Another pathway involved in T4 metabolism is the hepatic glucuronidation of the phenolic hydroxyl group by the uridine diphosphate glucuronyl transferases (UDPGT) in the liver, but only minimal amounts of T3 undergo this process (13).

1.1.5 Actions of thyroid hormones

Thyroid hormones act by binding to a specific nuclear thyroid hormone receptor (TR); T3 has a 15-fold higher binding affinity for TRs than does T4, explaining its function as the active thyroid hormone. When bound to T3, TR binds to DNA usually as heterodimer with retinoid X receptor at specific sequences called thyroid hormone response elements (TREs) (1). There are two TR genes, α and β , that are subjected to alternative splicing forming both active and inactive gene products. The active proteins are TR α_1 , TR β_1 , TR β_2 and TR β_3 (14) and there are tissue-specific preferences in expression of the various TRs, suggesting that they serve different functions in different tissues (15). In general, TR α , particularly TR α_2 , is thought to be important in the hypothalamus and pituitary where regulation of thyroid function occurs (16).

T3 and T4 exert several physiological actions on many different target organs and systems, including the control of metabolic rate, regulation of growth, positive chronotropic and inotropic cardiac effects and development of the central nervous system (17). Thyroid hormones are essential during organogenesis and after birth during infancy and childhood. However thyroid hormones are very important also in adult life and the principal effects of thyroid hormones on target organs are summarized in Table 1-1 (1, 17).

CARDIOVASCULAR SYSTEM	• $ullet$ peripheral vascular resistance		
	 Positive chronotropic and inotropic cardiac effects 		
METABOLISM	 		
	 A heat production 		
	• A both protein synthesis/degradation		
	 A both lipogenesis and lipolysis 		
CENTRAL AND PERIPHERAL	sensitivity to catecholamines		
NERVOUS SYSTEM	 Cortical and cerebellar development 		
	 Myelination 		
SKELETAL SYSTEM	 Regulation of bone turnover 		
KIDNEY	• ↑ renal blood flow, glomerular filtration and tubular		
	reabsorptive and secretory maxima		
HEMATOPOIETIC SYSTEM	 A erythropoiesis 		
REPRODUCTIVE SYSTEM	 Regulation of amplitude and frequency of LH/FSH pulses 		
	 Iiver production of sex-hormone-binding globulin (SHBG) 		
	 A conversion of androgens to oestrogenic products 		
PITUITARY AND	• Ψ TSH and TRH secretion		
HYPOTHALAMUS			

Table 1-1: Actions of thyroid hormones on target organs

FSH= follicle-stimulating hormone; LH= luteinizing hormone; SHBG= sex-hormone-binding globulin; TSH= thyroid-stimulating hormone; TRH= thyrotropin-releasing hormone; \uparrow = increase; Ψ = decrease.

1.2 THYROID DISORDERS

Benign thyroid disorders are very common and have a clear female preponderance (1). In this thesis they have been subdivided into distinct topics such as thyroiditis, thyroid autoimmunity, goitre and alterations of thyroid function, and they will be discussed separately in the next paragraphs. In a final paragraph a brief overview of thyroid cancer will be also described.

1.2.1 Thyroiditis

The term thyroiditis indicates the presence of thyroid inflammation and comprises a very large group of inflammatory conditions summarized in Table 1-2, including autoimmune, infectious (viral, bacterial, fungal), sclerosing (Riedel's thyroiditis) or granulomatous (sarcoidosis) etiopathogenesis.

ACUTE	Suppurative thyroiditis	Bacterial, fungal
SUBACUTE	De Quervain's	Viral
505/10012	Postpartum (silent)	Autoimmune
	Autoimmune thyroiditis (AITD)	Autoimmune
CHRONIC	Post irradiation	latrogenic (radioiodine, radiations)
erintornie	Riedel's thyroiditis	Sclerosis
	Sarcoidosis	Granulomatous

Table 1-2: Classification of thyroiditis

Thyroiditis does not affect thyroid function directly but may cause hypothyroidism by the damage to the thyroid gland. In the early stages of thyroiditis, a transient excessive release of thyroid hormones by the damaged thyroid gland can result in a condition of excessive serum levels of thyroid hormones, called "thyrotoxicosis" (1).

Acute thyroiditis is very rare and usually caused by bacterial or fungal infections. It is characterized by local pain and tenderness and difficulty in swallowing is often present. It is usually accompanied by general malaise and fever and increased erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR) (18).

Subacute thyroiditis has different clinical manifestations according to its pathogenesis. If it has an infectious (viral) origin it is called De Quervain's thyroiditis and usually is characterized by clinical and biochemical features similar to acute thyroiditis. However De Quervain's thyroiditis is usually diffuse, while acute thyroiditis is usually more localized as a painful isolated nodular enlargement of the thyroid. Postpartum thyroiditis is a different form of subacute thyroiditis, with a classical onset during the first months after delivery. In contrast to De Quervain's, postpartum thyroiditis is not usually associated with general symptoms or ESR alterations but with positivity for anti-thyroid autoantibodies (TAb), as will be better explained in the next paragraph 1.2.2 (18).

The most common form of chronic thyroiditis has autoimmune origins and it will be better discussed in the next paragraph 1.2.2. A second important group is related to iatrogenic chronic thyroiditis induced by radioiodine treatment or external radiation therapy. Finally, rare forms of chronic thyroiditis include Riedel's thyroiditis, characterized by fibrosis of the thyroid gland and adjacent structures but its origin remains uncertain, (19) or granulomatous diseases such as sarcoidosis (1).

1.2.2 Thyroid autoimmunity

Thyroid autoimmunity (TA) is the most common autoimmune disease in humans and accounts for two main types of disease: autoimmune thyroiditis (AITD) and Graves' disease (GD) (20). Early post-mortem studies confirmed histological evidence of chronic AITD in 27% of adult women and 7% of adult men with an increase in frequency in the past 50 years. GD is also the principal cause of hyperthyroidism (21).

1.2.2.1 Brief overview of immunology and immunological synapse

Our immune system consists of innate and adaptive immune responses against a wide range of pathogens (bacteria, viruses, etc.). In the present thesis a brief overview of the adaptive immune responses, mediated mainly by B and Tlymphocytes, will be provided, based on (22).

Both B and T-lymphocytes, through their surface receptors, recognize a specific and short sequence (usually amino acidic; called "epitope") of a molecule (usually a protein; called "antigen") that triggers the immune reaction. Both B and T-lymphocytes' receptors consist of variable and constant regions; the variable region is the part recognizing the antigen, while the constant region has other functional activities. The variable regions are generated through a process of intense gene rearrangements leading to a great variability, therefore generating receptors recognizing a multitude of different antigens.

Both B and T-lymphocytes originate from precursors in the bone marrow and then undergo a process called "central tolerance", where B and Tlymphocytes strongly recognizing self-antigens (antigens expressed by our own body), are inactivated and eliminated; this process happens in bone marrow and thymus respectively for B and T-lymphocytes.

B-lymphocytes' antigen-receptor consists of surface immunoglobulins (Igs) directed versus specific antigens. Igs are complex proteins characterized by a

total of 4 different amino acidic chains, two heavy and two light, both types containing constant (Fc) as well as variable (Fab) regions.

T-lymphocytes, in addition to their antigen-receptor (TCR), express surface molecules with crucial roles for the adaptive immune response, as shown in Figure 1-6. In particular, CD4 and CD8 are co-receptor molecules identifying 2 subtypes of effector T-lymphocytes with different tasks, as explained later.

In order to be recognized by T-lymphocytes, antigens need to be presented by antigen-presenting cells (APC) through particular transmembrane glycoproteins belonging to the mammalian major histocompatibility complex (MHC) family, and referred to also as the human leukocyte antigen (HLA) system in humans. Briefly, intracellular antigens (e.g. virus) are expressed on APC's surface through MHC class I (MHC-I), while extracellular antigens (e.g. secreted bacterial toxins) are internalized by APCs and then expressed on their surface through MHC class II (MHC-II). There are different MHC proteins in humans: the major subtypes of MHC-I and MHC-II molecules are respectively HLA-A, HLA-B, HLA-C (type I) and HLA-DP, HLA-DQ, HLA-DR (type II).

T-lymphocytes require two different signals from APC to be activated. The first signal is antigen-specific and provided by the interaction of TCR with antigen-MHC complex expressed on APC's membrane. The second signal is not antigen specific and called "co-stimulatory signal"; it is provided by the interaction between additional co-stimulatory molecules expressed on the membrane of both T-lymphocytes and APC. The interface between APCs and T-lymphocytes is called the immunological synapse and comprises the interaction between surface molecules expressed by APC and T-lymphocytes leading to activation of both cells and is the basis of the adaptive immune response (Figure 1-6). The description of such molecules' function is beyond the aim of the present thesis. Briefly, in addition to TCR and CD4/CD8, T-lymphocytes' surface proteins may be adhesion molecules such as CD44, important activating/co-stimulatory molecules such as CD3 or inhibitory molecules such as cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated molecule-4 (CTLA4). T-lymphocytes depend from co-stimulatory signals for their differentiation, proliferation and survival; absence of co-stimulation may lead to T-lymphocytes' anergy (impossibility to respond to their specific antigen) and depletion or the development of immune tolerance. APC use the same costimulatory molecules to be activated as well; e.g. APC express the CD40, a costimulatory protein that, after binding with the correspondent ligand on Tlymphocytes surface (CD40L), activates APCs. Both stimulating and inhibitory molecules, as well as HLAs, are likely to be involved in the pathogenesis of thyroid autoimmunity (TA), as explained in the next paragraph.

Figure 1-6: Immunological synapse



Adapted from (23). Profile view of a T-lymphocyte (T-lymph) and an antigen-presenting cell (APC) and some of the key signaling molecules and ligand pairs involved in the T-lymph/APC interaction. The antigen(peptide)-MHC complex is shown in red; in blue activating/co-stimulatory molecules; in yellow inhibitory molecules; in grey molecules not contributing to signaling. The arrow indicates converging signals leading to T-lymphocyte activation.

As a consequence of the interaction between APCs and T-lymphocytes, two main kinds of adaptive immunity may arise: humoral or cell-mediated, more effective against extracellular and intracellular pathogens respectively. In summary, the humoral immunity consists in antigen-MHC-II APC's complex triggering CD4 T-lymphocytes type II (Th2) that activate B-lymphocytes. Activated B-cells differentiate into "plasma cells" that secrete Igs against a specific antigen, called antibodies (Abs), in order to eliminate the extracellular bacteria or toxins. The cell-mediated immunity is composed by 2 main mechanisms: 1) antigen-MHC-II APC's complex triggers CD4 T-lymphocytes type I (Th1) with consequent activation of the bactericidal activity of macrophages; 2) APC's antigen-MHC-I complex triggers CD8 T-lymphocytes that directly kill the APC (and therefore also the intracellular pathogen infecting the cell).

Another important class of T-lymphocytes are the regulatory T-cells (Treg), involved in the "peripheral tolerance". As previously described, the process of central tolerance in bone marrow (B-lymphocytes) and thymus (T-lymphocytes) is

essential in order to suppress self-reactive immune cells. However, some of them may escape this process and the peripheral tolerance operated by Tregs, which act to eliminate self-reactive peripheral auto-reactive lymphocytes, is essential in order to maintain the immunological self-tolerance (24, 25).

1.2.2.2 Etiopathogenesis of thyroid autoimmunity (TA)

TA results from the breaking of tolerance to self-antigens of the thyroid and different mechanisms are involved: mainly cell-mediated for AITD and antibody-mediated for GD (26).

Thyroid autoimmune diseases are characterized by increased lymphocytic infiltration into the thyroid (27, 28) and thyrocytes have been described expressing CD40 under stressful conditions, therefore, as briefly explained in the previous paragraph, potentially acting as APCs and participating in the immune activation (29).

Several possible mechanisms have been postulated to explain the rise of TA, from genetic predisposition (30) to environmental factors including infections, iodine excess, selenium deficiency, stress, allergy, female hormones, foetal microchimerism, smoking, irradiation and drugs (31, 32).

Genetic predisposition.

1) HLA system is crucial for the antigen presentation process and therefore very often involved in genetic predisposition for autoimmunity in general. Both HLA class I and II genes have been consistently associated with TA, especially with GD (33, 34). In particular, HLA-DR is a class II HLA gene that plays a critical role in antigen presentation and HLA-DR3 allele has a well-established association with GD but it may be also involved in AITD (35).

2) Signaling molecules involved in the immunological synapse between Tlymphocytes and APCs may represent another important source of genetic predisposition to autoimmunity (36, 37). In particular, CTLA-4 is associated with both GD and AITD, while CD40 is GD specific (30). The protein tyrosine phosphatase non-receptor type 22 (PTPN22) is a gene encoding the cell signaling molecule lymphoid tyrosine phosphatase (LYP), which inhibits the activation of T cells by interacting with other signal transduction molecules. Initial studies demonstrated an association between certain PTPN22 alleles and TA susceptibility, in particular GD (38).

3) Treg and peripheral tolerance are logically another important possible cause of general predisposition to autoimmunity. The forkhead box P3 (FOXP3) is a known crucial regulator of the differentiation and function of Treg and various FOXP3 polymorphisms have been reported to be associated with AITD

(30). Similarly, CD25 is the α -chain of interleukin-2 (IL-2) receptor and is involved in the regulation of T cell function and mediates IL-2 signaling, indispensable for Treg survival and growth (39). Genetic variants of CD25 gene have been found to predispose mainly to GD (40, 41).

4) Finally, thyroid specific genes may be involved in loss of central tolerance leading specifically to TA. The target antigens for autoreactive lymphocytes in TA are Tg and TPO proteins for AITD and the TSHR for GD. The role of these antigens and their correspondent genes will be described in more detail in the paragraphs below (1.2.2.3 and 1.2.2.4).

Epigenetic mechanisms. There are different controversial definitions for epigenetic mechanisms and effects; they generally indicate non-coding effects on gene expression and function that are mitotically stable, thus long lasting. They include DNA methylation, histone modifications and ribonucleic acid (RNA) interference by microRNA (miRNA) (42). This is a relatively recent research field and an increasing number of studies suggest a crucial role of genetic-epigenetic interactions in the cases where one of the above mentioned genetic susceptibility variants is present. This would explain why the genetic risk factors alone cannot trigger the disease without other non-genetic modifier and epigenetics is one of the major ones. Epigenetics could also represent the mechanism of interaction between an environmental factor and genetic susceptibility variants (43).

Environmental factors

<u>1) Infections.</u> The precise mechanisms involved in this association are unknown and the two main hypothesis are I) molecular mimicry: antigen sharing homology between bacterial pathogens and self-antigens, with consequent cross-reactive immune response towards bacterial antigens on one side and autoimmunity on the other side II) the local infection and inflammation against the bacteria create tissue damage and consequent release of sequestered antigens triggering an autoimmune response (31). An additional theory of "bystander effects" proposes that viral infection of a certain tissue can induce local inflammation, resulting in activation of autoreactive T-cells that were dormant or suppressed by peripheral regulatory mechanisms (44).

Several infections are known to be associated with thyroid autoimmunity: A) Bacteria, including Yersinia enterocolitica, Bifidobacterium and lactobacillis species, Helicobacter pylori and Clostridium botulinum neurotoxin A (26); B) Viruses: Coxsackie B virus, retroviruses, enterovirus, rubella, mumps virus, herpes simplex virus (HSV), EBV, Parvovirus, HCV (45, 46).

2) Excessive iodine intake is a risk factor for thyroid autoimmunity and the incidence of TA has risen concomitantly with increased iodine consumption (47). The etiopathogenic hypothesis is that an excess of iodine may lead to some thyroid destruction and hence presentation of thyroidal antigens to the immune system leading to an autoimmune reaction (31). An alternative explanation involves Tg iodination and Tg iodine-induced conformational changes affecting its uptake and processing by antigen presenting cells (48).

<u>3) Sex differences.</u> Organ specific autoimmune diseases and thyroid disorders in general have a strong female preponderance. The reasons for this phenomenon are unknown, but the influence of the X chromosome seems to be limited, considering that AITD is very prevalent among girls with Turner's syndrome (X0 karyotype), but not in men with Klinefelter's syndrome (XXY karyotype) (49). Therefore hormonal influences are more likely to be operative in the induction of TA (31), as suggested by the presence of oestrogen receptor (ER) in both neoplastic and non-neoplastic thyroid tissue, where 17Bestradiol exerts a growth-promoting effect on thyroid cells (50). Recently Merril et al. proposed a crucial role of leptin-induced inflammation to explain the female preponderance of TA (26), considering that leptin is involved in inflammation (51) and rises in both young girls and boys as they approach puberty but in boys the leptin declines along with testosterone levels (52).

<u>4) Pregnancy.</u> During pregnancy the immune system is suppressed with a fall in the T-helper/suppressor-cell ratio, whereas in the first post-partum months T-cell activation occurs and autoantibody production rises (53). As consequence several types of autoimmune disorders abate during pregnancy but often worsen or arise de novo after the delivery when T-cells reactivate (31).

The transfer of foetal cells into the maternal circulation is called foetal microchimerism and these foetal cells can persist for a long time. Some authors proposed that foetal microchimerism could be one possible mechanism for the etiopathogenesis of postpartum thyroiditis (54-56).

5) Irradiation. Both external and internal irradiation by radioactive iodine expose thyroidal antigens to the immune system and thus induce TA. Indeed, an increased prevalence of TA has been clearly demonstrated after nuclear disasters (e.g. Chernobyl nuclear plant accident) (31).

<u>6) Cigarette smoking</u> has an influence on the immune system, inducing a polyclonal activation of both B and T cells and cytokines production; it also causes cell damage and therefore may also increase the presentation of antigens. Smoking is linked to several autoimmune diseases including

rheumatoid arthritis and GD, in particular with Graves' orbitopathy (GO); the reasons for this strong association are still largely unknown (31).

<u>7) Several drugs</u> acting on the immune system towards different mechanisms are associated with an increased incidence of TA, including antiretroviral therapy, interferon-alpha, IL-2 and alemtuzumab (31). In particular, alemtuzumab (Campath) is a humanized anti-CD52 monoclonal antibody used for the treatment of multiple sclerosis and it triggers TA, in particular GD, in about one third of treated patients (57).

<u>8) Stress</u> has been found driving the immune system towards a Th2 response, therefore suppressing cellular immunity and enhancing humoral immunity (31). This differential action on T-lymphocytes would explain why stress has been repeatedly associated to GD (humoral immunity), while only very few reports support an association between stress and AITD (cellular immunity) (58).

<u>9) Allergic conditions</u> are Th2 disorders, therefore they have been found to be associated with Th2-driven autoimmune diseases such as GD and lupus erythematosus (59).

<u>10) Selenium</u> is a trace mineral and exerts a marked influence on the immune system, acts as anti-oxidant reducing free radical formation and plays an essential role in thyroid hormone synthesis. Low selenium blood levels are associated with increased thyroid volume and thyroid hypoechogenicity, a marker for lymphocytic infiltration (31).

1.2.2.3 Autoimmune thyroiditis (AITD) and role of thyroid autoantibodies

The term AITD refers to the presence of thyroid gland damage, inflammation or lymphocytic infiltration, usually detectable as a hypoechoic and non-homogeneous pattern at the ultrasonography (US) scan examination of the thyroid gland. The definition of AITD covers different clinical entities, such as: chronic thyroiditis, painless sporadic thyroiditis or postpartum thyroiditis with a typical onset in the early months after delivery. Chronic thyroiditis is called Hashimoto's thyroiditis when characterized by the presence of both goitre and hypothyroidism. Alternatively, when the volume of the thyroid gland is greatly reduced, it is named atrophic thyroiditis (60).

The first event in AITD etiopathogenesis is the activation of thyroid antigen-specific helper T cells (60). Tg has been recognized as the potential earliest trigger of AITD (61) and linkage studies indicated Tg as a susceptibility gene for TA (43). The role of TPO as autoimmune antigen in TA will be extensively explained in chapter 3. There are different theories explaining the possible causes of T-cell activation: 1) result from a viral infection with common properties between viral and thyroid proteins (62); 2) thyrocytes present their own intracellular proteins to T cells (29); 3) foetal microchimerism (56).

Once helper T cells are activated, they induce B cells to secrete TAb. The main two antigens involved in AITD are Tg and TPO, therefore anti-Tg autoantibodies (TgAb) and anti-TPO autoantibodies (TPOAb) are the main thyroid autoantibodies (TAb) and they are both considered typical serum biomarkers of TA, AITD in particular. Autoantibodies to colloid antigen, thyroid hormones and NIS have also been detected in patients with AITD, even if they are rare and therefore much less important compared with TgAb and TPOAb (60). However both TgAb and TPOAb are also largely present in the general population, without being associated with the presence of thyroiditis, thyroidal damage or thyroid dysfunction. In particular Hollowell et al. estimated a TPOAb and TgAb prevalence among general population of respectively 13% (8.7% males, 17% females) and 11.5% (7.6% males, 15.2% females) (63). Vanderpump et al. described an even higher TAb prevalence of 26.4%, considering together TPOAb and TgAb (64). The great majority of authors in this field agree that TAb prevalence increases with age (63-67) and varies with ethnicity, noticing a major TAb prevalence among whites compared with blacks or Mexican Americans (63). An increase of TAb prevalence has also been registered after iodization programs and the generation of autoantibodies seems to be related to a sudden increase of iodine intake, more than to exposure to a constant but high iodine level (68). Possible mechanisms may be 1) free radical-mediated damage of thyroid tissue induced by the sudden shift from low to high iodine intake (69) and 2) major changes in Tg stereochemical configuration caused by its increased iodization with consequent changes in its immunoreactivity and induction of TgAb production (48, 70). TPOAb are the most valid clinical biomarker for the detection of early TA, considering that they are present in 90% of patients affected with autoimmune thyroiditis (AITD) (71). However, it is currently unknown why such a high percentage of individuals from the general population develop TPOAb; it is also unclear why many individuals positive for TAb do not develop clinical thyroid disease (63, 72).

The mechanisms for autoimmune destruction of thyroid tissue probably involves both cellular and humoral immunity, in fact in AITD the lymphocytic infiltration of the thyroid gland is characterized by equal numbers of B cells and cytotoxic T cells (60). Furthermore, thyrocytes of AITD patients express the Fas gene, a member of the closely linked group of tumour necrosis factor genes, therefore apoptosis could represent an additional cause of thyrocyte destruction (73). In particular, the proposal for a causative role of TPOAb in the pathogenesis
of Hashimoto's thyroiditis remains controversial (74-76). Some authors consider TPOAb as secondary to the thyroid damage inflicted by T cells (71), while others proposed a role of TPOAb in AITD antibody-dependent cell cytotoxicity (77), considering that TPOAb are complement-fixing and thus directly cytotoxic to thyrocytes (78). It has also been repeatedly noticed that TPOAb positive women have an increased risk of developing pregnancy complications such as miscarriage and pre-term delivery (79, 80).

The obvious consequence of thyroid tissue destruction is a reduced thyroid function (hypothyroidism). However an alternative cause of hypothyroidism could be the presence of autoantibodies blocking the TSHR, that has been reported in up to 10% of patients with AITD and they could have a role in both development and severity of hypothyroidism (81).

The principal clinical manifestation of AITD is hypothyroidism, however the majority of patients with measurable TAb have normal thyroid function (60). A goitre may be present and this is typical of Hashimoto's thyroiditis. Epidemiological studies estimated that 10% and 0.5% of postmenopausal women with high serum TAb had respectively subclinical hypothyroidism and overt hypothyroidism, although euthyroid individuals with high serum TAb titre had a progression to overt hypothyroidism at a rate of 2 to 4 percent a year (64, 82).

1.2.2.4 Graves' disease (GD)

GD has an estimated incidence of 80/100'000/year in women and 8/100'000/year in Western countries (83)

GD is a Th2-driven disorder and therefore involves humoral autoimmunity. GD etiopathogenesis involves the presence of stimulating TRAb causing a persistent activation of the TSHR and therefore hyperthyroidism (84).

A popular hypothesis regarding the pathogenesis of GD involves a defect in negative selection of autoreactive T cells to the TSHR, either in the thymus or the peripheral immune system, supported by the existence of autoantibodies to TSHR (TRAb) (30).

Many different single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) of TSHR have been found to be associated with GD (30, 38), with the 10 principal SNPs spread across a 340 kb region encompassing the gene upstream of the TSHR (85). Interestingly, although TPOAb are not involved in GD etiopathogenesis, TPOAb positive persons have an increased risk of developing GD (86). A likely explanation is that the genetic susceptibility of AITD and GD involves shared genes, as well as unique genes (87).

The main clinical manifestations of GD include hyperthyroidism and goitre. In rare cases it can be associated with Graves' orbitopathy (GO) and very rarely with an infiltrative dermopathy of the legs called pretibial myxedema. The pathogenesis of GO is complex and involves several mechanisms, including the accumulation in the extracellular matrix of glycosaminoglycans that are secreted by fibroblasts under the influence of cytokines, with consequent functional disruption and impairment of ocular muscles. Extraocular muscles have also been found to be infiltrated with T cells, mainly TSHR-reactive. Less is known about the etiopathogenesis of the rare pretibial mixedema, characterized by the accumulation of hyaluronic acid and chondroitin sulfates in the dermis, probably secondary to cytokine activation of fibroblasts, with consequent compression of the dermal lymphatics and edema (1). However, the expression of immunoreactive TSHR mRNA and protein has been found in orbital pre-adipocytes, fibroblasts and other cells, therefore it is probable that an immune response to the TSHR plays a direct role in the development of all 3 these manifestations: GD, GO and pretibial mixedema (88).

1.2.3 Goitre and iodine deficiency

The term goitre means the enlargement of the thyroid gland and it can be diffuse or nodular, endemic or sporadic. Endemic goitre affects more than 12% of the world's population; the World Health Organisation (WHO) defined the goitre "endemic" when present in 5% or more of schoolchildren aged 6-12 years (89). Considering that iodine is an essential component of thyroid hormones, one of the major causes of goitre is iodine deficiency and the prevalence of goitre varies widely depending on the iodine intake of the referred population (1). Formation of normal quantities of thyroid hormone requires a daily thyroidal uptake of approximately 60 to 75 μ g of iodine. Considering a fecal loss of about 10 to 20 μ g, at least 100 µg of iodine per day is required in order to ensure the availability of adequate quantities of exogenous iodide for thyroid hormone synthesis (90). The daily dietary intake of iodine varies widely throughout the world, depending on the iodine content of soil and water and on dietary practice; in particular, iodine deficiency is common especially in mountainous and formerly glaciated regions of the earth (91). The level of iodine availability in a population is usually established measuring the urinary iodine excretion and a level of 100 to 150 µg as urinary iodine is considered for iodine-sufficient populations (90).

Similarly to the rest of thyroid diseases, the goitre has a female preponderance and its overall prevalence among the general population according to the Framingham survey and the Wickham study is estimated respectively as

4.6% (6.4% in women, 1.5% in men) and 3.2% (female to male ratio = 6.6:1) (82, 92). When ultrasonography (US) scan is applied as the screening method instead of palpation, the prevalence of goitre increases to 30% to 50% in an unselected adult population and even higher in iodine-deficient areas and among older people (82, 92-95). Thyroid nodules, associated or not with goitre, are also very common and a prevalence of up to 50% has been described in autopsy series (93) and greater than 60% in healthy adults screened with US scan of the thyroid gland (94).

The pathophysiological mechanisms of goitre involve an adaptive response of the thyroid follicular cell to any factor that impairs the synthesis of thyroid hormones. As previously introduced, iodine deficiency is one of the major causes of goitre, but considering that not all the inhabitants of iodine deficient geographic areas develop the goitre, other factors, both genetic and environmental, are likely to be involved. By studying families affected with goitre, several gene abnormalities involving proteins related to thyroid hormone synthesis have been detected, including Tg, NIS, TPO, DUOX2, pendrin and TSHR (1). Environmental factors include cigarette smoking, infections, drugs and goitrogens (95) and a role for oestrogens in goitre formation has been proposed, considering its female preponderance (21, 96).

The hyperplasia of thyroid follicular cells leading to the goitre is mainly driven by increased TSH levels as response to decreased thyroid hormone synthesis (97). However, the serum TSH concentration is normal in most patients with nontoxic goitre, therefore any factor that impairs thyroid hormone synthesis, especially iodine deficiency, may lead to gradual development of goitre in response to normal concentrations of TSH (95). Indeed, a complex network of both TSH-dependent and TSH-independent pathways plays a role in the goitrogenic process, including a variety of autocrine or paracrine growth factors (97).

As clinical manifestation, the nontoxic goitre is usually palpable and sometimes may be seen as a visible lump in the neck in correspondence of the thyroid gland. Large goitres, which may displace or compress the trachea, esophagus and neck vessels, can be associated with symptoms and signs including inspiratory stridor, dysphagia and a choking sensation. Vocal cord paralysis can occasionally result from benign nodular goitres, even if the compression of the recurrent laryngeal nerve, with resulting hoarseness, suggests carcinoma rather than nontoxic goitre. Finally, an acute local painful enlargement with enhancement or induction of obstructive symptoms can suddenly manifest in case of hemorrhage into a nodule or cyst (95). In case of toxic goitre, symptoms of thyrotoxicosis are also present and they will be discussed in the next paragraph 1.2.4.

1.2.4 Hypothyroidism and hyperthyroidism

As previously introduced in paragraph 1.1.4, a reduced level of thyroid hormones is termed hypothyroidism and biochemically defined by FT4 levels below the lower normal limit accompanied by raised TSH. On the contrary, an increased production of thyroid hormone is termed hyperthyroidism and biochemically corresponds to FT4 levels above the normal limit, accompanied by decreased or undetectable TSH. The condition of abnormality of TSH levels with FT4 levels still within the normal range is called subclinical hypothyroidism or subclinical hyperthyroidism when TSH levels are respectively raised or reduced. The term thyrotoxicosis means elevated plasma levels of thyroid hormones and includes not only hyperthyroidism but also different conditions where the excess of thyroid hormone is not related to an increased thyroid production.

Table 1-3 summarizes the possible different causes of hypothyroidism: the principal main distinction of hypothyroidism is between primary, when the thyroid dysfunction is the consequence of a disease primarily affecting the thyroid gland, or central, when the thyroid dysfunction is secondary to an altered pituitary secretion of TSH (secondary) or an altered hypothalamic secretion of TRH (tertiary). The prevalence of hypothyroidism is 10 times higher among women, the elderly and in some racial and ethnic groups, with a prevalence in iodine-replete communities between 1 and 2% (21, 63). The two most common causes of hypothyroidism are iodine deficiency and, in iodine sufficient areas, AITD (83). Congenital hypothyroidism affects about one newborn in 3500-4000 births and is the most treatable cause of mental retardation (98).

	CONGENITAL
	 Reduced thyroid mass (agenesis or dysplasia)
	 Reduced thyroid function: iodide transport or utilization defect (NIS or pendrin
	mutations), iodotyrosine dehalogenase deficiency, organification disorders
	(TPO deficiency or disfunction), defectes in Tg synthesis or processing, TSHR
	defects, thyroidal G_{s} protein abnormalities, idiopathic TSH unresponsiveness
	ACQUIRED
PRIMARY	 lodine deficiency
	 Autoimmune
	 Inflammatory/Degenerative: De Quervain thyroiditis, Riedel's thyroiditis,
	amyloidosis, hemochromatosis, sarcoidosis, cystinosis, sclerodermia
	 latrogenic: thyroidectomy, radioiodine treatment
	 Drugs blocking synthesis or release of thyroid hormones: carbimazole,
	methimazole, propylthiouracil, potassium perchlorate, lithium, ethionamide,
	sulfonamides, amiodarone, interferon α , iodine
	 Secondary: isolate TSH deficit, panhypopituitarism, resistance of pituitary
CENTRAL	receptor for TRH
	 Tertiary: reduced TRSH biological activity
 Refetof 	f syndrome (generalized resistance to thyroid hormones)

Tg= thyroglobulin; TPO= thyroid peroxidase; TRH= thyrotropin-releasing hormone; TSH= thyroid-stimulating hormone.

The possible causes of thyrotoxicosis are summarized Table 1-4: in this classification it is important to distinguish between true hyperthyroidism caused by an increased thyroid activity or thyrotoxicosis associated with a decreased thyroid activity. The most common causes of hyperthyroidism are GD, followed by toxic multinodular goitre, whilst rarer causes include an autonomously functioning thyroid adenoma or thyroiditis. The prevalence of hyperthyroidism in women is between 0.5 and 2%, and is 10 times more common in women than in men in iodine-replete communities (21).

	AUTOIMMUNE
	 Graves' disease (GD)
	NOT AUTOIMMUNE
	 Toxic multinodular goitre
	 Toxic adenoma
	 Gestational hyperthyroidism
HYPERTHYROIDISM	 Trophoblastic tumours secenning excess of serum human chorionic gonadotropin hormone
	 Struma ovarii (monodermal teratoma containing mostly thyroid tissue)
	 Excess of iodine (e.g. amiodarone)
	 Metastatic functioning thyroid carcinoma
	 TSH receptor or G protein mutations
	 TSH-secreting pituitary tumours
	 Thyroid hormone resistance with pituitary predominance
	ENDOGENOUS
	 Transient thyroid hormones release due to thyroid gland damaging in Hashimoto thyroiditis (Hashitoxicosis) or subacute
	thyroiditis
ΤΗΥΡΟΤΟΧΙΟΟΙΙ	• Drug induced: amiodarone, lithium, IFN- α , IL-2
TITIKOTOXICOSIS	EXOGENOUS
	 latrogenic overreplacement
	 Thyroxicosis factitia
	• Ingestion of natural products containing thyroid hormone (e.g.
	"hamburger thyrotoxicosis, natural foodstuffs)

Table 1-4: Causes of hyperthyroidism and thyrotoxicosis

IFN- α = interferon alpha ; IL-2 = interleukin-2 ; TSH= thyroid-stimulating hormone.

Hypothyroidism and thyrotoxicosis/hyperthyroidism have many clinical manifestations involving different organs and systems and they are summarized in Table 1-5. The severity of the clinical manifestations depends from the grade of thyroid hormone deficiency/excess and from the duration of the disease. Hyperthyroidism caused by GD is usually more severe compared to that of toxic goitre or adenoma and usually symptoms are more evident in young patients compared to elderly (1). One of the clinical features of full-blown hypothyroidism is a mucinous edema (myxedema) caused by an accumulation of hyaluronic acid that alters the composition of the ground substance in the dermis and other tissues (99).

	HTPOTHYROIDISM	HYPERTHYROIDISM	
CARDIOVASCULAR	 Bradycardia 	 Tachycardia, palpitations 	
system	 Peripheral vasoconstriction Pallor 	Blood pressure:	
	and intolerance to cold	diastolic and 🛧 systolic	
		 Cardiac arrhythmias, e.g. 	
		atrial fibrillation	
METABOLISM	▪ ♥ appetite	 Appetite 	
	 Weight gain 	 Heat intolerance 	
	LDL cholesterol	 Weight loss 	
		• A plasma free fatty acids	
		 Vector Cholesterol levels 	
		 Slight triglyceride 	
		levels	
CENTRAL AND	 Slowing of all intellectual functions 	 Nervousness 	
PERIPHERAL	 Loss of initiative 	 Emotional lability 	
NERVOUS SYSTEM	 Memory defects 	 Hyperkinesia 	
	Lethargy and somnolence	 Insomnia 	
	Paranoid and depression		
MUSCLE	 Weakness and fatigue 	 Weakness and fatigue 	
	• A creatine kinase levels	 Muscle wasting 	
EYES		 Retraction of upper lower 	
		eyelids → typical "stare"	
SKIN AND HAIR	Dry skin	 Excessive sweating 	
	 Mucinous edema (myxedema) 	 Palmar erythema 	
	especially around the eyes, on	 Hair fine and friable and 	
	supraclavicular fossa, hands, feet,	↑ hair loss	
	tongue, pharyngeal and laryngeal	 Nails soft and friable 	
	mucous membranes	 Plummer's nails 	
	 Slow wounds healing 	(onycholysis)	
	■ Hair dry and brittle, ↑ hair loss		
RESPIRATORY	 Dyspnea: myxedematous involvement 	Dyspnea: weakness of	
SYSTEM	of respiratory muscles; depression of	respiratory muscles	
	hypoxic/hypercaphic ventilator		
	drives		
	Obstructive sleep apnea		
BONE, CALCIUM	 Bone frailty and osteoporosis 	 Osteoporosis 	
METABOLISM		Hypercalcemia	
	Edema and fluid retention	 Mild polyuria 	
HEMATOPOIETIC	Mild normocytic normochromic	 Anemia 	
SYSTEM	anemia		
G-I SYSTEM	Constipation	Diarrhea	
REPRODUCTIVE	 Anovulatory cycles 	 Anovulatory cycles 	
FUNCTION	• V libido	 Gynecomastia 	

Table 1-5: Clinical manifestations of hypo- and hyper-thyroidism in adults

G-I = gastro-intestinal; LDL = low density lipoproteins.

1.2.5 Thyroid neoplasms

Thyroid tumours are the most common endocrine neoplasms and they are for the great majority (about 95%) benign, presenting as thyroid nodules. The follicular adenoma results from a genetic mutation in a single precursor cell, usually affecting the TSHR and causing its continuous activation. Thyroid adenomas can be both functioning and not functioning and in the first case they usually determine a clinical condition of hyperthyroidism. The thyroid adenoma is typically solitary and it has to be distinguished from nodules in the multinodular goitre, where they are the result of a hyperplastic response to a certain stimulus, e.g. iodine deficiency, as previously discussed (100).

Thyroid malignant neoplasms account for about 0.5% of cancers in men and 1.5% in women and may be secondary (thyroid metastasis from different primary carcinoma) or primary (101). Primary thyroid cancers are classified according to the cell of origin, as summarized in Table 1-6: rare mixed follicular and medullary carcinoma have also been described (1).

CELL OF ORIGIN	NAME OF CANCER	FREQUENCY
	Differentiated	90%
	 Papillary (PTC) 	
THYROCYTES	 Follicular (FTC) 	
	Poorly differentiated	1%
	Undifferentiated (anaplastic)	2%
C CELLS	Medullary carcinoma (MTC)	5%
	 Malignant lymphomas 	2%
NON EPITHELIAL	 Sarcomas 	
	 Others 	

Table 1-6: Classification of thyroid primary malignant neoplasms

Papillary thyroid carcinoma (PTC) is the most common, accounting for the 80-85% of total thyroid cancers in iodine-sufficient areas and has a very good prognosis, with a 10-year survival rate of 93-94%, versus 84-85% of follicular variant (FTC) (102). Medullary thyroid carcinoma (MTC) has an intermediate prognosis with a 10-year survival of 50%-75%, while anaplastic carcinoma has the absolute worse prognosis, with a disease-specific mortality of almost 100% (101).

Thyroid cancer may be sporadic and familial. In particular, differentiated thyroid cancer may be present in (102):

- Cowden syndrome (hamartomas, breast, colon and lung tumours)
- Gardner syndrome (intestinal polyps, osteomas, fibromas and lipomas)
- Carney complex (pigmented adrenal nodules, pituitary tumours, skin pigmentation and myxomas)
- Turcot syndrome (large intestinal polyps and brain tumours)

MTC may be associated with hereditary multiple endocrine neoplasias (MEN) type 2A and 2B, associated respectively with parathyroid hyperplasia/adenomas and pheochromocytoma (MEN2A) and with pheochromocytoma, marfanoid body habitus and multiple intestinal and mucosal ganglioneuromas (MEN2B) (103).

Thyroid cell tumourigenesis can develop along several paths, sometimes specific and sometimes common to other solid tumours. The RET (abbreviation for "rearranged during transfection") proto-oncogene encodes for a receptor tyrosine kinase and its activating mutations are involved in the development of various types of cancer, especially MTC, MEN2A and MEN2B (104). RET/PTC mutations leading to unregulated tyrosine kinase activation, together with B-RAF and RAS genes mutations, have been found in about 70% of patients affected with PTC. Finally, translocations of the DNA-binding domain of paired box gene 8 (PAX-8) to the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor γ (PPAR- γ 1) gene have been identified in some FTC (102).

1.3 BREAST CANCER

Breast cancer (BC) is the most frequent malignant disease and the leading cause of cancer death among women in both economically developed and developing countries. Worldwide, 1.4 million new BC cases are diagnosed each year, with a related mortality in about one third (105).

BC mortality rates have declined in recent years thanks to several factors, including increased awareness leading to early detection and the availability of better treatment options (106). However, despite current efforts to prevent the disease, BC incidence is rising in most countries mainly as a consequence of increasing numbers of women with major risk factors for breast cancer, especially obesity, sedentary life and alcohol consumption but also cultural and reproductive changes in women's lives (107).

1.3.1 Breast anatomy and physiology

Both males and females have breasts, but normally they are well developed only in women. Mammary glands in females are accessory to reproduction, while in men they are functionless, consisting of only a few small ducts or cords (108).

1.3.1.1 Breast anatomy

The breasts or mammary glands are located in the thorax region and are modified sweat glands and therefore have no special capsule or sheath (Figure 1-7). The contour and volume of the breasts are produced by subcutaneous fat except during pregnancy, when the mammary glands enlarge and new glandular tissue forms. Breast size and shape result from genetic, racial and dietary factors (108).

Between the breast and the deep pectoral fascia is a loose connective tissue plane or potential space, called "retromammary space" or "bursa"; it contains a small amount of fat, that allows the breast some degree of movement on the deep pectoral fascia. At the greatest prominence of the breast is the nipple, surrounded by a circular pigmented area (the areola) (108).

The lymphatic drainage of the breast is important because of its role in the metastasis of cancer cells. The lymph passes from lobules of the gland, nipple and areola to the subareolar lymphatic plessus and from it to the axillary lymph nodes (>75%), pectoral (anterior) nodes, parasternal lymph nodes, abdominal lymph nodes (inferior phrenic nodes) (108).

The breast contains 15 to 20 lobes of glandular tissue, which constitute the parenchyma of the mammary gland (108):

- Each mammary lobe consists of a system of draining ever-branching ducts that penetrate deep into the breast fibro-adipose tissue. The duct system finally converges into a unique lactiferous duct that opens independently on the nipple; just deep to the areola, each lactiferous duct has a dilated portion, the lactiferous sinus (108). Each duct is lined by columnar or cuboidal epithelium, with a continuous surface layer of epithelial cells and an outer discontinuous layer of myoepithelial cells. Each duct is surrounded by loose fibrocollagenous support tissue containing rich capillary network (109).
- The branching duct system ends in a cluster of blind-ending terminal ductules, each cluster and its feeding duct comprising a mammary lobule. The terminal ducts and lobules are embedded in a loose fibrous support tissue, which is rich in capillaries and also contains a few lymphocytes, macrophages and mast cells. The tissue is surrounded by a more dense fibrocollagenous support tissue intermingled with adipose tissue (109).
- Each lobule is composed by alveolar cells, secretory units responsible for milk production that during lactation become columnar and look like exocrine cells.
 Myoepithelial cells are located in the basement membrane of the lobule and along the intralobular ducts (110).



Figure 1-7: Mammary gland and its associated structures

Adapted from © Pearson Education, Inc.

1.3.1.2 Breast physiology

The structure, size, form and function of breast tissue result from an intricate combination of hormone signals and ratios. Lactation is indeed the primary function of the breast and it serves two equally important functions: it supplies the newborn with adequate nutrients and it lengthens the interval between births. The postpuberal breast is mature but inactive; a proliferative phase occurs during pregnancy, followed by regression after lactation ceases (110).

The maternal breast milk contains all the nutrients that an infant needs in the first 6 months of life, including fat, carbohydrates, proteins, vitamins, minerals, growth factors and water. In particular, the main carbohydrate is lactose, a disaccharide and the main proteins are casein and alpha-lactalbumin, together with a balance of various amino acids. One important function of the maternal milk is to protect the newborn from infections, therefore it contains immunoglobulins (Ig), white blood cells, special proteins that can kill bacteria, viruses and fungi (lysozyme and lactoferrin) and oligosaccharides which prevent bacteria from attaching the mucosal surfaces (111).

The breast function is regulated by many different hormones and growth factors (110). In this thesis only a brief overview of their actions on the mammary

gland will be provided, without mentioning their complex mechanisms of regulation and secretion that are beyond the scope of the present thesis.

Pregnancy-related hormones, oxytocin, prolactin (PRL), human placental lactogen (hPL), have the major role of stimulating milk production and release during lactation (Figure 1-8).

1) Oxytocin is synthetized in the neurons of the supraoptic and paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus, transported into the posterior pituitary gland and then released into the circulation. Oxytocin determines the contraction of the myoepithelial cells of the mammary lobules, promoting milk ejection.

2) PRL is synthetized and secreted by the lactotrophs cells of the anterior pituitary gland. PRL is an obligate regulator of mammary organogenesis, lobular and alveolar growth and functional differentiation. It is also the hormone primarily responsible for the induction and maintenance of milk protein, lactose and lipid production.

3) hPL is synthetized by the syncytiotrophoblasts of the placenta and its main role is related to breast growth and differentiation during pregnancy. A role similar to PRL in lactation has also been described.

Steroid hormones: oestrogens, progesterone, glucorticoids.

1) Oestrogens are secreted by ovaries and act via nuclear oestrogen receptor (ER). They are responsible for the proliferation of mammary epithelium, especially the ductal portions of the gland. They have complex actions on lactation, since they directly inhibit milk secretion but at the same time they promote PRL secretion by the anterior pituitary gland.

2) Progesterone is mainly synthetized in the ovaries and placenta and acts via a nuclear receptor whose expression is induced by oestrogens. Progesterone synergizes with oestrogen and prolactin to produce full lobuloalveolar development of the mammary gland. Similarly to oestrogens, it prevents milk protein synthesis and inhibits milk secretion during pregnancy.

3) Glucocorticoids are mainly secreted by the adrenal glands and act via nuclear receptors. They are essential for the process of lactation and act in synergism with the other hormones involved.

Other hormones: GH, insulin, thyroid hormones

1) GH is produced by the anterior pituitary gland and it is important for the function and development of the breast in concert with the other hormones, where it has a substantial lactogenic activity.

2) Insulin is produced by B-cells of pancreatic isles and its main function on the breast is regulating the transport of glucose into the mammary acinar cells, essential requisite for synthesis of lipids for milk fat.

3) Thyroid hormones are involved in mammary growth and lactation and have a permissive role, more than regulatory. The interactions between thyroid hormones and breast cell will be further described in paragraph 1.4.2.

Growth factors: several growth factors are involved in normal growth and development of the breast and with its function:

1) The fibroblast growth factor (FGF) family is composed of several heparinbinding structurally related polypeptides acting via tyrosine kinase receptors and they are important in mammary development during sexual maturity.

2) The epidermal growth factor (EGF) family comprises several different proteins that act via a set of transmembrane receptors and are mitogens for mammary epithelial cells.

3) The transforming growth factor beta family (TGFB) is composed of several related multifunctional proteins that modulate a wide variety of cellular functions. In the mammary gland they are important for ductal morphogenesis and regulation of the onset of lactation.

4) Insulin-like growth factors (IGFs) are structurally homologous peptides involved in many biological processes and they primarily have a proliferative effect.

5) Other growth factors. Platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) is a potent mitogen stimulating the proliferation of mesenchymal cells, thought to act principally via mammary stromal cells. Another growth factor that may act indirectly on the breast is colony stimulating factor-1 (CSF-1).





Mammary lobule and main hormones involved in lactation. Adapted from (112).

1.3.2 Risk factors

Many different risk factors for BC have been identified and they can be classified as genetic, environmental/lifestyle and medical conditions.

1.3.2.1 Genetic factors

It is currently estimated that 5-10% of all BC are hereditary and due to mutations in high-penetrance susceptibility genes. Only two of these genes have been identified so far: BRCA1, associated with families having BC and ovarian cancer, and BRCA2, associated with families having male breast tumours (113). BRCA1 and BRCA2 genes are classified as tumour suppressors and linked with key metabolic processes, including deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA)-damage repair, regulation of gene expression and cell-cycle control (114, 115). About 85% of all alterations in BRCA1 and BRCA2 tumours are frameshift or nonsense mutations and yield a truncated protein product (113).

Several other less known mutations related to BC exist and they include high penetrance lower frequency mutations leading to neoplasias in multiple organs, such as p53 (Li-Fraumeni syndrome), PTEN (Cowden syndrome) and STK11 (Peutz-Jeghers syndrome). Other genetic mutations have only more recently been identified and are characterized as high frequency but lesser penetrance mutations, such as CHEK2, ATM, BRIP1 and PALB2 (116).

1.3.2.2 Environmental and lifestyle factors

The fraction of BC cases attributable to lifestyle and environmental factors in the UK was estimated to be 26.8% in 2010 (117). The major lifestyle and environmental risk factors for BC are:

Hormonal factors. Hormones, oestrogens in particular, are believed to be the most important risk factor for BC. Oestrogens are considered weak carcinogens, as a consequence of their stimulatory activity on breast epithelium by increasing the rate of cell division and proliferation, thereby allowing for an increase in the accumulation of random genetic errors (118). In particular, a high exposure to oestrogens and therefore an increased risk of BC is a consequence of the following situations (119):

1) Endogenous oestrogens: early menarche, late menopause.

2) Exogenous oestrogens. The two main sources of exogenous oestrogens are oral contraception in pre-menopausal women and hormonal replacement therapy in post-menopausal women. Numerous studies examining the association between exogenous hormones and BC risk have been published but they report contrasting results and must be interpreted cautiously as a consequence of changes in hormonal dose over time and methods of delivery (e.g. sequential versus combination) (119). As an example, hormonal birth control has been associated to an increased development of premenopausal BC (120) but other meta-analyses and studies did not confirm these findings among general population (121, 122) or even among high-risk women BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutation carriers (123).

Other reproductive factors. Breast cells that have never undergone differentiation to produce milk divide 20 times more often than cells that have acquired the terminal phenotype (124). Therefore the following situation are considered risk factors for BC:

1) Low parity and late pregnancy

- 2) Abbreviated breast feeding
- Obesity. Strong observational data indicate that weight gain in the premenopausal period and being overweight or obese after menopause increase the risk of BC. Obesity is in general related to an increased risk of different types of cancer and the involved mechanisms are not yet fully understood, but likely to involve three different hormonal systems: 1) the insulin and insulin-like growth factor (IGF) axis, 2) sex steroids, and 3) adipokines. In particular, the specific link between increased body weight and postmenopausal BC could be explained by an increased aromatase activity (present in the adipose tissue, therefore overexpressed in obese people), with consequent increased oestrogen production from androgen precursors (125).
- Diet and iodine. The impact of dietary components such as the amount of saturated fat, fruit and vegetables on the risk of BC has been analyzed in different studies, mainly leading to contrasting or inconclusive results (107). However, a recent systematic review of dietary patterns and BC concluded that a Mediterranean dietary pattern and diets composed largely of vegetables, fruit, fish and soy are associated with a decreased risk of BC (126). lodine plays an important role in the mammary gland and iodine deficiency has been associated with an increased risk of BC. Milk, seafood and seaweeds are very rich in iodine; Japanese women, having a diet rich in seafood/seaweeds, have one of the lowest incidence of both benign and malignant breast diseases (127). The topic of iodine and BC will be further discussed in paragraph 1.4.4.
- Alcohol. It is estimated that BC cancer risk is increased by 7% to 10% for each one-unit increase in intake of alcohol per day (a unit is half pint of 4% strength beer or cider or 25 milliliters (mL) of 40% strength spirits; one small 125 mL glass of 12% strength wine is 1.5 unit). Several studies suggest that women who want to minimize their BC risk should not be drinking more than one alcohol

unit daily and they are recommended to include a period of at least 2 alcoholfree days weekly (107).

- Physical activity. A recent review of 73 observational studies indicated that moderate to vigorous physical activity reduces the risk of BC by an average of 25% in pre- and post-menopausal women compared with inactive women. However, the optimal level of physical activity for BC cancer risk reduction is unclear and may be greater than current recommendations (128). Furthermore, these kind of observational studies conducted so far have major limitations, such as the heterogeneity of self-reported questionnaires used to measure the amount of physical activity (107).
- Radiations. The increased neoplastic risk, including BC, after exposure to ionizing radiations is well known and dose dependent (129). Although the radiation from mammography is a low dose, it is estimated that yearly screening from 40 to 80 years of age can cause approximately 225 cases of fatal BC per million of screened women (130).
- Chemicals. The exposure to several chemicals has been associated with an increased risk of BC, including polychlorinated biphenyls, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, organic solvents (131) and a number of pesticides (132).

1.3.2.3 Medical conditions

Type II diabetes mellitus (DM) has been associated with an increased risk of developing many different types of cancer. A recent extensive review of existing meta-analysis and observational studies confirmed a significant association of type II DM only with 4 different types of cancer and BC was one of them (133).

The precise mechanisms involved are not fully known, but several hypotheses have been postulated, considering that DM and cancer share several common mechanisms, including increased insulin and IGF signaling, dysregulation of ovarian steroid hormones and chronic inflammation (134).

1.3.3 Classification

BC cannot be viewed as a single clinical-pathological entity and it must be necessarily dissected into a number of more homogeneous entities, therefore its classification is complex and taking into account histological, biological and molecular factors. Despite all the efforts, the "perfect" classification of BC has not been written yet (135).

1.3.3.1 Histopathological classification

The histopathological classification of breast tumours is based on the different morphological features of mammary lesions and the World Health Organization (WHO) classification, recently updated in 2012 and published by the International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC), is adopted worldwide. The whole WHO classification is very complex and takes into account all the existing benign and malignant breast tumours; its integral report is beyond the scope of the present thesis. Malignant breast lesions may be primary, originating from breast epithelium, mesenchymal cells or breast lymphocytes, and secondary (metastatic tumours). In particular, malignant mesenchymal tumours include liposarcoma, angiosarcoma, rhabdomyosarcoma, osteosarcoma, leiomyoma and leiomyosarcoma (136).

In the present thesis the term BC refers to invasive malignant lesions derived from the breast epithelium, summarized in Table 1-7. The most common form of BC is adenocarcinoma arising from the epithelial cells of the lactiferous ducts in the mammary gland lobes (108) and traditionally BC takes a different name according to the different part of the mammary gland it originates from (109):

- Ductal carcinomas: originating from the epithelial components of the mammary ducts, both extralobular or intralobular
- Lobular carcinomas: originating from the epithelial components of the terminal ductules

The last version of WHO classification replaced the term "ductal carcinoma" (adopted until the previous 2003 version), with the more general "carcinoma of no special type", referring to all tumours without the specific differentiating features that characterize the other categories of BC (exclusion diagnosis based on histopathological criteria). The rationale for this is that the term "ductal" conveys unproven histogenetic assumptions (derivation of the tumours from the ductal system) and also invasive ductal carcinoma does not comprise a uniform group of carcinomas (137). Invasive carcinoma of no special type (ex "ductal") is the most common form of invasive BC, comprising between 40% and 75% of cases, followed by invasive lobular carcinoma (5-15%) (136).

Table 1-7: BC WHO histopathological classification of malignant lesions of the breast epithelium

INVASIVE	Invasive carcinoma of no special type (ex invasive ductal carcinoma)	40-75 %
BREAST	 Several subtypes 	
CARCINOMA	Invasive lobular carcinoma	5-15 %
	 Several subtypes 	
	Tubular carcinoma	2 %
	Cribriform carcinoma	0.3-0.8 %
	Mucinous carcinoma	2 %
	Carcinoma with medullary features	<1 %
	 Several subtypes 	
	Carcinoma with apocrine differentiation	4 %
	Carcinoma with signet-ring-cell differentiation	NA (rare)
	Invasive micropapillary carcinoma	0.9-2 %
	Metaplastic carcinoma of no special type	0.2-5 %
	 Several subtypes 	
	Carcinoma with neuroendocrine features	<1 %
	 Several subtypes 	
	Other rare types	<1 %
	 Several subtypes 	
TUMOURS	Adenomyoepithelioma with carcinoma	NA (rare)
EPITHELIAL-	Adenoid cystic carcinoma	<0.1 %
MYOEPITHELIAL		
PRECUSOR	Ductal carcinoma in situ	20-25 %
LESIONS	Lobular carcinoma in situ	NA
	 Several subtypes 	
PAPILLARY	Intraductal papillary carcinoma	NA (rare)
LESIONS	Solid papillary carcinoma	<1 %

NA = Not available. *Adapted from (136)*.

1.3.3.2 Molecular classification

Molecular classification of BC is essential for both BC prognostic assessment and choice of therapies, therefore mandatory in all BC cases. It is based on the following molecular biomarkers: oestrogen receptor (ER), progesterone receptor (PR), human epidermal growth factor receptor type 2 (HER2) and proliferation index Ki67. (135).

★ ER and PR are nuclear transcription factors that stimulate the growth of both normal and neoplastic breast cells (136, 138). They are routinely detected by immunohistochemistry (IHC) on primarily formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded (FFPE) tissue sections of BC and their expression is defined as a continuum ranging from 0% to 100% of positive cells (136). Both ER and PR are considered positive in the presence of ≥1% positive-staining tumour cells (139) and ER and PR positive expression is reported in respectively 80% and 60-70% of invasive BC, with PR expression highly correlated with ER expression (136). In fact PR expression is regulated by ER, therefore PR positivity indicates that the oestrogen-ER pathway is intact and functional. However, ER-PR correlation is

imperfect and 4 possible phenotypes of combined expression are possible, although it is debatable whether ER-negative/PR-positive tumours exist (136).

- HER2 oncogene and oncoprotein. The HER2 gene encodes for a growth factor receptor on the surface of normal breast epithelial cells. This gene is amplified in approximately 15% of BC and its amplification is highly correlated with elevated protein expression. HER2 gene amplification and protein expression status are mainly determined on FFPE samples respectively by fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH) and IHC (136). In addition, other chromogenic methods that can accurately determine gene copy number using routine bright-field microscopy are becoming popular (140). HER2 expression is considered positive when an amplification of HER2 gene is detectable by FISH and/or >30% of tumoural cells show IHC staining of HER2 protein that can be classified as strong (3+) or moderately strong (2+). When tumours show little (1+ staining) or no (0 staining) protein expression by IHC, usually FISH reports a normal number of gene copies and the tumours are classified as HER2-negative (136, 141).
- Proliferative fraction (Ki67). Tumour proliferation is an important BC prognostic factor and in clinical practice is usually determined by the immunohistochemical staining of Ki67 antigen. In particular, the Ki67 mouse monoclonal antibody recognizes a nuclear antigen present only in proliferating cells and not in resting cells (142). Proliferative fraction, by Ki67 detection, can be classified as low or high and is essential for a complete molecular classification of BC (135).

Several different approaches have been attempted to unveil the molecular basis for heterogeneity of BC. Perou et al. used a hierarchical clustering analysis of gene expression profiling, including keratins, to identify molecularly defined classes of BC (luminal, HER2-enriched, basal-like, normal-like). They found that basal and luminal cells of breast epithelium were respectively ER-negative and ERpositive and since then the terms "basal" and "luminal" have been introduced in BC molecular classification to describe ER-expression state (143). This classification has been shown to have prognostic value and predictive of the response to chemotherapy (135). However, it was derived from investigations on frozen tissue and therefore not applicable to formalin-fixed and paraffinembedded (FFPE) material routinely used.

Consequently, new classifications based on surrogate protein markers detectable using the more familiar IHC have been applied and they are based on the combined evaluation of HER2, ER, PR and Ki-67 (144). The different BC

molecular categories are frequently updated and modified and one of the latest versions is reported in Table 1-8, according to the 2011 St. Gallen International Consensus. Despite the lack of complete overlap among BC molecular classes determined by gene expression profiling and protein expression by IHC, the molecular classification of BC based on IHC staining of proteinaceous markers has been endorsed to determine the choice of systemic treatments for BC (145).

	ER and/or PR	HER2	Ki67
Luminal A	Pos	Neg	Low
Luminal B - HER2 negative	Pos	Neg	High
Luminal B - HER2 positive	Pos	Pos	Any
HER-2 positive	Neg	Pos	NA
Basal-like (Triple negative)	Neg	Neg	NA

Table 1-8: BC molecular classification based on IHC staining

BC molecular classification according to the 2011 St. Gallen International Consensus, *modified from (145)*. ER= oestrogen receptor; HER2= human epidermal growth factor receptor type 2; low Ki67 = <14%; NA = not assessed; Neg = negative; Pos = positive; PR= progesterone receptor.

1.3.4 Clinical manifestations

Usually BC presents as a firm lump in the breast, but can have additional local manifestations, including lymphedema (excess fluid in the subcutaneous tissue), nipple retraction or deviation or a thickened, leather-like appearance of the skin and abnormal contours of the breast because of traction on the suspensory ligaments (108).

The BC cell can spread outside the breast and this process is called metastasization; the spread BC cells then produce nests of tumoural cells called metastases. There are two types of metastasization: via lymphatic system to the lymph nodes (lymphogenic metastasis) or via veins to different organs (distant metastasis). The most common site of BC metastases are axillary lymph nodes, but other different nodes may be involved, including cervical, parasternal, infraclavicular, supraclavicular and abdominal and both sides of the body may be involved (e.g. presence of contralateral lymph node metastases). The major sites of distant metastases of BC through the hematic route include bone, brain, lung and liver (108).

1.3.5 Blood biomarkers

In contrast to markers detected in the primary tumour tissue, blood tumour markers reflect a dynamic situation and their measurement can be repeated as required. A large number of blood tumour markers have been proposed for BC and the most widely used in clinical practice are carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA) and cancer antigen 15.3 (CA15.3) (146).

- CEA is an oncofoetal protein and its increased levels have been detected not only in BC but in several other different types of cancers, especially primary colorectal cancer (146).
- The mucin MUC1 is a glycoprotein expressed by most "wet" epithelia, including mammary epithelial cells, and both aberrant and up-regulated expression of MUC1 are features of malignancy. MUC1 is highly heterogeneous and a large number of distinct monoclonal antibodies have been raised against different epitopes; a specific monoclonal antibody recognizing the antigen CA15.3 is the gold standard for MUC1 assessment in BC (146).

CA15.3 has a higher sensitivity compared with CEA, considering that they are positive in respectively 54-80% and 30-50% of metastatic BC. Unfortunately, they have low specificity, since they may both be positive in many different malignant and benign (especially inflammatory) conditions (146).

Although CA15.3 is more sensitive than CEA, CA15.3 is positive only in less than 10% of early stage BC, therefore it is not recommended for screening or diagnosis of BC onset (147). Therefore, both CEA and CA15.3 have clinical utility only in advanced and metastatic BC, especially to monitor the response to treatments (146). Additional clinical tools include the assessment of distant metastasis at BC diagnosis and screening or early diagnosis of BC recurrence (148).

Circulating tumour cells (CTCs) and circulating tumour DNA (ctDNA) released by tumoural cells have been identified as very promising blood tumoural markers with great and important potentialities in clinical practice. In particular, they may be applied to assess cancer diagnosis, prognosis, treatment choice and prediction of tumoural response to it. In fact solid tumours exhibit both spatial and temporal heterogeneity; tumoural cells are affected with clonal and subclonal diversity, therefore two different cells are likely to be genetically different with a different behavior, especially when comparing primary tumour and its distant metastases. Furthermore, tumoural cells evolve over time under selection pressure from cancer specific treatments. CTCs and ctDNA therefore have the great potentiality of a non-invasive real-time assessment of tumour molecular profiles during the course of disease, considered as "liquid biopsy technologies". However, further studies are still needed in order to validate and routinely use them in clinical practice (149, 150).

MicroRNAs (miRNAs) are a group of small non-coding RNAs able to regulate gene expression at the post-transcriptional level by binding to the 3' un-translated region of target messenger RNAs (mRNAs) (151). They have been proposed as well

as potential prognostic and predictive biomarkers in BC management, however they are still in a premature phase of investigation and further studies are needed in order to propose their assessment in clinical practice (152).

1.4 THYROID DISEASES AND BREAST CANCER

1.4.1 Benign thyroid diseases and breast cancer: an overview

The relationship between benign thyroid disorders (BTD) and breast pathology has been studied since 1896, when Beatson reported that the use of oophorectomy and thyroid extract was useful in the treatment of metastatic BC (153). Subsequently, many studies addressed the connection between BC and thyroid diseases, in particular BTD and so far, after more than one century, this topic is still debated and rich in conflicting and contradictory results. Some authors support the presence of an association between BTD and BC (154-158) but others do not (159-163). The possible causes of this discrepancy are many, including the use of different diagnostic criteria for the existing BTD, the predominant retrospective or cross-sectional nature of existing studies, the high heterogeneity of BC and its subtypes and the fact that both BTD and breast pathology are two of the most common diseases among women, therefore a high number of studied subjects is required in order to obtain significant results.

The association between BTD and BC seems to be bilateral, in the sense that a higher prevalence of BTD has been found among patients with BC, as well as a higher risk of BC among patients with BTD. In fact in 2003 Turken found a higher prevalence of both autoimmune and non-autoimmune BTD in 150 patients affected with BC compared with 100 controls (156). Many other authors confirmed a higher prevalence of BTD, in particular thyroid autoimmunity (TA), among patients with BC compared to controls, even if not confirmed by other studies. This will be described in more detail in the following paragraph 1.4.3.

Regarding the opposite relationship, 2 cross-sectional studies from the same research group and 1 independent retrospective study showed about three-fold increased risk of BC in patients affected with any kind of BTD, both autoimmune or not, compared with the expected BC prevalence among age-matched general population calculated from national cancer registries (158, 164, 165). Interestingly, in studies from Prinzi et al. patients negative for anti-thyroid autoantibodies (TAb) had a higher BC prevalence compared with TAb positive, suggesting a protective role of TAb (158, 164). The impact on BC prognosis exerted by TAb, TPOAb in particular, will be introduced in the next paragraph 1.4.3 and further discussed in paragraph 4.1.1.

1.4.2 Thyroid function and breast cancer

The relationship between thyroid function and BC has been debated for a long time and contrasting results have been generated, with some authors claiming hypothyroidism associated with an increased (166) or reduced (167, 168) risk of developing BC, while others did not find any correlation at all (155, 159, 160, 169).

In particular, an increased risk of BC among hyperthyroid patients is a recurrent finding and Hellevik et al. in a prospective population study involving almost 30'000 participants found that individuals with a TSH below the normal range had a generalized increased risk to develop different types of cancers, with a Hazard Ratio (HR) for BC of 1.20 (170). Similarly, other population-based case-control studies confirmed that hyperthyroidism seems to be associated with an increased risk of different types of cancer (171).

The epidemiological finding of increased risk of BC among hyperthyroid patients and protective effect exerted by hypothyroidism is supported by *in vitro* experiments showing a tumour-promoting effect of thyroid hormones. In fact normal mammary epithelial cells express thyroid hormone receptors, therefore mammary gland development and gene expression are responsive to T3 (172, 173). Furthermore, in contrast to other hormone receptors, BC cells also express thyroid hormone receptors of the mammary gland induces differentiation and lobular growth in an oestrogen-like manner (175-177). In tumour transplant rodent models, thyroid hormones appear to stimulate tumour growth and metastasis, whereas treatment-induced hypothyroidism has opposite effects with favorable outcome not just in BC but in several other cancer types (171).

During recent decades it has been debated whether an increased risk of cancer among hyperthyroid patients could be possibly due to the treatment with radioiodine. A recent Finnish long-term follow-up study conducted on a total of 6148 patients affected with hyperthyroidism and treated with thyroidectomy or radioiodine seems to have definitively solved this debate, concluding that the type of treatment (thyroid surgery versus radioiodine) did not affect the overall risk of cancer and therefore radioiodine can be considered a safe treatment (178).

1.4.3 Thyroid autoimmunity and breast cancer

A relatively recent extensive meta-analysis published in 2012 confirmed the presence of a strong association between thyroid autoimmunity (TA) and BC (157), in total contrast with a previous meta-analysis published in 2002, that failed in confirming such association (161). A possible explanation is the use in the 2012

meta-analysis of more specific and appropriate definition of TA and the inclusion of additional studies that were not available in 2002.

Several authors found an increased prevalence of anti-thyroid autoantibodies (TAb), especially anti-thyroid peroxidase (TPO) autoantibodies (TPOAb), among patients with BC compared with healthy controls (166, 179-181). In particular TPOAb prevalence in BC patients compared with healthy controls was respectively 36% and 19% according to Shering et al. (179), 23.5% and 8% according to Giani et al. (180) and 15% and 9.8% according to Kuijpens et al. (166). However, these findings have not been confirmed by other authors (163).

According to two recent extensive cross-sectional studies, patients affected with non-autoimmune BTD had a higher prevalence of BC compared with TAb positive patients, suggesting a protective role of TAb (158, 164). In particular, several small-scale studies described a better BC outcome among women positive for serum TPOAb compared with TPOAb negative (182-184), even if not confirmed by all authors (185); this topic will be further discussed in paragraph 4.1.1.

1.4.4 lodine deficiency, goitre and breast cancer

The mammary gland during pregnancy and lactation is highly effective in capturing I[°], essential to form iodoproteins (e.g. iodocasein) and provide the neonate with iodine to make his/her own thyroid hormones necessary to normal neural development (127). This is possible through the expression by the mammary gland of NIS and lactoperoxidase (LPO), that will be better discussed in the next paragraph 1.5.1 and in chapters 2 (NIS) and 3 (LPO).

lodine also exerts an anti-oxidant effect in iodide-concentrating cells, e.g. thyroid and breast cells, therefore iodine deficiency may cause a decrease in antioxidant defenses and therefore an increase of oxidative stress and cell damage (186-188). Accordingly, Eskin and co-workers showed that iodine deficiency may cause evident dysplasia and cell atypia in mammary tissue of rats and that iodine replacement was able to reverse these changes (189). The same authors also demonstrated that the block of I⁻ uptake with perclorate was associated with the presence of mammary gland atypia in rats (190).

A possible role of iodine in human breast pathology is provided by the study of Kilbane et al., showing a reduced content of tissue iodine in BC tissue compared to breast benign tumours, e.g. fibroadenomas (187).

lodine deficiency as a common risk factor for BC and BTD is further supported by the evidence of an increased prevalence of goitre among patients affected with BC, as first reported by Smyth et al. (191) and then confirmed in other independent studies (156).

1.4.5 Thyroid cancer and breast cancer

According to Surveillance, Epidemiology and End Results (SEER) program of U.S. cancer registry data, the cumulative incidence of developing any second cancer after thyroid cancer is 16% at 25 years, with BC being the most common (36%) (192). A reciprocal association between thyroid cancer and BC has been described (193) but still the subject of controversy. Accordingly, some authors observed an increased prevalence of BC among patients with thyroid cancer (192), while others reported an increase of thyroid cancer cases among BC patients (194), not confirmed in a different large retrospective cohort study (195).

Although still a matter for debate, the possible explanations for an association between BC and thyroid cancer are several and involve common genetic, endocrine or environmental risk factors. The increased prevalence of BC after thyroid cancer could be also due to a combination of several elements, including 1) the excellent 10-year overall survival of thyroid cancer (up to 94%) (102); 2) the increased medical surveillance of neoplastic patients and consequent screening bias (196); 3) BC is the most common neoplastic disease among women (197), therefore it is not surprising if also the most common neoplastic disease among patients with thyroid cancer.

Regarding the opposite relationship, an increased prevalence of thyroid cancer after BC could also be due to the involvement of thyroid gland within the radiation field during radiotherapy for BC, however the adult thyroid is much less susceptible to the carcinogenic effects of medical radiation compared with the thyroid of a child. Accordingly, the National Surgical Adjuvant Breast and Bowel Project involving 818 women with BC found that only 2 cases of thyroid cancer occurred after breast irradiation (198). Similarly, no increased risk of thyroid cancer after radiation therapy for BC has been found in a large retrospective cohort study (195).

Regarding the genetic factors, BC and thyroid cancer are surely associated in Cowden's syndrome, one rare autosomal dominant genetic condition characterized by a germline mutation of tumour suppressor *PTEN* gene, determining an increased predisposition to different cancer types. However, Cowden's syndrome is quite rare, therefore responsible for only a small proportion of associated BC and thyroid cancer (193).

Regarding the endocrine factors, sex hormones are likely to be involved, considering that oestrogens are fundamental for BC progression and ER has been found also in both neoplastic and non-neoplastic thyroid tissue (50).

1.5 THESIS AIMS

The present thesis has two main aims:

1) To identify hypothetical common antigens between thyroid and breast cancer (BC) tissue

2) To verify the prognostic role of TPOAb in a large cohort of women with BC

1.5.1 Common antigens between thyroid and breast cancer tissues

It is known that thyroid and tumoural mammary glands share similar physiological properties and activities (199), as summarized in Figure 1-9:

- They both express NIS and iodine has a crucial role for both glands
- They both have a peroxidase activity: TPO in thyroid and lactoperoxidase (LPO) in breast





 H_2O_2 = hydrogen peroxide; I⁻ = iodide; I₂ = iodine; LPO = lactoperoxidase; Na⁺ = sodium; NIS = sodium iodide transporter; TPO = thyroid peroxidase.

The epidemiological suggestion of an association between thyroid autoimmunity (TA) and BC and in particular the suggested protective role of TPOAb among patients with BC led us to hypothesize the presence of a common immune response against a shared antigen between thyroid and BC cells, leading to thyroid tissue damaging on one side and BC growth control on the other side.

As previously introduced in paragraph 1.1.2, NIS is a transmembrane glycoprotein involved in active transport of iodide into follicular thyroid cells. Tazebay *et al.* demonstrated by immunohistochemistry that both lactating breast cells and BC cells express NIS, while no NIS activity was shown in normal non-lactating samples from reductive mammoplasties in humans (200). Therefore, considering that NIS is expressed by both thyroid and BC tissues, we hypothesized NIS as putative common antigen between BC and thyroid cells and we searched for

autoantibodies to NIS (NISAb) as possible epiphenomenon of this shared immune reaction. This will be discussed further in chapter 2.

As alternative possible antigen, considering that TPOAb are more prevalent among patients affected with BC, we hypothesized that TPO itself is expressed not only in thyroid tissue but also in BC tissue. As third possibility, since TPO and LPO belong to the same family of proteins (peroxidases) and have considerable homology, we hypothesized that TPOAb could cross-react with shared or similar epitopes present in both TPO and LPO. Both hypotheses will be discussed in chapter 3 (TPO) and chapter 5, paragraph 5.2.1 (TPOAb cross-reactivity).

1.5.2 Prognostic role of TPOAb in a large cohort of women with breast cancer

Considering that so far a protective role for TPOAb among patients with BC has been described only in small-scale studies with not all authors agreeing, the second aim of this thesis was to investigate the impact of TPOAb on BC prognosis in a large-scale cohort of individuals. This will be accurately described in Chapter 4.

2 NEUTRAL SERUM AUTOANTIBODIES TO THE SODIUM IODIDE SYMPORTER (NIS)

2.1 INTRODUCTION

2.1.1 Human NIS gene and protein: molecular characterization, function, regulation

The Human NIS (hNIS) gene is localized on chromosome 19p12-13·2 and consists of 15 exons interrupted by 14 introns, with an open reading frame of 1929 nucleotides (201). In 1995 Carrasco's group cloned the rat NIS (rNIS) from a Fisher rat thyroid line (FRTL-5)-derived complementary-deoxyribonucleic acid (cDNA) library (202) and in 1996 Smanik et al. cloned hNIS, having 87% identity with rNIS (203). hNIS gene encodes for a 643 amino acid membrane-bound glycoprotein located at the baso-lateral portion of the thyroid follicular cell (202, 204). The protein has a molecular mass of approximately 70-90 kilodaltons (kDa) due to variable levels of glycosylation and presents 13 putative transmembrane domains, 14 extracellular domains, an extracellular amino-terminus and an intracellular carboxyl-terminus (Figure 2-1).



Figure 2-1: Schematic representation of NIS transmembrane glycoprotein

Adapted from (205). 1-643 = amino acid sequence number. I-XIII = transmembrane domains. 1-14 = extra membrane domains. Δ = N-linked glycosylation sites.

NIS carrier co-transports two sodium ions (Na⁺) along with one iodide (I⁻), with the transmembrane sodium gradient serving as the driving force for iodide uptake (Figure 2-2). The sodium gradient is generated by the ouabain-sensitive Na⁺/potassium (K⁺)-adenosine triphosphatase (Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase). NIS-mediated iodide transport is therefore inhibited by the Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase inhibitor ouabain as well as by the competitive inhibitors thiocyanate and perchlorate (204).

NIS expression in thyroid tissue is extensively regulated, as illustrated in Figure 2-2. Several inhibitors of NIS expression have been identified: triiodothyronine (T3), thyroglobulin (Tg), elevated concentrations of iodide (acute Wolff-Chaikoff effect), estradiol, transforming growth factor-B (TGFB), various cytokines, ceramide, sphingomyelinase and dexamethasone. The most powerful positive regulator is TSH, stimulating both NIS gene and protein expression and also its iodide transport activity, acting through the cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) signal transduction pathway. Other positive regulators are forskolin and adenosine. Retinoic acid receptor agonists have shown opposing effects depending on the differentiation state of thyroid cells: they suppress NIS expression and iodide uptake in normal thyroid cells, but in thyroid tumours exert the opposite effect, i.e. enhancement of NIS expression and iodide uptake (206).





Schematic representation of a thyroid follicular cell and sodium iodide symporter (NIS) function and regulation, *adapted from (205)*. ADP = adenosine diphosphate; ATPase = adenosine triphosphatase; cAMP = cyclic adenosine monophosphate; I⁻ = iodide ion; K⁺ = potassium ion; Na⁺ = sodium ion; P_i = inorganic phosphate group, Tg = thyroglobulin, TGFB = transforming growth factor B, TPO = thyroid peroxidase, TSH = thyroid-stimulating hormone, TSHR = TSH receptor, T3 = triiodothyronine, T4 = thyroxine.

2.1.2 NIS expression in breast tissue and other tissues

lodide accumulation in breast tissue was first reported in 1957 and it is crucial to supply iodide to the infant for the biosynthesis of thyroid hormones (207). Carrasco's group demonstrated by immunohistochemistry (IHC) that 80% of human BC tissues express NIS, compared with 23% of peri-tumoural breast tissue (PT) and no expression at all in any of the normal non-lactating breast samples obtained from reductive mammoplasties. In the same study, they also analyzed rat NIS (rNIS) expression by Western Blot (WB) and found the presence of immunoreactivity only in mammary glands from lactating rats, while it was absent in non-lactating mammary glands. Authors therefore concluded that NIS protein is expressed in lactating breast tissue and BC tissue but not in normal breast tissue (200).

The earlier promise of a potential application of NIS as a specific indicator of breast malignancy was uncertain, considering that NIS protein expression has been found, even if at a lower extent, also in apparently normal PT (200, 208). This promise has also been further undermined by studies showing hNIS protein or messenger ribonucleic acid (mRNA) expression and iodide accumulation in benign breast tissues (fibroadenoma) (187, 209), with hNIS cDNA expression found to be even higher in fibroadenoma compared with BC (210).

Following Tazebay et al. (200), other authors confirmed the presence of NIS protein expression by IHC in 66-90% of BC tissues tested, reviewed in Beyer et al. However this interesting study underlined how all the previous authors mainly assessed NIS protein by IHC using only one antibody to NIS, often polyclonal (therefore more likely to be aspecific compared with monoclonal antibodies) and predominantly giving intracellular staining, instead of membranous as expected with a transmembrane glycoprotein like NIS. Beyer et al. tested further BC tissues by IHC using different antibodies to NIS (monoclonal, polyclonal and affinity purified polyclonal), all giving discrepant results. They therefore concluded that the previous finding of NIS protein expression by IHC in high percentages of BC tissues are likely to be the result of aspecific staining and stated that NIS protein could be expressed by a much lower number of BC than previously thought (211). Similar conclusions were reached by Peyrottes *et al.*, analyzing by IHC 30 breast cancer tissues using 3 different monoclonal NISAb. They found no significant membrane staining in any of the samples, with only few samples showing a weak and diffuse intracellular anti-NIS staining. By western blot (WB), they did not find the fully glycosylated NIS protein expression but only the partially glycosylated form; moreover, WB results did not correspond with the few cases found positive (intracellular staining) by IHC. They therefore concluded that it could not be

excluded that the BC intracellular staining obtained by IHC with antibodies to NIS (even if monoclonal) was non-specific (212). The hypothesis that NIS is expressed by a minority of BC and usually at a low level (211, 212) is in agreement with the evidence that only 17-25% of apparently NIS protein positive BC demonstrate functional radionuclide uptake by scintigraphic studies (213, 214), even if an impairment of cell surface trafficking in BC cells leading to reduced NIS surface expression cannot be excluded (211).

The nucleotide sequence of hNIS cDNA expressed in thyroid (tNIS) and mammary gland (mgNIS) have been found to be identical (215). Regarding the NIS protein, studies in rats showed a higher level of glycosylation in tNIS compared with mgNIS, having a molecular weight of respectively 100 kDa and 75 kDa (200).

In addition to thyroid and breast, other tissues have long been known to have an active TSH independent process of iodide accumulation (204). Accordingly, NIS mRNA and/or protein expression have been found also in other tissues, either neoplastic or non-neoplastic, including colon, kidney, ovary, endometrium, prostate, lung, gastric mucosa, salivary (parotid) and lacrimal glands (207, 208).

2.1.3 NIS protein as possible autoantigen and autoantibodies to NIS (NISAb)

2.1.3.1 NISAb in autoimmune patients and healthy controls

Thyroid peroxidase (TPO), Tg and thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSH) receptor (TSHR) are well known thyroid autoantigens and Raspè et al. in 1995 suggested NIS as a possible additional thyroid autoantigen, even if rarely. In fact these authors found that 1/147 (0.7%) human sera from patients with several types of autoimmunity was able to reduce the I⁻ uptake of dog thyrocytes in culture by selective inhibition of NIS carrier. Additional experiments with mouse monoclonal antibodies indicated that autoantibodies to NIS (NISAb) are most likely responsible for this inhibition, therefore NIS can be considered as a potential autoantigen (216).

Subsequent studies further investigated the presence of inhibiting NISAb and reached very contrasting conclusions. Weetman's group found the presence of iodide uptake inhibition in about 30% of sera from patients with Graves' disease and obtained the same results when using purified immunoglobulins (Igs), therefore they concluded that inhibiting NISAb exist and are common (217, 218). On the other hand, two independent research groups (Costagliola's and Pinchera's) found respectively very few and moderate iodide uptake inhibition in sera from patients affected by thyroid autoimmunity (TA) compared to healthy controls, but in both studies the inhibition disappeared after serum dialysis and was not present when testing purified Igs instead of sera, therefore they concluded that inhibiting NISAb are very rare or barely exist (219, 220). A possible explanation for these discordant results is that many non-specific I⁻ uptake inhibitors could have created artifacts, such as inorganic salts including I⁻ itself, perchlorate, azide, disyedenin and growth factors, e.g. epidermal growth factor (EGF) (216).

Additional studies investigated the presence of "neutral" NISAb (bind NIS but do not affect its symporter function), using recombinant hNIS protein transcription/translation produced by an in vitro system. Using immunoprecipitation, sodium dodecyl sulfate - polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) and autoradiography, they reported the presence of neutral NISAb in 24% (218), 20.8% (221) and 14% (222) of autoimmune hypothyroid patients, significantly higher than healthy control subjects in all cases. In particular, Seissler et al. detected neutral NISAb in 4.8% of healthy controls (221), while both authors of Weetman's group found no NISAb in healthy controls (218, 222). In one of these studies NISAb activity was also explored with iodide uptake assays using CHO cells transfected with full-length hNIS; the presence of NIS inhibiting activity was found in both sera and isolated Igs. Interestingly, a poor correlation was observed between neutral and blocking NISAb; in particular, antibodies binding NIS (detected by immunoprecipitation) were absent in 50% sera resulted positive for inhibiting NISAb (investigated by iodide uptake assays) (218).

2.1.3.2 NISAb in patients with breast cancer

Smyth's group reported a more than 3 fold lower iodine (I_2) content in both BC tissue specimens and their correspondent PT tissue, compared with benign breast tumours (fibroadenoma). They therefore suggested a disorder in I^{-} uptake in patients with BC and postulated the presence of inhibiting NISAb in sera from patients with BC, able to block NIS function in breast cells and consequently reduce I_2 content. Therefore in the same study authors investigated sera from different individuals for the presence of I^{-} uptake inhibition activity and such activity was found to be significantly more prevalent in BC patients (19%) compared with healthy controls (3%), even if a similar inhibiting activity was present also in sera from patients affected with fibroadenoma (16.3%) and Graves' disease (31.4%). The inhibiting activity was preserved also after Igs purification, therefore authors concluded that the reduced I_2 content observed in BC tissue could arise from the presence in patients' sera of inhibiting NISAb (187).

In order to verify this hypothesis in a different cohort, Pinchera's group used purified Igs from sera of patients with both BC and TA, TA alone and age-matched healthy controls. They investigated Igs interference on I⁻ uptake by a Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) cell line stably transfected with hNIS and found no inhibiting activity in any of the patients' Igs tested, concluding that the I⁻ uptake inhibition cannot be the mechanism to explain the lower content of iodine in BC tissue (223). Similarly, these contrasting results may be partially explained by the presence of artifacts due to non-specific I⁻ uptake inhibitors, as commented in the previous paragraph.

2.1.4 Hypothesis and aims

The main hypothesis of the present thesis is the presence of an immune response to a shared thyroid/breast auto-antigen, which would explain the relationship between TA and both BC prevalence and improved outcome. Considering that NIS glycoprotein is expressed in both thyroid and BC cells, in this chapter we hypothesized NIS as the likely common antigen and we searched for neutral NISAb (binding NIS but not necessarily affecting its function) among sera of patients with BC and/or TA. In fact the presence of these antibodies, especially in BC patients, would support our hypothesis that NIS is a thyroid/breast-tissue shared auto-antigen.

2.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.2.1 Establishment of CHO cell lines expressing hNIS

2.2.1.1 CHO cells transfection with hNIS complementary deoxyribonucleic acid (cDNA)

CHO cells were maintained (+37 $^{\circ}$ C; 5% CO₂) in Ham's F-12 with L-glutamine culture medium (BioWhittaker®, Lonza, Belgium) supplemented with 10% foetal calf serum (FCS), 2% penicillin/streptomycin (PS), 1 millimolar (mM) sodium pyruvate and 0.1% sodium bicarbonate.

We used hNIS cDNA cloned into the eukaryotic expression vector pcDNA3 (pcDNA3-hNIS) encoding amino acid 1 to 612 of hNIS and containing the aminoglycoside antibiotic G418 resistance gene, gift from Dr. S.M. Jhiang (The Ohio State University, Columbus, Ohio) (203, 217).

CHO cells were transfected with pcDNA3-hNIS (CHO-NIS) and empty pcDNA3 vector (CHO-Empty) as control using the transfection reagent TransFast® (Promega) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, a 90% confluent 25 cm² flask was split into 3 60 mm dishes. The day after the culture medium was

removed, dishes were washed with serum-free culture medium and the following were added to each dish: i) 2 mL of serum-free culture medium ii) 5µg of DNA (one dish pcDNA3, one dish pcDNA3-hNIS, one dish left without DNA) iii) TransFastTM Reagent 15 µl (1:1 ratio with DNA: 3 µl TransFastTM Reagent per µg of DNA). After 1 hour of incubation at 37°C, 4 mL of normal culture medium were added. The following day, the selection of transfected cells using 400 micrograms/milliliter (µg/mL) G418 enriched culture medium was started and continued for 4 weeks. A total of 3 different consecutive transfections have been performed.

2.2.1.2 Cloning by serial dilutions

Four weeks after the transfection, CHO-NIS transfected cells were seeded by serial dilution into 96-well plates and nourished with G418 enriched culture medium, in order to isolate positive CHO-NIS expressing clones. After 7-10 days, wells showing only one colony were transferred into 12-well plates, nourished with G418 enriched culture medium and, when confluent, transferred into 25 cm² and 75 cm² flasks for freezing or NIS expression testing. A total of 26 different CHO-NIS clones were isolated.

2.2.1.3 Testing for hNIS mRNA expression

✤ Ribonucleic acid (RNA) was extracted from CHO-NIS clones, CHO-Empty controls and fresh human thyroid tissue (TT) as positive control (obtained with ethical approval and informed consent from a patient undergoing thyroidectomy for Graves' disease), using TRI Reagent® solution (monophasic solution of phenol and guanidine isothiocyanate from Ambion, Life Technologies, Paisley, UK). Preparation of cells (CHO-NIS and CHO-Empty): 80-90% semi-confluent cells in a 25 squared centimeter (cm²) flask were washed twice with 5 mL phosphate-buffered saline solution (PBS), aspirated and then 2mL TRI Reagent® solution was added, pipetted several times in order to obtain a homogeneous lysate and transferred to two 1.5 mL Eppendorf tubes. Preparation of fresh tissue (TT): 100 mg fresh frozen TT [fresh tissue snapfrozen in liquid nitrogen and immediately stored at -80 degrees Celsius (°C) until further use] was manually homogenized using a porcelain mortar and pestle containing liquid nitrogen to keep the sample frozen during the whole procedure and homogenized material finally transferred in a 1.5 mL Eppendorf tube containing 500 microliters (µl) of TRI Reagent® solution. Eppendorf tubes containing cells/tissue lysates and TRI Reagent® solution had 100 µl chloroform added for every 500 µl of TRI Reagent® solution used, shaken vigorously for 60 times, left for 5 minutes at room temperature and

centrifuged (Mikro 200R, Hettich Zentrifugen, Tuttlingen, Germany) at 4°C at 13'000 revolutions per minute (rpm) for 15 minutes. The upper aqueous phase was transferred to a new 1.5 mL Eppendorf tube containing isopropanol 250 μ l, gently mixed 6 times, left for 10 minutes at room temperature and centrifuged at 4°C at 13'000 rpm for 10 minutes. The supernatant was discarded, the RNA pellet was washed with 500 µl of 75% ethanol (brief vortex) and centrifuged at 4°C at 8600 rpm for 5 minutes. Finally, the supernatant was discarded, the RNA pellet air-dried and re-suspended in 20 μ l distilled water (dH₂O) RNase -DNase free (RDf-dH₂O). Total RNA concentration in nanograms(ng)/ μ l was determined from spectrophotometric absorption at 260 nanometers (nm) with GeneQuant pro ultraviolet-visible (UV/Vis) spectrophotometer (Biochrom Ltd, Cambridge, UK); the RNA sample purity was also tested, verifying a ratio of the absorbance at 260 and 280 nm ($A_{260/280}$) between 1.7 and 2.0 with all the preparations. The total RNA integrity was tested by separating 1 µl total RNA on 2% agarose gel and verifying the presence of ribosomal RNA 28S and 18S bands at approximately 5 kilobases (kb) and 2 kb levels. The RNAs were stored in water at -80°C until further use.

Reverse transcription (RT) procedure was applied to synthesize first-strand cDNA from total RNA. 1 μg total RNA previously denatured in RDf-dH₂O at 65°C for 10 min was added to a RT reaction mixture (Promega, Madison, WI, USA) in a final volume of 20 μl containing 8 mM deoxy-nucleoside triphosphate (dNTP) mix, 200 units (u) Moloney Murine Leukemia Virus (M-MLV) reverse transcriptase, 40 u rRNasin RNase inhibitor, 0.4 μg odT (oligo-deoxy-thymine nucleotides short sequence), 4 μl of 5x buffer and RDf-dH₂O for final volume adjustment. The reaction mixture was incubated at 37°C for 1 hour, heat inactivated at 95°C for 5 minutes, finally cooled at 4°C and immediately stored at -20°C.

Standard polymerase chain reaction (PCR) and agarose gel analysis.

NIS primers were designed from the published sequences of hNIS gene (referred as the member 5 of solute carrier family 5, SLC5A5; GenBank NM_000453) using Primer 3 Plus software (http://www.bioinformatics.nl/cgibin/primer3plus/primer3plus.cgi). Primers were then tested for specificity with NCBI Basic Local Alignment Search Tool (BLAST: http://blast.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Blast.cgi) and produced by Invitrogen (Carlsbad, USA): forward primer CTCCCTGCTAACGACTCCAG (1842-1861 exon 12) and reverse primer GAGGTCCCACCACAACAATC (2029-2048 exon 14), delimiting a hNIS nucleotide sequence of 207 base pairs (bp).

The RT-resulting cDNA was amplified by PCR using the AmpliTaq GoldTM DNA Polymerase kit (Applied Biosystems, Life Technologies, Paisley, UK) in a 25 µl PCR reaction mix containing 1 µl (approximately 2 ng) cDNA, 2.5 mM magnesium chloride (MgCl₂), 2mM dNTP mix, 0.1 µM NIS forward primer, 0.1 µM NIS reverse primer, 2.5 u AmpliTaq GoldTM DNA Polymerase, 2.5 µl 10x buffer II and RDf-dH₂O for final volume adjustment. Reactions always included a negative control with dH₂O in place of cDNA and were performed using the TC-512 gradient thermal cycler (Techne, Minneapolis, USA): 1 cycle, 95°C for 5 minutes; 35 cycles, 95°C for 30 seconds, 60°C for 30 seconds, 72°C for 1 minute; 72°C for 6 minutes.

Resulting PCR products were electrophoresed on 2% agarose gel in TAE buffer [Tris-acetate-ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA); containing ethidium bromide 1 ng/µl] using PowerPacTM 3000 machine (Bio-Rad, Hercules, USA). cDNA samples were loaded on the gel using blue/orange loading dye 6x (Promega, Madison, WI, USA; 1 µl dye for 9 µl cDNA sample) and 100 bp DNA Ladder, ranging from 100 bp to 1000 bp (Promega, Madison, WI, USA), was used to estimate the amplicons' molecular weight. The gel was read with MultiImage II AlphaImager HP (Alpha Innotech, San Leandro, USA).

Sequencing of PCR amplicon to confirm identity.

PCR single products were first precipitated and purified by adding an equal amount of polyethylene glycol (PEG) solution (26% PEG, 6.6 lM magnesium chloride (MgCl2) and 0.6 M Na acetate). The mix was vortexed briefly (WhirlimixerTM, Fisons Scientific Equipment, now Fisher Scientific, Loughborough, UK), left at room temperature for 10 min, centrifuged at room temperature at 13'000 rpm for 30 minutes, supernatant discarded, 500 μ l of 70% Ethanol was added, vortexed for 30 seconds, spun at room temperature at 13'000 rpm for 10 minutes, supernatant discarded, samples air-dried, pellet re-suspended in 15-40 μ l distilled water RNAase - DNAase free, vortexed twice for 10 seconds each. 5 μ L of sample with 1.5 μ l of loading dye were analysed on a 2% agarose gel in Tris-acetate-EDTA (TAE) buffer in order to verify the presence of PCR products after the PEG-purification steps.

Purified PCR products were sequenced in a 10 μ l reaction containing 2 μ l BigDye Terminator Sequencing Kit (Applied Biosystems [ABI], Life Technologies, Waltham, USA), 1 μ l NIS forward primer (10 pmol/l), approximately 25 ng PEG-precipitated PCR products (5-7 μ l) and distilled water to reach the final reaction volume (0-2 μ L). Sequencing reactions were developed on TC-512 gradient thermal cycler (Techne, Minneapolis, USA) using the same annealing temperature as for the primer combination.

The products where then sodium acetate (NaOAc)-precipitated applying the following procedure: to the 10 μ L sample was added 3 μ l of NaOAc pH4.6, 62.5 μ l of non-denatured 95% ethanol, 24.5 μ l deionized water (final volume reaction = 100 μ l), vortexed briefly, left at room temperature for 15 minutes to precipitate the extension products, centrifuged at room temperature at 13'000 rpm for 20 minutes. Then the following steps have been repeated twice: supernatant discarded, 250 μ l of 70% ethanol added, mixed briefly, centrifuged at room temperature at 13'000 rpm for 5 minutes, supernatant discarded. Finally, samples were air-dried and analyzed on an ABI Prism 377 DNA automatic sequencer (Applied Biosystem [ABI], Life Technologies, Waltham, USA).

2.2.1.4 Testing for hNIS protein expression

NIS protein expression on the surface of CHO-NIS cells was tested by flow cytometry using a mouse monoclonal antibody to hNIS, as described in the next paragraph 2.2.2.

2.2.2 Flow cytometry

2.2.2.1 Standard protocol

- CHO cells preparation. CHO cells 70-90% confluent were detached from 75-cm² flasks (one for CHO-NIS and one for CHO-Empty) with 5 ml PBS containing 5 mM ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA)/ethylene glycol tetraacetic acid (EGTA), transferred to universal tubes, and washed in a PBS solution containing 0.5% bovine serum albumin (BSA), 2mM EDTA and 20 mM Hepes (flow buffer). Cells were pelleted at 1200 rpm for 6.5 minutes at 4°C and the supernatant removed by inversion. Cells were counted and transferred to BD Falcon round bottom polystyrene tubes (Scientific laboratories supplies, Nottingham, UK) and adjusted to 50,000 cells/tube.
- Incubation with first antibody (1st Ab). Incubations with flow buffer (100µl) containing the mouse monoclonal antibody VJ2 directed against an extracellular domain of hNIS (AA 272 515, 1:50 dilution, kindly donated by Dr S. Costagliola, Free University of Brussels) (224) or heat inactivated human serum (normal or pre-adsorbed, 1:50 dilution) or extracted immunoglobulins (lgs) from various patients (1:50 dilution) were performed for 1 hour at room temperature (Figure 2-3).
- Incubation with second antibody (2nd Ab) and viability dye. Cells were then washed three times (X3) with flow buffer (1ml) and centrifuged as above, followed by a 30 minutes incubation at 4°C in the dark with flow buffer
(100µl) containing goat polyclonal heavy and light chains directed against mouse Igs class G (IgGs) conjugated with Alexa Fluor 488 at 1:2000 dilution (ab150113 goat polyclonal anti-mouse IgG H&L Alexa Fluor 488, abcam, Cambridge, UK) or goat polyclonal heavy (H) and light (L) chains directed against human IgGs, conjugated with green-fluorescent dye Alexa Fluor 488 at 1:50 dilution [goat polyclonal anti-human IgG (H+L) Alexa Fluor 488, Life Technologies, Carlsbad, USA], like shown in Figure 2-3.

 50μ l of 1:1000 diluted viability dye, LIVE/DEAD® Fixable Near-IR Dead Cell Stain Kit (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, USA) were finally added to each tube and incubated at 4°C in the dark for a further 30 minutes, to facilitate detection of damaged cells. Experimental controls omitting 1st Ab (either VJ2 or patients' serum) were also analyzed in the same experiment to investigate nonspecific binding of either mouse or human Alexa Fluor conjugated 2nd Ab.

Final wash and cells' fluorescence analysis. Following the final incubation cells were washed X3 with flow buffer as before and re-suspended in 250µl Flow Buffer. The fluorescence of 10'000 cells/tube was assayed by BD FACSCanto II flow cytofluorometer, FACSDiva Software (BD Biosciences, San Jose, USA). Channels able to detect fluorescent dyes fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC) and Allophycocyanin - cyanine Cy-7 tandem conjugate (Apc-Cy7) were used to detect respectively Alexa Fluor 488 and Near-IR dead cell stain signals. No compensation was needed since their excitation-emission peaks had different wavelengths (500-520 nm and 633-750 nm respectively) and as expected their compensation matrix provided values less than 0.0017. Additional two channels were also used to sort cells according to forward scatter (FSC) and side scatter (SSC), respectively detecting the size and the granularity of cells.



Figure 2-3: Schematic representation of a flow cytometry experiment

AF 488 = fluorescent dye Alexa Fluor 488, conjugated to each second antibody $(2^{nd} Ab)$; Anti-mouse-IgGs = goat heavy and light chains directed against mouse immunoglobulins

class G (IgGs); Anti-human-IgGs = goat heavy and light chains directed against human immunoglobulins class G (IgGs); CHO = CHO cells transfected with empty PCDNA3 vector (CHO-Empty); CHO-NIS = CHO cells transfected with human NIS (hNIS) gene; VJ2 = mouse monoclonal antibody directed against hNIS. <u>Panel A</u> represent the positive control. <u>Panels B and D</u> represent the negative controls, respectively for anti-mouse and anti-human 2^{nd} Abs. <u>Panel C</u> represents how the presence of NISAb has been investigated: if the human serum tested contained anti-NIS IgGs, they would bind to CHO-NIS cells (but not CHO), therefore the 2^{nd} anti-human Ab would bind as well (not in CHO). Each human serum has been tested separately.

2.2.2.2 Computer data analysis

Flow cytometric data were analyzed using FlowJo 8.8.6 Software (TreeStar Inc., Ashland, USA).

Cells were first gated according to FSC and SSC in order to exclude damaged cells, usually characterized by low signal intensity in both FSC and SSC, as represented in Figure 2-4 (panel A). Then, only cells showing low staining in Apc-Cy7 channel were gated and analyzed, in order to exclude damaged and dead cells, usually positive for Near-IR dead cell stain and therefore characterized by high signal in Apc-Cy7 channel (Figure 2-4 panel B). FITC channel fluorescence intensity values, relative to Alexa Fluor 488 dye, were measured in CHO-NIS cells and compared with control CHO-Empty cells.



Figure 2-4: Gating cells with FlowJo in order to exclude damaged and dead cells

FlowJo 8.8.6 software graphs representing the analyzed cell population. Cells are represented by dots and their colours indicate cells density in decreasing order: red, yellow, green and blue. Panel A shows a side scatter (SSC: ordinate axis) versus forward scatter (FSC: abscissas axis) graph. Panel B shows a FSC (ordinate axis) versus APC-Cy7-A (abscissas axis) graph. In both panels, the gated cells are those included within the pink form and the number indicates the percentage of selected cells compared with the total.

2.2.2.3 Statistical analysis

The geometric mean of FITC-channel fluorescence intensity values detected in CHO-NIS and CHO-Empty cells were compared for all sera and the Kolmogorov Smirnov univariate two-sample test was used to obtain the greatest difference between the two histograms (CHO-NIS and CHO Empty), quoted as D value (D) (225).

Positivity cut-off values were defined based on the mean D + 2 standard deviation (SD) of a population reference (6 young males' sera) defined as group M (further described in next paragraph 2.2.3), with all values higher than this considered positive (Figure 2-5).





Representative flow cytometry histograms of FITC fluorescence intensity obtained using permeabilized CHO-Empty (empty black line) and CHO-NIS (grey tinted figure). D = D value = greatest difference in FITC signal intensity between the two histograms (CHO-NIS and CHO Empty). D_M = mean D value among group M (6 young males' sera).

2.2.2.4 Pre-adsorption of individual human sera using CHO-Empty cells

Seven representative selected human sera were pre-incubated with CHO-Empty cells in a pre-adsorption step before incubation with CHO-NIS and CHO-Empty cells for flow cytometry analysis, in order to pre-adsorb aspecific Igs directed towards antigens different from hNIS protein expressed by CHO cells.

Procedure: CHO-Empty cells (one $75 \cdot \text{cm}^2$ flask 80% confluent) were detached with 5 ml PBS containing 5 mM ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) and 5 mM ethylene glycol tetraacetic acid (EGTA) and re-suspended in 1 mL flow buffer. Sera to be tested were diluted 1:10 with CHO-Empty cells in flow buffer (90 µl total volume) and mixed gently for 1 hour at room temperature (each 2µl of serum were adsorbed approximately with $9x10^4$ cells, very similar to the proportion used in flow cytometry assay, assessing the signal obtained with 2µl of serum incubated with $5x10^4$ cells). Cells were removed by centrifugation at 1200

rpm for 6.5 minutes at 4° C, the pre-adsorbed sera were recovered and used for flow cytometry as described in the next paragraph.

2.2.2.5 Permeabilization protocol

Seven representative selected human sera were tested by flow cytometry following a modified protocol in order to expose hypothetical internal NIS antigens through cell membrane permeabilization, which may hypothetically arise during the autoimmune destruction of thyroid tissue.

Modified protocol for flow cytometry (permeabilization): just before the incubation with the 1st Ab, CHO cells were fixed in 2% paraformaldehyde in PBS on ice for 30 minutes, washed once in PBS/0.1% BSA and then incubated with 0.1% BSA, 0.2% saponin PBS for 30 minutes at room temperature. The subsequent steps were similar to the original protocol, except they were all performed in 0.1% BSA, 0.2% saponin PBS instead of flow buffer.

2.2.3 Human sera tested with flow cytometry

Human sera from 42 women and 6 young males (Group M) were heat inactivated at 56°C for 30 minutes before being tested by flow cytometry. Women were divided into 4 groups, according to the disease they were affected with: breast cancer (BC), thyroid autoimmunity (TA), both TA and BC (BC/TA) and non-autoimmune thyroid disorders (e.g. non toxic goitre) (CO), as shown in Table 2-1. CO group was considered as "control group" since patients were not affected neither with TA nor BC.

Anti-TPO autoantibodies (TPOAb) and anti-Tg autoantibodies (TgAb) were measured by standard automated immunoenzymometric assay (Tosoh Bioscience, Tessenderlo, Belgium) and considered positive if respectively \geq 10 U/mL and \geq 30 U/mL.

Group M, characterized by young human males, was included in order to identify a control population for statistical analysis with very low probability of having NISAb. In fact NISAb positivity has also been described among healthy adults therefore, considering that TA prevalence is predominant among women and increases with age, young males are the part of general population with less probability to have NISAb positivity.

	Age: Mean and Range	TPOAb positive	TgAb positive
BC	66 y ± 12 y SD	0/12	1/12
(n=12)	(range 42-81 y)		
TA	48 y ± 13 y SD	10/11	9/11
(n=11)	(range 31-76 y)		
BC/TA	54 y ± 7 y SD	9/10	8/10
(n=10)	(range 43-63 y)		
CO	51 y ± 21 y SD	0/9	1/9
(n=9)	(range 13-68 y)		
Μ	10 y, 3.3 m ± 5 m SD	0/6	0/6
(n=6)	(range 9y, 6m - 10y, 6m)		

Table 2-1: Characteristics of individuals providing sera

BC = women affected with breast cancer. TA = women affected with thyroid autoimmunity, defined as positivity of TPOAb and/or TgAb. BC/TA = women affected with both BC and TA. CO = women affected with non-autoimmune thyroid disorders (e.g. non toxic goitre). M = young human males. y = years. m = months. SD = standard deviation.

2.2.3.1 Flow cytometry with extracted immunoglobulins (Igs)

Total Igs were extracted from four sera, one for each patient group: BC, TA, BC/TA, CO. This has been performed incubating the sera at 4°C for 4 hours with ammonium sulphate 3.75M (1.49 ml for each 2 ml serum), centrifuging at 2000 RPM for 20 minutes, resuspending the pellet in 1 ml dH₂O and finally dialyzing at 4°C against 100 volumes of PBS X3 (respectively 2 hours, 4 hours and overnight) (226).

The same flow cytometry experiment was then performed, as previously described in paragraph 2.2.2, using the same dilution applied for serum (1:50). The normal reference range for serum IgGs concentration among women is 7-18 μ g/ μ l (medium concentration = 12.5 μ g/ μ l) (227). Having used a 1:50 serum dilution in flow experiments, consequently 0.25 μ g/ μ l IgGs (12.5 μ g/ μ l divided by 50) had to be used in the 100 μ l sample volume, in order to maintain the same concentration used with serum. IgGs concentration of each sample was determined from spectrophotometric absorption at 280 nanometers (nm) with GeneQuant *pro* ultraviolet-visible (UV/Vis) spectrophotometer (Biochrom Ltd, Cambridge, UK).

2.3 RESULTS

2.3.1 Characterization of CHO-NIS cell lines

2.3.1.1 NIS mRNA expression

Successful CHO-NIS transfections were confirmed by the presence of a 207 bp amplicon in different mixed pool of CHO-NIS transfected cells, while no

amplicons were obtained in CHO-Empty. The 207 bp amplicon was expressed in the positive control (TT) and absent in the negative control with dH_2O (Figure 2-6).





bp = base pairs; CHO-Empty = CHO cells transfected with empty vector pcDNA3; CHO-NIS = CHO cells transfected with pcDNA3 containing hNIS gene; L 100 = ladder 100 bp; Neg dH₂O = negative control with distilled water in place of cDNA; TT = thyroid tissue (positive control); 1°, 2°, 3° = numbers of transfection experiment.

Of the 26 CHO-NIS clones isolated, 6 were tested for NIS mRNA expression and only clones 1 (CHO-NIS-1) and 6 (CHO-NIS-6) expressed NIS mRNA (images not shown).

2.3.1.2 NIS protein expression

Flow cytometric analysis indicated a high specific binding of the mouse monoclonal NISAb VJ2 to the NIS protein expressed on the CHO-NIS cells surface; CHO-NIS-6 expressed the NIS protein at a higher level than CHO-NIS-1, with a mean fluorescent signal intensity of 10^4 and 10^3 respectively. As expected, a negative (10^2) signal was obtained in CHO-Empty cells (Figure 2-7 panel A). The negative control experiment performed using only the 2nd Ab without the 1st Ab step excluded the presence of an aspecific binding of the 2nd Ab on the surface of CHO cells, since the signal intensity was negative (10^2) in all three cell lines tested (Figure 2-7 panel B).

Figure 2-7: Flow cytometry with mouse monoclonal NISAb VJ2 and anti-mouse 2nd Ab



Flow cytometry histograms showing the FITC fluorescence intensity obtained in CHO-NIS-6 (dark grey tinted figure), CHO-NIS 1 (light grey tinted figure) and CHO-Empty (empty black line) cells. <u>Panel A:</u> results obtained using VJ2 as first antibody (1st Ab) and goat polyclonal anti-mouse IgG H&L Alexa Fluor 488 as second antibody (2nd Ab). <u>Panel B:</u> results obtained using only the goat polyclonal anti-mouse IgG H&L Alexa Fluor 488 as 2nd Ab, without the 1st Ab step.

2.3.2 Flow cytometry with human sera

2.3.2.1 Standard flow cytometry protocol with human sera

All 42 heat-inactivated human sera were tested for NISAb in 3 separate experiments: twice using CHO-NIS-6 (experiments 1 and 2) and once with CHO-NIS-1 (experiment 3), always including CHO-Empty as negative control and testing Group M as reference control. For each experiment, the human sera were split in two different sets, each of them analyzing half of them (21 + 21) and the group M with both CHO-Empty and CHO-NIS cells.

In the first experiment using CHO-NIS-6, 8/42 sera (19%) showed a fluorescence intensity signal slightly higher in CHO-NIS compared with CHO-Empty cells and were classified as borderline positive (Figure 2-8 panel A). The other sera were negative, with no difference in signal intensity between CHO-NIS and CHO-Empty (Figure 2-8 panel B). When incubating the cells with the 2^{nd} Ab only, the signal intensity was negative in both CHO-NIS and CHO-Empty, indicating absence of nonspecific binding of the 2^{nd} Ab goat polyclonal anti-human IgG (H+L) Alexa Fluor 488 (Figure 2-8 panel C). When using human sera as 1^{st} Ab, an aspecific background signal (10^3 - 10^4) was present in both CHO-Empty cells and CHO-NIS (CHO-NIS-6 as well as CHO-NIS-1), while absent when using VJ2 (Figure 2-7 panel A) or when incubating cells with the 2nd Ab only, both the anti-mouse (Figure 2-7 panel B) or the anti-human (Figure 2-8 panel C). These findings

suggested that the nonspecific signal was due to the human sera itself and this will be further evaluated in the next paragraphs 2.3.2.2 and 2.3.2.3.



Figure 2-8: Flow cytometry results using human sera

Representative flow cytometry histograms showing the FITC fluorescence intensity signal obtained in CHO-Empty (empty black line) and CHO-NIS-6 (dark grey tinted figure) after incubation with human sera (1st Ab) and goat polyclonal anti-human IgG (H+L) Alexa Fluor 488 (2nd Ab). <u>Panels A and B</u> show borderline positive and negative results respectively, in presence of a high aspecific background signal (10^3-10^4). <u>Panel C</u> shows incubation with the 2nd Ab only: the signal is negative (10^2) in both cell lines, with no aspecific background.

Using the Kolmogorov Smirnov statistics, the mean D + 2 SD of the 6 Group M sera (positivity cut-off) was 0.290 and 0.650 for set 1 and set 2 respectively. Table 2-2 reports the range of D values found in the 42 human sera tested. The 8 borderline positive sera, similarly distributed in all 4 patient groups, had D values close to the positivity cut-off but not higher, therefore none of them resulted significantly positive for NISAb.

	D value	D value	Borderline
	Set 1	Set 2	human
	(range)	(range)	sera
BC	0.110 - 0.180	0.100 - 0.610	2/12 (16.7%)
ТА	0.026 - 0.190	0.100 - 0.280	1/11 (9.1%)
BC/TA	0.056 - 0.240	0.210 - 0.350	2/10 (20%)
CO	0.130 - 0.200	0.130 - 0.440	3/9 (33.3%)
<u>.</u>			8/42 (19%)

Table 2-2: D values of human sera

BC = breast cancer; BC/TA = breast cancer and thyroid autoimmunity; Borderline human sera = sera that gave a D value near to the cut-off (0.290 and 0.650 respectively for set 1 and set 2); CO = controls (non-autoimmune thyroid disorders); D = greatest difference between the geometric mean fluorescence intensity values of histograms obtained incubating each sera with CHO-NIS-6 and CHO-Empty; TA = thyroid autoimmunity. Some borderline positive results of experiment 1 were not reproduced in experiments 2 and 3. On the contrary, in experiments 2 and 3 some different borderline positive sera were identified; they were discordant between experiments 2 and 3 and always resulted negative when analyzed with Kolmogorov Smirnov statistics (results not shown).

2.3.2.2 Standard flow cytometry protocol with extracted lgs

In order to clarify the origin of the aspecific background signal obtained when using human sera, flow cytometry experiments were performed using extracted lgs from 4 representative sera (one for each patient group), showing the same nonspecific background with both CHO-NIS and CHO-Empty cells (Figure 2-9). These results suggested the presence of serum antibodies against unknown antigens expressed on the CHO cells surface.





Flow cytometry histograms showing the FITC fluorescence intensity signal obtained in CHO-Empty (empty black line) and CHO-NIS-6 (dark grey tinted figure) after incubation with purified human Igs (1st Ab) and goat polyclonal anti-human IgG (H+L) Alexa Fluor 488 (2nd Ab). Human Igs were purified from patients affected with BC = breast cancer; BC/TA = breast cancer and thyroid autoimmunity; CO = controls (non-autoimmune thyroid disorders); TA = thyroid autoimmunity. Human Neg = incubation of cells with 2nd Ab only and no 1st Ab.

2.3.2.3 Modified flow cytometry protocol: pre-adsorption of human sera (1st Ab)

Once determined that the aspecific background is likely due to human IgGs directed towards CHO cells antigens, a flow cytometry experiment was carried out using 7 human sera pre-adsorbed with CHO-Empty cells (2 BC, 1 TA, 1 BC/TA, 1 CO and 2 M), in order to try and eliminate aspecific anti-CHO human IgGs, hoping to reduce the nonspecific binding and potentially enhance a hypothetical specific NISAb signal. The pre-adsorption step was effective in slightly reducing the nonspecific background in 6/7 (85.7%) human sera for both CHO-Empty and CHO-NIS-6 cells (Figure 2-10).



Figure 2-10: Pre-adsorbed flow cytometry: difference in aspecific background

Representative flow cytometry histograms of FITC fluorescence intensity. Panel A: CHO-Empty cells incubated with normal serum (dashed empty black line) or the same serum after pre-adsorption step (continuous empty black line). Panel B: CHO-NIS-6 cells incubated with the same serum of panel A, normal (dashed empty grey line) or preadsorbed (dark grey tinted figure).

Contrary to what was expected, the pre-adsorption step was unable to significantly enhance any difference between CHO-Empty and CHO-NIS-6 cells (signal specificity; Figure 2-11), since it was only minimally increased in 4/7 (57%) (panels A and D), minimally decreased in 2/7 (29%) (panels B and E) and unchanged in 1/7 (14%) (panels C and F). As a consequence, the presence of NISAb was investigated in all 42 human sera by flow cytometry without the pre-adsorption step.



Figure 2-11: Pre-adsorbed flow cytometry: effects on signal specificity

Representative flow cytometry histograms of FITC fluorescence intensity in CHO-Empty (empty black line) and CHO-NIS-6 (dark grey tinted figure) cell lines incubated with 3 human sera before (upper panels A, B, C) and after (lower panels D, E, F) adsorption with CHO-Empty cells. The signal difference between CHO-Empty and CHO-NIS-6 cells (signal specificity) after the pre-adsorption step in respect to before pre-adsorption was slightly increased in serum 1, slightly reduced in serum 2 and unchanged in serum 3.

2.3.2.4 Modified flow cytometry protocol (Cells permeabilization)

The experiment testing 7 different human sera (4 BC and 1 for each of remaining patient groups: TA, BC/TA, CO) with permeabilized CHO-NIS-6 and CHO-Empty cells demonstrated a further increase in nonspecific background signal (up to 10⁵) in both CHO-NIS and CHO-Empty cells without any significant difference between cells expressing NIS and controls (Figure 2-12). Furthermore, cell permeabilization also increased the aspecific binding of the 2nd Ab, that was absent when using normal CHO cells (Figure 2-9).





Representative flow cytometry histograms showing the FITC fluorescence intensity signal obtained in CHO-Empty (empty black line) and CHO-NIS-6 (dark grey tinted figure) permeabilized cells. Panel A = cells incubated with human sera (1^{st} Ab) and goat polyclonal anti-human IgG (H+L) Alexa Fluor 488 (2^{nd} Ab). Panel B = cells incubated with 2^{nd} Ab only.

2.4 CONCLUSIONS

2.4.1 NIS as common antigen between thyroid and breast cancer tissues

In this study 42 examined human sera were analyzed, grouped into 4 possible categories: patients affected with breast cancer (BC), thyroid autoimmunity (TA), BC and TA (BC/TA) or non-autoimmune thyroid disorders (CO). None of them was found positive for neutral NISAb (e.g. binding the symporter without affecting its function), as no signals consistently above the positive cutoff value were found. Eight out of 42 (19%) sera, distributed throughout the 4 patient groups, were considered borderline positive, since they fell near to the positive cut-off. These higher D values, even if not statistically significant, could be representative of low titre neutral NISAb and/or demonstrate random variability without any significance. The second interpretation is the most likely, considering that 1) the 8 borderline positive sera were not confirmed in all three experiments performed and 2) a great variability was found between the different experiments, as evident in the different mean D values of group M between set 1 and set 2. There are several possible explanations for this variability, including the expression of different types and quantities of surface antigens depending on cell cycle phase (228). This could partly explain the variations of both aspecific background and signal specificity between CHO-Empty and CHO-NIS cells in the different experiments. Therefore only D values clearly above the cut-off established by Kolmogorov-Smirnov statistics should be considered positive; no sera positive for NISAb were found according to this criterion.

To my knowledge this is the first reported use of flow cytometry to detect neutral serum NISAb binding the symporter. Previously, other groups using a recombinant hNIS protein identified neutral NISAb in sera from patients affected by TA, but which were also present in the general population (218, 221, 222). The results of the present thesis do not confirm these previous reports. The most likely explanation is that expression of hNIS using an *in vitro* transcription/translation system may result in different and/or incomplete folding of the hNIS protein. Similarly, in those assays glycosylation may be absent or, if present, different glycosylation patterns may be involved, compared with the recombinant hNIS produced in the CHO cell system used in the present study. In fact NIS is strongly bound to the cell membrane with 13 transmembrane segments, therefore it needs a cell membrane in order to correctly fold, which is impossible in an in vitro transcription/translation system. CHO expression of this complex symporter should allow its complete folding and glycosylation, with expression in its original location as a transmembrane protein. This is supported by the fact the hNIS expressed by CHO-NIS was recognized by the mouse monoclonal Ab VJ2, directed versus a conformational epitope, therefore indicating a correct folding of this transmembrane protein. It is therefore probable that the conformational hNIS epitopes recognized by antibodies are likely to be different between the two recombinant protein expression techniques (in vitro transcription/translation system versus protein expression in CHO cell lines). Furthermore, the *in vitro* transcription/translation systems are more likely to detect linear epitopes instead of conformational. For completeness, it is important to comment that to express hNIS we transfected CHO cells with a plasmid encoding for a product of 612 amino acid (AA), while the hNIS encodes for a 643 AA protein. The missing AA encode for a cytoplasmic portion of the protein, therefore it is unlikely that they represent epitope regions recognized by the immune system, or contribute to the final folding and conformation of NIS protein. The presence of functional NIS activity, e.g. the ability to trap iodide, has not been investigated in the present study, although other authors have previously confirmed the function of the same hNIS construct (203, 217).

The finding that serum neutral NISAbs are rare is in agreement with a number of previous studies (216, 219, 220) although not all (217, 218). Similarly, NISAb interfering with the symporter function have been described as rare by several authors who found no iodide uptake inhibitory activity in patients with or without TA and hypothesized that the inhibitory activity observed in some sera was not antibody-mediated, since purified IgGs lacked NIS blocking activity (219, 220, 223). On the contrary, Ajjan et al. found iodide uptake inhibitory activity

65

mediated by IgGs, even if 50% of those IgGs did not bind NIS, therefore they also postulated that the inhibitory activity could be in part not antibody-mediated or due to antibodies that do not act directly on NIS (217, 218).

In conclusions, despite being expressed in both thyroid and BC cells (200), NIS is unlikely to be a shared antigen responsible for a common immune response between thyroid and BC tissue. However, to definitively address this question, further studies with larger number of sera are needed. In addition, alternative techniques such as the enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) or Western Blot (WB) could be used to detect NISAb (229), as such techniques may expose epitopes of the hNIS protein not accessible when anchored in the cell membrane, that could be exposed as a consequence of tissue damage. Furthermore, differences in protein folding are possible with these techniques, which again may result in a greater diversity of epitope exposure. The presence of NISAb recognizing intracellular epitopes potentially arising only during or after tissue damage cannot be excluded in this study, since they would be inaccessible in the cytometry protocol applied. The preliminary experiments using flow permeabilized cells were hampered by high non-specific background staining which precluded drawing any conclusions. Finally, the absence of NISAb does not exclude that NIS linear epitopes could trigger a hypothetical lymphocytes T reaction and specific studies are needed to explore this possibility.

However, the absence of NISAb in patients affected with both TA and/or BC, together with the consideration that NIS could be expressed by BC more rarely (211, 212) than initially detected (200), strongly reduces the possibility of NIS as potential shared antigen between thyroid and BC tissues. Therefore considering the increased prevalence of anti-thyroid peroxidase (TPO) autoantibodies (TPOAb) among patients with breast cancer (BC) (166, 179-181) and the suggested correlation of TPOAb positivity with a better BC outcome (158, 182-184), the next hypothetical shared thyroid/BC antigen to investigate is TPO and this will be addressed in chapter 3.

2.4.2 Aspecific background: human Abs against CHO cells surface antigens

Flow cytometry results were characterized by the presence of a high aspecific background, also reported by other authors using flow cytometry to detect antibodies to the thyrotropin receptor (TSHR) (230, 231). Since the background remained even when using purified Igs and was only slightly reduced by pre-adsorption, it was clearly due to antibodies to surface CHO proteins. CHO cells are the most commonly used mammalian cell lines for production of

66

therapeutics (232-234) and some 60-70% of recombinant protein pharmaceuticals and almost all currently approved therapeutic antibodies are produced in mammalian cells (235). This would account for some CHO-reactivity (236, 237) but Xue et al. analyzed 83 normal individuals with no known exposure to therapeutic biologics and found antibodies to CHO proteins in 45/83 (54%) cases, mainly isotype G lgs (lgGs). Therefore they postulated alternative explanations such as blood transfusions, vaccinations or keeping animals as pets (238). Despite this problem I have confidence in the flow cytometry protocol used, which has previously served to demonstrate neutral antibodies to another thyroid autoantigen, the receptor of thyroid-stimulating hormone receptor (TSHR) (230, 231, 239).

3 THYROID PEROXIDASE (TPO) EXPRESSION IN BREAST CANCER

3.1 INTRODUCTION

3.1.1 TPO

Human TPO is one of the principal antigens involved in thyroid autoimmunity (TA) and has been identified as the only component of the "microsomal" antigen. Therefore, the measurement of serum autoantibodies to TPO (TPOAbs) is generally considered a marker of TA (240).

Human TPO is a heme-containing enzyme member of the family of mammalian peroxidases, which utilize hydrogen peroxide to oxidize a number of inorganic and organic substrates and they are active in a variety of anatomic sites (241). The main function of TPO protein in thyroid tissue is the synthesis of thyroid hormones (1), as previously described in paragraph 1.1.2.

The human TPO gene is about 150 kilo-base pairs (kbp) in size, located on chromosome 2, locus 2p25 and consists of 17 exons and 16 introns (242). The full-length 3048-bp transcript (TPO1) encodes a protein consisting of 933 amino acids (AA) (243, 244), which has a short intracytoplasmatic tail, a transmembrane domain encoded by exon 15 and a large extracellular domain which contains the catalytic site (Figure 3-1). TPO protein presents different functional domains (245, 246):

- Catalytic site containing the region binding the heme group (derivative of protoporphyrin IX), included between the distal and proximal histidines, respectively AA 239 and 494 (exons 7-8-9) (247).
- Antigenic site. Serum human TPOAbs mainly recognize conformational epitopes, formed by different parts of the AA chain often far between them in protein primary structure, becoming juxtaposed as a consequence of the final folding of the protein in its tertiary structure. Therefore, it is unusual for TPOAbs to recognize linear antigens, consisting in epitopes formed by consecutive AA on the protein primary sequence. However, using some recombinant TPO polypeptide fragments some linear epitopes recognized by patients with TA have been identified: C2 (AA 590-622: encoded by exon 11 and C21 (AA 710-722: exon 12) (246, 248). TPO conformational and linear epitopes will be further discussed in the conclusions paragraph 3.5 and general discussion (Chapter 5), paragraph 5.2.2.

- Region similar to a complement control protein [CCP (AA 741-795, exon 13)], existing in a wide variety of complement and adhesion proteins (244). This region is also known as the "sushi domain" and is formed by 2 disulfide bonds connecting 1st 3rd cysteines and 2nd 4th cysteines (249, 250).
- Homologous region to epidermal growth factor (EGF)/low density lipoprotein (LDL) receptor gene families (EGF-like region): AA 794-839 (exon 14) (246). This region contains 6 conserved cysteine residues forming 3 disulfide bonds and also contains 5 AA that constitute a consensus sequence for calcium binding. The functional consequences of calcium binding are not yet known; however a homologous domain has been found in human fibrillin-1, a glycoprotein present in connective tissue and it was suggested that calcium may stabilize its structure and may protect the molecule from proteolytic degradation (250).
- Transmembrane region (AA 847 871; exon 15) (244).



Figure 3-1: TPO gene and protein

Schematic representation of the correspondence between TPO gene's nucleotide sequence (Nucl.) and TPO protein's amino acid sequence (AA). bp = base pairs. CCP = complement control protein. C2 and C21 = antigenic sites. EGF = epidermal growth factor. START codon ATG = nucleotide triplet corresponding to the beginning of translation process. STOP codon TGA = nucleotide triplet corresponding to the end of translation process. Transm. Domain = transmembrane domain. 1-17 = exon number. 1-3146 = nucleotide number. 1-933 = amino acid number. 3' COOH = 3-prime-end of the gene, encoding the intracellular carboxy-terminus (or C-terminus) of the protein. 5' NH2 = 5-prime-end of the gene, encoding the extracellular amino-terminus (or N-terminus) of the protein.

3.1.1.1 TPO isoforms

The TPO gene undergoes alternative splicing to generate different TPO messenger ribonucleic acid (mRNA) isoforms lacking one or more exons. To date 8 isoforms have been described in thyroid cells, TPO 1, TPO 2 (244, 251), TPO 3 or TPO Zanelli (252), TPO 4, TPO 5, TPO 6, TPO 2/3 and TPO 2/4 (253), as illustrated in Table 3-1. While TPO 3 (254) and TPO 4 (253) are able to reach the cell surface and show enzymatic activity, TPO 2 and TPO 5 lack enzymatic activity (252, 253).

To my knowledge no functional studies have been performed on other TPO isoforms. It is also important to state that TPO isoforms' mRNA sequences to date have been only partially characterized because of the difficulty in obtaining full length mRNA/cDNA (253); this will be better discussed in the conclusions of the present chapter (paragraph 3.5.3) and in the general discussion (chapter 5, paragraph 5.2.2).

So far only the protein translated from the complete mRNA transcript TPO1 has been characterized and it will be addressed as TPO protein. The apparent MW of TPO protein in denaturing western blot (WB) is a doublet at 105-110 kDa (Table 3-1), which may be due to variants of TPO (251, 253) or differing degrees of glycosylation (255, 256).

		mRNA analys	is	Protein analysis			
TPO	N°	Exon	bp	N°	MW	MW	Function
lsoform	tot	lacked		AA	(kDa)	(kDa)	
	exons				predicted	on WB	
TPO 1	17	/	3152	933	103	105-110	Yes
TPO 2	16	10	2981	876	96	?	No
TPO 3	16	16	3022	890	98	?	Yes
TPO 4	16	14	2930	889	98	?	Yes
TPO 5	16	8	2543	760	84	?	No
TPO 6	12	10,12,13,14,16	2339	662	73	?	?
TPO 2/3	15	10,16	2851	832	91	?	?
TPO 2/4	15	10,14	2849	832	91	?	?

Table 3-1: Summary of known TPO isoforms' characteristics

bp= number of base pairs. kDa= kilodalton. MW= Molecular Weight. N° AA= number of amino acids. WB= Western Blot.

3.1.1.2 Comparison between TPO and other peroxidases

TPO is a member of the family of mammalian peroxidases, all having similar enzymatic functions (oxidation) and including also lactoperoxidase (LPO), myeloperoxidase (MPO) and eosinophil peroxidase (EPO) (257) and the more recently discovered vascular peroxidase (VPO) (258). MPO, EPO and LPO are all encoded by single genes on human chromosome 17, while TPO gene is located on chromosome 2, suggesting that TPO gene evolved independently from the other peroxidases gene (247). There are two types of VPO, VPO1 and VPO2, approximately 63% identical and encoded by genes located in exons 2 and 8 respectively (258). The main difference between TPO and the other peroxidases are intracellular or extracellular (257). For this reason TPO is bigger, in fact contains similar sequences to MPO, LPO and EPO from AA 1 to 738 (encoded by exons from 2 to 12), while the AA sequences encoded from exons from 13 to 17 (AA 739 -

933), including the transmembrane region (AA 847 - 871), are peculiar of TPO and missing from the other peroxidases (246, 247). Table 3-2 summarizes the main characteristics of the principal peroxidases, with also indicated their molecular weight (MW) in kilodalton (kDa) (244, 245, 247, 257-259).

	CELLS	POSITION	N° AA	MW (kDa)
TPO	- Thyrocytes	Membrane-bound	933	105-110 (single chain)
		(main part is		
		extracellular)		
MPO	-Neutrophil granulocytes	Intracellular	745	150 (dimeric): 2 x 75
	-Mononuclear phagocytes	(lysosomal)	(precursor*)	Each part composed by:
				- 1 heavy chain 57 (467 AA)
				- 1 light chain 15 (113 AA)
LPO	- Mammary ductal	Extracellular	712	80-90
	epithelial cell	(milk, saliva,		(single chain with different
	- Secrectory cells of	tears)		glycosylation grades)
	exocrine glands			
EPO	- Eosinophils	Intracellular	715	70
		(lysosomal)		Monomer composed by:
				- 1 heavy chain 58
				- 1 light chain 12
VPO	- Vessels endothelium and	Intracellular	>1200	165
	smooth muscle			
	- Heart			
	- Many other tissues (only			
	mRNA, no protein)			

Table	3-2:	Perox	cidases
-------	------	-------	---------

AA = amino acid. kDa = kilodalton. MW = molecular weight.

* MPO precursor (745 AA) is glycosylated and then cleaved by 125 AA to form the mature dimeric protein (580 AA \times 2)

3.1.2 Hypothesis

In the general introduction (Chapter 1, paragraph 1.4) the association between TA and breast cancer (BC) has been discussed. Of relevance, serum TPOAbs have been described to be more prevalent among patients with BC compared with controls (166, 179-181) and several studies suggested that BC patients with positivity for serum TPOAb had a better prognosis compared with TPOAb negative patients (182-184, 260), as will be better explained in chapter 4.

The consequent main hypothesis of the present thesis is the presence of a shared immune activity between thyroid and BC tissue, leading to TA on one hand and to a better control of BC tumour growth on the other hand. In chapter 2 we did not find any autoantibodies directed towards the sodium iodide symporter (NIS), known to be expressed by both BC/thyroid tissues, therefore NIS is unlikely to be the hypothesized shared antigen. Since TPOAbs, considered a marker of TA (240), are more prevalent among patients with BC, we hypothesized TPO itself as possible candidate common antigen.

3.1.3 Aims

The aim of the present chapter is to explore TPO gene expression (mRNA and protein) in BC, using relevant *ex vivo* and *in vitro* samples.

First, we investigated TPO gene expression, both messenger RNA (mRNA) and protein, in BC and breast peri-tumoural (PT) *ex vivo* tissues, using thyroid tissue (TT) as positive control. Considering that TPO expression has already been described in orbital adipose tissue (261), other tissues were included in order to investigate whether an hypothetical TPO expression by BC would be exclusive or not: adipose tissue from different depots and other cancers, as detailed below in materials section.

Subsequently, *in vitro* models using 3 different BC cell lines grown with known regulators of breast function were conducted in order to investigate the regulation of TPO gene expression in BC cell lines. In fact in chapter 1 (paragraph 1.3.1.2) it has been explained that breast function is regulated by many different hormones and growth factors, including oestrogens and Insulin-like growth factors (110). Oestrogens exert a stimulatory activity by increasing the rate of cell division and proliferation of breast epithelium (118), while IGF I and II (IGF-I and IGF-II) are potent mitogens for a variety of cell types and considered important regulators of epithelial tumour growth in BC (262, 263). In particular oestrogen receptor (ER) and IGF-I receptor (IGF-IR: able to bind both IGF-I and IGF-II) are co-expressed in the MCF-7 BC cell line and engage in a crosstalk that results in synergistic growth (264).

A possible TPOAb cross-reactivity with LPO expressed in mammary tissue will be also discussed in the conclusions session of the present chapter (paragraph 3.5.2) and in the general discussion (chapter 5, paragraph 5.2.1).

3.2 MATERIALS

3.2.1 Tissues

Fresh human surgical tissues (from scheduled operations and obtained with informed consent) were collected in liquid nitrogen and immediately frozen (- 80° C). Eight BC (7 infiltrating ductal adenocarcinoma and 1 mucinous carcinoma) and their 8 corresponding peri-tumoural breast tissues (PT) were collected. Since breast tissue contains fat, 17 adipose tissues (AD) from various depots including abdominal (AD-A; n=4), subcutaneous (AD-S; n=8), knee (AD-K; n=1) and orbital fat (AD-O; n=4) were studied and also malignant tissues, including pancreatic adenocarcinoma (PC; n=3), primary kidney carcinoma (PKC; n=1) and hepatic metastasis of kidney carcinoma (MKC; n=1) were obtained for controls. Human

thyroid tissue (TT) from thyroidectomy for multinodular goitre was used as a positive control.

Two additional fresh frozen BC and also 9 paraffin embedded BC sections (all infiltrating ductal adenocarcinoma) were also collected, for a total of 19 different BC samples analyzed with various techniques, later explained in the Methods section (paragraph 3.3). Data about thyroid autoimmunity status were available only in 8/19 BC patients and 1/8 had serum TPOAb positivity; age was known only in 10 BC patients (Table 3-3).

Sample	BC	TPO gene	TPOAb	TgAb	TSH	Age
number	histological	expression:	(U/ml)	(U/ml)	(µU/ml)	(yrs)
	type	analyses performed	v.n. <10	v.n. <30	v.n. 0.4-3.4	
BC n°1	Ductal	mRNA: PCR, QPCR	<1	5.89	1.03	85
(f)		Protein: WB				
BC n°2	Ductal	mRNA: PCR, QPCR	<1	90.42	0.453	72
(f)		Protein: WB				
BC n°3	Ductal	mRNA: PCR, QPCR	<1	<1	0.911	58
(f)		Protein: WB				
BC n°4	Ductal	mRNA: PCR, QPCR	<1	<1	1.23	70
(f)		Protein: WB				
BC n°5	Ductal	mRNA: PCR, QPCR,	443.87	64.07	2.02	68
(†)		LongRange PCR				
		Protein: WB			0. (50	
BC n ² 6	Mucinous	mrna: PCR, QPCR,	<1	<1	0.653	81
(†)		LongRange PCR				
	Duratal	Protein: WB			1.02	70
BC n 7	Ductal	MRNA: PCR, QPCR	<1	<1	1.92	12
(f)	Ductal		-1	- 1	0.800	70
	Ductal	MRNA: PCR, QPCR	<1	< 1	0.809	79
	Ductal	Protein: IUC	/	/	1	72
	Ductai		/	/	/	15
$BC n^{\circ} 10$	Ductal	Protein: IHC	1	1	1	70
(f)	Ductai		/	/	/	70
$BC n^{\circ} 11$	Ductal	Protein: IF	1	1	1	/
(n)	Ductur		,	,	1	,
BC n° 12	Ductal	Protein: IF	/	1	1	/
(D)	240141			-		
BC n°13	Ductal	Protein: IF	/	/	1	/
(p)						
BC n° 14	Ductal	Protein: IF	/	/	/	/
(p)						
BC n°15	Ductal	Protein: IF	/	/	/	/
(p)						
BC n°16	Ductal	Protein: IF	1	/	/	/
(p)						
BC n°17	Ductal	Protein: IF	1	1	1	/
(p)						
BC n°18	Ductal	Protein: IF	/	/	/	/
(p)						
BC n°19	Ductal	Protein: IF	/	/	/	/
(p)						

Table 3-3: Characteristics of BC tissues analyzed

Summary of all 19 different breast cancer (BC) tissues collected and their relevant information, when available. Ductal= infiltrating ductal adenocarcinoma; f = fresh frozen tissue; IF= immunofluorescence; IHC= immunohistochemistry; Mucinous = mucinous adenocarcinoma; p = paraffin embedded sections; PCR= polymerase chain reaction; QPCR= absolute real-time quantitative PCR; TgAb= autoantibodies to thyroglobulin; TPOAb= autoantibodies to thyroid peroxidase, v.n.= normal value; WB= western blot; yrs = years; / = no data available.

3.2.2 BC cell lines

3 different BC cell-lines obtained from pleural effusion of breast adenocarcinoma were used: MCF-7 and T-47D, both oestrogen-progesterone receptor positive (ER+/PR+) and MDAMB-231, triple-negative: ER-/PR- and human epidermal growth factor receptor type 2 negative (HER2-). All BC cell lines were obtained from the American Type Culture Collection and stored in liquid nitrogen until use.

3.3 METHODS

3.3.1 Analysis of TPO mRNA expression

3.3.1.1 Total RNA extraction and reverse transcription (RT)

Total RNA was extracted from both fresh tissues and BC cell lines and reverse transcribed in complementary DNA (cDNA) by RT following the same procedure previously described in chapter 2, paragraph 2.2.1.3. The only difference consisted in primers used for RT (0.4 μ g in 20 μ l reaction); oligo-deoxy-thymine nucleotides short sequence (odT) or random primers (both from Promega, Madison, WI, USA) to obtain cDNA to be analyzed respectively by standard polymerase chain reaction (PCR) and Absolute Real-time Quantitative PCR (QPCR). In some standard PCR reactions, a TPO reverse primer was used instead of odT or random primers, used at the same dilution.

3.3.1.2 TPO primers design

TPO forward (F) and reverse (R) primers were designed from the published sequences of human TPO gene (Genbank: NM_000547) as previously described in chapter 2, paragraph 2.2.1.3; in this case, BLAST alignment was always performed in order to exclude homology with peroxidases other than TPO, especially lactoperoxidase (LPO). As reported in Table 3-4, 6 different primers (3 F and 3 R), were initially designed for standard PCR; two additional primers located in exon 2 (F2) and in the junction region between exons n° 3 and 4 (R 3-4) were subsequently designed to perform QPCR and LongRange RT-PCR as later described.

PCR technique	Forward (F) or Reverse (R)	TPO Exon	TPO mRNA Nucleotide N°	Primer's nucleotide sequence (5' - 3')	Primer acronym
S-PCR	F	7	859-878	GGCTGACTGCCAGATGACTT	F7
S-PCR	F	9	1527-1546	CCACTGTGTCCAACGTGTTC	F9
S-PCR	F	13	2400-2418	ACGGGTATGAGCTCCAAGG	F13
S-PCR	R	9	1546-1527	GAACACGTTGGACACAGTGG	R9
S-PCR	R	11	1885-1866	GCAGAACTCCCTCCACTCAT	R11
S-PCR, LR-PCR	R	17	2884-2865	TCTCGGCAGCCTGTGAGTAT	R17
QPCR, LR-PCR	F	2	109 - 128	GCTGTCTGTCACGCTGGTTA	F2
QPCR	R	3-4	278 - 259	TGAGGTTTCTCTGCATCGTG	R3-4

Table 3-4: TPO F and R primers

LR-PCR = LongRange PCR; QPCR = Absolute Real-time Quantitative PCR; S-PCR = standard polymerase chain reaction.

Primers were combined into different primer pairs in order to distinguish between the different TPO mRNA isoforms. The expected size of PCR amplicons according to each primer pair used and known TPO isoforms are summarized in Table 3-5.

-						
	QPCR	S	tandard	RT-PCR		LongRange
						RT-PCR
	F2/R3-4	F13/R17	F7/R9	F7/R11	F9/R17	F2/R17
	(bp)	(bp)	(bp)	(bp)	(bp)	(bp)
TPO 1	l 170	485	688	1027	1357	2776
TPO 2	2 170	485	688	856	1186	2605
No exon 10 (171bp)						
TPO 3	3 170	355	688	1027	1227	2646
No exon 16 (130bp)						
TPO 4	1 170	353	688	1027	1225	2644
No exon 14 (132bp)						
TPO 5	5 170	485	169	508	1357	2257
No exon 8 (519bp)						
TPO 2/3	3 170	355	688	856	1056	2475
No exon 10 (171bp)						
No exon 16 (130bp)						
TPO 2/4	1 170	353	688	856	1054	2473
No exon 10 (171bp)						
No exon 14 (132bp)						
TPO (i 170	No	688	856	544	1963
No exons 10 (171bp),		product				
12 (209bp), 13 (171bp),						
14 (132bp), 16 (130bp)						

Table 3-5: PCR expected amplicons according to known TPO mRNA isoforms

LR-PCR = LongRange PCR; QPCR = Absolute Real-time Quantitative PCR; S-PCR = standard polymerase chain reaction.

3.3.1.3 Standard PCR

Standard PCR was performed on cDNA using the AmpliTaq GoldTM DNA Polymerase kit (Applied Biosystems, Life Technologies, Paisley, UK) in a 25 μ l PCR reaction mix, as previously described in chapter 2, paragraph 2.2.1.3. The thermal cycle program used was the following: 1 cycle, 95°C for 5 minutes; 40 cycles, 95°C for 30 seconds, 52°C for 30 seconds, 72°C for 1 minute; 72°C for 6 minutes. A small quantity of obtained PCR products were electrophoresed on 2% agarose gel in Tris-acetate-EDTA (TAE) buffer (containing ethidium bromide 1 ng/ μ l) as previously described in chapter 2, paragraph 2.2.1.3. The rest of the PCR product was further amplified with 10 additional PCR cycles and then sequenced.

In order to verify the quality of amplified cDNA, control PCR was also performed for all samples to test the expression of housekeeping gene adenine phosphoribosyltransferase (APRT). The 25 µl reaction solution was the same as previously described for TPO PCR, but using the following APRT primer pair, GCTGCGTGCTCATCCGAAAG (F) and CCTTAAGCGAGGTCAGCTCC (R), selecting an amplicon of 247 bp. The PCR machine program used was the following: 1 cycle, 95°C for 5 minutes; 35 cycles, 95°C for 30 seconds, 60°C for 30 seconds, 72°C for 1 minute; 72°C for 6 minutes.

3.3.1.4 LongRange RT-PCR

In order to characterize TPO mRNA variants in their full-length, the LongRange 2Step RT-PCR kit (Qiagen, Manchester, UK) was used to generate cDNA and amplify it using TPO primers F2 and R17. Representative tissues were analyzed, TT (n=1), BC (n=2) and AD-S (n=1), according to the following procedure:

- Total RNA extracted from tissues was initially denatured at 65°C for 5 minutes, in order to reduce RNA secondary structures.
- The percentage of guanosine (G) and cytosine (C) present in total RNA was calculated using "Oligo Calc: Oligonucleotide Properties Calculator" software (<u>http://www.basic.northwestern.edu/biotools/oligocalc.html</u>). If RNA/cDNA sequence is rich in GC regions, then the use of Q solution in the reaction mix is recommended.
- LongRange RT step. The 20 μl reaction solution, containing 4 μl of LongRange RT Buffer 5x, dNTP mix (1 mM each dNTP), 1 μM odT, 0.04 U/μl LongRange RNase inhibitor, 1x (1μl) LongRange Reverse Transcriptase and 1 μg RNA, was incubated at 42°C for 90 minutes and finally heated at 85°C for 5 minutes to inactivate the enzyme, using an unstirred water bath (Clifton, UK).

LongRange PCR Step. The 50 μl reaction solution contained 5 μl of LongRange PCR Buffer with magnesium ion (Mg²⁺) 10x (2.5 mM final Mg²⁺ concentration), dNTP mix (500 μM each dNTP), 0.4 μM F2, 0.4 μM R17, 2 total U LongRange PCR Enzyme Mix and 200 ng cDNA. Reactions, always including a negative control with dH₂O in place of cDNA and performed both with or without the Q-solution addiction, were performed using the TC-512 gradient thermal cycler (Techne, Minneapolis, USA): 1 cycle, 93°C for 3 minutes; 45 cycles, 93°C for 15 seconds, 57°C for 30 seconds, 68°C for 3 minutes. Resulting products were electrophoresed on 1.5% agarose gels in TAE buffer (containing ethidium bromide 1 ng/μl) and sized using 2 different ladders, 100 bp (described in chapter 2, paragraph 2.2.1.3) and Quick-Load® 1 kb DNA Ladder (BioLabs), ranging from 0.5 to 10 kilobases (kb).

Before proceeding to the sequencing of PCR products, PCR was repeated using the first PCR reaction product in place of cDNA, in order to increase the quantity of amplicons and improve the chances to successfully sequence long sequences of nucleotides.

3.3.1.5 Sequencing of PCR products

The PCR amplicons obtained with standard PCR (F9/R11; F13/R17) and LongRange RT-PCR (F2/R17) were sequenced. Single PCR products were purified using Polyethylene Glycol (PEG) solution as previously described (chapter 2, paragraph 2.2.1.3). PCR multiple products were extracted from cut gel fragments using the Qiaquick gel extraction kit (Qiagen, Manchester, UK) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, DNA fragments were excised from the agarose gel with a scalpel, weighed and 3 volumes of Buffer QG were added to each 1 volume gel. After 10 minutes of incubation at 55°C and quick vortex, 1 gel volume of isopropanol was added and mixed. The sample was then applied to a QIAquick column and centrifuged for 1 minute at 13'000 RPM; the flow-through was discarded and the QIAquick column placed back on the same tube. Subsequently, 0.75 ml of Buffer PE were added to the QIAquick column, left to stand for 5 minutes and then centrifuged x2 for 1 minute at 13'000 RPM, discarding the flow-through. Finally, the QIAquick column was placed into a clean 1.5 ml microcentrifuge tube and 30 µl of Buffer EB were added, left to stand for 4 minutes and then centrifuged for 1 minute at 13'000 RPM: the flow-through containing the extracted PCR product was collected and stored at -20°C.

Purified PCR products were then sequenced using the BigDye Terminator Sequencing Kit [Applied Biosystems (ABI), Life Technologies Ltd, Paisley, UK] and an ABI Prism 377 DNA automatic sequencer, as previously described in chapter 2,

77

paragraph 2.2.1.3, using the appropriate TPO F or R primer of the relative PCR reactions (F9, F11, R11, R17 for standard PCR and F2, R17 for LongRange RT-PCR). The program used was the same applied in the relative PCR reaction.

3.3.1.6 QPCR

QPCR experiments were conducted using Platinum® SYBR® Green qPCR supermix-UDG (Invitrogen by Life technologies, ThermoFisher scientific, USA) incorporation measured on a Stratagene (La Jolla, CA, USA) MX 3000. TPO primers F2 and R3-4 were used, in order to quantify an amplicon of 170 bp ideally common between the different TPO mRNA isoforms (mainly differing from exon 8 onwards) and hence providing a measure of total TPO transcripts (Table 3-1).

The TPO standard template consisted of a 170 bp amplicon amplified from TT in a PCR reaction conducted as described before (paragraph 3.3.1.3) using F2 and R3-4 as TPO primers and subsequently purified using the Wizard® SV Gel and PCR Clean-Up System (Promega, Madison, USA), according to the manufacturer's instructions. The DNA concentration of the amplicon was measured using a spectrophotometer as described before (paragraph 2.2.1.3) and the correspondent number of DNA copies was assessed using the "URI Genomics & Sequencing Center Calculator for determining the number of copies of a template" created by Andrew Staroscik, 29 January 2004 (http://cels.uri.edu/gsc/cndna.html).

Subsequently, different dilutions (100nM, 300nM, 500nM) of TPO primers F2 and R-4 were tested in a 25 μ l reaction solution containing 1 μ l F, 1 μ l R, 12.5 μ l SYBR and 1 μ l F2/R3-4 purified amplicon template; 2 separate reaction solutions with different F2/R3-4 template dilutions were performed (10² and 10⁵ cDNA copies).

A TPO standard curve was generated using 25 μ l reaction solutions containing 12.5 μ l SYBR, 1 μ l F2 300 nM, 1 μ l R3-4 300 nM and 1 μ l of F2/R3-4 purified amplicon template in different amounts obtained by serial dilutions: 10¹, 10², 10³, 10⁴, 10⁵, 10⁶ cDNA copies number.

The TPO cDNA copies number present in every BC cell line and human tissue sample was assessed using cDNA obtained with RT from 1 μ g total RNA as described before (paragraph 2.2.1.3), using random primers instead of odT in order to optimize the transcripts quality. In particular, the 25 μ l reaction solution contained 12.5 μ l SYBR, 1 μ l F2 300 nM, 1 μ l R3-4 300 nM and 1 μ l (approximately 50 ng) of cDNA template. A complete TPO standard curve was included in each experiment to calculate the absolute values for each sample (transcripts/ μ g input RNA), as well as a negative control containing dH₂0. In a single QPCR experiment

all measurements were made in triplicate and the standard curve was run at least in duplicate.

In addition, transcripts for the housekeeping gene APRT were measured: the applied QPCR methods were the same as TPO, except for using F and R APRT primers previously described for standard PCR (see paragraph 3.3.1.3) at the final concentration of 0.4 μ M each. The APRT plasmid used to produce the APRT standard curve was a gift from Alenka Janezic (Cardiff University) and consisted of a 247 bp APRT fragment obtained by the previously described APRT PCR reaction (paragraph 3.3.1.3), subcloned into a pGEM®-T Easy plasmid (Promega, Madison, USA) and purified before use, as described above for TPO standard.

3.3.2 Analysis of TPO protein expression

3.3.2.1 Indirect immunofluorescence (IF)

Indirect IF was initially performed on 4 paraffin embedded human BC tissue samples and human TT as positive control. Tissue sections were dewaxed and rehydrated through 10 consecutive passages of 5 minutes each through graded alcohols, distilled water (dH_20) and phosphate-buffered saline solution (PBS), as summarized in Table 3-6.

Table 3-6: Deparaffination and rehydration procedure

1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
Xylene	Xylene	Xylene 50%	Ethanol	Ethanol	Ethanol	Ethanol	Ethanol	dH ₂ O	PBS
100%	100%	Ethanol 50%	100%	100%	90 %	70%	50%		

dH₂O = distilled water; numbers indicate the order of passages

Tissues sections were then incubated with the first antibodies (1:10 dilution) at room temperature for 1 hour. The primary antibodies comprised pooled sera from 4 women with high titres of TPOAb (range 446 - >1000 U/ml) or free of TPOAb (n=3); TPOAb determination was performed by immune enzymometric assay (Tosoh Bioscience, Tessenderlo, Belgium; positive if >10 U/ml). Tissue sections were then washed 5 minutes x3 in PBS and then incubated with a polyclonal rabbit anti-human-lgG fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC)-coniugated (Dako, DK-2600 Glostrup, Denmark) 1:70 dilution for 1 hour at room temperature. Tissue sections were then washed again 5 minutes x3 in PBS, rinsed, mounted and left overnight at 4°C to dry and fix.

The same 4 BC and TT paraffin embedded tissue sections were also analyzed in a similar protocol using mouse monoclonal to TPO ab76935 (abcam, Cambridge, UK) as first antibody (1:100 dilution) and Alexa Fluor 488 goat antimouse IgG (Life Technologies Ltd, Paisley, UK) as second antibody (1:50 dilution). A further 5 paraffin embedded BC samples were analyzed with a modified protocol in which slides, after the deparaffination and rehydration procedure, were initially blocked for two hours at room temperature with goat serum 10%; primary and secondary antibodies were also diluted in goat serum 10%, maintaining the same incubation conditions of the first protocol (one hour at room temperature). Primary antibodies were pooled human sera from women with high titres of TPOAb or free of TPOAb as above (1:10 dilution) and mouse TPO monoclonal ab12500 (abcam, Cambridge, UK; 1:25 dilution). Secondary antibodies were respectively goat polyclonal to human IgG-H&L (FITC) ab97164 (abcam, Cambridge, UK; 1:500 dilution) and Alexa Fluor 488 goat polyclonal anti-mouse IgG H + L (Life Technologies Ltd, Paisley, UK; 1:1000 dilution).

In all IF experiments images were analysed using Olympus BX51 microscope, trinocular brightfield / fluorescence (Olympus America Inc., Center Valley, PA, USA).

3.3.2.2 Indirect Immunohistochemistry (IHC)

Indirect IHC was performed on 2 frozen human BC tissue samples and frozen human TT as positive control, using Vectastain® ABC-AP Kit (mouse IgG; Vector Laboratories Inc, Burlingame, CA, USA) with Vector Red Alkaline Phosphatase Substrate Kit I (Vector Laboratories Inc, Burlingame, CA, USA), as described in the manufacturer's protocol.

- Briefly, frozen tissue sections were air dried, fixed with acetone 100% for 10 minutes and then transferred into PBS.
- Tissue sections were incubated for 20 minutes with Vectastain® blocking horse serum (1:67 dilution) and then with mouse monoclonal to TPO ab12500 (abcam, Cambridge, UK) diluted 1:25 in PBS for one hour at room temperature.
- Tissue sections were subsequently washed for 5 minutes in PBS and then incubated for 30 minutes with Vectastain® biotinylated secondary antibody solution (horse anti-mouse IgG).
- After, they were washed for 5 minutes in PBS, incubated for 30 minutes with Vectastain® ABC-AP reagent, washed for 5 minutes in PBS and incubated in 20-30 minutes in alkaline phosphatase substrate solution (Vector Red).
- Tissue sections were then rinsed in tap water and counterstained with hematoxylin: 3 minutes incubation with 20% hematoxylin (diluted in water), 3 minutes wash in tap water, 3 minutes incubation in tap water containing ammonium 2%, 3 minutes in 95% alcohol, 3 minutes in 99% alcohol and 1 minute in 100% xylene. Tissue sections were finally cleared and mounted.

 Images were analysed using Olympus BX51 microscope, trinocular brightfield / fluorescence (Olympus America Inc., Center Valley, PA, USA).

3.3.2.3 Western Blot (WB)

Fresh human tissues samples and BC cell lines were investigated for TPO protein expression with WB, applying the following procedure:

Protein extraction. From fresh frozen tissues: frozen tissue (200 mg) was diced using a razor blade and thawed in 600 μL of RIPA buffer [1% tergitol-type NP40 detergent, 0.5% sodium deoxycholate and 0.1% Sodium Dodecyl Sulphate (SDS) in phosphate buffered saline (PBS)] containing 10 μL/ml proteases inhibitor [phenylmethanesulfonylfluoride (PMSF) in isopropanol] and homogenized with a Dounce homogenizer at 4°C. Samples were then centrifuged at 15000xg for 20 minutes at 4°C and the protein extract (supernatant) was stored at -20°C in loading buffer (LB) containing 40% of 10% SDS, 20% glycerol, 0.5M Tris pH 6.8 and 16% pure water.

From cells: 6-well plates were washed X2 with 2 ml PBS and cells were scraped with LB and transferred into 1.5 ml Eppendorf tubes, then boiled for 5 minutes in order to break DNA, inactivate proteases and break tertiary and quaternary protein structure. Finally, samples were centrifuged at 13000 rpm for 5 minutes and the protein extract (supernatant) was stored at -20°C.

- ★ <u>Measure of protein concentration.</u> 60% trichloroacetic acid was added (1:1 ratio) to 50 µl of protein sample in LB and the optical density at 630 nm was measured with a microprocessor-controlled photometer (Opsys MRTM Microplate Reader (Dynex Technologies, Chantilly, USA), using different dilutions of bovine serum albumin (BSA) 1mg/ml (in LB) as standard.
- SDS PolyAcrylamide Gel Electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE). Extracted proteins (5-15 ug of TT and 50 ug for all other tissues and BC cell lines) were added with 2% pyronin Y 0.2% and 2% β-mercaptoethanol; cells protein only were added also with 10 µl/ml PMSF 100 mM, already present in tissue proteins (contained in previously used RIPA buffer). Protein samples were boiled for 5 minutes and 30 seconds respectively for tissue and cells protein (since cells protein extracts had already been previously boiled for 5 minutes). Samples where then loaded on 8% tris-glycine SDS-acrylamide gels [2.64 ml 30% acrylamide, 3.75 ml 1M tris pH 8.8, 100 µl 10% SDS, 100 µl ammonium persulfate (APS), 5 µl tetramethylethylenediamine (TEMED) and 2.92 ml distilled water (dH₂O)] and separated for half a hour by electrophoresis in running buffer (tris 15g, glycine 72g and SDS 5g in 1L dH₂O). In order to mark the protein size, the Prestained

Protein Marker, Broad Range 7-175 kDa (New England BioLabs®, Ipswich, USA) was diluted 1:1 in LB and loaded on the gel.

- Membrane blotting. After electrophoresis proteins were transferred onto a Polyvinylidine Fluoride (PVDF) membrane Amersham Hybond-P (GE Healthcare, Chalfont St Giles, Buckinghamshire, UK) by electrophoresis for 1 hour.
- Membranes blocking and incubation with first and second antibody. Membranes were blocked for 2 hours at room temperature with 5% non-fat dry milk powder (Marvel, Long Sutton, Spalding, UK), followed by overnight incubation at 4°C with mouse monoclonal TPO ab76935 (Abcam, Cambridge, UK) raised to TPO amino acids 672-780, diluted (1:1000) with 5% bovine serum albumin [BSA (Sigma-Aldrich, Gillingham, Dorset, UK)] or 5% not-fat dry milk powder, respectively for tissues and cells protein analysis. Membranes were then washed three times for 5 minutes with TBS-T (Tris-buffered saline, 0.1% Tween 20). After washing, membranes were incubated for 1 hour at room temperature with ECL anti-mouse IgG horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-linked whole antibody (from sheep; GE Healthcare UK limited, Little Chalfont Buckinghamshire) diluted (1:5000) with 5% non-fat dry milk powder. Membranes were then washed with TBS-T two times for 30 seconds, 1 time for 15 minutes and three times for 5 minutes.
- Blot developing. The blot was developed in a dark room with Amersham ECL Plus western blotting detection system (GE Healthcare, Chalfont St Giles, Buckinghamshire, UK) according to manufacturer's instructions. Films were analysed using the Alpha Imager 1200 digital imaging system (Alpha Innotech Corp., San Leandro, CA, USA).
- Stripping and re-probing for human-actin. Membranes were then stripped for 30 min at 60°C in stripping buffer (6.25 ml tris 0.5M pH 6.8, 10 ml 10%SDS, 0.35 ml mercaptoethanol and 33.5 ml dH₂O), washed 10 minutes X3 with large volumes of TBS-T (50 ml/blot), blocked for 2 hours at room temperature with 5% non-fat dry milk powder and re-probed with rabbit polyclonal anti-human actin IgG (I-19, sc-1616-R, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Dallas, USA) at 1:000 dilution and ECL anti-rabbit IgG HRP-linked whole antibody (from donkey; GE Healthcare UK limited, Little Chalfont Buckinghamshire) at 1:5000 dilution, following the same procedure described above.

<u>A primary antibody absorption test by antigen peptide (TPO and LPO)</u> was performed in order to verify the specificity of identified bands on WB.

Primary TPO antibody ab76935 (8 μ g) was pre-incubated overnight at 4° C with TPO recombinant fragments (8 μ g) produced in bacteria, either TPO 3 (Glu 471 - Ser 720) or TPO 4 (Phe 709 - Leu 933) (265) in 5% BSA. These TPO fragments

were generated by others in Prof. Marian Ludgate's laboratory in Cardiff University and stored frozen until further use.

The same primary antibody absorption test was also performed using 10 μ g bovine LPO (Sigma-Aldrich, Gillingham, Dorset, UK).

3.3.3 Cell culture conditions

BC cell lines were cultured (+37°C; 5% CO₂) in 6-well plates until 90% confluent in the following medium:

- MCF-7: Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM; BioWhittaker®, Lonza, Belgium) supplemented with 10% foetal calf serum (FCS), 2% penicillin/streptomycin (PS), 1 millimolar (mM) sodium pyruvate and 10 µg/ml bovine insulin.
- T-47D: Roswell Park Memorial Institute (RPMI) medium supplemented with 2 ml of L-Glutamine 200 mM in 0.85% NaCl, 10% FCS and 2% PS.
- MDAMB-231: DMEM (BioWhittaker®, Lonza, Belgium) supplemented with 10%
 FCS and 2% PS.

4 different culture conditions were used for all the 3 different BC cell lines: normal culture medium (N) or supplemented with 1nm B-estradiol (Sigma-Aldrich; E), 100ng/µl IGF-II (Sigma; I) or the two agents combined (EI). Cells were harvested at 6 hours (6), 24 hours (24), 72 hours (72) and 8 days (8) for RNA or protein extraction, for a total of 16 different combinations, as summarized in Table 3-7.

		Cell collection time					
		6 hours	24 hours	72 hours	8 days		
		(6)	(24)	(72)	(8)		
e,	Normal culture medium (N)	6N	24N	72N	8N		
ltur ns	+ 1nm B-estradiol (E)	6E	24E	72E	8E		
cu	+ 100ng/uL IGF-II (I)	61	241	721	81		
ell Indi	+ 1nm B-estradiol	6EI	24EI	72EI	8EI		
ື ບຶ ບິ	and 100ng/uL IGF-II (EI)						

Table 3-7: 16 different combinations for each BC cell line

3.4 RESULTS

3.4.1 TPOAb display auto-reactivity to a breast cancer antigen

The hypothesis of TPO expression in BC tissue was first explored by IF performed on 4 deparaffinized and rehydrated BC tissue samples with human TT as positive control using pooled human sera positive for TPOAb at high titre (TPOAb+) or negative for TPOAb (TPOAb-). 5 additional paraffin embedded BC tissues were later tested with a slightly modified indirect IF protocol, as

previously described in paragraph 3.3.2.1. When using TPOAb+ pooled human sera, the immunoreactivity was apparent in 9/9 BC tested (Figure 3-2 panel A) and the IF signal was strong on TT, much more evident on the apical surface of the thyroid cells, most likely reflecting binding to TPO (Figure 3-2 panel B). The immunoreactivity was absent in both BC and TT tissues when using TPOAb- pooled human sera (Figure 3-2 panels C and D respectively).



Figure 3-2: Indirect IF results using pooled human sera

Representative results of indirect Immunofluorescence using pooled human sera as primary antibody. <u>Panel A</u> (10x magnification): breast cancer (BC) tissue incubated with pooled human sera strongly positive for TPOAb (TPOAb+). <u>Panel B</u> (10x magnification): thyroid tissue (TT) incubated with TPOAb+ pooled human sera (positive control). <u>Panel C</u> (20x magnification): BC incubated with TPOAb free (TPOAb-) pooled human sera. <u>Panel D</u> (20x magnification): TT incubated with TPOAb- pooled human sera (negative control). In panels A and B is present a positive signal (green stain), which is absent in panels C and D, where is visible only a weak aspecific staining (negative).

Figure 3-3 shows the indirect IF results obtained with the initial 4 paraffin embedded BC tissues and TT as positive control using a monoclonal TPOAb; they confirmed the results obtained with pooled human sera in Figure 3-2.





Representative results of indirect immunofluorescence (IF) staining for thyroid peroxidase (TPO), 20x magnification. In the small box for each picture there is the correspondent 10x magnification. <u>Panels A,B:</u> thyroid tissue (TT) tested with goat serum 10% lacking primary antibody [A] and mouse monoclonal antibody to TPO [B]. <u>Panels C,D:</u> breast cancer tissue (BC) tested with goat serum 10% lacking primary antibody [C] and mouse monoclonal antibody to TPO [D]. Panels B and D show a positive signal (green stain), which is absent in panels A and C.

The above reported IF results clearly indicated the presence of immunoreactivity to BC in TPOAb+ women, thus further experiments were conducted to accurately investigate TPO expression, both mRNA and protein, in BC and other tissues.

3.4.2 TPO gene expression (mRNA)

3.4.2.1 Quality controls for RNA extraction and cDNA synthesis by RT

Figure 3-4 shows the results of 2% agarose gel electrophoresis of RNA (1 μ l) extracted from representative tissue samples: the presence of 2 bands corresponding to ribosomal RNA 28S and 18S indicated the integrity of extracted RNA. In cases of degraded RNA, e.g. BC2, the RNA was extracted again and used for cDNA synthesis and analyses only if passing the quality control. BC characteristics had been previously summarized in Table 3-3.

Figure 3-4: RNA quality control (representative samples)



L 1 kb = ladder 1 kilobases. L 100 bp = ladder 100 base pairs. BC = breast cancer. PT = breast peri-tumoural tissue. TT = thyroid tissue. 100-10'000 = number of bp.

Figure 3-5 reports some APRT PCR results in representative tissue samples. All samples analyzed contained the expected 247 bp amplicon and the bands obtained in BC tissues tended to be sharper compared with the correspondent PT, possibly reflecting higher efficiency of RT reaction in some samples. When a sample showed a faint APRT band (e.g. TT1[^]), the RT reaction was repeated in order to try and increase the quality of obtained cDNA (TT1).



Figure 3-5: Standard PCR for APRT gene (representative samples)

BC = breast cancer. L 100 bp = ladder 100 base pairs. Neg = negative control with distilled water (dH₂O). PT = breast peri-tumoural tissue. TT= thyroid tissue. TT^= cDNA obtained from TT via a poor quality reverse transcription reaction. 100-1500 = number of bp.

3.4.2.2 Standard PCR and TPO isoforms

Table 3-5 (paragraph 3.3.1.2) reports the expected amplicons using different TPO primer pairs. The best results were obtained with F13/R17 and nearly all samples were tested and produced one or more amplicons. F7/R9 and F9/R11 PCR gave less quality PCR experiments, therefore only few representative samples were investigated.

F13/R17

Figure 3-6 shows results obtained in standard RT-PCR reactions in representative TT, BC and PT samples after 40 (panel A) and 50 (panel B) PCR cycles. As previously summarized in Table 3-5, the expected 485 bp band corresponded to TPO 1, TPO 2 or TPO 5 and 353-355 bp band corresponded to TPO 3, TPO 4, TPO 2/3 or TPO 2/4; this was verified by sequencing. The sequence analysis of 400/450 bp and 320 bp unexpected bands revealed that they were just nicked PCR products corresponding respectively to the 485 bp or 353-355 bp bands.



Figure 3-6: F13/R17 PCR results in representative tissue samples

BC = breast cancer; L 100 bp = ladder 100 base pairs; Neg (dH_2O) = negative control with distilled water; PT = breast peri-tumoural tissue; TT= thyroid tissue; 100-600 = number of bp. Panel A = after 40 PCR cycles. Panel B = after 50 PCR cycles.

The sequence analysis of the unexpected 130 bp band was inconclusive, since the sequence analysis performed on BLAST did not show similarities with any existing human gene. The sequence analysis of the 220 bp band revealed a newly described TPO mRNA isoform lacking both exons 14 and 16, therefore still expressing exon 15 corresponding to the transmembrane region, as shown in Figure 3-7.





Panel A: Electropherogram showing the sequencing result of the 220 bp unexpected amplicon with PCR using forward primer in exon 13 and reverse primer in exon 17 (F13/R17 PCR). A = adenosine; C = cytosine; G = guanosine; T = thymidine. Exons 14 and 16 are missing, therefore exons 13, 15 and 17 are consecutive in the nucleotide sequence. Panel B: schematic representation of the newly identified TPO mRNA isoform. 1-17 = TPO exons; white squares = exons present; white squares containing a grey cross = exons absent; grey squares = exons not investigated with F13/R17 PCR.

All 3 BC cell lines and all tissue samples except for AD were tested with F13/R17 PCR. Only 9/17 (52.9%) AD were tested: 3 AD-A, 4 AD-SC, 1 AD-K and 1 AD-O. Table 3-8 and Table 3-9 summarize the detected amplicons in tissue samples (40 cycles) and BC cell lines (40 and 50 cycles) respectively.
	485 bp	353/355 bp	220 bp	130 bp
BC	8/8	8/8	6/8	1/8
	(100%)	(100%)	(75%)	(12.5%)
PT	5/8	5/8	6/8	3/8
	(62.5%)	(62.5%)	(75%)	(37.5%)
AD	9/9	9/9	8/9*	1/9*
	(100%)	(100%)	(88.9%)	(11.1%)
PC	0/3	0/3	0/3	0/3
PKC	0/1	0/1	0/1	0/1
MKC	0/1	0/1	0/1	0/1

Table 3-8: Summary of F13/R17 PCR (40 cycles) in tissue samples

Summary of PCR products after 40 cycles obtained in all samples. AD = adipose tissue; BC = breast cancer; MKC = hepatic metastasis of kidney carcinoma; PC = pancreatic adenocarcinoma; PKC = primary kidney carcinoma; PT = peri-tumoural breast tissues. * The only AD not expressing the 220 bp amplicon was abdominal (AD-A): the same sample

was the only AD expressing the 130 bp amplicon.

			40 PCR	cycles		50 PCR cycles				
Cell	Ampl.	6	24	72	8	6	24	72	8	
line	(bp)	hours	hours	hours	days	hours	hours	hours	days	
	485									0/16 (0%)
	353- 355	61				61			8EI	2/16 (12.50%)
MCF-7	220	6EI	24N, 24EI	721	8E, 8I	6EI	24N, 24E, 24EI	721	8E, 8I	7/16 (43.75%)
	150	6N, 6E, 6I	24EI	72EI		6N, 6E, 6I	24I, 24EI	72I, 72EI		7/16 (43.75%)
	485				8EI				8EI	1/16 (6.25%)
T 47D	353- 355			721		6E		721		2/16 (12.50%)
1-470	220	61	241	72 EI	8 El	61	241	72EI	8EI	4/16 (25%)
	130						24E, 24EI		8EI	3/16 (18.75%)
	485					6 E	241			2/16 (12.50%)
MDAM	353- 355			72 EI	81			72EI	81	2/16 (12.50%)
B-231	220	61	24 N	72 N		61	24 N	72 N		3/16 (18.75%)
	150	6 N				6 N				1/16

Table 3-9: Summary of F13/R17 PCR in BC cell lines

Summary of F13/R17 PCR products after 40 and 50 cycles obtained in BC cell lines MCF-7, T-47D and MDAMB-231 cultured in normal medium (N), or supplemented with 1nm Bestradiol (E), 100ng/uL IGF-II (I) or both (EI), collected after 6 hours (6), 24 hours (24), 72 hours (72) or 8 days (8) from the beginning of treatment. The amplicons (Ampl.) size is expressed in base pairs (bp) in the second column on the left. The last column on the right summarize the number and percentage of cell combinations expressing (calculated after 50 cycles) a particular amplicon. Known TPO isoforms (amplicons 485 and 353-355 bp) were expressed after 40 PCR cycles by TT (positive control), all BC and AD tested and the great majority of PT, but in none of the other tumours tested (PC, PKC, MKC). Results after 50 PCR cycles were identical, except that the 485 bp amplicon was expressed also in 1/3 PC and MKC. In the 3 BC cell lines, known TPO isoforms were detected only in some culture conditions, notably in the presence of oestrogen and/or IGF1, but this was unrelated to the incubation time (Figure 3-8).

The 220bp amplicon corresponding to the newly identified TPO mRNA variant missing exon 14 and 16 was expressed by the great majority of BC, PT and AD, while it was absent in the other tumours tested and only faintly expressed in TT, as previously shown in Figure 3-6. Importantly, the 220bp amplicon was the most abundant in all the 3 cell lines, especially MCF-7, compared with the amplicons corresponding to the other TPO isoforms (Figure 3-8). TPO expression was present in all the different culture medium combinations, however it seemed to be slightly more prevalent in stimulated cells, especially with IGF-I, alone or in combination with estradiol.



Figure 3-8: F13/R17 PCR results (50 cycles) in all BC cell line combinations

Panel A, B and C: MCF-7, T-47D and MDAMB-231 cell lines respectively. Numbers indicating the collection time of cells: 6 = 6 hours, 24 = 24 hous, 72 = 72 hours, 8 = 8 days. Letters indicating the cells culture medium: N = normal, E = supplemented with 1nm B-estradiol, I = supplemented with 100ng/uL IGF-II, EI = supplemented with both 1nm B-estradiol and 100ng/uL IGF-II. The arrows indicate the expected (485 and 353/355 bp) and newly described (220 and 130 bp) amplicons. L 100 bp = ladder 100 base pairs; Neg = negative control (distilled water); TT = thyroid tissue; 100-600 = number of bp.

Other TPO primer combinations in standard PCR

PCR with TPO primer pairs different from F13/R17 gave poor results and were performed mainly on TT and only a few samples of BC and PT; contrary to other standard PCR reactions, they were often performed using cDNA obtained from RT using TPO reverse primers instead of odT (e.g. R11 for F7/R9 PCR), since giving better results. As representative example, Figure 3-9 shows the results obtained with F7/R9 PCR after 50 cycles performed on TT, two BC and one PT: after 40 cycles only very faint bands were obtained (not shown).



Figure 3-9: F7/R9 PCR (50 cycles)

L 100 bp = ladder 100 base pairs; BC = breast cancer; Neg (dH_2O) = negative control (distilled water); PT = peritumoural breast tissues; TT = thyroid tissue. The arrows indicate the expected (169 and 688 bp, corresponding respectively to TPO 5 and all the other TPO isoforms) and newly described (220, 340 and 500 bp) amplicons. 100-700 = number of bp.

According to Table 3-5, 2 amplicons were expected: 169 bp corresponding to TPO 5 isoform missing exon 8 and a 688 bp corresponding to all the other TPO isoforms. The expected 169 bp amplicon was present, but not the 688 bp, while several intermediate bands were present: 500, 340 and 220 bp.

Similarly to F7/R9 PCR, the other primer pair combinations gave additional unexpected bands, then identified as new TPO mRNA isoforms by gene sequencing (agarose gel results not shown).

TPO mRNA isoforms identified by standard RT-PCR

Figure 3-10 summarizes the newly identified TPO mRNA isoforms identified by standard PCR and gene sequencing.

Figure 3-10: Summary of newly identified TPO mRNA isoforms with standard PCR

F13/R17 220 bp 13 14

14 15 16 17



Numbered squares from 7 to 17 represent TPO gene exons. White and grey squares represent respectively expressed and missed exons. bp = base pairs (size of the sequenced amplicon).

The TPO mRNA isoform corresponding to the 220bp F13/R17 amplicon was demonstrated to be present also in BC (both tissues and cell lines), PT and AD, as described above. The other TPO variants/amplicons were sequenced only in TT due to time restrictions. It is very likely that the 220bp F13/R17 and the 900 bp F9/R17 amplicons identified the same TPO variant.

The discovery of so many TPO mRNA isoforms never identified before lead me to further explore this topic with different techniques, considering that standard RT-PCR gives poor quality results when investigating long amplicons.

3.4.2.3 LongRange RT-PCR and TPO mRNA isoforms

In an attempt to characterize the various TPO isoforms detected by standard RT-PCR, TPO primers in exons 2 (location of start codon) and 17 (location of stop codon) were used in LongRange RT-PCR. Due to time restrictions, only few samples were tested: TT, BC 5, BC 6, PT 3, one AD-S and MCF-7 EI. All samples were tested both with (Q) and without (N) Q solution; amplicons were obtained in all samples except PT 3, MCF-7 EI and AD-S when tested with Q solution (Figure 3-11). Different amplicons were obtained with or without Q solution and this will be further discussed in the conclusions section (paragraph 3.5.3).

Figure 3-11: LongRange RT-PCR (F2/R17) results



<u>Panel A:</u> agarose gel 1.5% bands obtained with LongRange RT-PCR using TPO primers in exon 2 and 17 (F2/R17). AD-S = subcutaneous adipose tissue; BC = breast cancer; TT = thyroid tissue; * = Q solution added to the PCR reaction mix. <u>Panel B:</u> schematic representation of novel TPO mRNA isoforms found sequencing PCR products obtained with LongRange RT-PCR F2/R17. Numbered squares from 2 to 17 represent TPO gene exons. White and grey squares represent respectively expressed and missed exons.

Table 3-5 shows the expected amplicons with PCR F2/R17 according to known TPO isoforms. In particular, TT showed the presence of a faint amplicon at 2700 bp, corresponding to the full length TPO1, only in the presence of Q solution (Figure 3-11 panel A); sequencing confirmed that it was the full length TPO 1 isoform (Figure 3-11 panel B). The most abundant thyroid transcript was the previously described TPO 5 which lacks exon 8, and hence enzymatic activity. Additional smaller transcripts were also present in TT but these did not correspond to other known TPO isoforms, either previously reported or already described in this study.

In non-thyroid samples many different bands were detected; a 2000 bp variant was present in BC n°5 (with Q solution) lacking exons 8-9 or in BC n°6 lacking exon 8 (TPO 5); a 1500-1700 bp variant lacking exons 8-10 was present in BC n°5 (with Q solution) and AD-S; whilst a 1000 bp transcript in which exon 7 then skipped to exon 15 was abundant in the two BC (without Q solution); a short transcript comprising exons 2 linked to 15-17 was present in AD-S, BC n°6 and TT. As in the case of TT, we did not find other known TPO isoforms or the new TPO mRNA variant lacking exons 14 and 16 identified with standard RT-PCR F13/R17. Figure 3-11 panel B summarizes all TPO mRNA isoforms found with LongRange RT-PCR using primer pair F2/R17. Many other transcripts were isolated but they were not successfully identified by gene sequencing due to the presence of overlapping sequences.

3.4.2.4 QPCR

Table 3-10 reports the cycle threshold (Ct) and copy number (N° copy referred to estimated 50 ng of input cDNA) of TPO gene obtained in human tissues. BC and PT expressed TPO mRNA at the same level, around 10^4 fold less than in TT. The AD tissues expressed TPO mRNA 10^2 fold less than in TT and therefore 100-fold higher than in BC/PT, with no depot-specific differences. In the other tumours (PC, PKC and MKC), TPO transcripts were at the limit of detection.

Sample	Ct	N° copy	Sample	Ct	N° сору	Sample	Ct	N° сору
BC 1	31,74	4,43E+02	AD-A 1	31.65	1.04E+04	РКС	NO	0
BC 2	30,59	9,58E+02	AD-A 2	29.79	3.40E+04	MKC	NO	0
BC 3	32,56	2,57E+02	AD-A 3	28.72	6.73E+04			
BC 4	29,33	2,21E+03	AD-A 4	30.48	2.19E+04	PC 1	35	5,02E+01
BC 5	31,72	4,50E+02	AD-S 1	29.28	4.72E+04	PC 2	36,94	1,38E+01
BC 6	31,82	1,50E+03	AD-S 2	29.64	3.74E+04	PC 3	33,12	1,77E+02
BC 7	31,7	4,56E+02	AD-S 3	28.45	8.03E+04	Mean		8.02E+01
BC 8	30,75	8,58E+02	AD-S 4	30.64	1.98E+04			
Mean		8.92E+02	AD-S 5	31.42	1.21E+04	TT	18,53	3,01E+06
			AD-S 6	30.71	1.89E+04			
PT 1	32,01	3,71E+02	AD-S 7	32.49	6.07E+03			
PT 2	29,19	2,43E+03	AD-S 8	37.76	2.10E+02			
PT 3	28,97	2,82E+03	AD-K	28.33	8.64E+04			
PT 4	35,55	3,50E+01	AD-0 1	33.72	2.77E+03			
PT 5	31,23	6,25E+02	AD-0 2	28.82	6.32E+04			
PT 6	29,91	4,20E+02	AD-0 3	28.99	5.68E+04			
PT 7	32,53	2,62E+02	AD-0 4	30.04	2.89E+04			
PT 8	36,13	2,36E+01	Mean		3.49E+04			
Mean		8.73E+02						

Table 3-10: Absolute QPCR values for TPO copy number obtained in human tissues

AD-A = abdominal adipose tissue; AD-K = adipose tissue from knee; AD-O = orbital adipose tissue; AD-S= subcutaneous adipose tissue; BC = breast cancer; Ct = cycle threshold; MKC = hepatic metastasis of kidney carcinoma; N° copy = TPO cDNA copy number (referred to approximately 50 ng of cDNA); PC = pancreatic adenocarcinoma; PKC = primary kidney carcinoma; PT = breast peri-tumoural; TT = thyroid tissue.

Table 3-11 reports the cycle threshold (Ct) referred to input cDNA (estimated 50 ng) obtained in all different combinations of MCF-7 BC cell line with TPO primers and APRT primers. Ct TPO values showed that TPO mRNA was expressed at the limit of detection in all the combinations of MCF-7 BC cell lines. Even if not shown in the present thesis due to space restrictions, both TPO and APRT quantifications, with the relative TPO and APRT standard curves and always including positive control with TT and negative control with dH₂O, have been performed for all tissues and BC cell lines.

MCF-7	Ct TPO	Ct APRT	Sample	Ct TPO	Ct APRT
6 N	37,41	22,23	TT	27,88	29,16
6 E	36,54	21,71			
6 I	37,70	21,50	TPO/APRT 10 ⁶	25,76	20,52
6 El	38,14	21,74	TPO/APRT 10 ⁵	31,55	24,21
24 N	36,76	20,80	TPO/APRT 10 ⁴	33,10	27,76
24 E	36,62	21,43	TPO/APRT 10 ³	37,38	30,34
24 I	37,60	21,83	TPO/APRT 10 ²	35,90	30,79
24 EI	No	22,66	TPO/APRT 10 ¹	36,84	31,07
72 N	37,95	22,28			
72 E	38,70	22,91			
72 I	36,35	21,70			
72 EI	38,40	23,59			

8 N

8 E

8 I

8 EI

22,53

22,02

21,58

23,23

36,68

37,39

38,49

37,33

Table 3-11: Absolute TPO and APRT QPCR values obtained in MCF-7 BC cell lines

Cells cultured in normal medium (N), or supplemented 1nm B-estradiol (E), 100ng/uL IGF-II (I) or both (EI), collected after 6 hours (6), 24 hours (24), 72 hours (72) or 8 days (8) from the beginning of treatment. Ct TPO and Ct APRT = cycle threshold to obtain respectively TPO and APRT cDNA detection (referred to approximately 50 ng cDNA); TT = thyroid tissue.

TPO mRNA was expressed at the limit of detection also in all the combinations of T-47D and MDAMB-231 cell lines, as shown in Table 3-12.

T-47D	Ct TPO	MDAMB-231	Ct TPO	TT Ct TP
6N	No Ct	6N	35.1	16.82
6E	33.99	6E	33.02	
61	No Ct	61	34.66	
6EI	No Ct	6EI	No Ct	
24N	36.31	24N	No Ct	
24E	32.94	24E	37.03	
241	No Ct	241	34.15	
24EI	35.14	24EI	No Ct	
72N	No Ct	72N	No Ct	
72E	No Ct	72E	34.4	
721	No Ct	721	No Ct	
72EI	No Ct	72EI	34.46	
8N	No Ct	8N	No Ct	
8E	No Ct	8E	No Ct	
81	37.81	81	34.31	
8EI	No Ct	8EI	35.23	

Table 3-12: Absolute TPO QPCR results for T-47D and MDAMB-231 BC cell lines

Cells cultured in normal medium (N), or supplemented 1nm B-estradiol (E), 100ng/uL IGF-II (I) or both (EI), collected after 6 hours (6), 24 hours (24), 72 hours (72) or 8 days (8) from the beginning of treatment. Ct TPO = cycle threshold to obtain TPO cDNA detection (referred to approximately 50 ng cDNA); TT = thyroid tissue.

3.4.3 TPO gene expression (protein)

3.4.3.1 Western Blot (WB)

105-110 kDa band

As previously explained in paragraph 3.1.1.1. and summarized in Table 3-1, TPO protein is usually detected by WB as a double band of 105-110 kDa molecular mass. When the blot was exposed for a short time (from 15 seconds to 3 minutes: depending from the strength of antibodies and reagents used), the 105-110 kDa band was present only in TT. However, exposing the blots for extended times (up to 40 minutes), combined with loading 10 times more protein extract than for TT, lead to the detection of similar bands in 7/8 BC, 4/8 PT, 2/4 AD, 1/1 PKC, 1/1 MKC and 1/2 PC (only 2 of the 3 PC were examined because PC3 sample was insufficient for protein analysis), as shown in Figure 3-12 (panel A and B). Similar results were obtained with all the 3 different BC cell lines, where a 105-110 kDa band was present independently from the cell collection time and the addition of growth factors to the cell medium (Figure 3-12 panel C).





Western Blot representative results of 105-110 kDa band expression observed in human tissues (panels A and B: 40 minutes exposition time) and MCF-7 cell line (panel C: 20 minutes exposition time), using mouse monoclonal to TPO ab76935. Tissues: AD-A = abdominal adipose tissue; AD-K = adipose tissue from knee; AD-O = orbital adipose tissue; AD-S = subcutaneous adipose tissue; BC = breast cancer; MKC = metastatic kidney cancer; PC = pancreatic adenocarcinoma; PT = breast peri-tumoural tissue; TT = thyroid tissue. Cells: 6 = cell collection after 6 hours from treatment; 24 = cell collection after 24 hours from treatment; E = culture medium supplemented with 1nm β -estradiol; EI = culture medium supplemented with 100ng/uL IGF-II; I = normal culture medium. / = no proteins loaded.

In order to test the specificity of obtained signals, the primary antibody was absorbed using recombinant fragments of TPO spanning the region of the epitope recognized by the antibody. As shown in Figure 3-13 (panels A and B), the 105-110 kDa signal in TT was greatly reduced and that in the other tissues completely eliminated by the treatment. Conversely, when the primary antibody was absorbed with bovine LPO, the intensity signal was not reduced and paradoxically enhanced in some cases (Figure 3-13 panel C).



Figure 3-13: Absorption of first antibody with TPO fragments and bovine LPO

Representative results of 105-110 kDa band expression at Western Blot (5 minutes exposure) in BC = breast cancer, MKC = hepatic metastasis of kidney cancer, PT = breast peri-tumoural tissue, TT = thyroid tissue, / = no protein loaded. <u>Panel A</u>: normal ab76935. <u>Panel B</u>: TPO absorbed ab76935: the signal is strongly reduced or eliminated. <u>Panel C</u>: bovine LPO absorbed ab76935: the signal is unchanged or paradoxically enhanced.

Additional bands

When exposing the blot for longer times (3-40 minutes), additional bands corresponding to proteins of apparent molecular weight (MW) 70, 60 and 30-35 kDa were identified in TT, in addition to the doublet at 105-110 kDa (Figure 3-14 panel A). Absorption with recombinant TPO strongly reduced not only the 105-110 kDa band corresponding to complete TPO protein (TPO 1) but also the signals at 70 and 60 kDa, indicating that they could be smaller isoforms of TPO or degraded fragments of TPO 1; the 30-35 kDa band was not affected by absorption (Figure 3-14 panel B). Absorption with LPO did not reduce the signal (Images not shown).



Figure 3-14: Entire WB obtained in thyroid tissue

<u>Panel A:</u> complete WB results in thyroid tissue (TT) using normal ab76935; it shows the doublet at 105-110 kDa and 3 additional bands at 70, 60 and 30-35 kDa. <u>Panel B:</u> complete WB results in the same TT of panel A using TPO absorbed ab76935: the 105-110, 70 and 60 kDa bands are strongly reduced, whilst the 30-35 kDa band is not significantly modified.

The 70 and 60 kDa bands were also present in breast tissues BC/PT and PKC in addition to proteins of 50 and 150 kDa, all of which were reduced by absorption of TPO monoclonal antibody ab76935 with recombinant TPO (Figure 3-15).



Figure 3-15: Entire WB on human tissues

Entire Western blot representative images (40 minutes exposition time) of various tissues probed with TPO monoclonal antibody ab76935 normal (panel A) or pre-absorbed with TPO fragments (panel B). The numbers on the left indicate the molecular weight (kDa). In each small box there is the correspondent magnification of the 105-110 kDa band expression (full-length TPO), previously shown in Figure 3-13. BC = breast cancer; MKC = hepatic metastasis of kidney carcinoma; PT = peri-tumoural breast tissue; TT = thyroid tissue; / = no sample loaded. In panel B the signal related to 105-110 kDa band and to other additional bands (50, 60, 70, 150 kDa) is strongly reduced or eliminated, while the aspecific signal of 30-35 kDa band is not significantly modified.

After being probed for TPO, the membranes were stripped and re-probed for human actin to reveal the presence of a 42 kDa band as expected, corresponding to B-actin in these tissues (Figure 3-16).



Figure 3-16: Western Blot for B-actin

Representative Western Blot images (20 minutes exposition time) of the 42 kDa obtained in various tissues probed with primary antibody to human actin. BC = breast cancer; PT = breast peri-tumoural tissue.

3.4.3.2 Indirect Immunohistochemistry (IHC)

The PCR and WB results indicated that both breast (tumoural and peritumoural) and adipose tissues contain low levels of TPO protein. Considering that breast is rich in fat, indirect IHC experiments were performed in order to identify the cellular location of TPO protein in BC tissues. A weak TPO immunoreactivity was found in a small proportion of breast epithelium, and obtained in 2/2 fresh frozen BC tissues analyzed (Figure 3-17).

Figure 3-17: Indirect IHC results in 2 fresh frozen BC



<u>Panels A and B</u> show two different breast cancer tissues (BC) analyzed by indirect IHC using TPO mouse monoclonal ab12500 as primary antibody (20x magnification); in the small square is represented thyroid tissue (TT) as positive control (10x magnification). In TT the TPO signal (red) is strongly positive and located in thyrocytes that express TPO, disposed around the colloid follicles; in BC the TPO signal (red) is weaker but present and located in breast epithelium cells.

3.4.4 TPO gene expression: correspondence between mRNA and protein

Table 3-13 summarizes the results of TPO mRNA and protein expression in BC, PT and other tumours. A similar comparison has not been performed for AD, since only 9 and 4 tissue samples were analyzed respectively for TPO mRNA and protein expression, not paired because of scarcity of available material.

Tiss	sue	TPO mRNA		TPO1	Tissue	TPO m	nRNA	TPO1
		TPO1	New isoform (no 14/16)	Protein WB 105-110 kDa		TPO1	New isoform (no 14/16)	Protein WB 105-110 kDa
1	BC	1	2	0	PT	0	0	0
2	BC	3	3	1	PT	3	2	1
3	BC	3	0	3	PT	3	3	1
4	BC	3	3	1	PT	0	1	2
5	BC	2	2	3	PT	2	2	0
6	BC	3	3+	1	PT	3	3	0
7	BC	1	0	1	PT	0	0	0
8	BC	3	1	3	PT	3	2	2
F	РКС	2	0	2				·
٨	٨KC	3	0	1				
1	PC	0	0	2				
2	PC	0	0	0	1			

Table 3-13: Correspondence between TPO mRNA and protein expression

TPO mRNA expression is referred to PCR F13/R17 (50 cycles). kDa = kilodaltons; NA = not available (not performed because of scarcity of tissutal material); No 14/16 = absence of exons 14 and 16 (variant corresponding to 220 base pairs band); TPO1 = TPO isoform 1 (complete, corresponding to 485 base pairs); WB = western blot. Numbers indicate the intensity of expressed bands in PCR (mRNA) or WB (protein): 0 = absent, 1 = very low, 2 = low, 3 = moderate, 3+ = high (values from 1 to 3+ were considered positive).

3.5 CONCLUSIONS

PC

2

0

3

3.5.1 TPO gene is expressed in breast cancer and other tissues

NA

These experiments demonstrate that thyroid peroxidase (TPO) mRNA and protein are not confined to thyroid cells but are also present in other tissues, albeit it at low levels. Our results confirm those of Lai et al. (261) who demonstrated TPO expression, both mRNA and protein, in orbital tissue (fat and fibroblasts). In my study, the highest level of TPO mRNA expression, around 100 times less than in thyroid tissue (TT), was found in adipose tissue (AD), independently from its source (abdominal, subcutaneous, orbital or knee-derived). Breast cancer (BC) and its relative peri-tumoural breast tissue (PT) expressed TPO mRNA 50-100 times less than AD and therefore 10⁴ fold less than TT. TPO expression in BC tissue could explain both the known association between BC and thyroid autoimmunity (TA) and the protective role of serum thyroid peroxidase (TPOAb) in patients with aggressive BC; this will be further discussed in chapters 4 and 5.

The other cancers investigated as controls did not express substantial levels of TPO mRNA when investigated with QPCR, the same was true for the 3 BC cell lines. However, the tumoural tissues were found to be negative for TPO mRNA expression also with standard PCR, differently from all the 3 BC cell lines that showed TPO relative amplicons after 40 cycles of PCR, even if faint. Considering that a high number of PCR cycles were needed in order to detect such amplicons (up to 50 PCR cycles), initially the hypothesis of "illegitimate transcripts", corresponding to the low level presence of specific transcripts in non-specific cells, was considered (266). However, TPO protein was present in the majority of analysed tissues with western blot (WB), including the other tumoural tissues examined, even in some negative for TPO mRNA expression; therefore TPO gene expression seemed to be real. Specificity tests using pre-absorption of the first antibody with TPO fragments and bovine lactoperoxidase (LPO) confirmed that the obtained signal at WB was TPO. The specificity test is really important, since TPOAb could cross-react with non-TPO components in the examined tissues, especially in immunofluorescence experiments using pooled human sera positive for TPOAb, and therefore led to aspecific signal and false positive conclusions. The discrepancy between mRNA and protein expression may be first of all a consequence of the fact that WB is not a quantitative technique and long exposure times have often been used, therefore a signal present in the other tumours may have been overestimated. To this purpose, it is important to highlight that the monoclonal TPOAb used for WB experiments was obtained new, delivered on ice and immediately stored at -20°C. Despite this, even thawing it just once determined a reduction of the intensity signal and longer exposure times were needed in order to develop a good signal (from 5 to 40 minutes). Moreover, gene expression is a complex process involving several fundamental steps: transcription, mRNA degradation, translation and protein degradation (267). Several authors agreed that there is a poor correlation between mRNA and correspondent protein levels mainly due to uncoupled processes of synthesis and degradation. Levels of mRNA (transcription) explain only around 40% of the variability in protein levels; post-transcriptional, translational and degradation regulation processes contribute at least at the same extent (268). In the study of Schwanhäusser et al. proteins were found to be on average 5 times more stable than mRNA (267) and this could explain the presence of TPO protein expression in samples negative for TPO mRNA expression. Furthermore, tumoural tissue is characterized by a general dis-regulation of many normal cellular functions, leading to a different phenotype compared with normal tissue and to an aberrant gene expression (269). Unfortunately in the present study no normal tissues were

available as controls, while it would have been interesting to test whether normal kidney or pancreatic tissue expressed tiny amount of TPO as found in the correspondent tumours. Similarly to BC, an increased prevalence of serum TPOAb and other thyroid autoantibodies has been found in several other cancers including kidney (270), pancreas (271), lung (272) and stomach (273); TPO expression in these cancers could explain a raise in TPOAb levels and further experiments are needed to verify this hypothesis.

The presence of TPO in BC is even more convincing, since found at a higher level and not confined to the tumoural tissue, but also in the peri-tumoural breast tissue (PT). PT tissue could express neoplastic or pre-neoplastic features, therefore further experiments with normal breast tissue obtained from reductive mammoplasty would be the ideal control in order to assess whether TPO is expressed in breast tumoural cells or also in normal breast cells. Importantly, considering that fat is abundant within the breast and that RNA and protein were extracted from the whole homogenized tissue, the positive TPO expression found in PT could represent the TPO expressed by AD within the breast. This could also explain the discrepancy between BC tissue and cell lines results, with TPO mRNA found to be expressed at a higher level in tissue and at the limit of detection in BC cell lines. However, TPO expression by BC cells has been demonstrated by immunohistochemistry (IHC) experiments that clearly showed the presence of signal in the ductal breast epithelium. Furthermore, a recent review reported that adipocytes within mammary gland carcinomas are dynamic cells that may contribute to human BC progression (274). Therefore I can hypothesize that the tissue micro-environment present within BC may induce or enhance TPO expression in *in vivo* tissues, while in in vitro experiments, where the BC cells are grown alone, TPO expression is reduced.

In BC cell lines no significant differences in terms of TPO expression were found between the different stimulation conditions and collection times. However stimulated cells, especially with Insulin-like growth factor type II (IGF-II), alone or in combination with 6-estradiol, tended to express more TPO compared to the other ones. This is plausible since, as previously introduced in paragraphs 1.3.1.2 and 3.1.3, both IGF-II and oestrogens are considered mitogens for BC cells growth (118, 262, 263) and are engaged in a crosstalk resulting in synergistic growth in MCF-7 BC cell line (264). As an afterthought, a possible link between oestrogens activity and TPO expression it is likely to have been underestimated considering that phenol red, a usual component of culture media (e.g. DMEM and RPMI) in quality of pH indicator, has been demonstrated to partially have an oestrogenic stimulatory activity on MCF-7 cells at concentrations used in tissue culture media

(275). Similarly, foetal calf serum (FCS) could also represent an additional uncontrolled source of oestrogens in the cell culture conditions. It is also important to highlight that MCF-7 cells, the most differentiated BC cell line, expressed more TPO compared with MDAMB-231, the less differentiated one. These data taken together may suggest the possibility that TPO expression in BC could be regulated by hormones and growth factors, in a similar way to the sodium iodide symporter (NIS), whose expression has been found to positively correlate with the oestrogen receptor expression (210). However, experiments with BC cell lines provided equivocal results and did not allow to draw substantial conclusions about the regulation of TPO gene expression. Further studies are needed to investigate the regulatory mechanisms of TPO expression in breast tissues; in particular, using culture medium phenol red free and containing charcoal stripped foetal bovine serum instead of FCS, where hormones are selectively removed.

TPO is not the only thyroidal antigen present in orbital adipose tissue, since thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSH) receptor (TSHR) has been demonstrated to be also expressed and represents one of the major antigen involved in Graves' orbitopathy (1). Interestingly, TSHR transcripts have also been found in different depots of adipose tissue, even if at a lower level compared with orbital fat (276) and adipose tissue is also a key target for thyroid hormones (1, 277). Therefore the discovery of TPO transcripts and protein expression in adipose tissue from different depots further increases the similarities and connections between thyroid and adipose tissue; however, this topic is not related to the present thesis and will be developed in collateral research projects.

Finally, it is important to state that this study verified the quality of RNA and protein analyzed, therefore the results of gene expression experiments presented in this thesis are reliable. In particular, the good quality of RNA was verified by the presence of ribosomal RNA 28S and 18S and an absorbance ratio at 260 and 280 nm ($A_{260/280}$) between 1.7 and 2.0 obtained with UV spectrophotometry. The good quality of cDNA obtained from RNA by reverse transcription and of extracted proteins was guaranteed by the verified expression of housekeeping genes, such as adenine phosphoribosyltransferase (APRT) and B-actin. APRT protein is a ubiquitous enzyme that catalyzes the formation of AMP and inorganic pyrophosphate from adenine and 5-phosphoribosyl-1-pyrophosphate (278). B-actin is a non-muscle cytoskeletal actin involved in cell structure and motility, therefore highly conserved and used as housekeeping control protein in WB (279).

Therefore we can conclude that variable levels of TPO seem to be expressed in a wide variety of different tissues, adipose tissue and breast cells in particular; further and larger experiments are needed in order to better investigate in which other human tissues TPO is expressed (and why).

3.5.2 TPOAb cross-reactivity with other peroxidases

Considering that LPO is highly expressed in breast tissue and that the peroxidase family members have many similarities (257), when discussing TPO protein expression results it is important to exclude the presence of TPOAb cross-reactivity with other peroxidases, LPO in particular. In terms of TPO mRNA expression there is no need for such proof, considering that 1) PCR products have been sequenced and they 100% correspond to TPO; 2) PCR experiments have been mainly performed with primers designed in exons 13 and 17, that are specific to TPO and missing in the other peroxidases, as previously explained in paragraph 3.1.1.2.

3.5.2.1 Structural similarities between TPO and other peroxidases

AS previously introduced in paragraph 3.1.1.2, TPO has considerable structural similarity with the other members of the peroxidase family, previously summarized in Table 3-2; in particular, the highest homology is with myeloperoxidase (MPO), as summarized in Table 3-14. The TPO sequence of amino acids (AA) 122-737, encoded from exon 5 and 12 (referred as "MPO like" region), has 71% similarity and 46% identity with MPO (280).

EXONS	AA	REGION NAME	COMPARISON WITH MPO
2-5	1-121	Pro-sequence MPO	Cleaved away in final MPO sequence
5-12	122-737	MPO-like	46% identical, 71% similar
13	741-795	CCP-like	Absent
14	794-842	EGF-like	Absent
15	842-871	Transmembrane	Absent
16-17	872-933	Intracellular	Absent

Table 3-14: Summary of TPO regions in relation to MPO

AA = amino acids. CCP = complement control glycoprotein. EGF = epidermal growth factor. MPO = myeloperoxidase. TPO = thyroid peroxidase.

However, considering that lactoperoxidase (LPO) is highly expressed in breast tissue, as previously reported in paragraph 3.1.1.2, in the present study it is important to compare TPO and LPO structures, in order to investigate for possible cross-reactivity of TPOAb with LPO. Human LPO is a single chain monomeric protein of 712 residues, 46% identical to human TPO and 57% and 58% respectively to human MPO and human eosinophil peroxidase (EPO) (281).

HLPO	SLEVGCGAPAPVVRCDPCSPYRTITGDCNNRRKPALGAANRALARWLPAEYEDGLSL	174
HEPO	RCSDKYRTITGRCNNKRRPLLGASNQALARWLPAEYEDGLSL	181
HMPO	CPEQDKYRTITGMCNNRRSPTLGASNRAFVRWLPAEYEDGFSL	209
HTPO	ANMSGCLPYMLPPKCPNTCLANKYRPITGACNNRDHPRWGASNTALARWLPPVYEDGFSQ	187
		107
HLPO	PFGWTPGKTRNGFPLPLAREVSNKIVGYLNEEGVLDQNRSLLFMQWGQIVDHDLDFAPDT	234
HEPO	PFGWTPSRRRNGFLLPLVRAVSNOIVRFPNERLTSDRGRALMFMOWGOFIDHDLDFSPES	241
HMPO	PYGWTPGVKRNGFPVALARAVSNEIVRFPTDOLTPDOERSLMFM-WGOLLDHDLDFTPEP	268
HTPO	PRGWNPGFLYNGFPLPPVREVTRHVIQVSNEVVTDDDRYSDLLMAWGQYIDHDIAFTPQS	247
HLPO	ELGSSEYSKAOCDEYCIOGDNCFPIMFPPNDPKAGTOGKCMPFFRAGFVCPTPP	288
HEPO	PARVDCERTCAOLPPCFPIKIPPNDPRIKNORDCIPFFRSAPSCPON	294
HMPO	AARVNCETSCVOOPPCFPLKIPPNDPRIKNOADCIPFFRSCPACPGS	321
HTPO	TSKAAFGGGAD <mark>C</mark> QMTCENQNPCFPIQLP-EEARPAAGTACLPFYRSSAACGTGDQGALFG	306
HLPO	YKSLAREOINALTSFLDASFVYSSEPSLASRLRNLSSPLGLMAVNOEVSDHGLPYLPY	346
HEPO	KNRVRNOTNALTSEVDASMVYGSEVSLSLELENETNYLGLLAINORFODNGRALLPE	351
HMPO	NITI RNOINALTSEVDASMVYGSEEPLARNLRNMSNOLGLLAVNORFODNGRALLPF	379
HTPO	NLSTANPRQQMNGLTSFLDASTVYGSSPALERQLRNWTSAEGLLRVHARLRDSGRAYLPF	366
HLPO	DSKKPSPCEFINTTARVPCFLAGDSRASEHILLATSHTUFLREHNRLARELKRUNP	402
HERO	DNI UD DECLI TNE CARTECEL ACETECTETETETETETETETETETETETETETETETETE	402
HMPO	DAT UD DECT I TANDCA DI DCCT ACOTECCEMORI TEMUTI I I DEUNDI ATEL VCI ND	407
HTDO	UDDDADAACABCDCTDCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCC	435
HIPO	VPPRAPAACAPEPGIPGEIROPCELHODORASEVPSLIALAIIDALKEHNKLAAALKALMA	426
HLPO	QWDGEKLYQEARKILGAFVQIITFRDYLPILLG-DHMQKWIPPYQGYSESVDPRISNVF-	460
HEPO	RWNGDKLYNEARKIMGAMVQIITYRDFLPLVLGKARARRTLGHYRGYCSNVDPRVANVF-	466
HMPO	RWDGERLYQEARKIVGAMVQIITYRDYLPLVLGPTAMRKYLPTYRSYNDSVDPRIANVF-	494
HTPO	H <mark>w</mark> sadav <mark>yqeark</mark> vv <mark>ga</mark> lh <mark>qiitlrd</mark> yipri <mark>lg</mark> peafqqyvgp <mark>y</mark> eg <mark>y</mark> dstan <mark>p</mark> tvs <mark>nvf</mark> s	486
HLPO	TFAFRFGHLEVPSSMFRLDENYQPWGPEPELPLHTLFFNTWRMVKDGGIDPLVRGLLAKK	520
HEPO	TLAFRFGHTMLQPFMFRLDSQYRASAPNSHVPLSSAFFASWRIVYEGGIDPILRGLMATP	526
HMPO	TNAFRYGHTLIQPFMFRLDNRYQPMEPNPRVPLSRVFFASWRVVLEGGIDPILRGLMATP	554
HTPO	TAAFRFGHATIHPLVRRLDASFQEHPDLPGLWLHQAFFSPWTLLRGGGLDPLIRGLARP	546
HLPO	SKLMKQNKMMTGELRNKLFQPTHRIHGFDLAAINTQRCRDHGQPGYNSWRAFCDLSQPQT	580
HEPO	AKLNRQDAMLVDELRDRLFRQVRRIG-LDLAALNMQRSRDHGLPGYNAWRRFCGLSQPRN	585
HMPO	AKLNRONQIAVDEIRERLFEQVMRIG-LDLPALNMORSRDHGLPGYNAWRRFCGLPQPET	613
HTPO	A <mark>kl</mark> qv <mark>q</mark> dqlmne <mark>e</mark> lter <mark>lf</mark> vlsnsst-l <mark>dl</mark> asi <mark>nlq</mark> rg <mark>rdhglpgyn</mark> e <mark>wrefc</mark> glprlet	605
HLPO	LEELNTVLKSKMLAKKLLGLYGTPDNIDINIGAIAEPLVERGRVGPLLACLLGKQFQQIR	640
HEPO	LAQLSRVLKNQDLARKFLNLYGTPDNIDIWIGAIAEPLLPGARVGPLLACLFENOFRRAR	645
HMPO	VGQ <mark>L</mark> GTVLRNLKL <mark>ARK</mark> LMEQ <mark>Y</mark> GT <mark>PNNIDIWMG</mark> GVS <mark>E</mark> PLKRKG <mark>RVGPLLAC</mark> IIGTQFRKL <mark>R</mark>	673
HTPO	PADLSTAIASRSVADKILDLYKHPDNIDVHLGGLAENFLPRARTGPLFACLIGKQMKALR	665
HLPO	DGDRFWWENPGVFTNEQKDSLQKMSFSRLVCDNTRITKVPR-DPFWANSYPYDFVDCSAI	699
HEPO	DGDRFWWQKRGVFTKRQRKALSRISLSRIICDNTGITTVSR-DIFRANIYPRGFVNCSRI	704
HMPO	DGDRFWWENEGVFSMQQRQALAQISLPRIICDNTGITTVSKNNIFMSNSYPRDFVNCSTL	733
HTPO	DGDWFWWENSHVFTDAQRRELEKHSLSRVICDNTGLTRVPM-DAFQVGKFPEDFESCDSI	724
HLPO	DKLDLSPWASVKN 712	
HEPO	PRLNLSAWRGT 715	
HMPO	PALNLASWREAS- 745	
HTPO	TGMNLEAWRETFP	

Figure 3-18: Amino acidic sequence of human peroxidases alignment and comparison



Although LPO was first isolated in 1943 (282) and its primary structure has been known since 1991 (283), the crystal structure of caprine LPO was achieved only in 2008 (284). On the contrary, even if human TPO protein sequence was first reported in 1987 (244), despite much effort, TPO crystals suitable for X-ray diffraction have not been obtained yet (246, 285); as a consequence, insights into the structure of TPO come from related proteins. Even if the primary AA sequence is known for both LPO and TPO, the comparison of the relative tertiary and quaternary structures is essential since, as further explained in paragraph 5.2.2, TPOAb usually recognize conformational and not linear epitopes. To this purpose, interesting attempts at TPO structure modeling have been realized (286), based on the known crystal structure of MPO (287), factor H (a typical CCP module) (288) and EGF-like domain of fibrillin-1 (289), for respectively the MPO-like, EGF- like and CCP-like domains of TPO. In particular, CCP-like TPO region (encoded by exon 13) has 21% identity and 48% similarity with factor H, while EGF-like TPO region (encoded by exon 14) has 36% identity and 62% similarity with EGF-like domain of fibrillin-1 (286). TPO modeling with particular focus on surface epitopes will be further discussed in the general discussion chapter (paragraph 5.2.2).

3.5.2.2 TPOAb cross-reactivity with other peroxidases, in particular LPO

In this study 2 different mouse monoclonal antibodies to TPO were used for TPO protein detection (Figure 3-19):

- ab76935 (abcam, Cambridge, UK), originated using a TPO recombinant fragment corresponding to AA 672-780 (encoded by exons 12 and 13) as immunogen. The ab76935 has been used for western blot (WB) and indirect immunofluorescence (IF).
- ab12500 (abcam, Cambridge, UK), originated using human TPO purified from thyroid microsomes by immunoaffinity chromatography as immunogen. Ab12500 is a mouse monoclonal antibody 47 (MoAb47) clone (290), found to recognize a linear sequence (AA 710-722, encoded by exon 12) identified as one of the major antigenic site in human TA (defined C21), as previously introduced in paragraph 3.1.1 (246). The ab12500 has been used for indirect immunohistochemistry (IHC).



Figure 3-19: ab76935 and ab12500 binding site on human TPO

Schematic representation of the correspondence between TPO nucleotide sequence (Nucl.) and TPO amino acid sequence (AA). bp = base pairs; CCP = complement control glycoprotein; C2, C21 = antigenic sites; EGF = epidermal growth factor; MoAb47/ab12500 and ab76935 = mouse monoclonal antibodies to TPO; START codon ATG = nucleotide triplet corresponding to the beginning of translation process; STOP codon TGA = nucleotide triplet corresponding to the end of translation process; 1-17 = exon number; 1-3146 = nucleotide number; 1-933 = amino acid number; 3' COOH = 3-prime-end of the gene, encoding the intracellular carboxy-terminus (or C-terminus) of the protein; 5' NH2 = 5-prime-end of the gene, encoding the extracellular amino-terminus (or N-terminus) of the protein.

Figure 3-20 summarizes the sequence alignment of TPO and LPO residues corresponding to the two mouse monoclonal antibodies. The ab76935, used for WB and IF experiments, has been produced against the TPO peptide AA 672-780 and the first half of this region is similar to LPO (encoded by TPO gene exon 12), but the second part (encoded by TPO gene exon 13) is exclusive to TPO, since a correspondent sequence in LPO protein does not exist. The ab12500, used for IHC, recognizes a small portion of the TPO peptide sequence used to generate ab76935, containing only 4/13 (30.77%) identical AA and not in sequence.

Figure 3-20: TPO and LPO amino acidic sequence alignment (TPO AA 672-780)

	672	710	722	737
<u>TPO</u>	WENSHVFTDAQRRELEKHSLSRVICDNTGLTRVPM-DAF	QVGKFP ED	FESCD	SITGMNLEAWRETFP
	647	685	697	712
<u>LPO</u>	WENPGVFTNEQKDSLQKMSFSRLVCDNTRITKVPR-DPF	WANSYPYD	FVDCS	AIDKLDLSPWASVKN
		L		
	738	780		
<u>TPO</u>	QDDKCGFPESVENGDFVHCEESGRRVLVYSCRHGYE	LQGREQL		
LPO	/			

LPO = lactoperoxidase; TPO = thyroid peroxidase. Numbers indicate the amino acids (indicated by letters). Amino acids identical between TPO and LPO are reported in red. AA 672-780 represent the primary sequence of TPO peptide used to generate ab76935. The square identifies the epitope recognized by ab12500 (TPO = 710-722; LPO = 685-697).

Despite the large similarity of the first epitope part, WB pre-adsorption experiments of ab76935 with LPO clearly demonstrated that this antibody does not bind LPO, since the signal was not reduced after its pre-adsorption with bovine LPO. Bovine LPO has been used instead of purified human LPO; this is possible since mammalian LPOs have a very high rate of identity, in particular bovine and human LPO have 85 % homology (281). For this reason bovine LPO is routinely used for similar cross-reaction studies in place of human LPO (290, 291). In particular Ruf et al. tested MoAb47, recognizing the same epitope as ab12500 used for IHC in my study, for cross-reactivity with bovine LPO, human MPO and horseradish peroxidase (HRP) in an enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA), with negative results. On the contrary, 3/13 (23.1%) of tested mouse monoclonal TPOAb (raised against the whole TPO protein) cross-reacted with bovine LPO, more strongly compared with human MPO, therefore the authors concluded that some TPO epitopes are phylogenetically conserved through evolution and shared by different peroxidases (290).

I therefore conclude that, despite TPO and LPO proteins possibly share similar epitopes, TPO protein expression results obtained with monoclonal antibodies in my study are specific for TPO and any cross-reactivity with LPO can be excluded, considering that: 1) Western Blot (WB) showed the expected 105-110 kDa band, relative to TPO, while the expected molecular weight of LPO is 80-90 kDa, 2) WB signal reduction was obtained after pre-adsorption of ab76935 with TPO but not with LPO, 3) The epitope recognized by ab12500 used for IHC has already been demonstrated to be absent in LPO (290).

In this study not only were monoclonal antibodies to TPO used, since IF experiments were performed using human sera positive for TPOAb and a possible cross-reactivity with LPO has not been tested. However, this has already been investigated by different authors (291) and will be further discussed in chapter 5, paragraph 5.2.1.

3.5.3 TPO isoforms

Standard PCR gave the best results with primer pair F13/R17 amplifying TPO mRNA from exon 13 to 17, probably because the PCR product is shorter compared with the other primer pairs (Table 3-5). In addition it excludes exon 8, which is large (519 bp) and rich in G and C nucleotides, therefore difficult to amplify. In particular PCR F13/R17 revealed a new TPO mRNA variant without exons 14 and 16, mainly expressed in breast and adipose tissues (Figure 3-7). Standard PCR performed with different primer pairs identified new TPO mRNA variants too, as summarized in Figure 3-10.

In order to identify these new isoforms in their entirety, in particular that identified with F13/R17 PCR, LongRange RT-PCR was used to amplify the fulllength TPO mRNA sequence; to my knowledge this is the first study of such kind. A special technique had to be used, considering the extreme fragility and instability of long RNA sequences and consequent difficulty to obtain good quality long cDNA sequences. In fact, due to these existing limitations, the TPO mRNA isoforms known so far and reported in Table 3-1 have been identified amplifying TPO mRNA with standard PCR only from exon 9 to exon 17; therefore, nothing is known about their sequence from exon 2 to 8 (253). LongRange RT-PCR has improved efficiency in amplifying long and difficult tracts of RNA/cDNA by using enzymes and buffer solutions designed to work at elevated temperatures, resulting in improved denaturation of difficult templates. In particular the PCR enzyme mix is a blend of thermostable DNA polymerases with proofreading-assisted fidelity and a high extension rate and the RT buffer contains the RNase H quencher, much more effective in preventing RNA degradation compared with different RNAse inhibitors. Different amplicons were obtained with or without Q solution, usually bigger in the first case: this because Q solution modifies the melting behavior of DNA, therefore facilitates the amplification of cDNA regions rich in C and G nucleotides,

or in general difficult to amplify in normal conditions because of the presence of secondary structures.

LongRange RT-PCR revealed a great variety of newly described isoforms in all examined tissues, mainly preserving exons from 2 to 7, while exons from 8 to 16 were strongly subjected to deletion. Surprisingly, neither the previously described TPO mRNA isoforms (TPO2, TPO3, etc...), nor the newly TPO mRNA variant missing exons 14 and 16 were identified; only TPO5 (missing only exon 8) and one new variant identified with F9/R17 PCR (missing exons from 10 to 14), were identified (Figure 3-11). I hypothesized two possible explanations: 1) many other LongRange RT-PCR amplicons were present but not successfully identified because of intense overlapping of TPO sequences of similar size, 2) alternative START codons not located in exon 2 may exist in TPO mRNA sequence, therefore the above mentioned TPO isoforms would not be detected in a PCR reaction with a forward primer designed in exon 2, as the case of LongRange RT-PCR F2/R17. The last hypothesis is plausible since other in-frame methionine AA (encoded by START codon AUG) are present in TPO mRNA sequence, with one of them (located in exon 3) followed by AA sequences essential for protein insertion into the endoplasmic reticulum (251).

The results of this study suggest that the real number of different TPO mRNA isoforms, resulting from different combinations between exons, is large. If TPO mRNA isoforms corresponding to virtually all the possible combinations between exons from 2 to 17 really exist, their identification would be quite challenging, since they would correspond to transcripts of every length, many having the same size but different nucleotide sequence, therefore impossible to separate on an agarose gel and sequence. However, the highest variety of TPO mRNA isoforms was found in thyroid tissue (TT), while breast cancer (BC) and adipose tissue (AD) showed a much smaller number of transcripts and, more importantly, different between them. In particular, it is important to state that the two different BC analyzed by LongRange RT-PCR, BC 5 and 6, represented respectively ductal and mucinous invasive carcinomas (Table 3-3), therefore it is plausible that they have a different pattern of gene expression. Furthermore, the TPO mRNA variant identified by PCR F13/R17 was expressed only by breast and adipose tissue and expressed in thyroid tissue only as a faint band, while in adipose/breast tissues it was sharper and BC cell lines expressed it much more than TPO1 and the other known isoforms. We could hypothesize that TPO isoforms are not only tissue specific, but in case of BC also may be related to different histological and molecular classification. In order to clarify this aspect, further studies on a larger number of samples are needed.

Another key point is to establish whether these isoforms are translated in the correspondent protein. WB results identified the presence of several additional bands of lower molecular weight compared with entire 105-110 kDa TPO protein (Figure 3-15), disappearing after pre-adsorption of primary antibody with TPO fragments but no LPO, suggesting a specific binding to TPO (Figure 3-14). If these proteins really exist, further studies are needed to investigate their function and immunogenic properties. The region included from exon 5 and exon 12 encodes for the myeloperoxidase (MPO) like sequence which contains important catalytic residues, so we can hypothesize that TPO isoforms that lack exons in this region are not functional, as in fact has been already demonstrated for TPO 2 that lacks exon 10 (252) and TPO 5 that lacks exon 8 (253). However, the absence of functional activity does not influence the antigenic role: to this purpose TPO protein sequence must just contain those short linear peptides processed and presented to T-lymphocytes by antigen presenting cells via Major Histocompatibility Complex (MHC) molecules. Furthermore, smaller TPO isoforms are likely to fold differently compared with full-length protein, therefore exposing different conformational epitopes; TPO epitopes will be discussed in chapter 5, paragraph 5.2.2. In an alternative hypothesis, smaller MW bands present on WB could represent degraded parts of full length TPO protein. WB also showed the presence of bigger bands of 150-170 kDa and above, already described in previous studies and found to be TPO homodimers (292). In order to solve the question of additional bands, further experiments including protein sequencing need to be performed.

Finally, in presence of a so intense TPO mRNA alternative splicing phenomenon, the possibility of template switching was taken into consideration. Template switching is a phenomenon that may happen during RT-PCR processes, leading to the amplification of an artificially deleted cDNA, which can be wrongly interpreted as an alternative transcript (293). Several mechanisms may be involved: 1) template switching (ability to switch from a template to another presenting a homologous region) of the reverse transcriptase enzyme during cDNA synthesis, 2) mRNA hydrolysis, 3) cDNA synthesis interruption caused by strong secondary RNA structures, 4) template switching of the DNA polymerase enzyme during cDNA copying (294). In this study specific experiments in order to exclude the above mentioned possibilities were not performed. However, the phenomenon of template switching is unlikely to explain the presence of TPO mRNA alternative and shorter transcripts since: 1) the cDNA sequencing revealed that TPO isoforms transcripts corresponded only to exonic sequences, with the intronic sequences as the only exclusively missing, 2) LongRange RT-PCR, working at higher

temperature, is less subject to RNA/cDNA secondary structures potentially leading to template switching phenomenon. Future experiments searching for the correspondent protein of TPO isoforms transcripts would also help to solve this doubt.

4 TPOAb IMPACT ON BREAST CANCER PROGNOSIS

4.1 INTRODUCTION

As previously discussed in chapter 1, paragraph 1.4.3, thyroid autoimmunity (TA) and in particular anti-thyroid peroxidase (TPO) autoantibodies (TPOAb), have been found to be more prevalent among patients with breast cancer (BC) compared with the general population: 36% versus 19% (P<.001)(179), 23.5\% versus 8% (P=.002)(180) and 15\% versus 9.8\% [Odds Ratio= 3.0; 95\% Confidence Interval (95%CI), 1.4-6.5](166). However, these findings have not been confirmed in another study that observed no differences in the incidence of thyroid autoimmune diseases between BC patients and controls (163).

In the literature the prevalence of TPOAb and TgAb among the general population has been estimated to be 13% (8.7% males, 17% females) and 11.5% (7.6% males, 15.2% females) respectively (63), with other authors describing an even higher prevalence of general autoantibodies to the thyroid (TAb: TPOAb & TgAb combined) of 26.4%, (64). All authors agree that TPOAb and TgAb prevalence in general population increases with age (63-67).

Regarding thyroid function, hypothyroidism has been associated with both an increased (166, 295, 296) or reduced (167, 168) risk of developing BC, whilst other authors did not report any correlation (159, 191, 297-299).

Of relevance, TA but more specifically TPOAb, have been found to be significantly associated with an improved prognosis for BC. These results were obtained in small-scale studies, with the majority agreeing but with also some not confirming, as discussed in the next paragraph 4.1.1. Considering that, as shown in chapter 3, TPO is expressed in BC tissue, albeit at a lower level compared with thyroid tissue, this could provide a possible mechanistic link: a thyroid/breast shared cytotoxic autoimmune response against a common antigen (likely TPO) might target tumour cells and improve BC outcome. The increased prevalence of circulating TPOAb could represent the epiphenomenon of such protective immune activity and blood TPOAb could therefore represent an indicator of good BC prognosis.

The aim of the present study was to clarify the impact of circulating TPOAb on BC prognosis in a large, well powered cohort of patients, following the "REporting recommendations for tumour MARKer prognostic studies (REMARK) guidelines" (300). The Taxotere as Adjuvant Chemotherapy Trial (TACT) recruited

4162 women diagnosed with early BC and an indication for adjuvant chemotherapy to evaluate whether sequential docetaxel (Taxotere) after traditional anthracycline therapy would improve patient outcome compared with standard anthracycline chemotherapy (301). Of relevance, stored plasma was available in a significant number of these patients, permitting retrospective analysis of the impact of TPOAb and thyroid hormone status on BC prognosis with 97.5 months medium follow-up available (302).

Currently there are no major validated blood prognostic markers in BC: as previously discussed in chapter 1, paragraph 1.3.5, cancer antigen 15.3 (Ca 15.3) and carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA) are characterized by low specificity and sensitivity, while circulating tumour DNA (ctDNA) and circulating tumour cells (CTCs) represent very promising blood tumoural markers, but are not yet validated in routine clinical practice.

Therefore, assessing TPOAb as a prognostic marker, measurable in blood, for BC in a large and mature cohort would provide an important clinical observation with possibilities to develop TPO-targeted therapies in the future. In this study the thyroid function parameter has also been taken into consideration, since thyroid hormones have been also described as potential factors influencing BC prognosis, even if with contrasting conclusions, as described in the next paragraph 4.1.1.2.

4.1.1 Impact of thyroid autoimmune diseases on breast cancer prognosis

4.1.1.1 Thyroid autoimmunity

A better BC outcome has been reported in TPOAb positive (TPOAb+) versus TPOAb negative (TPOAb-) patients in most (182-184, 260), but not all (185) studies.

In particular, Smyth et al. evaluated the 5 years disease-free survival (DFS) and overall survival (OS) of 142 women affected with BC. TPOAb absence resulted in a poor prognostic factor for both DFS [Relative Risk (RR) 1.84, p=0.047)] and OS (RR 3.46, p=0.016) and this effect was confirmed in the multivariate analysis with other BC risk factors (182). Fiore et al. analyzed the 5 years OS of a small but homogeneous group of 47 women affected with high malignancy ductal infiltrating BC and found a 5 years mortality of 6.7% in patients positive for TAb, mainly TPOAb, compared with 46.9% in negative patients and this protective effect was confirmed in the multivariate analysis with other BC risk factors (183). In contrast, Jiskra et al. prospectively followed 84 patients with BC for a median of 136 months and found no impact of TPOAb on BC prognosis in terms of both DFS and

OS, registering a BC recurrence in 26.7% and 25.9% of patients affected respectively with and without TA (185).

A protective role for TPOAb was also suggested by Farahati et al. in a study conducted among 314 patients newly diagnosed with BC. Authors found an absence of distant metastasis among BC patients with TPOAb positivity (0/56) compared with metastasis prevalence of 6.6% (17/258) among TPOAb negative patients (184). Kim et al. prospectively followed 564 patients affected with BC for a median time of 36 months and incidentally found that an increased thyroid uptake of ¹⁸F-FDG on PET/CT images due to the presence of thyroid autoimmunity was related to a significantly improved DFS, especially for locally advanced and secondary cancer stage (260).

4.1.1.2 Thyroid function

The role of thyroid function on BC prognosis has been debated during the last century and conflicting results are present in the literature. As previously introduced in paragraphs 1.4.1 and 1.4.2, since 1896 thyroid extract was proposed as a treatment for BC, based on the suspicion that hypothyroidism could represent a poor prognostic factor for BC (153, 303). In contrast, subsequent studies proposed thyroid supplementation as a possible risk factor for BC (304), not confirmed by other studies (305, 306).

However, subsequent findings supported the possibility that increased levels of thyroid hormones could be a poor prognostic factor for BC. In particular, in 2005 an American retrospective study based on 2226 women, reported that hypothyroid BC patients are more likely to be diagnosed with a BC at an earlier stage, of smaller size and without pathologic lymph node involvement (167). In agreement with these findings, a recent Swedish population-based prospective cohort study based on 2185 women (followed for more than 20 years) showed that baseline triiodothyronine (T3) serum levels were associated with an increased risk of BC specific death and with the presence of more aggressive BC, in particular larger, ER and PR negative and with a higher prevalence of positive lymph node metastases (307, 308).

Well powered prospective studies evaluating the effects of thyroid function on BC prognosis in terms of recurrence and survival are lacking.

4.1.2 Impact of thyroid autoimmunity on other cancer prognosis

TAb impact on cancer prognosis has also been analyzed in other tumours. Franke et al. analyzed 329 patients with metastatic renal cell cancer and found that patients positive for circulating TAb, present both before or triggered by the treatment with IL-2 and IFN- α 2, had a statistically significant better 5 years OS

compared with patients negative for TAb (270). In contrast, Fyssas et al. showed that 33 patients with pancreatic adenocarcinoma had an increased prevalence of TAb (25%), mainly TPOAb, compared with healthy controls, but their presence was associated with a survival reduction of 2.4 months: 9.4 and 11.8 months respectively in TAb positive and negative patients (271).

4.1.3 Major breast cancer known prognostic factors

In order to correctly analyze the effects of two potential prognostic factors for BC such as TPOAb and thyroid function and exclude possible biases, it is essential to evaluate in the same study the impact of already known prognostic factors for BC that will be described in the present paragraph. Furthermore, a brief overview of the currently available treatments for BC will be provided, in order to better comprehend this observational study where patients were exposed to BC treatments. The key-elements of BC molecular classification already described in chapter 1, paragraph 1.3.3.2, such as the expression of oestrogen receptor (ER), progesterone receptor (PR) and human epidermal growth factor receptor type 2 (HER2), represent known BC prognostic factors and are also crucial for BC treatment decision making.

4.1.3.1 Tumour size, lymph node metastasis and TNM staging

When distant metastases are present, irrespective of their size, number and location, the survival of patients affected with BC suddenly drops. After distant metastases, tumour size and lymph node metastatic involvement are the two most important prognostic factors for BC (309). These 3 elements represent the basis of the TNM staging classification for cancer, that has been adopted worldwide for many years and initially developed by Denoix of France, based on the description of the primary tumour (T), the regional lymph nodes involvement (N) and the presence or absence of distant metastases (M) (310).

There are many different subcategories of T, N and M listed in ascending order of numbers and letters, directly proportional to the increasing tumoural size and extension. For example, T category is described with a number from 0 (absence of evidence) to 4 (any tumour size with extension to chest wall or skin), with letters (a, b, c, d) providing additional information. The acronym *Tis* indicates the presence of a carcinoma in situ, characterized by malignant epithelial cells without evidence by light microscopy of invasion through the basement membrane. The acronym *T1mi* indicates a tumour with dimensions of 0.1 cm across or less. A similar system is used for N, but the maximum number and letter used are respectively 3 and c. Distant metastases are assessed by only 2 numbers, 0 and 1, indicating respectively absence or presence of distant

metastases, without distinction in their number and location. The letter X indicates that the parameter cannot be assessed and it can be applied to all 3 categories T, N and M. The subcategories of T, N and M are then grouped in various combinations to describe four different tumoural staging, as summarized in Table 4-1. TNM staging is a good prognostic indicator, with worsening of BC prognosis according with increasing TNM stage (311).

BC	Stage	Т	N	Μ
0		Tis	N0	MO
I		T1*	N0	MO
П	IIA	T0 or T1*	N1	MO
		T2	N0	MO
	IIB	T2	N1	MO
		Т3	N0	MO
	IIIA	T0 or T1* or T2	N2	MO
		Т3	N1	MO
		Т3	N2	MO
	IIIB	T4	N0 or N1 or N2	MO
	IIIC	Any T	N3	MO
IV	•	Any T	Any N	M1

Table 4-1: BC TNM staging of breast cancer

Adapted from (311). BC= breast cancer. N= regional lymph nodes involvement. M= distant metastases. T = primary tumour. *Tis*: carcinoma in situ. *T1 includes *T1mi*.

Based on this classification, generally BC is commonly subdivided into 3 different categories: 1) "Early BC", when potentially curable by surgery since it is not locally advanced and with absence of distant metastasis (stage 0, I, II and T3N1M0 case of stage IIIA) 2) "Locally advanced BC" (stage III except T3N1M0) 3) "Metastatic BC" (stage IV).

4.1.3.2 Breast cancer histological grading

Invasive BC are routinely graded based on the assessment of 3 biological parameters: 1) tubule and gland formation, 2) nuclear pleomorphism, 3) mitotic count. Each parameter is classified with an individual score from 1 to 3 and the final grading reflects the total score deriving from the 3 parameters taken together: 1 or low (score: 3-5), 2 or medium (score: 6-7), 3 or high (score: 8-9) (136).

The initial grading score system based on methods from Patey & Scarff (312) and Bloom & Richardson (313) was characterized by a high variability across different centres and became more objective after its modification by Elston & Ellis, known as the "Nottingham grading system" (314). Since then, histological

grading has been routinely adopted to assess BC prognosis and many studies demonstrated a significant association between histological grade and survival of BC patients (inverse correlation: high grades are associated with shorter survivals), assessing histological grade as the fourth main prognostic factor for BC after the presence of distant metastases, tumour size and metastatic lymph node involvement (315, 316).

4.1.4 Prognostic tools and decision-making for breast cancer treatment

BC treatment is highly dependent on BC classification and phenotype, as shown in this paragraph. The main types of treatment for BC are surgery, radiation therapy (RT), chemotherapy (CT), hormonal therapy and targeted therapy:

- Surgery. Breast conservation surgery, consisting in the removal of just the lump or area of cancer and also called wide local excision (WLE), is the trending approach in the treatment of localized BC. The alternative is mastectomy, where the whole breast is removed; usually it is required when the tumour is large or multifocal (i.e. multiple areas of cancer in different parts of the breast). Sometimes surgery can be preceded by neo-adjuvant therapy (either RT or CT) in order to shrink the tumour bulk (317). In the case of lymph node metastasis, the surgery of the axilla is recommended, however axillary dissection may be omitted in patients with one or two positive sentinel nodes following breast-conserving surgery when whole breast RT is planned (318).
- RT is a process where cancer cells are exposed to high level of radiation directly. This is extremely recommended as adjuvant treatment (i.e. following the surgery) especially after performing WLE, since it may kill cancerous cells not seen during surgery and therefore not removed (317).
- Systemic CT is usually recommended as adjuvant treatment in particular cases, especially those not-responding to endocrine treatments because of histological type (e.g. apocrine, medullary, adenoid cystic and metaplastic) or molecular phenotype (ER negative, high Ki-67 levels) (318). The main drugs used in CT for BC, usually in combinations, are: anthracyclines (epirubicin, doxorubicin, mitoxantrone), cyclophosphamide, fluorouracil, methotrexate, mitomycin, docetaxel (Taxotere) and gemcitabine (319). A discussion of different chemotherapy protocols for BC is beyond the aims of the present thesis.
- Endocrine treatment aims to block the oestrogen stimulation pathway in BC and it is indicated in all patients with detectable ER expression, defined as

 \geq 1% of ER+ cells. The choice of medication is primarily determined by the patient's menopausal status (317). The first treatment choice for premenopausal patients is a selective oestrogen receptor modulator called "Tamoxifen", usually taken for 5 years, exerting anti-oestrogen effects on BC cells (therefore acting as an ER antagonist), but paradoxically having ER agonist effects on different cells and tissues, e.g. bone and blood lipids (320). In case of contraindications to the use of Tamoxifen, an alternative treatment is the use of a gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH)-agonist (e.g. goserelin), determining a reduction in oestrogen release. GnRh-agonists may be prescribed alone or in association with aromatase inhibitors, that block the peripheral conversion of androgens into oestrogens (317). In postmenopausal women, both Tamoxifen and aromatase inhibitors are valid options, usually prescribed for 5-10 years (317).

Targeted therapy. As described below, HER2 protein expression allows the use of highly effective targeted treatments. The most renowned is trastuzumab (Herceptin®), a monoclonal antibody interfering with HER2 receptor. It can be used also in combination with endocrine treatments, RT and CT however, due to its cardiotoxicity, it should not be routinely administered concomitantly with anthracyclines. However new alternative target therapy drugs have been developed, such as lapatinib, a dual tyrosine kinase inhibitor which interrupts both HER2 and epidermal growth factor (EGF) receptor pathways. Their clinical use is likely to increase and substitute trastuzumab in the future (317).

In conclusion BC molecular biomarkers, previously described in paragraph 1.3.3.2, have become more and more important in BC prognostic assessment and treatment decision-making. In particular:

★ The positivity of oestrogen receptor (ER) and/or progesterone receptor (PR) (range: ≥1% - 100%) represents the indication to hormonal therapy and the likelihood of response to this treatment is directly correlated to the level of their expression; only entirely negative tumours (0%) are essentially unresponsive (321). Four possible phenotypes of ER/PR combined expression are possible and each of them is associated with significantly different rates of response to hormonal therapy, which would not be apparent measuring ER or PR only (322). The phenotype ER-positive/PR-positive is the most frequent (70%) and associated with the best rate of response (60%). ER-negative/PR-negative is the next common combination (25%) and these tumours are essentially unresponsive (0%). The remaining two discordant phenotypes are associated with intermediate response rates (136).

Recent studies demonstrate that HER2-positive invasive BC respond favorably to therapies that specifically target the HER2 protein, e.g. trastuzumab (Herceptin®) or lapatinib. The best response to HER2-targeted therapy in any clinical setting is shown by positive HER2 tumours showing strong (3+) or moderately strong (2+) HER2 protein expression by IHC (136, 323).

Complex multivariate outcome prediction models combining different clinical, histological, biological and molecular prognostic factors for BC have been developed as prognostic tools to choose the best regimen of treatment and to predict the probability of response (324). The two most often used are The Nottingham Prognostic Index and Adjuvant! Online (http://www.adjuvantonline.com) (325, 326).

For example, in ER-positive/HER2-negative BC, the option of adding chemotherapy to hormonal therapy is evaluated according to the tumour size, nodal status, occurrence of peri-tumoural vascular invasion, grade and proliferative fraction (Ki67) (141).

4.1.5 Aims of the study

The aim of the present study was to clarify the impact of circulating TPOAb and thyroid function on BC prognosis in a large and well-powered cohort of patients affected with BC having blood samples available, previously enrolled in the TACT study (301). The median long-term follow-up was 97.5 months, resulted from a subsequent more mature analysis of the same trial population (302).

4.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

4.2.1 Patients

The Taxotere as Adjuvant Chemotherapy Trial (TACT) was a multicentre, open-label, phase III, randomized controlled trial of women aged more than 18 years diagnosed with operable early BC (pT1-3a,pN0-1,M0), with an indication for adjuvant chemotherapy, including patients both lymph-node positive (node+) and high risk (eg, tumour grade 3, hormonal-receptor expression negative, or lymphovascular invasion) lymph-node negative (node-). A total of 4162 women were enrolled between February 2001 and June 2003 across 103 UK centres and one Belgian centre (including specialist cancer hospitals, university teaching hospitals, and smaller community general hospitals). Additional inclusion criteria were normal hematological, hepatic and renal function. Exclusion criteria included locally advanced or distant disease, bilateral breast cancer, pregnancy, and previous invasive malignancy within 10 years (301). All subjects underwent surgery (mastectomy or wide local excision) and were randomized in a 1:1 ratio to the experimental regimen FEC-D [n=2073; fluorouracil 600mg/m², epirubicin 60mg/m², cyclophosphamide 600mg/m² (FEC) at 3-weekly intervals for four cycles followed by docetaxel 100mg/m² at 3-weekly intervals for four cycles] or centre's choice of control chemotherapy, either FEC for eight cycles (n=1265) or epirubicin 100mg/m² at 3-weekly intervals for four cycles followed by CMF (cyclophosphamide 600mg/m², methotrexate 40mg/m², and fluorouracil 600mg/m² at 4-weekly intervals) for four cycles (E-CMF, n=824).

Adjuvant radiotherapy, starting within 4 weeks of chemotherapy, was mandatory after breast conserving surgery or used after mastectomy according to local guidelines.

Endocrine treatments (tamoxifen monotherapy, tamoxifen followed by aromatase inhibitor or aromatase inhibitor monotherapy) were administered to patients with positive oestrogen receptor (ER) expression (ER+). Patients positive for human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2) expression (HER2+) were allowed to enter clinical trials assessing trastuzumab.

Analyses at 62 months (301) and 97.5 months (302) of follow-up respectively showed no evidence of a difference and little clear benefit in terms of BC outcome in patients treated with sequential docetaxel after traditional anthracycline therapy (FEC-D), compared with the control chemotherapy regimens (FEC, E-CMF).

4.2.2 Laboratory measurements

In November 2002, following a protocol amendment, patients were asked to provide one 10ml EDTA blood sample to extract plasma for future translational research. Consenting patients who had been already recruited provided a blood sample at their next follow-up visit; new patients had blood taken at the time of randomization.

Samples were stored at -20°C for a range of 6.5-13 years at the Institute of Cancer Research - Clinical Trials & Statistics Unit (ICR-CTSU, London, Surrey). All available samples (one aliquot each) were transferred to the Institute of Molecular & Experimental Medicine (Cardiff) for TPOAb, thyroid stimulating hormone (TSH) and free-thyroxine (FT4) analysis. Stored plasma samples were thawed, aliquoted and analyzed in the same assays in October 2014 in the Department of Medical Biochemistry, School of Medicine, Cardiff University, using an ADVIA Centaur automated immunoassay analyzer (Bayer plc, Newbury, Bucks, UK) and Chemiluminescent Microparticle Immunoassay (CMIA) methods by the ARCHITECT® System (ABBOTT Laboratories, Abbott Park, USA). TPOAb positivity cut-off was ≥ 6 kU/L; FT4, TSH normal ranges respectively 9.0-19.1 pmol/L and 0.30-4.40 mU/L.

TPOAb values were dichotomized as $\ge 6 \text{ kU/L}$ (positive: TPOAb+) versus <6 kU/L (negative: TPOAb-); TPOAb+ were also categorized into tertiles (exploratory analysis). FT4 and TSH were combined in a thyroid function status variable: euthyroidism (FT4 and TSH within the normal ranges), hypothyroidism (FT4 <9.0 pmol/L and/or TSH >4.40 mU/L); hyperthyroidism (FT4 >19.1 pmol/L and/or TSH <0.3 mU/L).

4.2.3 Statistical analysis

When formulating the study hypothesis, it was anticipated that 20% of individuals with BC will be TPOAb+ in keeping with its prevalence in females in the general population (64, 327). Assuming the average 5-year OS from BC in UK is 82% (328, 329), the TACT trial, with more than 1900 available plasma samples and 5-year DFS and OS rates of 74.9% and 82.7% respectively (301), was a suitable candidate trial in which to test the study hypothesis. Power calculations indicated that 1158 and 1430 samples would be needed to provide respectively 80% and 90% of power to detect a 81% 5-year DFS in TPOAb+ versus 73% in TPOAb- subjects (HR 0.64; two-sided log rank test with a .05 probability of a type I error), consistent with a DFS rate in the whole cohort of 74.9%.

To assess whether the thyroid antibody project samples were representative of the TACT population, baseline characteristics, BC treatments and DFS-related characteristics for all patients with blood samples available for analysis were compared with TACT patients not included in our study and all patients recruited in the TACT trial (n=4162). Baseline characteristics were also presented by dichotomized TPOAb (TPOAb+, TPOAb-) and thyroid function status (hypothyroid, euthyroid, hyperthyroid). Correlations between biomarkers (TPOAb, TSH, FT4) were assessed using the Spearman rank method.

The primary outcome was to assess the prognostic significance of circulating TPOAb in relation to DFS as defined in the main TACT trial (301). Secondary outcomes were the prognostic significance of circulating TPOAb in relation to OS and time to recurrence (TTR) and blood TSH and FT4 levels in relation to DFS, OS and TTR.

For DFS, OS and TTR, Kaplan-Meier curves were plotted and biomarkers compared by use of the log-rank test. Hazard Ratio (HR) with 95% CI were obtained from Cox proportional hazards regression models stratified by each centre's choice of control chemotherapy regimen and ER status, with HR<1 indicating a better BC prognosis. The proportionality assumption of the Cox model

was tested with Schoenfeld's residuals and found to hold. All biomarkers were assessed initially in a univariate Cox model and subsequently included in a multivariable Cox model along with known prognostic factors for BC: age, HER2 status and trastuzumab use, nodal involvement, tumour size and tumour grade. Additional variables such as trial treatment (experimental versus control), type of surgery, radiotherapy use and menopausal status were included if, by stepwise selection (p<0.05), was shown to add value. Once the optimal model for the primary endpoint was established, TSH and T4 were considered for inclusion to investigate whether they added independent prognostic information in addition to TPOAb. Interaction tests were also used to explore differential effects within subgroups (TPOAb with trial treatment, age, HER2 status, nodal involvement, tumour size and tumour grade).

All patients with a biomarker value available were included in the analysis, regardless of whether they were found to be ineligible, a protocol violator, given the wrong treatment allocation, never treated, etc. in the main TACT trial (as per an intention to treat analysis). Comparisons were made by randomized treatment where appropriate. Sensitivity analyses including node+ patients who did not receive radiotherapy (similar to Fiore *et al.* population (183)) and patients with blood samples taken after surgery but before any adjuvant cancer therapy were conducted. All analyses were conducted using Stata version 13.1 (STATACORP, College Station, TX). This analysis was based on a database snapshot taken on 25 November 2011 when median follow-up was 97.5 months [Interquartile Range (IQR): 87.6-107.4, range 0-126.9](301, 302).

My part in this study was: i) to formulate and design the study, in collaboration with my supervisors (e.g. establishment of the principal and secondary outcomes); ii) to collect and aliquot the blood samples from ICR-CTSU and ensure they were measured in the Department of Medical Biochemistry, School of Medicine, Cardiff University, with results correctly reported on an Excel database; iii) to interpret the blood results (e.g. subdividing patients in different categories of thyroid function); iv) to direct the statistical analysis (e.g. suggesting to analyze the correlation between TPOAb, TSH and FT4 or suggesting specific sensitivity analyses); v) to analyze and interpret the results according to the current available literature. The calculations of the statistical analysis have been performed by Lucy Kilburn, statistician at the ICR-CTSU, since this Department holds the clinical data and preferred to directly deal with them.

4.3 RESULTS

All available plasma samples taken for the TACT trial (n=2000) were analyzed for thyroid biomarkers. After excluding multiple samples from the same patients, retaining the sample with the earliest time-point, a final number of 1974 (47.4%) samples (defined as the "analysis population"), one for each patient, was considered for the statistical analysis (Figure 4-1).





Blood collection date was available in 1914/1974 (97%) patients and its median was 15.5 months (IQR= 7.0-24.0 months; range= 0.5-57.2 months] after surgery. Median follow-up in the analysis population was 96.7 months (IQR: 87.4-106.3, range 3.4-126.4). According to our power calculation, this number was adequate for this assessment, with a margin for error for the final proportion found to be TPOAb+ and differences in DFS in the subpopulation studied. In summary, patients included in the analysis population (TPOAb study: n=1974) had a mean age of 49.1 years [standard deviation (SD)= 8.4 years], 1567 (79.4%) were node+, 1079 (54.7%) had a mastectomy, 1745 (88.4%) had radiotherapy, 1396 (70.7%) were ER+ of which 1378 (98.7%) received hormonal therapy and 408 (20.7%) were HER2+, of which 48 (11.8%) were treated with trastuzumab (Table 4-2 and Table 4-3). Patients included in the analysis population were not comparable with not included TACT patients (not having blood available: n=2188) in terms of baseline characteristics (Table 4-2), BC treatments received and events contributing to DFS analysis (Table 4-3). In particular, patients within the
analysis population were more often treated with trastuzumab (11.8% vs 6.4%) and had less distant recurrence (20.5% vs 26.1%) and less deaths (20.1% vs 28.3%), both BC-related (18.7% vs 26%) or not (1.4% vs 2.4%), compared with not included patients.

Table 4-2: Basel	ine characteristics	of all TACT	trial participants	, those in th	e TPOAb
study and non-st	udied women				

		TACT trial	TPOAb study	Not-studied
		N=4162	N=1974	N= 2188
Age (years), mean (SD); p<0	0.001	48.6 (8.5)	49.1 (8.4)	48.2 (8.6)
Age group (years), n (%); p=	=0.02			
<40		718 (17.3)	306 (15.5)	412 (18.8)
40-49		1567 (37.7)	726 (36.8)	841 (38.4)
50-59		1487 (35.7)	757 (38.4)	730 (33.4)
≥60		390 (9.4)	185 (9.4)	205 (9.4)
Nodal status, n (%); p	=0.09			
Node negative		835 (20.1)	407 (20.6)	428 (19.6)
1-3 positive nodes		1839 (44.2)	890 (45.1)	949 (43.4)
≥4 positive nodes		1488 (35.8)	677 (34.3)	811 (37.1)
Tumour grade, n (%); p	=0.56			
Grade 1		229 (5.5)	100 (5.1)	129 (5.9)
Grade 2		1536 (36.9)	758 (38.4)	778 (35.6)
Grade 3		2382 (57.2)	1111 (56.3)	1271 (58.1)
Unknown		15 (0.4)	5 (0.3)	10 (0.5)
Tumour size, n (%); p=	0.003			
≤2cm		1436 (34.5)	725 (36.7)	711 (32.5)
>2 and ≤5cm		2330 (56.0)	1077 (54.6)	1253 (57.3)
>5cm		392 (9.4)	171 (8.7)	221 (10.1)
Unknown		4 (0.1)	1 (0.1)	3 (0.1)
ER & HER2 status, n (%); p	=0.01			
ER+		2875 (69.1)	1396 (70.7)	1479 (67.6)
& HER2+		494 (11.9)	247 (12.5)	247 (11.3)
& HER2-		1963 (47.2)	973 (49.3)	990 (45.2)
& HER2 unknown		418 (10.0)	176 (8.9)	242 (11.1)
ER-		1287 (30.9)	578 (29.3)	709 (32.4)
& HER2+		355 (8.5)	161 (8.2)	194 (8.9)
& HER2-		761 (18.3)	350 (17.7)	411 (18.8)
& HER2 unknown		171 (4.1)	67 (3.4)	104 (4.8)
Molecular subgroup, n (%); p=	=0.01			
ER+/HER2-*		2001 (48.1)	987 (50.0)	1014 (46.3)
HER2+		849 (20.4)	408 (20.7)	441 (20.2)
Triple negative		723 (17.4)	336 (17.0)	387 (17.7)

* includes ER-, PgR+, HER2-

ER = oestrogen receptor. HER2 = human epidermal growth factor receptor 2. PgR = progesterone receptor. SD = Standard deviation.

Table 4-3: BC treatments and DFS events of all TACT trial participants, those in the TPOAb study and non-studied women

	TACT	TPOAb	Not-studied
	trial	study	N= 2188
	N=4162	N=1974	
Type of surgery and radiotherapy, n(%); p=0.08	3		
Mastectomy	2265 (54.4)	1079 (54.7)	1186 (54.2)
with radiotherapy	1814 (43.6)	865 (43.8)	949 (43.4)
breas	t 413 (9.9)	159 (8.1)	254 (11.6)
chest wa	ll 1402 (33.7)	709 (35.9)	693 (31.7)
supraclavicular foss	a 980 (23.5)	480 (24.3)	500 (22.9)
axill	a 188 (4.5)	85 (4.3)	103 (4.7)
Wide local excision	1897 (45.6)	895 (45.3)	1002 (45.8)
with radiotherapy	1841 (44.2)	880 (44.6)	961 (43.9)
breas	t 1777 (42.7)	856 (43.4)	921 (42.1)
chest wa	ll 78 (1.9)	31 (1.6)	47 (2.1)
supraclavicular foss	a 574 (13.8)	291 (14.7)	283 (12.9)
axill	a 173 (4.2)	103 (5.2)	70 (3.2)
Endocrine treatment in ER+ patients, n (%);			
p=0.07	1		
Tamoxifen monotherapy	1790 (62.3)	863 (61.8)	927 (62.7)
Tamoxifen followed by AI	893 (31.1)	454 (32.5)	439 (29.7)
Al monotherapy	137 (4.8)	61 (4.4)	76 (5.1)
No endocrine treatment/unknown	55 (1.9)	18 (1.3)	37 (2.5)
Trastuzumab in HER2+ patients, n (%); p=0.02			
Yes	76 (9.0)	48 (11.8)	28 (6.4)
No/Not known	773 (91.0)	360 (88.2)	413 (93.7)
Chemotherapy, n (%); p<0.001			
Control (FEC)	1265 (30.4)	626 (31.7)	639 (29.2)
Control (E-CMF)	824 (19.8)	332 (16.8)	492 (22.5)
FEC-D	2073 (49.5)	1016 (51.5)	1057 (48.3)
Number of patients with event contributing t	o 1329 (31.9)	551 (27.9)	778 (35.6)
DFS analysis; p<0.001			
Local recurrence	183 (4.4)	76 (3.8)	107 (4.9)
Distant recurrence	977 (23.5)	405 (20.5)	572 (26.1)
New breast disease	91 (2.2)	43 (2.2)	44 (2.0)
Death from other cause (no recurrence)	78 (1.9)	27 (1.4)	51 (2.3)
Distant relapse ever reported; p<0.001	1117 (26.8)	462 (23.4)	655 (29.9)
New breast disease ever reported; p=0.78	124 (3.0)	57 (2.9)	67 (3.1)
All non-breast cancer second primary; p=0.77	106 (2.5)	52 (2.6)	54 (2.5)
All deaths; p<0.001	1017 (24.4)	397 (20.1)	620 (28.3)
Breast cancer	937 (22.5)	369 (18.7)	568 (26.0)
Death from other causes	80 (1.9)	28 (1.4)	52 (2.4)
Cancer (non-breast)	36 (0.9)	15 (0.8)	21 (1.0)
Treatment toxicity	5 (0.1)	0	5 (0.2)
Other	39 (0.9)	13 (0.7)	26 (1.2)

* includes ER-, PgR+, HER2-

AI = Aromatase Inhibitors. DFS = disease-free survival. ER = oestrogen receptor. E-CMF = epirubicin 100 mg/m² for 4 cycles followed by CMF (cyclophosphamide 600 mg/m², methotrexate 40 mg/m² and fluorouracil 600 mg/m²) for 4 cycles. FEC = fluorouracil 600 mg/m², epirubicin 60 mg/m² and cyclophosphamide 600 mg/m² for 8 cycles. FEC-D = FEC for 4 cycles followed by docetaxel 100 mg/m² for 4 cycles. HER2 = human epidermal growth factor receptor 2.

The total number of events available in the analysis population for DFS was 551 (27.9%), with overall 5-year estimate of 79.5% (95%CI 77.6-81.2). For OS, 397 (20.1%) events were available, with overall 5-year estimate of 87.4% (95%CI 85.9-88.8). For TTR, 498 (25.2%) events were available, with overall 5-year estimate of 81.1% (95%CI 79.3-82.8). TACT patients without blood samples available, therefore not included in the analysis population, had overall 5-year estimates of 71.4% (95%CI, 69.5-73.3), 79.0% (95%CI, 77.3-80.7) and 73.7% (95%CI, 71.7-75.5) for DFS, OS and TTR respectively.

4.3.1 Distribution of TPOAb and thyroid function

TPOAb positivity was detected in 406 (20.6%) patients, distributed in the following tertiles: 137 (6.9%) 6-40 kU/L (T1), 134 (6.7%) 41-238 kU/L (T2) and 135 (6.8%) 240-2000 kU/L (T3).

Mean FT4 value was 13.5 pmol/L \pm 2.1 standard deviation (SD), range 5.2 - 28.7 pmol/L. TSH mean value was 2.05 mU/L \pm 5.49 SD, range: 0.02 - 159.83 mU/L. FT4 values were normally distributed, while TSH values were right skewed, therefore the logarithm of TSH values, ln(TSH), was used in the statistical analyses involving TSH as a continuous variable (Figure 4-2). When FT4 and TSH were considered combined as thyroid function, 1760 (89.2%), 96 (4.9%) and 118 (6.0%) patients were found to be respectively euthyroid, hypothyroid and hyperthyroid.



Figure 4-2: Histograms of TSH, In(TSH) and FT4 values

Free T4 = free thyroxine; TSH = thyroid-stimulating hormone; ln(TSH) = logarithm of TSH values.

Baseline characteristics (Table 4-4) and BC treatments (Table 4-5) by TPOAb status were largely comparable, apart from age, where TPOAb+ patients tended to be slightly older than TPOAb- patients, as expected (mean age \pm SD = 50.2 \pm 7.7 years versus 48.8 \pm 8.5 years; p=0.005). Baseline characteristics (Table 4-4) and BC treatments (Table 4-5) were similar between the different thyroid function classifications.

	TPOAb- N=1568	TPOAb+	Hypothyroid	Euthyroid N=1760	Hyperthyroid
Age (years): mean (SD)	48.8 (8.5)	50.2 (7.7)	50.5 (6.6)	48.9 (8.5)	50.7 (7.6)
Age group (years): n (%)	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,				, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
<40	257 (16.4)	49 (12.1)	8 (8.3)	287 (16.3)	11 (9.3)
40-49	575 (36.7)	151 (37.2)	36 (37.5)	647 (36.8)	43 (36.4)
50-59	590 (37.6)	167 (41.1)	45 (46.9)	657 (37.3)	55 (46.6)
≥60	146 (9.3)	39 (9.6)	7 (7.3)	169 (9.6)	9 (7.6)
Nodal status: n (%)	· · · ·				
Node negative	314 (20.0)	93 (22.9)	18 (18.8)	367 (20.9)	22 (18.6)
1-3 positive nodes	719 (45.9)	171 (42.1)	33 (34.4)	808 (45.9)	49 (41.5)
≥4 positive nodes	535 (34.1)	142 (35.0)	45 (46.9)	585 (33.2)	47 (39.8)
Tumour grade: n (%)					
Grade 1	77 (4.9)	23 (5.7)	4 (4.2)	88 (5.0)	8 (6.8)
Grade 2	603 (38.5)	155 (38.2)	35 (36.5)	681 (38.7)	42 (35.6)
Grade 3	883 (56.3)	228 (56.2)	57 (59.4)	986 (56.0)	68 (57.6)
Unknown	5 (0.3)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	5 (0.3)	0 (0.0)
Tumour size: n (%)					
≤2cm	578 (36.9)	147 (36.2)	25 (26.0)	659 (37.4)	41 (34.8)
>2 and ≤5cm	857 (54.7)	220 (54.2)	61 (63.5)	952 (54.1)	64 (54.2)
>5cm	132 (8.4)	39 (9.6)	10 (10.4)	148 (8.4)	13 (11.0)
Unknown	2 (0.1)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	2 (0.1)	0 (0.0)
ER & HER2 status: n (%)					
ER+	1107 (70.6)	289 (71.2)	69 (71.9)	1248 (70.9)	79 (67.0)
& HER2+	198 (12.6)	49 (12.1)	13 (13.5)	220 (12.5)	14 (11.9)
& HER2-	772 (49.2)	201 (49.5)	46 (47.9)	873 (49.6)	54 (45.8)
& HER2 unknown	137 (8.7)	39 (9.6)	10 (10.4)	155 (8.8)	11 (9.3)
ER-	461 (29.4)	117 (28.8)	27 (28.1)	512 (29.1)	39 (33.1)
& HER2+	118 (7.5)	43 (10.6)	8 (8.3)	141 (8.0)	12 (10.2)
& HER2-	289 (18.4)	61 (15.0)	15 (15.6)	313 (17.8)	22 (18.6)
& HER2 unknown	54 (3.4)	13 (3.2)	4 (4.2)	58 (3.3)	5 (4.2)
Molecular subgroup: n (%)					
ER+/HER2- [*]	784 (50.0)	203 (50.0)	47 (49.0)	885 (50.3)	55 (46.6)
HER2+	316 (20.2)	92 (22.7)	21 (21.9)	361 (20.5)	26 (22.0)
Triple negative	277 (17.7)	59 (14.5)	14 (14.6)	301 (17.1)	21 (17.8)

* includes ER-, PgR+, HER2-

ER = oestrogen receptor. HER2 = human epidermal growth factor receptor 2. PgR = progesterone receptor. SD = Standard deviation.

	TPOAb- N=1568	TPOAb+ N=406	Hypothyroid N=96	Euthyroid N=1760	Hyperthyroid N=118
Type of surgery and radiotherapy use: n (%)					
Mastectomy	854 (54.5)	225 (55.4)	53 (55.2)	962 (54.7)	64 (54.2)
with radiotherapy ^	688 (80.6)	177 (78.7)	47 (88.7)	772 (80.2)	46 (71.9)
Wide local excision	714 (45.5)	181 (44.6)	43 (44.8)	798 (45.3)	54 (45.8)
with radiotherapy #	704 (98.6)	176 (97.2)	41 (95.3)	787 (98.6)	52 (96.3)
Endocrine treatment in ER+ patients: n (%)*					
Tamoxifen monotherapy	696 (62.9)	167 (57.8)	43 (62.3)	772 (61.9)	48 (60.8)
Tamoxifen followed by AI	354 (32.0)	100 (34.6)	20 (29.0)	409 (32.8)	25 (31.7)
Al monotherapy	46 (4.2)	15 (5.2)	6 (8.7)	53 (4.3)	2 (2.5)
No treatment/unknown	11 (1.0)	7 (2.4)	0 (0.0)	14 (1.1)	4 (5.1)
Trastuzumab in HER2+ patients: n (%)**					
Yes	40 (12.7)	8 (8.7)	1 (4.8)	44 (12.2)	3 (11.5)
No/Not known	276 (87.3)	84 (91.3)	20 (95.2)	317 (87.8)	23 (88.5)
Chemotherapy: n (%)					
Control (FEC)	498 (31.8)	128 (31.5)	27 (28.1)	568 (32.3)	31 (26.3)
Control (E-CMF)	271 (17.3)	61 (15.0)	16 (16.7)	301 (17.1)	15 (12.7)
FEC-D	799 (51.0)	217 (53.4)	53 (55.2)	891 (50.6)	52 (44.1)

Table 4-5: BC treatments by TPOAb and thyroid function status

^ denominators calculated using patients treated with mastectomy

[#] denominators calculated using patients treated with wide local excision

* denominators calculated using ER+ patients

** denominators calculated using HER2+ patients

ER = oestrogen receptor. E-CMF = epirubicin 100 mg/m² for 4 cycles followed by CMF (cyclophosphamide 600 mg/m², methotrexate 40 mg/m² and fluorouracil 600 mg/m²) for 4 cycles. FEC = fluorouracil 600 mg/m², epirubicin 60 mg/m² and cyclophosphamide 600 mg/m² for 8 cycles. FEC-D = FEC for 4 cycles followed by docetaxel 100 mg/m² for 4 cycles. HER2 = human epidermal growth factor receptor 2.

As expected, FT4 and TSH were inversely correlated (Spearman rank= - 0.23, p<0.001; Figure 4-3 panel A) and TPOAb were positively associated with TSH (Spearman rank= 0.24, p<0.001; Figure 4-3 panel B). The inverse correlation between TPOAb and FT4 was weak (Spearman rank= -0.04, p=0.09; Figure 4-3 panel C). When considering FT4 and TSH combined together (thyroid function status), TPOAb positivity was more prevalent among hypothyroid and hyperthyroid patients compared with the euthyroid group, as expected [TPOAb+: 73 (76.0%) hypothyroid, 288 (16.4%) euthyroid, 45 (38.1%) hyperthyroid; p<0.001].



Figure 4-3: Correlation between thyroid markers

Panel A: inverse correlation between thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSH) in logarithmic scale (ln) and free-thyroxine (FT4). Panel B: positive correlation between autoantibodies to thyroid peroxidase (TPOAb) and TSH. Panel C: inverse correlation between TPOAb and FT4. p = p value

4.3.2 TPOAb and breast cancer prognosis

In both TPOAb+ and TPOAb- groups the majority of events contributing to DFS related to distant recurrence; similarly, the major cause of death was BC (Table 4-6).

Table 4-6: Events contributing to DFS and numbers of deaths by dichotomized TPOAb status

	TPOAb-	TPOAb+
	N=1568 n (%)	N=406 n (%)
Number of patients with event contributing to DFS	442 (28.2)	109 (26.8)
analysis	. ,	
Local recurrence	59 (3.8)	17 (4.2)
Distant recurrence	327 (20.9)	78 (19.2)
New breast disease	33 (2.1)	10 (2.5)
Death from other cause (no recurrence)	23 (1.5)	4 (1.0)
All deaths	325 (20.7)	72 (17.7)
Breast cancer	301 (19.2)	68 (16.7)
Death from other causes (without distant recurrence)	24 (1.5)	4 (1.0)
Cancer (non-breast)	14 (0.9)	1 (0.2)
Treatment toxicity	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)
Other	9 (0.6)	3 (0.7)
Vascular (cardiac)	1 (0.1)	1 (0.2)
Vascular (cerebral)	1 (0.1)	0 (0.0)
Vascular (thromboembolic)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)
Respiratory	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)
Accident, suicide, alcoholism	5 (0.3)	0 (0.0)
Infection (not treatment related)	0 (0.0)	1 (0.2)
GI bleed	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)
Chronic liver disease	1 (0.1)	0 (0.0)
Unknown	2 (0.1)	1 (0.2)

DFS = disease free survival. TPOAb = autoantibodies to thyroid peroxidase.

4.3.2.1 Dichotomized TPOAb

There was no evidence of a difference in DFS between TPOAb+ and TPOAbpatients in both univariate (unadjusted-HR = 0.97, 95%Cl, 0.78 - 1.19; p=0.75; Figure 4-4) and multivariable (adjusted-HR=1.00, 95%Cl,0.81-1.23; p=1.00; Table 4-7) analyses.

Figure 4-4: Univariate analysis of DFS by dichotomized TPOAb



DFS = disease free survival. HR = Hazard Ratio. IPOAb = autoantibodies to thyroid peroxidase. 95%CI = 95% confidence interval. p= p value.

		HR	95%CI	P-value
TPOAb status	negative	1.00	-	-
	positive	1.00	0.81, 1.23	1.00
Nodal status	positive	1.00	-	-
	negative	0.49	0.38, 0.64	<0.001
HER2 status and	negative	1.00	-	-
trastuzumab use	positive, trastuzumab	0.91	0.52, 1.59	0.74
	positive, no trastuzumab	1.23	1.00, 1.52	0.05
	unknown	0.93	0.71, 1.23	0.63
Age group	<40	1.00	-	-
	40-49	0.79	0.62, 1.00	0.05
	50-59	0.75	0.59, 0.95	0.02
	60+	0.94	0.69, 1.30	0.72
Tumour grade	G1	1.00	-	-
	G2	1.15	0.74, 1.78	0.55
	G3	1.39	0.89, 2.16	0.15
	unknown	0.75	0.10, 5.63	0.78
Tumour size (cm)	≤2	1.00	-	-
	>2 and ≤5	1.36	1.12, 1.66	0.002
	>5	1.89	1.41, 2.53	<0.001
Type of surgery	Mastectomy	1.00	-	-
	WLE	0.79	0.66, 0.95	.01

Table 4-7: Multivariable analysis of DFS by dichotomized TPOAb

Analyses in clinical subgroups according to age group, nodal status, tumour grade, tumour size, type of surgery, ER and HER2 status and molecular subgroup showed consistency with the overall effect, with no evidence of any significant interaction effects of TPOAb on DFS (Figure 4-5).

DFS = disease free survival. HER2 = human epidermal growth factor receptor 2. HR = Hazard Ratio. TPOAb = autoantibodies to thyroid peroxidase. WLE = wide local excision. 95%CI = 95% confidence interval.

Figure 4-5: Subgroup analyses of DFS by dichotomized TPOAb



DFS = disease free survival. ER = oestrogen receptor. HER2 = human epidermal growth factor receptor 2. HR = Hazard Ratio. NK = not known. TPOAb = autoantibodies to thyroid peroxidase. WLE = wide local excision. 95%CI = 95% confidence interval.

Similarly to DFS, there was no evidence of a difference by TPOAb status on OS and TTR in both univariate (respectively unadjusted-HR = 0.86 and 0.97, 95%CI: 0.66,1.11 and 0.78-1.21, p=0.24 and p=0.80; Figure 4-6 panels A and B respectively) and multivariable (respectively adjusted-HR=0.89 and 1.02, 95%CI 0.69-1.15 and 0.82-1.27, p=0.36 and p=0.88; Table 4-8) analyses.





HR = Hazard Ratio. OS = overall survival. TPOAb = autoantibodies to thyroid peroxidase. TTR = time to recurrence. 95%CI = 95% confidence interval.

		OS			TTR			
		HR	95%CI	p-value	HR	95%CI	p-value	
TPOAb	negative	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-	
	positive	0.88	0.68, 1.14	0.34	1.01	0.81, 1.26	0.91	
Nodal status	positive	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-	
	negative	0.43	0.31, 0.60	<0.001	0.42	0.32, 0.57	<0.001	
HER2 status and	negative	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-	
trastuzumab use	unknown	1.04	0.76, 1.42	0.81	0.99	0.75, 1.31	0.93	
	positive, no trastuzumab	1.33	1.04, 1.69	0.02	1.25	1.00, 1.55	0.05	
	positive, yes trastuzumab	0.89	0.45, 1.73	0.73	1.02	0.58, 1.78	0.95	
Age group	<40	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-	
	40-49	0.84	0.62, 1.13	0.24	0.78	0.60, 1.01	0.06	
	50-59	0.93	0.69, 1.24	0.62	0.74	0.57, 0.95	0.02	
	60+	1.17	0.81, 1.70	0.40	0.95	0.68, 1.32	0.74	
Grade	G1	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-	
	G2	1.35	0.76, 2.39	0.30	1.36	0.83, 2.25	0.22	
	G3	1.69	0.96, 2.98	0.07	1.64	1.00, 2.71	0.05	
	unknown	1.17	0.15, 9.06	0.88	0.98	0.13, 7.42	0.98	
Tumour size (cm)	≤2	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-	
	>2 and ≤5	1.31	1.04, 1.66	0.02	1.31	1.06, 1.60	0.01	
	>5	1.84	1.31, 2.57	<0.001	1.94	1.44, 2.62	<0.001	
Type of surgery	Mastectomy	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-	
	WLE	0.71	0.57, 0.88	0.002	0.75	0.62, 0.91	0.003	

Table 4-8: Multivariable analysis of OS and TTR by dichotomized TPOAb

HER2 = human epidermal growth factor receptor 2. HR = Hazard Ratio. OS = overall survival. TPOAb = autoantibodies to thyroid peroxidase. TTR = time to recurrence. WLE = wide local excision. 95%CI = 95% confidence interval.

4.3.2.2 TPOAb tertiles

TPOAb+ cases when categorized into tertiles showed no evidence of a prognostic effect in both univariate (Figure 4-7) and multivariable (Table 4-9) analyses for DFS, OS or TTR.



DFS = disease free survival. HR = Hazard Ratio. OS = overall survival. TPOAb = autoantibodies to thyroid peroxidase. TTR = time to recurrence. T1, T2, T3 = first, second, third tertile. 95%CI = 95% confidence interval.

		DFS			OS			TTR		
		HR	95%CI	р	HR	95%CI	р	HR	95%CI	р
TPOAb	neg	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-
	pos T1	1.01	0.72, 1.41	0.97	0.94	0.62, 1.41	0.76	1.01	0.70, 1.43	0.98
	pos T2	1.07	0.77, 1.50	0.68	1.02	0.69, 1.52	0.91	1.16	0.83, 1.63	0.39
	pos T3	0.92	0.65, 1.31	0.65	0.70	0.44, 1.10	0.12	0.88	0.60, 1.28	0.50
Nodal	pos	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-
status	neg	0.49	0.38, 0.64	<0.001	0.43	0.31, 0.60	<0.001	0.42	0.32, 0.57	<0.001
HER2	neg	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-
status	unk.	0.93	0.71, 1.23	0.62	1.04	0.76, 1.42	0.81	0.99	0.74, 1.31	0.93
trastuz.	pos	1.23	1.00, 1.52	0.05	1.33	1.05, 1.70	0.02	1.25	1.00, 1.55	0.05
use	pos T*	0.91	0.52, 1.59	0.73	0.89	0.45, 1.74	0.73	1.01	0.58, 1.78	0.96
Age	<40	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-
group	40-49	0.79	0.62, 1.00	0.05	0.84	0.62, 1.13	0.24	0.78	0.60, 1.01	0.06
	50-59	0.75	0.59, 0.95	0.02	0.93	0.69, 1.24	0.62	0.74	0.57, 0.95	0.02
	60+	0.94	0.68, 1.30	0.72	1.17	0.80, 1.70	0.42	0.94	0.67, 1.31	0.72
Grade	G1	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-
	G2	1.14	0.73, 1.77	0.57	1.33	0.75, 2.36	0.33	1.35	0.82, 2.22	0.24
	G3	1.38	0.89, 2.15	0.16	1.66	0.94, 2.94	0.08	1.62	0.98, 2.67	0.06
	unk.	0.75	0.10, 5.59	0.78	1.15	0.15, 8.94	0.89	0.96	0.13, 7.32	0.97
Tumour	≤2	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-
size	>2 -≤5	1.36	1.12, 1.66	0.002	1.32	1.04, 1.66	0.02	1.31	1.06, 1.60	0.01
(0)	>5	1.89	1.41, 2.53	<0.001	1.83	1.31, 2.57	<0.001	1.94	1.43, 2.61	<0.001
Type of	Mast.	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-
surgery	WLE	0.79	0.66, 0.95	0.01	0.71	0.57, 0.88	0.002	0.75	0.62, 0.91	0.003

Table 4-9: Multivariable analysis of DFS, OS and TTR by TPOAb tertiles

pos T* = HER2 positive treated with trastuzumab

DFS = disease free survival. HER2 = human epidermal growth factor receptor 2. HR = Hazard Ratio. Mast. = mastectomy. neg = negative. OS = overall survival. pos = positive. TPOAb = autoantibodies to thyroid peroxidase. trastuz. = trastuzumab. TTR = time to recurrence. T1 = TPOAb 6-40kU/L. T2 = TPOAb 41-238kU/L. T3 = TPOAb 240-2000kU/L. unk. = unknown. WLE = wide local excision. 95%CI = 95% confidence interval.

4.3.2.3 DFS sensitivity analyses with dichotomized TPOAb

2 sensitivity analyses for DFS were performed, based on different populations:

- 126 node+ patients not treated with radiotherapy, therefore similar to Fiore *et* al. cohort (183). The median time of blood collection after surgery was 12.4 months (IQR=4.9-21.6; range=0.7-47.2 months).
- 123 patients whose blood had been taken after surgery but before any adjuvant BC therapy. The median time of sera collection after surgery was 1.1 months (IQR=0.9-1.4; range=0.5-5.9).

There was no evidence of a significant impact on DFS by TPOAb status in either of the sensitivity analysis populations, with unadjusted-HRs of 1.48 (95%CI,0.68-3.25; p= 0.32) and 0.83 (95%CI, 0.35-2.03; p= 0.69) respectively.

4.3.3 Thyroid function and breast cancer prognosis

4.3.3.1 Univariate analysis

When considering separately FT4 and TSH both as continuous or categorical variables in univariate analyses, no evidence of a significant effect for DSF, OS and TTR was found (Table 4-10).

		DFS			OS			TTR		
		HR	95%CI	р	HR	95%CI	р	HR	95%CI	р
	Continuous	1.00	0.96-1.04	0.91	1.01	0.96-1.06	0.68	1.01	0.97-1.05	0.70
FT4	Нуро	1.61	0.67-3.88	0.29	2.23	0.92-5.40	0.07	1.80	0.75-4.36	0.19
	Eu	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-
	Hyper	1.08	0.62-1.87	0.79	0.88	0.44-1.77	0.71	1.10	0.62-1.96	0.74
	-	-	-	-	-	-	-			
	Continuous*	1.03	0.94-1.13	0.48	1.03	0.92-1.14	0.65	1.04	0.94-1.14	0.43
TSH	Нуро	1.08	0.73-1.59	0.71	1.03	0.65-1.63	0.91	1.15	0.78-1.71	0.48
	Eu	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-
	Hyper	1.19	0.82-1.72	0.36	1.27	0.83-1.93	0.27	1.24	0.84-1.81	0.28

* referred to ln(TSH) continuous values

DFS = disease free survival; Eu = hypothyroidism; FT4 = free thyroxine; HR = Hazard Ratio; Hyper = hyperthyroidism; Hypo = hypothyroidism; ln = logarithmic scale; OS = overall survival; p = p value; TSH = thyroid stimulating hormone; TTR = time to recurrence; 95%CI = 95% confidence interval.

When considering together TSH and FT4 as unique thyroid function categorical variable in univariate analyses, absence of evidence of a significant effect was confirmed in DFS, OS and TTR (Figure 4-8).

Figure 4-8: Univariate analysis of DFS, OS and TTR by thyroid function status (TSH/FT4 combined categories)



DFS = disease free survival. HR = Hazard Ratio. OS = overall survival. TTR = time to recurrence. 95%CI = 95% confidence interval.

4.3.3.2 Multivariable analyses

The multivariable analyses confirmed the absence of evidence of a significant impact of thyroid function on DFS, OS and TTR, both when considering FT4 (Table 4-11) and TSH (Table 4-12) separately or combined into a unique thyroid function status categorical variable (Table 4-13).

		DFS			OS			TTR		
		HR	95%CI	р	HR	95%CI	р	HR	95%CI	р
FT4 co	cont.	1.00	0.96, 1.05	0.83	1.01	0.97, 1.06	0.55	1.01	0.97, 1.06	0.60
Nodal po	oos	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-
status ne	neg	0.49	0.38, 0.64	<0.001	0.43	0.31, 0.59	<0.001	0.42	0.32, 0.57	<0.001
HER2 ne	neg	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-
status ui	ınk.	0.93	0.71, 1.23	0.63	1.04	0.76, 1.42	0.82	0.99	0.75, 1.31	0.94
trastuz.	oos	1.23	1.00, 1.51	0.06	1.32	1.04, 1.68	0.02	1.24	1.00, 1.55	0.05
use po	oos T*	0.91	0.52, 1.59	0.73	0.89	0.45, 1.74	0.73	1.01	0.58, 1.78	0.96
Age <4	40	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-
group 40	10-49	0.79	0.62, 1.00	0.05	0.83	0.62, 1.12	0.22	0.78	0.61, 1.01	0.06
50	50-59	0.75	0.59, 0.95	0.02	0.92	0.69, 1.23	0.56	0.74	0.57, 0.95	0.02
60	60+	0.94	0.69, 1.30	0.72	1.16	0.80, 1.69	0.43	0.94	0.68, 1.32	0.74
Grade G	G1	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-
G	52	1.15	0.74, 1.78	0.55	1.36	0.77, 2.40	0.30	1.36	0.83, 2.25	0.22
G	53	1.39	0.89, 2.16	0.15	1.69	0.96, 2.99	0.07	1.64	1.00, 2.71	0.05
u	ınk.	0.75	0.10, 5.65	0.78	1.22	0.16, 9.43	0.85	0.98	0.13, 7.67	0.99
Tumour ≤	<u>≤</u> 2	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-
size >;	•2 -≤5	1.36	1.12, 1.66	0.002	1.32	1.04, 1.66	0.02	1.31	1.06, 1.61	0.01
(ciii) >!	•5	1.89	1.41, 2.53	<0.001	1.83	1.31, 2.57	<0.001	1.94	1.44, 2.62	<0.001
Type of M	Nast.	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-
surgery W	VLE	0.79	0.66, 0.95	0.01	0.70	0.56, 0.87	0.002	0.75	0.62, 0.91	0.003

Table 4-11: Multivariable analysis of DFS, OS and TTR by FT4 variable

pos T* = HER2 positive treated with trastuzumab

cont. = continuous variable; DFS = disease free survival; FT4 = free-thyroxine; HER2 = human epidermal growth factor receptor 2; HR = Hazard Ratio; Mast. = mastectomy; neg = negative; OS = overall survival; pos = positive; unk. = unknown; TTR = time to recurrence; WLE = wide local excision; 95%CI = 95% confidence interval.

		DFS				OS		TTR			
		HR	95%CI	р	HR	95%CI	р	HR	95%CI	р	
TSH(ln)	cont.	1.03	0.94, 1.13	0.55	1.02	0.91, 1.13	0.75	1.04	0.94, 1.14	0.49	
Nodal	pos	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-	
status	neg	0.48	0.37, 0.63	<0.001	0.42	0.30, 0.58	<0.001	0.43	0.32, 0.57	<0.001	
HER2	neg	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-	
status	unk.	0.94	0.71, 1.23	0.64	1.04	0.76, 1.60	0.81	0.99	0.75, 1.31	0.94	
trastuz.	pos	1.24	1.00, 1.52	0.05	1.33	1.05, 1.69	0.02	1.25	1.00, 1.56	0.05	
use	pos T*	0.91	0.52, 1.60	0.76	0.90	0.46, 1.75	0.75	1.02	0.58, 1.79	0.94	
Age	<40	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-	
group	40-49	0.78	0.62, 1.00	0.05	0.83	0.62, 1.12	0.22	0.78	0.61, 1.01	0.06	
	50-59	0.74	0.58, 0.95	0.02	0.91	0.68, 1.22	0.53	0.73	0.57, 0.95	0.02	
	60+	0.94	0.69, 1.30	0.72	1.16	0.80, 1.69	0.42	0.95	0.68, 1.32	0.74	
Grade	G1	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-	
	G2	1.14	0.73, 1.78	0.55	1.36	0.77, 2.40	0.30	1.36	0.83, 2.24	0.22	
	G3	1.39	0.89, 2.16	0.15	1.69	0.95, 2.98	0.07	1.64	0.99, 2.70	0.05	
	unk.	0.75	0.10, 5.60	0.78	1.20	0.16, 9.30	0.86	0.96	0.13, 7.31	0.97	
Tumour	≤2	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-	
size	>2 -≤5	1.36	1.11, 1.65	0.002	1.31	1.04, 1.65	0.02	1.30	1.06, 1.60	0.01	
(CIII)	>5	1.88	1.41, 2.52	<0.001	1.83	1.30, 2.56	<0.001	1.93	1.43, 2.61	<0.001	
Type of	Mast.	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-	
surgery	WLE	0.80	0.66, 0.96	0.01	0.71	0.57, 0.88	0.002	0.75	0.62, 0.91	0.003	

Table 4-12: Multivariable analysis of DFS, OS and TTR by TSH variable

pos T* = HER2 positive treated with trastuzumab

cont. = continuous variable; DFS = disease free survival; HER2 = human epidermal growth factor receptor 2; HR = Hazard Ratio; ln = logarithmic scale; Mast. = mastectomy; neg = negative; OS = overall survival; pos = positive; TSH = thyroid stimulating hormone; TTR = time to recurrence; unk. = unknown; WLE = wide local excision; 95%CI = 95% confidence interval.

Table	4-13:	Multivariable	analysis	of	DFS,	OS	and	TTR	by	thyroid	function	status
(TSH/F	T4 coi	mbined catego	ries)									

		DFS			OS			TTR		
		HR	95%CI	р	HR	95%CI	р	HR	95%CI	р
Thyroid	eu	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-
function	hypo	1.14	0.79, 1.67	0.48	1.08	0.69, 1.68	0.73	1.24	0.84, 1.82	0.27
	hyper	1.14	0.81, 1.59	0.47	1.16	0.78, 1.72	0.46	1.17	0.82, 1.66	0.40
Nodal	pos	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-
status	neg	0.49	0.38, 0.64	<0.001	0.43	0.31, 0.59	<0.001	0.42	0.32, 0.57	<0.001
HER2	neg	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-
status	unk.	0.93	0.71, 1.22	0.61	1.03	0.76, 1.41	0.84	0.98	0.74, 1.30	0.91
trastuz.	pos	1.23	1.00, 1.51	0.06	1.32	1.04, 1.68	0.02	1.24	1.00, 1.55	0.05
use	pos T*	0.91	0.52, 1.59	0.74	0.89	0.46, 1.74	0.73	1.02	0.58, 1.79	0.95
Age	<40	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-
group	40-49	0.78	0.61, 0.99	0.05	0.82	0.61, 1.11	0.21	0.77	0.60, 1.00	0.05
	50-59	0.74	0.58, 0.94	0.02	0.91	0.68, 1.22	0.53	0.72	0.56, 0.94	0.01
	60+	0.94	0.68, 1.29	0.70	1.16	0.80, 1.63	0.43	0.94	0.67, 1.31	0.71
Grade	G1	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-
	G2	1.15	0.74, 1.79	0.54	1.36	0.77, 2.41	0.29	1.37	0.83, 2.25	0.22
	G3	1.39	0.89, 2.16	0.15	1.69	0.96, 2.99	0.07	1.64	0.99, 2.70	0.05
	unk.	0.77	0.10, 5.73	0.80	1.22	0.16, 9.47	0.85	1.00	0.13, 7.59	1.00
Tumour	≤2	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-
size	>2 -≤5	1.36	1.12, 1.65	0.002	1.31	1.04, 1.66	0.02	1.30	1.06, 1.60	0.01
(cm)	>5	1.88	1.41, 2.52	<0.001	1.82	1.30, 2.56	<0.001	1.93	1.43, 2.60	<0.001
Type of	Mast.	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-
surgery	WLE	0.79	0.66, 0.95	0.01	0.70	0.56, 0.87	0.002	0.75	0.62, 0.91	0.003

pos T* = HER2 positive treated with trastuzumab

DFS = disease free survival; HER2 = human epidermal growth factor receptor 2; HR = Hazard Ratio; Mast. = mastectomy; neg = negative; OS = overall survival; pos = positive; TSH = thyroid stimulating hormone; TTR = time to recurrence; unk. = unknown; WLE = wide local excision; 95%CI = 95% confidence interval.

4.3.4 Impact of TPOAb and thyroid function on breast cancer prognosis

As expected, considering together dichotomized TPOAb and thyroid function status in the multivariable model for DFS, no evidence of a significant impact was found (Table 4-14). Similar analyses for OS and TTR were not performed because they were secondary outcomes. Furthermore, if 2 variables (i.e. TPOAb and thyroid function) give negative results when analyzed separately, they will give negative results also when considered together.

		HR	95%CI	P-value
TPOAb status	negative	1.00	-	-
	positive	0.96	0.77, 1.21	0.76
Thyroid function	Euthyroid	1.00	-	-
	Hypothyroid	1.17	0.78, 1.74	0.44
	Hyperthyroid	1.14	0.81, 1.61	0.44
Nodal status	positive	1.00	-	-
	negative	0.49	0.38, 0.64	<0.001
HER2 status and	negative	1.00	-	-
trastuzumab use	unknown	0.93	0.71, 1.22	0.61
	positive, no	1.23	1.00, 1.51	0.05
	trastuzumab			
	positive, yes	0.91	0.52, 1.59	0.74
	trastuzumab			
Age group	<40	1.00	-	-
	40-49	0.78	0.61, 1.00	0.05
	50-59	0.74	0.58, 0.95	0.02
	60+	0.94	0.68, 1.29	0.70
Tumour grade	G1	1.00	-	-
	G2	1.15	0.74, 1.79	0.54
	G3	1.39	0.89, 2.16	0.15
	unknown	0.76	0.10, 5.70	0.79
Tumour size (cm)	≤2	1.00	-	-
	>2 and ≤5	1.36	1.12, 1.65	0.002
	>5	1.88	1.41, 2.52	<0.001
Type of surgery	Mastectomy	1.00	-	-
	WLE	0.79	0.66, 0.95	0.01

Table 4-14: Multivariable analysis of DFS by TPOAb (dichotomized) and thyroid function status (TSH/FT4 combined categories)

HER2 = human epidermal growth factor receptor 2; HR = Hazard Ratio; WLE = wide local excision; 95%CI = 95% confidence interval.

4.4 CONCLUSIONS

An association between thyroid autoimmunity (TA) and breast cancer (BC) has been debated for years and the presence of circulating anti-thyroid peroxidase (TPO) autoantibodies (TPOAb) has been suggested as a favorable BC prognostic factor (182-184, 260). Consequently, a common immune response between thyroid and BC has been proposed, with TPO the most likely shared antigen involved, as discussed in Chapter 3.

Since around 20% of women are positive for TPOAb (TPOAb+) and currently there are few useful blood prognostic markers for BC validated for clinical practice, it is important to verify TPOAb positive prognostic role for BC in patient cohorts appropriately powered for population size and length of follow-up.

The present patient cohort is the largest to address this topic to date (n=1974), with one of the longest follow-ups (96.7 months). This population study

is generally representative of patients affected with moderate-high risk early BC receiving adjuvant treatments (both systemic and local). In this patient cohort we found that neither the presence nor the titre of serum TPOAb measured with standard assays seemed to have a substantial impact on long-term recurrence or mortality; similar findings were observed for thyroid status.

4.4.1 Comparison with results from previous studies

There may be several reasons why our results do not confirm previous findings of a TPOAb+ protective role in BC prognosis. These include the fact that previous studies used smaller patient cohorts with shorter follow-ups (182, 183, 185), considered BC at different stages (185) or provided no information about BC stage (182) and may thus be susceptible to bias and random findings. As previously stated, the TACT trial is not representative of the whole BC population but of moderate-high risk early BC very similar to that analyzed by Fiore *et al.*, who recruited women with non-metastatic aggressive BC all treated with chemotherapy (183).

Thanks to the discovery and use of effective treatments for BC, the survival of patients affected with BC has increased very much during last decades. In particular, the whole TACT trial population had 5-year estimates of 82.7% and 74.9% for respectively overall survival (OS) and disease-free survival (DFS), very similar to the average 5-year OS for BC in UK (82%) calculated in an analogue time period (patients diagnosed in the period 2001-2006 and followed until 2007) (328, 329).

When re-analyzing the data and preparing the manuscript for submission to a peer-reviewed journal, I realised that the analysis population described in the present study (TACT patients having blood available) was not representative of the TACT population as a whole. In fact the analysed population had a better breast cancer prognosis compared with not included TACT patients (without blood available); mainly because blood collection was started nearly 21 months after the beginning of the study. For this reason the blood was usually taken after randomization and consequently early-relapsing patients were less likely to provide blood. Furthermore, a higher proportion of patients included in this study were treated with trastuzumab: 11.8% versus 6.4% of patients not included in the study. The likely explanation is that clinical trials assessing trastuzumab were initiated around the same time of blood collection, therefore patients providing blood were more likely to receive this additional treatment. This could also have contributed to a further increase of the survival among patients with available blood. The increased use of trastuzumab in the analysis population group is

unlikely to have biased TPOAb and thyroid function results on BC prognosis since: 1) trastuzumab was given only to a few patients, 2) the "use of trastuzumab" variable was considered combined to HER2 expression in all the performed multivariable analyses and did not significantly change the results for DFS, OS and TTR by TPOAb and/or thyroid function status.

The longer survival of the BC population analyzed in the present study could obscure a minor TPOAb prognostic effect, hypothetically detectable only among patients not suitable for standard treatments (e.g. elderly or with medical contraindications) and targeted therapies (e.g. triple negative BC). Although possible it remains unlikely, since our exploratory analysis conducted among different BC subtypes confirmed our negative results.

4.4.2 Impact of other examined factors on breast cancer prognosis

The multivariable analysis confirmed nodal status and tumour size as the two most important BC prognostic factors (309, 330). Similarly, the better BC prognosis characterizing the intermediate age group (50-59 years) confirms results of a recent wide cohort study conducted on 4453 women (331).

The role of tumour size and lymph node metastasis is well-known and for this reason they are included as major factors of TNM staging, as described in paragraph 4.1.3.1. On the contrary, the impact of age on BC prognosis is still debated and contradictory results have been obtained in the literature, likely because of the wide heterogeneity of BC and its subtypes, different adjuvant treatments and lack of adjustment for other prognostic factors. Many authors confirmed a worse BC prognosis among young (332-334) and elderly women (332, 335-337), not supported by others (338-340). A plausible explanation for a worsening of prognosis among young women is that they tend to be affected with a higher grade BC, consequently more aggressive, and BC is also more prone to be ER negative and therefore less susceptible to treatment with adjuvant endocrine therapy (334, 341, 342). On the contrary, BC in elderly women is often ER positive (343), therefore responds well to endocrine therapy (344, 345). However, although elderly women usually have less aggressive cancers which are susceptible to a wide range of treatments, the most likely reason for having worsened survival rates is potentially not receiving treatment according to the guidelines because of age or comorbidities (331).

HER2 status and tumour grade were not significant outcome factors in the great majority of cases and all the multivariable analyses conducted, respectively. The first likely explanation is that the present study has not been powered in order to assess the role of these prognostic factors.

As expected, HER2 positive patients not treated with trastuzumab clearly tended to have a worse prognosis compared with HER2 negative patients and this difference reached statistical significance in several multivariable analyses conducted.

Tumour grade, although it missed reaching the statistical significance (likely because BC tissues were graded in 104 different centres, without universal agreement among tumour grading systems), showed a constant and convincing trend of concordance between increasing tumour grade and progressive worsening of prognosis. Therefore, all the considered known risk factors for BC showed clear or partial influence on BC prognosis, proving that the cohort studied was appropriate and the model reasonably sensitive. On the contrary, TPOAb and thyroid function were constantly not significant in all analyses, with TPOAb tertiles showing no trend at all.

4.4.3 Principal limitations of the study

The principal limitations of the present study are principally a consequence of its retrospective nature: 1) lack of clinical history for thyroid diseases or medications; 2) plasma samples having been collected in most cases during or after adjuvant BC therapy.

In this study cohort all patients were treated with chemotherapy and 1745/1974 (88.4%) patients were treated with adjuvant radiotherapy for BC. Some authors suggested that in some cases the homolateral thyroid lobe can be included in the radiation field used for irradiation of internal mammary, supra- and infraclavicular nodes (346), with a partial thyroid irradiation more likely to happen using fields including supra- and infra-clavicular node chains (347). Both studies suggested an increased risk of hypothyroidism after radiotherapy for BC but their sample size was small and no previous thyroid history was available (346, 347). Other authors observed an increased rate of hypothyroidism in patients treated with chemotherapy for BC; in particular, the thyroid function was compared at baseline and during/after the treatment, i.e. before the 6th cycle of chemotherapy (348) or up to 6 months after completing chemotherapy (349). However, Smith et al. evaluated 38'255 patients with BC and found a significantly higher incidence of subsequent hypothyroidism in a 5-year follow-up compared with age-matched controls, but unrelated to radiotherapy or chemotherapy treatments (350). The main differences between studies reporting an effect of BC therapy (348, 349) and Smith's cohort (350) were the length of follow-up and the method used to evaluate thyroid function; in Smith's study the thyroid diagnosis was extrapolated from diagnostic codes taken from registers, without direct

assessment of thyroid function. A possible explanation for these discrepant results could be a temporary thyroid function reduction caused by chemotherapy, which would explain why De Groot and Kumar, evaluating thyroid function maximum 6 months after the end of chemotherapy treatment, observed an increased incidence of hypothyroidism (348, 349), not confirmed in a 5-year follow-up as in Smith's study (350). Furthermore, chemotherapy and radiotherapy could act synergistically on thyroid tissue. In fact thyroid damaging is known to be caused by treatments for head/neck tumours and blood cells tumours, i.e Hodgkin disease. Hancock et al. evaluated 1787 patients affected by Hodgkin disease and found that chemotherapy associated to radiotherapy was a major risk factor for hypothyroidism, because chemotherapy sensitize the thyroid gland to the effects of concomitant radiation therapy (351).

Regarding the therapy with tamoxifen, in this study cohort 1378 ER positive patients were submitted to hormonal therapy and in particular 1317 to tamoxifen. Some authors reported that tamoxifen may exert a modulation of thyroid function, mainly determining an anti-thyroid effect (352-354).

To my knowledge no studies have been carried out exploring possible thyroidal effects (autoimmune and non) of the treatment with trastuzumab.

Finally, the stress related to the surgical procedure itself has been suggested to have a possible immunomodulating effect that could therefore affect autoantibodies levels (355).

In conclusion, a possible influence of various BC treatments on thyroid function and autoimmunity has been suggested, with not all authors agreeing and contrasting results being produced. Well designed and powered studies are needed to definitively address this topic in the future. Furthermore, the impact of those treatments on thyroid autoantibody levels has been rarely investigated so far. For these reasons serum/plasma samples for the study of thyroid autoimmunity should be ideally collected not only before adjuvant treatments but also before breast surgery; unfortunately this was not possible in this study cohort.

However, no clear large-scale effects of adjuvant treatments for BC on thyroid function and immunity have been described to date. In addition, the sensitivity analysis conducted in a subgroup of 123 patients with plasma collected before BC adjuvant therapy also showed no evidence of TPOAb prognostic ability, even if the wide 95%CI suggests a lack of statistical power (95%CI, 0.35-2.03; p= 0.69). For these reasons, the results of the present study are unlikely being significantly biased by BC treatments.

4.4.4 Conclusions about thyroid autoimmunity and breast cancer prognosis

Our study indicates that circulating TPOAb measured by standard assays seem not to have any impact on the prognosis of moderate-high risk early BC. However, we cannot exclude a role of different thyroid autoimmunity (TA) parameters on breast cancer (BC) prognosis, considering that a positive prognostic effect on BC has also been suggested for the presence of goitre (182) or incidental TA related ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT uptake (260). Since in chapter 3 differences in the alternative splicing of TPO in the breast as compared to the thyroid have been suggested, this may result in different epitopes being targeted. This topic will be further discussed in the next chapter (5).

The overall TPOAb prevalence in our cohort was 20.57%, very similar to our *a priori* predicted value. This value reflects TPOAb prevalence among women in the general population, reported as varying from 17% (63) to 26.4% (64), with all authors agreeing that TAb prevalence increases with age (64-67) and after iodization programs (327), explaining why TPOAb+ women were older than TPOAb-. It remains possible that TPOAb+ rates are higher in the BC population (generated, for example, by antigen cross-reactivity) even if they do not predict outcome, as this study was not designed to compare TPOAb prevalence among BC patients and the general population.

In conclusion, the present study is to my knowledge the largest currently available investigating the impact of circulating TPOAb and thyroid function on BC prognosis. In contrast to previous results from small-scale studies, blood TPOAb measured with standard assays and thyroid function did not substantially influence the long-term recurrence and mortality of moderate-high risk early BC in the modern era. Considering the limitations of the present observational study due to its retrospective nature, before drawing definitive conclusions it would seem appropriate to perform a similar study in a prospective patients cohort, with available clinical data about thyroid disorders and treatments and collecting the blood samples before any cancer treatment. However, major confounding factors in this study due to the effects of BC treatments on circulating thyroid markers seems unlikely, even if not 100% excluded. Future studies might also explore non-conventional or breast-specific immune responses to TPO to determine whether other aspects of thyroid autoimmunity may be relevant to breast cancer outcome, as will be further discussed in the next chapter (5: general discussion).

5 GENERAL DISCUSSION

5.1 Summary of main findings

As summarized in chapter 1, paragraph 1.4, an association between breast cancer (BC) and benign thyroid disorders (BTD) has been debated for decades, supported by many authors (154-158), with others not agreeing (159-163). In particular, BC was suggested to be associated with thyroid autoimmunity (TA) (157); similarly to BTD this association has not been confirmed in different studies (161). More specifically, thyroid peroxidase (TPO) is one of the major antigens involved in TA and autoantibodies to TPO (TPOAb) have been found to be more common among patients affected with BC compared with healthy controls (166, 179-181). Furthermore, several small-scale studies observed that patients affected with BC and positive for blood TPOAb had a better prognosis compared with TPOAb negative individuals, suggesting a possible protective role of TPOAb (182-184), even if not confirmed in another study (185). BC and thyroid cells share similar properties (199), e.g. they both express the sodium iodide symporter (NIS) (200) and have a peroxidase activity, TPO in thyroid and lactoperoxidase (LPO) in breast (257). In the present study a shared immune activity between thyroid and BC tissues has been hypothesized, leading to increased tumour destruction and therefore to an improved prognosis.

The first aim of the present study was to identify the hypothetical shared antigen between BC and thyroid cells. Considering that NIS is expressed in both thyroid and BC cells, in chapter 2 NIS has been hypothesized as common antigen and the presence of circulating autoantibodies to NIS (NISAb) has been investigated, expecting a higher prevalence among patients affected with TA and BC. NISAb were found to be rare and apparently not related to the presence of TA and/or BC therefore, although NIS is present in both thyroid and BC cells, it does not seem to represent an important antigen, either for TA, or as shared antigen between thyroid and BC cells.

Considering the higher prevalence of TPOAb among patients affected with BC (166, 179-181), in chapter 3 TPO has been investigated as possible alternative shared antigen between thyroid and BC cells. The results indicated that TPO, both mRNA and protein, is expressed (at a much lower level compared to thyroid) in BC and breast peri-tumoural tissues, as well as different tissues, e.g. adipose tissue. Therefore, TPO is the most likely candidate as shared antigen between thyroid and BC tissue, since even trace amounts could suffice to trigger lymphocyte activity. Other unknown shared antigens, e.g. expressed by thyroid colloid, could

also be involved, even if unlikely, giving the huge number of studies trying to find novel thyroid autoantigens, with negative results. The TPO gene is highly subjected to alternative splicing and transcripts for novel TPO isoforms never described before have been discovered with this study. Interestingly, some TPO mRNA isoforms could be tissue specific, some in particular breast specific, therefore if confirmed they could represent possible bio-markers for BC. However, despite TPO mRNA and/or protein were expressed in all the BC tissues examined in chapter 3, only 1/8 (12.5%) patients was found positive for serum TPOAb (Table 3-3). Conversely, the prevalence of TPOAb among BC patients should be higher, in accordance to data from literature (summarized in paragraph 4.1), further confirmed by 20.6% TPOAb prevalence among BC patients observed in chapter 4. There are several possible explanations for this discrepancy; first, 8 patients are too few in order to validate an epidemiological data (TPOAb prevalence among BC patients). Second, thyroid and breast TPO could express different antigenic properties, even if preliminary studies seem to exclude this hypothesis (356). Third, BC could mainly express TPO isoforms with epitopes different from complete TPO protein and therefore generating TPOAb not identifiable by standard TPOAb assays.

In chapter 4 the prognostic role of TPOAb has been investigated in a large cohort of patients affected with BC and extensively followed for 96.7 months; the prognostic role of thyroid function has been investigated as well. Surprisingly, the present observational study clearly indicated that neither TPOAb (measured with one standard assay) nor thyroid function seemed to significantly affect the prognosis of BC, therefore these results did not confirm previous findings suggesting a protective role of TPOAb for BC (182, 183). However, considering the retrospective nature of the present study, a confirmation of its results in a prospective patients cohort would be needed before definitively excluding from breast cancer prognosis a role for TPOAb (measured by standard assays) and thyroid function.

5.2 How do my results compare with those of others?

5.2.1 Cross-reactivity of circulating TPOAb with different peroxidases

An alternative mechanism to explain the increased prevalence of TPOAb among patients with BC could be the presence of cross-reactivity of TPOAb with different peroxidases, in particular LPO, the most abundant peroxidase expressed in breast tissue (257), as previously discussed in chapter 3, paragraphs 3.1.1.2 and 3.5.2.

The study of Banga *et al.* (291) revealed that 40% and 45% of human sera positive for TPOAb cross-reacted with native bovine LPO, when detected respectively by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) and western blot (WB). In reducing conditions, the percentage of TPOAb cross-reactivity with LPO decreased to 25% for ELISA and increased to 60% for WB. Pre-adsorption experiments of human sera with human TPO and/or LPO in order to test the signal specificity gave poor and satisfactory results in ELISA and WB assays respectively, as summarized in Table 5-1. In particular, pre-adsorption with native TPO caused the signal to disappear in TPO WB and not in LPO WB as expected; on the contrary, pre-adsorption with native LPO was not able to reduce the signal in LPO WB.

Table 5-1: Adsorption experiments with TPO and LPO in ELISA and WB

	ELISA	(Native)	WB (Reduced)		
Human serum	TPO	LPO	TPO	LPO	
Normal	+	+	+	+	
PA with liver microsomes	+	+	+	+	
PA with native TPO	/	/	/	+	
PA with reduced TPO	/	/	/	+	
PA with native+reduced TPO	/	/	/	/	
PA with native LPO	+	+	+	+	
PA with reduced LPO	+	+	+	/	
PA with native+reduced LPO	+	+	+	/	

Summary of pre-adsorption (PA) experiments of human serum with thyroid peroxidase (TPO) and lactoperoxidase (LPO) in enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) and western blot (WB) performed by Banga et al. (291). + = positive signal. / = negative signal.

TPOAb cross-reactivity with native myeloperoxidase (MPO) was less common, 0% of sera tested with ELISA and 15% with WB, however it increased to 70% and 50% respectively when using reduced MPO (291).

Nishikawa *et al.* further investigated TPOAb cross-reactivity using four monoclonal human TPO-Fab (TPOAb's variable regions only) directed towards the immunodominant region of TPO, defined as the region recognized by the majority of sera from patients positive for TPOAb. None of the four TPO-Fab cross-reacted with MPO or LPO, therefore the authors concluded that circulating TPOAb cross-reacting with other peroxidases are likely to bind TPO outside the immunodominant region (357).

In conclusion, different patients affected with TA are positive for different kinds of circulating TPOAb, some of them cross-reacting with the other peroxidases. TPOAb cross-reactivity with LPO could represent an additional mechanism to explain why TPOAb are more prevalent among patients with BC. However, LPO is abundantly expressed in breast tissue, both normal and tumoural, where it is present as a secreted protein and therefore normally accessible to the immune system. As a consequence, the mechanism of antigen unmasking triggered by the tumoural process is unlikely to be involved. Different mechanisms are needed in order to explain the rise in TPOAb mainly in patients affected with BC compared with the general population. An alternative hypothesis could be the expression of a more antigenic form of LPO, e.g. with a different glycosylation level, in BC tissue compared with normal breast, or a general over-activation of the immune system secondary to tumoural processes, leading to an increase of auto-reactivity. Considering that TPO is expressed in BC and breast peri-tumoural tissue and different TPO isoforms exist, as described in chapter 3, similar mechanisms leading to different TPO epitopes being exposed in BC patients could be involved.

5.2.2 TPO isoforms and epitopes

Lai et al. have already described TPO gene expression in orbital tissue (261). The present study (chapter 3) confirmed TPO presence in orbital fat but also indicated that TPO is expressed in many different tissues: other depots of adipose tissue (abdominal, subcutaneous, from knee), BC and breast peri-tumoural tissue, and other cancers. So far, TPO's role and function in these different tissues have not been investigated. Furthermore, it is unclear which TPO isoforms are more expressed and if some of them could be tissue specific, as suggested by the present study. In chapter 3, a TPO mRNA isoform missing both exons 14 and 16 was found to be more prevalent in breast and adipose tissue and in BC cell lines; similarly, LongRange RT-PCR showed the presence of different TPO mRNA isoforms are needed in order to draw substantial conclusions about tissue specificity of TPO mRNA isoforms.

Furthermore, it would be important to establish whether mRNA is translated into the corresponding protein; this would be essential to establish if TPO isoforms have functional or antigenic activity. In order to be recognized by the immune system, TPO has to express certain epitopes and different isoforms may fold differently and therefore express alternative epitopes compared with full-length TPO. In fact epitopes may be of two kinds: linear and conformational. Linear epitopes, mainly recognized by T lymphocytes, consist of short linear peptides (8-20 amino acids) processed from protein antigens and subsequently bound to MHC class II (triggering CD4+ cells) or class I (triggering CD8+ cells) (246), as previously introduced in chapter 1, paragraph 1.2.2.1. Many authors identified TPO epitopes

recognized by T lymphocytes in the MPO-like sequence (246, 358-361). Furthermore, two T-lymphocyte epitopes have been found also in the C-terminal part of TPO protein, in particular in the transmembrane region (359, 360) and in the intracellular region (359). On the contrary conformational epitopes consist of juxtaposed amino acids occurring at intervals in the sequence (or "remote in the sequence") but brought closely together by the three-dimensional folding of the molecule (362). TPO epitopes recognized by human serum autoantibodies and B lymphocytes are for the great part conformational (242, 246, 255, 363, 364), therefore strongly related to tertiary and quaternary protein structures. Only a few TPO epitopes recognized by B-lymphocytes are linear: C21 and C2 (365, 366), as previously reported in chapter 3, paragraph 3.1.1.

Therefore, TPO isoforms lacking one or more exons probably fold into a different conformation when compared with the full-length TPO and hence may lose their antigenic property for B cells and autoantibodies, or expose alternative conformational epitopes. Considering that standard laboratory assays to detect TPOAb are based on the full-length TPO protein, they are likely to fail in detecting TPOAb directed towards epitopes present in TPO isoforms lacking one or more exons. This could be an explanation of the negative results obtained in chapter 4: TPOAb detected by standard assays (and therefore recognizing the full-length TPO) seem not to have any impact on BC prognosis. However, different results could be obtained measuring blood circulating TPOAb directed towards alternative epitopes present on hypothetical smaller TPO isoforms, whose gene lack one or more exons.

Similarly, the absence of TPOAb influencing BC prognosis does not exclude the presence of a hypothetical T lymphocytes common response between thyroid and BC cells.

Finally, metastatic BC patients at diagnosis were systematically excluded in our large-cohort prognostic study (chapter 4). Therefore, our findings of an absence of any substantial effect of TPOAb on the prognosis of non-metastatic BC cannot exclude the presence of a TPOAb protective effect on patients affected with metastatic BC, as described by other authors (184).

5.3 Future directions

First, it is important to state what I would do differently if I had to start my PhD again. During this time I learned the importance of a proper study design in order to deliver good quality science and research projects. Therefore, I would initially spend more time studying the literature related to my research project, delaying the start of laboratory experiments. In fact having a better knowledge of laboratory techniques and work already performed by different research groups would definitively save time in experimental optimizations and the identification of specific targets and goals. For example, if I had known before that phenol red exerts an oestrogenic stimulatory activity on MCF-7 cells, in chapter 3 I would have used a different cell culture medium for BC cells experiments and I may have obtained more defined conclusions about hormonal regulation of TPO gene expression. Similarly, I should have used charcoal stripped foetal calf serum, in order to avoid the presence of any hormones that could interfere with my *in vitro* assays.

Second, the results of the present thesis open multiple possibilities of future studies, as detailed below.

5.3.1 Functional and immunological characterization of breast cancerspecific TPO isoforms

First, in order to identify potential tissue specific TPO isoforms, a higher number of ex vivo human tissues should be tested with LongRange RT-PCR investigating the whole length of TPO mRNA. The following tissues (fresh frozen) should be included: thyroid tissue as positive control, BC, normal breast (from reductive mammoplasty), adipose tissue from different depots, other cancers (from kidney, pancreas, and also different sites) and relative normal tissues obtained from benign diseases affecting the same organs. Regarding BC, not only different histological types should be investigated but, even more importantly, different molecular types. In fact, as previously explained in paragraph 1.3.3.2, the clinical behavior of BC is more determined by molecular parameters, e.g. the expression of human epidermal growth factor receptor type 2 (HER2) and oestrogen receptor (ER) or progesterone receptor (PR). Similarly, it could be possible that TPO gene and different isoforms expression in BC is regulated and dependent on similar molecular factors. Different forward (F) and reverse (R) TPO primers in addition to F in exon 2 and R in exon 17 could also be used, in order to investigate for the presence of alternative START and STOP codons in TPO gene and therefore to identify TPO isoforms eventually missing exon 2 and/or 17.

Moreover, the mRNA sequence of all TPO isoforms could be better investigated with more recent high throughput techniques for the analysis of transcriptomics: RNA-Seq (367, 368).

Secondly, the corresponding protein should be investigated for the most promising potentially tissue-specific TPO isoforms identified. To this purpose the development of TPO-isoform specific antibodies would be recommended. For example the peptide of the TPO isoform apparently more abundant in breast and

adipose tissues, missing amino acids encoded by exons 14 and 16 (paragraph 3.4.2.2), could be generated by chemical synthesis (e.g. creating a peptide composed of sequential amino acids encoded by exons 13, 15 and 17). This peptide could then be used to generate a TPO antibody directed towards this specific TPO isoform, whose presence in human *ex vivo* tissues would be screened using WB in denaturing (loss of hydrogen and hydrophobic bonds) and reducing (loss of disulfide bonds) conditions. This would be essential in order to ensure that the peptide does not fold in tertiary structures potentially hiding the linear epitope recognized by the newly synthesized antibody. Using this technique, it could be possible to test several *ex vivo* human tissues for the expression of specific TPO isoforms that could be then verified by protein sequencing.

Considering that WB requires homogenized tissues and therefore it is impossible to distinguish between different tissue compartments (e.g. breast contains both breast cells and adipocytes), additional techniques such as immunohistochemistry (IHC) should be used, in order to exactly localize TPO expression within the tissue. Different antibodies may be needed for this technique, since with IHC TPO protein would be present preserving its tertiary and quaternary structure and therefore potentially hiding linear epitopes, while exposing conformational epitopes.

Similarly, different antibodies and different techniques from WB should be applied in order to investigate for the immunogenic properties of tissue-specific TPO isoforms, since they may also involve conformational epitopes. In fact TPO denaturation and reduction conditions typical of WB cause a considerable modification of the antigenic structure of TPO, with loss of many conformational epitopes; in the study of Ruf et al. 13 monoclonal TPO antibodies recognized native TPO, but only 5/13 (38.5%) recognized also denatured and/or reduced TPO (290). Specific monoclonal TPO antibody directed towards conformational epitopes of TPO isoforms could be produced by genetic immunization, as previously described by Costagliola *et al.* (369). Briefly, a plasmid DNA harboring one TPO isoform cDNA would be inoculated in the anterior tibialis muscle of mice; as a consequence, some mouse cells would internalize the plasmid DNA and express the TPO isoform and corresponding protein, leading to immunization and production of TPO isoform-specific antibodies, subsequently identified and purified. Considering that TPO is a transmembrane protein, TPO expression by mouse cells is essential in order to maintain the original conformation that would likely be lost if immunizing mice directly with the recombinant TPO isoforms produced in bacteria, since cell membrane-free. Antibodies produced with this technique could then be used in IHC to localize TPO isoforms expression within the examined tissues.

In order to test the functional and immunogenic properties of these TPO isoforms, in vitro assays could be used. CHO cells should be transfected with expression vectors like pcDNA3 containing the gene of a specific TPO isoform, so that the correspondent protein would be expressed by CHO cells, as performed in this study with NIS (chapter 2). The presence of circulating human TPOAb specific for these isoforms in the blood of individuals with TA and/or BC, compared with healthy controls, could be tested by flow cytometry, as performed in chapter 2 when searching for autoantibodies to NIS. Considering the presence of aspecific human immunoglobulins binding to antigens expressed on CHO cells surface (chapter 2, paragraph 2.4.2), it is likely to obtain the same limitation when investigating for TPOAb. In order to reduce this aspecific binding, it would be advisable to perform the pre-adsorption of human sera with a higher number of CHO cells compared to what was done in the present thesis (each 2µl of serum wee adsorbed approximately with $9x10^4$ cells: see paragraph 2.2.2.4). In a careful analysis of related literature, other authors suggested and performed a 10 times higher ratio of pre-adsorption of human sera for flow cytometry experiments in order to reduce the aspecific signal: each 2µl of serum were adsorbed approximately with 6×10^5 cells (230). This is an additional example of the importance of carefully checking the related literature during the study design and before performing the laboratory experiments. If I had to start again my PhD, I would perform differently the pre-adsorption step in flow cytometry experiments of chapter 2, according to these indications.

Regarding the functional activity of TPO isoforms, it is likely to be preserved if they contain the amino acidic sequence 239-494 AA (encoded by exons 7-8-9), corresponding to the catalytic site (247), as previously explained in chapter 3, paragraph 3.1.1. In order to test it, specific enzymatic assays based on guaiacol oxidation should be performed, as previously described (370).

If the presence of tissue-specific TPO isoforms should be confirmed, they could be used as diagnostic biomarkers and validated in longer prospective studies, as later proposed.

5.3.2 Prospective study

The results of chapter 4 indicated that TPOAb measured by standard assays and thyroid function do not seem to affect the prognosis of BC. However, this study has 2 main limitations: the lack of clinical history of thyroid diseases and the blood collection performed during or after adjuvant treatments for BC at different time-points, that could have affected TPOAb, FT4 and TSH values, even if major confounding is unlikely. For this reason, I would like to start a new largescale prospective study enrolling patients newly diagnosed with BC, in order to assess baseline parameters in a homogeneous and correct manner.

- ✤ Aims:
 - To correlate the expression of TPO isoforms in BC tissue with circulating isoform-specific TPOAb.
 - To investigate a hypothetical prognostic role of: 1) TPO isoforms expressed by tumoural tissue 2) TPOAb measured by standard assays collected before any treatment 3) isoform-specific TPOAb if present 4) thyroid function 5) thyroid volume.
 - To prospectively evaluate the impact of BC treatments on thyroid function and autoimmunity. This would represent one of the first principal studies in this field.
- Inclusion criteria: considering that the high BC survival as a consequence of highly effective BC treatments could hide a minor positive prognostic role of TPOAb, I would include in the study patients affected with BC not suitable for usual treatments, e.g. chemotherapy because elderly or having medical contraindications, or target therapy because triple negative BC.
- ✤ Materials:
 - Accurate clinical history including thyroid diseases, thyroid medications and use of drugs potentially affecting thyroid function (e.g. amiodarone), familiarity for BC and thyroid diseases.
 - Blood for serum extraction collected before any treatment, including breast surgery, in order to avoid any treatment-related possible bias. Blood would be subsequently collected every year until the end of follow-up (initially 5 years, pre-planning a more mature analysis): this would allow to document eventual effects of treatments on thyroid function and autoimmunity.
 - Fresh tissues collected during breast surgery, immediately snap frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80 °C.
- Methods:
 - mRNA expression of TPO isoforms: RNA extraction from tissues, LongRange RT-PCR, gene sequencing, RNA-seq analysis
 - Protein expression of TPO isoforms: protein extraction from tissues and analysis with WB using isoform-specific monoclonal TPOAb and protein sequencing for confirmation
 - Serum would be tested for autoantibodies recognizing specific TPO isoforms by flow cytometry using CHO cells transfected with different TPO isoforms.

The same statistical analyses performed in chapter 4 would be applied in order to assess the prognostic impact of: 1) TPO isoforms (mRNA and/or protein) expressed in tumoural tissue; 2) circulating TPOAb (both measured by standard assays detecting full-length TPO and specific for TPO isoforms, when present); 3) thyroid function (FT4 and TSH); 4) additional parameters of TA with a suggested role on BC prognosis, such as the thyroid volume (182), measured for each patient by ultrasound examination.

5.3.3 In vitro studies investigating the regulation of TPO expression in breast cancer cell lines

Finally, *in vitro* assays investigating the regulation of TPO expression in BC cell lines (MCF-7, T-47D and MDAMB-231) should be repeated with the following modifications: 1) using phenol red-free culture medium and charcoal stripped foetal calf serum in order to eliminate uncontrolled hormonal interferences 2) trying different concentrations of estradiol and Insulin-like growth factor type II (IGF-II). Furthermore, considering that TPO is expressed also in adipose tissue and that adipocytes within mammary gland carcinomas seem to be dynamic cells that may contribute to human BC progression (274), accurate studies of adipokines should be performed in order to add the most important ones to the cell culture medium.

5.4 Summary conclusions

In the present thesis, a shared immune response between thyroid and breast cancer (BC) tissues has been hypothesized, in order to explain the association between thyroid autoimmunity (TA) and BC, summarized in chapter 1. Considering that the sodium iodide symporter (NIS) is expressed by both thyroid and BC tissues, the presence of circulating autoantibodies to NIS has been investigated among patients affected with TA and/or BC, with negative results (Chapter 2). Therefore, considering that thyroid peroxidase (TPO) is one of the major antigens involved in TA and that autoantibodies to TPO (TPOAb) are more prevalent among patients affected with BC compared with healthy controls, the presence of TPO expression has been investigated in BC tissue, obtaining positive results, even if expressed at a much lower level compared with thyroid tissue. TPO expression has been found also in different examined tissues, e.g. adipose tissues or other cancers and, more importantly, the results of the present study suggest the possibility that different TPO isoforms obtained by alternative splicing of TPO gene may be tissue-specific and therefore potentially used as biomarkers for BC (Chapter 3). Despite the presence of circulating TPOAb being previously suggested

as a positive prognostic factor for BC in small-scale studies, the results of the present retrospective study obtained in a large patients cohort with an extensive follow-up showed no apparent evidence for a significant prognostic role for BC of TPOAb measured by standard assays, as well as of thyroid function (Chapter 4). Future studies should further investigate TPO isoforms expression in BC tissue and their potential as biomarkers, as well as searching for different TPO isoforms-specific TPOAb, not detectable by standard assays. A prospective study should validate the findings of the present retrospective study and also investigate whether these alternative TPO isoforms-specific TPOAb, differently from TPOAb recognizing full-length TPO, could have a prognostic role for BC.

REFERENCES

1. Melmed S, Polonsky KS, Larsen PR, Kronenberg HM. Thyroid. Williams Textbook of Endocrinology. 12th ed: Elsevier Saunders; 2012. p. 327-440.

2. Amazonaws. [Available from: http://classconnection.s3.amazonaws.com/33/flashcards/602033/jpg/05_thyroid _histology1313289811703.jpg

3. bcrc.bio.umass.edu. 2013 [Available from: https://bcrc.bio.umass.edu/courses/spring2013/biol/biol523/sites/default/files/s imple_cuboudal_edited_0.jpg

4. Bernal J, Guadano-Ferraz A, Morte B. Thyroid hormone transporters-functions and clinical implications. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2015;11(7):406-17.

5. Melmed S, Polonsky KS, Larsen PR, Kronenberg HM. Hypothalamus and Pituitary. Williams Textbook of Endocrinology. 12th ed: Elsevier Saunders; 2012. p. 115-211.

6. Jackson IM. Thyrotropin-releasing hormone. N Engl J Med. 1982;306(3):145-55.

7. Lechan RM, Kakucska I. Feedback regulation of thyrotropin-releasing hormone gene expression by thyroid hormone in the hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus. Ciba Found Symp. 1992;168:144-58; discussion 58-64.

8. Hiller-Sturmhofel S, Bartke A. The endocrine system: an overview. Alcohol Health Res World. 1998;22(3):153-64.

9. Rapoport B, Chazenbalk GD, Jaume JC, McLachlan SM. The thyrotropin (TSH) receptor: interaction with TSH and autoantibodies. Endocr Rev. 1998;19(6):673-716.

10. Dumont J, Opitz r, Christophe D, Vassart G, Roger PP, Maenhaut C. Ontogeny, Anatomy, Metabolism and Physiology of the Thyroid. In: De Groot LJ, Beck-Peccoz P, Chrousos G, Dungan K, Grossman A, Hershman JM, et al., editors. Endotext. South Dartmouth (MA)2000.

11. Bianco AC, Salvatore D, Gereben B, Berry MJ, Larsen PR. Biochemistry, cellular and molecular biology, and physiological roles of the iodothyronine selenodeiodinases. Endocr Rev. 2002;23(1):38-89.

12. Christoffolete MA, Ribeiro R, Singru P, Fekete C, da Silva WS, Gordon DF, et al. Atypical expression of type 2 iodothyronine deiodinase in thyrotrophs explains the thyroxine-mediated pituitary thyrotropin feedback mechanism. Endocrinology. 2006;147(4):1735-43.

13. Wu SY, Green WL, Huang WS, Hays MT, Chopra IJ. Alternate pathways of thyroid hormone metabolism. Thyroid. 2005;15(8):943-58.

14. Lazar MA. Thyroid hormone action: a binding contract. J Clin Invest. 2003;112(4):497-9.

15. Amma LL, Campos-Barros A, Wang Z, Vennstrom B, Forrest D. Distinct tissue-specific roles for thyroid hormone receptors beta and alpha1 in regulation of type 1 deiodinase expression. Mol Endocrinol. 2001;15(3):467-75.

16. Abel ED, Kaulbach HC, Campos-Barros A, Ahima RS, Boers ME, Hashimoto K, et al. Novel insight from transgenic mice into thyroid hormone resistance and the regulation of thyrotropin. J Clin Invest. 1999;103(2):271-9.

17. Moran C, Chatterjee K. Resistance to thyroid hormone due to defective thyroid receptor alpha. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2015;29(4):647-57.

18. Hennessey JV. Subacute Thyroiditis. In: De Groot LJ, Beck-Peccoz P, Chrousos G, Dungan K, Grossman A, Hershman JM, et al., editors. Endotext. South Dartmouth (MA)2000.

19. Chopra D, Wool MS, Crosson A, Sawin CT. Riedel's struma associated with subacute thyroiditis, hypothyroidism, and hypoparathyroidism. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1978;46(6):869-71.

20. Hayter SM, Cook MC. Updated assessment of the prevalence, spectrum and case definition of autoimmune disease. Autoimmun Rev. 2012;11(10):754-65.
21. Vanderpump MP. The epidemiology of thyroid disease. Br Med Bull. 2011;99:39-51.

22. Murphy K. Janeway's Immunobiology. 8th ed: Garland Science Taylor & Francis Group; 2012.

23. Huppa JB, Davis MM. T-cell-antigen recognition and the immunological synapse. Nat Rev Immunol. 2003;3(12):973-83.

24. Maloy KJ, Powrie F. Regulatory T cells in the control of immune pathology. Nat Immunol. 2001;2(9):816-22.

25. Sakaguchi S, Sakaguchi N, Shimizu J, Yamazaki S, Sakihama T, Itoh M, et al. Immunologic tolerance maintained by CD25+ CD4+ regulatory T cells: their common role in controlling autoimmunity, tumor immunity, and transplantation tolerance. Immunol Rev. 2001;182:18-32.

26. Merrill SJ, Mu Y. Thyroid autoimmunity as a window to autoimmunity: An explanation for sex differences in the prevalence of thyroid autoimmunity. J Theor Biol. 2015;375:95-100.

27. Armengol MP, Juan M, Lucas-Martin A, Fernandez-Figueras MT, Jaraquemada D, Gallart T, et al. Thyroid autoimmune disease: demonstration of thyroid antigen-specific B cells and recombination-activating gene expression in chemokine-containing active intrathyroidal germinal centers. Am J Pathol. 2001;159(3):861-73.

28. Armengol MP, Cardoso-Schmidt CB, Fernandez M, Ferrer X, Pujol-Borrell R, Juan M. Chemokines determine local lymphoneogenesis and a reduction of circulating CXCR4+ T and CCR7 B and T lymphocytes in thyroid autoimmune diseases. J Immunol. 2003;170(12):6320-8.

29. Kawashima A, Tanigawa K, Akama T, Yoshihara A, Ishii N, Suzuki K. Innate immune activation and thyroid autoimmunity. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2011;96(12):3661-71.

30. Lee HJ, Li CW, Hammerstad SS, Stefan M, Tomer Y. Immunogenetics of autoimmune thyroid diseases: A comprehensive review. J Autoimmun. 2015;64:82-90.

31. Prummel MF, Strieder T, Wiersinga WM. The environment and autoimmune thyroid diseases. Eur J Endocrinol. 2004;150(5):605-18.

32. Tomer Y, Blackard JT, Akeno N. Interferon alpha treatment and thyroid dysfunction. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am. 2007;36(4):1051-66; x-xi.

33. Simmonds MJ, Howson JM, Heward JM, Carr-Smith J, Franklyn JA, Todd JA, et al. A novel and major association of HLA-C in Graves' disease that eclipses the classical HLA-DRB1 effect. Hum Mol Genet. 2007;16(18):2149-53.

34. Simmonds MJ, Howson JM, Heward JM, Cordell HJ, Foxall H, Carr-Smith J, et al. Regression mapping of association between the human leukocyte antigen region and Graves disease. Am J Hum Genet. 2005;76(1):157-63.

35. Jacobson EM, Huber A, Tomer Y. The HLA gene complex in thyroid autoimmunity: from epidemiology to etiology. J Autoimmun. 2008;30(1-2):58-62.

36. Teft WA, Kirchhof MG, Madrenas J. A molecular perspective of CTLA-4 function. Annu Rev Immunol. 2006;24:65-97.

37. Munroe ME. Functional roles for T cell CD40 in infection and autoimmune disease: the role of CD40 in lymphocyte homeostasis. Semin Immunol. 2009;21(5):283-8.

38. Brand OJ, Gough SC. Genetics of thyroid autoimmunity and the role of the TSHR. Mol Cell Endocrinol. 2010;322(1-2):135-43.

39. Cerosaletti K, Schneider A, Schwedhelm K, Frank I, Tatum M, Wei S, et al. Multiple autoimmune-associated variants confer decreased IL-2R signaling in CD4+ CD25(hi) T cells of type 1 diabetic and multiple sclerosis patients. PLoS One. 2013;8(12):e83811.

40. Brand OJ, Lowe CE, Heward JM, Franklyn JA, Cooper JD, Todd JA, et al. Association of the interleukin-2 receptor alpha (IL-2Ralpha)/CD25 gene region with Graves' disease using a multilocus test and tag SNPs. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2007;66(4):508-12.

41. Tomer Y, Hasham A, Davies TF, Stefan M, Concepcion E, Keddache M, et al. Fine mapping of loci linked to autoimmune thyroid disease identifies novel susceptibility genes. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2013;98(1):E144-52.

42. Jungel A, Ospelt C, Gay S. What can we learn from epigenetics in the year 2009? Curr Opin Rheumatol. 2010;22(3):284-92.

43. Tomer Y. Mechanisms of autoimmune thyroid diseases: from genetics to epigenetics. Annu Rev Pathol. 2014;9:147-56.

44. Fournie GJ, Mas M, Cautain B, Savignac M, Subra JF, Pelletier L, et al. Induction of autoimmunity through bystander effects. Lessons from immunological disorders induced by heavy metals. J Autoimmun. 2001;16(3):319-26.

45. Desailloud R, Hober D. Viruses and thyroiditis: an update. Virol J. 2009;6:5.

46. Tomer Y, Huber A. The etiology of autoimmune thyroid disease: a story of genes and environment. J Autoimmun. 2009;32(3-4):231-9.

47. Tajiri J, Higashi K, Morita M, Umeda T, Sato T. Studies of hypothyroidism in patients with high iodine intake. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1986;63(2):412-7.

48. Saboori AM, Rose NR, Bresler HS, Vladut-Talor M, Burek CL. Iodination of human thyroglobulin (Tg) alters its immunoreactivity. I. Iodination alters multiple epitopes of human Tg. Clin Exp Immunol. 1998;113(2):297-302.

49. Barbesino G, Chiovato L. The genetics of Hashimoto's disease. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am. 2000;29(2):357-74.

50. Lewy-Trenda I. Estrogen and progesterone receptors in neoplastic and nonneoplastic thyroid lesions. Pol J Pathol. 2002;53(2):67-72.

51. Carbone F, La Rocca C, Matarese G. Immunological functions of leptin and adiponectin. Biochimie. 2012;94(10):2082-8.

52. Garcia-Mayor RV, Andrade MA, Rios M, Lage M, Dieguez C, Casanueva FF. Serum leptin levels in normal children: relationship to age, gender, body mass index, pituitary-gonadal hormones, and pubertal stage. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1997;82(9):2849-55.

53. Stagnaro-Green A, Roman SH, Cobin RH, el-Harazy E, Wallenstein S, Davies TF. A prospective study of lymphocyte-initiated immunosuppression in normal pregnancy: evidence of a T-cell etiology for postpartum thyroid dysfunction. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1992;74(3):645-53.

54. Klintschar M, Schwaiger P, Mannweiler S, Regauer S, Kleiber M. Evidence of fetal microchimerism in Hashimoto's thyroiditis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2001;86(6):2494-8.

55. Imaizumi M, Pritsker A, Unger P, Davies TF. Intrathyroidal fetal microchimerism in pregnancy and postpartum. Endocrinology. 2002;143(1):247-53.
56. Fugazzola L, Cirello V, Beck-Peccoz P, Fugazzola L, Cirello V, Beck-Peccoz P. Microchimerism and endocrine disorders. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism. 2012;97(5):1452-61.

57. Coles AJ, Wing M, Smith S, Coraddu F, Greer S, Taylor C, et al. Pulsed monoclonal antibody treatment and autoimmune thyroid disease in multiple sclerosis. Lancet. 1999;354(9191):1691-5.

58. Mizokami T, Wu Li A, El-Kaissi S, Wall JR. Stress and thyroid autoimmunity. Thyroid. 2004;14(12):1047-55.

59. Takeoka K, Hidaka Y, Hanada H, Nomura T, Tanaka S, Takano T, et al. Increase in serum levels of autoantibodies after attack of seasonal allergic rhinitis in patients with Graves' disease. Int Arch Allergy Immunol. 2003;132(3):268-76.

60. Pearce EN, Farwell AP, Braverman LE. Thyroiditis. N Engl J Med. 2003;348(26):2646-55.

61. Chen CR, Hamidi S, Braley-Mullen H, Nagayama Y, Bresee C, Aliesky HA, et al. Antibodies to thyroid peroxidase arise spontaneously with age in NOD.H-2h4 mice and appear after thyroglobulin antibodies. Endocrinology. 2010;151(9):4583-93.

62. Kuhr T, Hala K, Dietrich H, Herold M, Wick G. Genetically determined target organ susceptibility in the pathogenesis of spontaneous autoimmune

thyroiditis: aberrant expression of MHC-class II antigens and the possible role of virus. J Autoimmun. 1994;7(1):13-25.

63. Hollowell JG, Staehling NW, Flanders WD, Hannon WH, Gunter EW, Spencer CA, et al. Serum TSH, T(4), and thyroid antibodies in the United States population (1988 to 1994): National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES III). J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2002;87(2):489-99.

64. Vanderpump MP, Tunbridge WM, French JM, Appleton D, Bates D, Clark F, et al. The incidence of thyroid disorders in the community: a twenty-year followup of the Whickham Survey. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 1995;43(1):55-68.

65. Hackett E, Beech M, Forbes IJ. Thyrogloubulin antibodies in patients without clinical disease of the thyroid gland. Lancet. 1960;2(7147):402-4.

66. Zanussi C, Rugarli C, Casali P, Fabio G, Perussia B, Sabbadini Villa MG, et al. Immunological status of aged subjects with reference to serological evidence of autoimmunity. La Ricerca in clinica e in laboratorio. 1977;7(2):115-23.

67. Tunbridge WM, Brewis M, French JM, Appleton D, Bird T, Clark F, et al. Natural history of autoimmune thyroiditis. British medical journal. 1981;282(6260):258-62.

68. Pedersen IB, Knudsen N, Carle A, Vejbjerg P, Jorgensen T, Perrild H, et al. A cautious iodization programme bringing iodine intake to a low recommended level is associated with an increase in the prevalence of thyroid autoantibodies in the population. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2011;75(1):120-6.

69. Li M, Boyages SC. lodide induced lymphocytic thyroiditis in the BB/W rat: evidence of direct toxic effects of iodide on thyroid subcellular structure. Autoimmunity. 1994;18(1):31-40.

70. Dunn JT, Kim PS, Dunn AD, Heppner DG, Jr., Moore RC. The role of iodination in the formation of hormone-rich peptides from thyroglobulin. J Biol Chem. 1983;258(15):9093-9.

71. Medici M, Porcu E, Pistis G, Teumer A, Brown SJ, Jensen RA, et al. Identification of novel genetic Loci associated with thyroid peroxidase antibodies and clinical thyroid disease. PLoS Genet. 2014;10(2):e1004123.

72. Weetman AP. Diseases associated with thyroid autoimmunity: explanations for the expanding spectrum. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2011;74(4):411-8.

73. Giordano C, Stassi G, De Maria R, Todaro M, Richiusa P, Papoff G, et al. Potential involvement of Fas and its ligand in the pathogenesis of Hashimoto's thyroiditis. Science. 1997;275(5302):960-3.

74. Brix TH, Hegedus L, Gardas A, Banga JP, Nielsen CH. Monozygotic twin pairs discordant for Hashimoto's thyroiditis share a high proportion of thyroid peroxidase autoantibodies to the immunodominant region A. Further evidence for genetic transmission of epitopic "fingerprints". Autoimmunity. 2011;44(3):188-94.

75. Huber G, Staub JJ, Meier C, Mitrache C, Guglielmetti M, Huber P, et al. Prospective study of the spontaneous course of subclinical hypothyroidism: prognostic value of thyrotropin, thyroid reserve, and thyroid antibodies. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2002;87(7):3221-6.

76. Nielsen CH, Brix TH, Leslie RG, Hegedus L. A role for autoantibodies in enhancement of pro-inflammatory cytokine responses to a self-antigen, thyroid peroxidase. Clin Immunol. 2009;133(2):218-27.

77. Rodien P, Madec AM, Ruf J, Rajas F, Bornet H, Carayon P, et al. Antibodydependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity in autoimmune thyroid disease: relationship to antithyroperoxidase antibodies. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1996;81(7):2595-600.

78. Chiovato L, Bassi P, Santini F, Mammoli C, Lapi P, Carayon P, et al. Antibodies producing complement-mediated thyroid cytotoxicity in patients with atrophic or goitrous autoimmune thyroiditis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1993;77(6):1700-5.

79. Poppe K, Velkeniers B, Glinoer D. The role of thyroid autoimmunity in fertility and pregnancy. Nat Clin Pract Endocrinol Metab. 2008;4(7):394-405.

80. Negro R, Mestman JH. Thyroid disease in pregnancy. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2011;25(6):927-43.

81. Tamaki H, Amino N, Kimura M, Hidaka Y, Takeoka K, Miyai K. Low prevalence of thyrotropin receptor antibody in primary hypothyroidism in Japan. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1990;71(5):1382-6.

82. Tunbridge WM, Evered DC, Hall R, Appleton D, Brewis M, Clark F, et al. The spectrum of thyroid disease in a community: the Whickham survey. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 1977;7(6):481-93.

83. McGrogan A, Seaman HE, Wright JW, de Vries CS. The incidence of autoimmune thyroid disease: a systematic review of the literature. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2008;69(5):687-96.

84. Smith BR, Hall R. Thyroid-stimulating immunoglobulins in Graves' disease. Lancet. 1974;2(7878):427-31.

85. Dechairo BM, Zabaneh D, Collins J, Brand O, Dawson GJ, Green AP, et al. Association of the TSHR gene with Graves' disease: the first disease specific locus. Eur J Hum Genet. 2005;13(11):1223-30.

86. Strieder TG, Prummel MF, Tijssen JG, Endert E, Wiersinga WM. Risk factors for and prevalence of thyroid disorders in a cross-sectional study among healthy female relatives of patients with autoimmune thyroid disease. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2003;59(3):396-401.

87. Huber A, Menconi F, Corathers S, Jacobson EM, Tomer Y. Joint genetic susceptibility to type 1 diabetes and autoimmune thyroiditis: from epidemiology to mechanisms. Endocr Rev. 2008;29(6):697-725.

88. DeGroot LJ. Graves' Disease and the Manifestations of Thyrotoxicosis. In: De Groot LJ, Beck-Peccoz P, Chrousos G, Dungan K, Grossman A, Hershman JM, et al., editors. Endotext. South Dartmouth (MA)2000.

89. WHO, UNICEF, ICCIDD. Assessment of iodine deficiency disorders and monitoring their elimination. Geneva: WHO. 2001;WHO/NHD/01.1.

90. Glinoer D. Clinical and biological consequences of iodine deficiency during pregnancy. Endocr Dev. 2007;10:62-85.

91. Dohan O, De la Vieja A, Paroder V, Riedel C, Artani M, Reed M, et al. The sodium/iodide Symporter (NIS): characterization, regulation, and medical significance. Endocr Rev. 2003;24(1):48-77.

92. Vander JB, Gaston EA, Dawber TR. The significance of nontoxic thyroid nodules. Final report of a 15-year study of the incidence of thyroid malignancy. Ann Intern Med. 1968;69(3):537-40.

93. Mortensen JD, Woolner LB, Bennett WA. Gross and microscopic findings in clinically normal thyroid glands. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1955;15(10):1270-80.

94. Tan GH, Gharib H. Thyroid incidentalomas: management approaches to nonpalpable nodules discovered incidentally on thyroid imaging. Ann Intern Med. 1997;126(3):226-31.

95. Hegedus L, Bonnema SJ, Bennedbaek FN. Management of simple nodular goiter: current status and future perspectives. Endocr Rev. 2003;24(1):102-32.

96. Manole D, Schildknecht B, Gosnell B, Adams E, Derwahl M. Estrogen promotes growth of human thyroid tumor cells by different molecular mechanisms. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2001;86(3):1072-7.

97. Krohn K, Fuhrer D, Bayer Y, Eszlinger M, Brauer V, Neumann S, et al. Molecular pathogenesis of euthyroid and toxic multinodular goiter. Endocr Rev. 2005;26(4):504-24.

98. Gruters A, Krude H. Update on the management of congenital hypothyroidism. Horm Res. 2007;68 Suppl 5:107-11.

99. Smith TJ, Bahn RS, Gorman CA. Connective tissue, glycosaminoglycans, and diseases of the thyroid. Endocr Rev. 1989;10(3):366-91.

100. Cotran R, Kumar V, Collins T. Robbins Pathologic Basis of Disease. 6th ed: W.B. Saunders; 1999.

101. Sherman SI. Thyroid carcinoma. Lancet. 2003;361(9356):501-11.

102. Premawardhana LD, Lazarus JH. Disorders of the thyroid gland. In: Scanlon MF, Rees DA, editors. Endocrinology: Mosby Elsevier; 2008. p. 59-88.

103. Rees DA. Neuroendocrine and inherited endocrine tumours. In: Scanlon MF, Rees DA, editors. Endocrinology: Mosby Elsevier; 2008. p. 209-35.

104. Knowles PP, Murray-Rust J, Kjaer S, Scott RP, Hanrahan S, Santoro M, et al. Structure and chemical inhibition of the RET tyrosine kinase domain. J Biol Chem. 2006;281(44):33577-87.

105. Jemal A, Bray F, Center MM, Ferlay J, Ward E, Forman D. Global cancer statistics. CA Cancer J Clin. 2011;61(2):69-90.

106. Coleman MP, Forman D, Bryant H, Butler J, Rachet B, Maringe C, et al. Cancer survival in Australia, Canada, Denmark, Norway, Sweden, and the UK, 1995-2007 (the International Cancer Benchmarking Partnership): an analysis of population-based cancer registry data. Lancet. 2011;377(9760):127-38.

107. Howell A, Anderson AS, Clarke RB, Duffy SW, Evans DG, Garcia-Closas M, et al. Risk determination and prevention of breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res. 2014;16(5):446.

108. Moore KL, Agur AMR, Dalley AF. Essential clinical anatomy. 5th ed: Wolters Kluwer Health; 2015. p. 52-5.

109. Lowe JS, Anderson PG. Stevens & Lowe's Human Histology. 4th ed: Elsevier Mosby; 2015. p. 378-83.

110. Donegan WL, Spratt JS. Physiology and Function of the Breast. Cancer of the Breast. 5th ed: Saunders; 2002. p. 45-55.

111. WHO. Breastfeeding. 2009. In: Infant and young child feeding: model chapter for textbooks for medical students and allied health professionals [Internet]. WHO Press; [9-17].

112. Dahkal P. Physiology of Lactation 2011 [Available from: http://www.slideshare.net/Prativas/physiology-of-lactation

113. Honrado E, Benitez J, Palacios J. The molecular pathology of hereditary breast cancer: genetic testing and therapeutic implications. Mod Pathol. 2005;18(10):1305-20.

114. Venkitaraman AR. Cancer susceptibility and the functions of BRCA1 and BRCA2. Cell. 2002;108(2):171-82.

115. Cipollini G, Tommasi S, Paradiso A, Aretini P, Bonatti F, Brunetti I, et al. Genetic alterations in hereditary breast cancer. Ann Oncol. 2004;15 Suppl 1:17-113. 116. Gage M, Wattendorf D, Henry LR. Translational advances regarding hereditary breast cancer syndromes. J Surg Oncol. 2012;105(5):444-51.

117. Parkin DM, Boyd L, Walker LC. 16. The fraction of cancer attributable to lifestyle and environmental factors in the UK in 2010. Br J Cancer. 2011;105 Suppl 2:S77-81.

118. Preston-Martin S, Pike MC, Ross RK, Henderson BE. Epidemiologic evidence for the increased cell proliferation model of carcinogenesis. Prog Clin Biol Res. 1991;369:21-34.

119. Helzlsouer KJ, Couzi R. Hormones and breast cancer. Cancer. 1995;76(10 Suppl):2059-63.

120. Kahlenborn C, Modugno F, Potter DM, Severs WB. Oral contraceptive use as a risk factor for premenopausal breast cancer: a meta-analysis. Mayo Clin Proc. 2006;81(10):1290-302.

121. Marchbanks PA, McDonald JA, Wilson HG, Folger SG, Mandel MG, Daling JR, et al. Oral contraceptives and the risk of breast cancer. N Engl J Med. 2002;346(26):2025-32.

122. Zhong GC, Cheng JH, Xu XL, Wang K. Meta-analysis of oral contraceptive use and risks of all-cause and cause-specific death. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2015;131(3):228-33.

123. Moorman PG, Havrilesky LJ, Gierisch JM, Coeytaux RR, Lowery WJ, Peragallo Urrutia R, et al. Oral contraceptives and risk of ovarian cancer and breast cancer among high-risk women: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31(33):4188-98.

124. Pihan GA, Doxsey SJ. The mitotic machinery as a source of genetic instability in cancer. Semin Cancer Biol. 1999;9(4):289-302.

125. Renehan AG, Tyson M, Egger M, Heller RF, Zwahlen M. Body-mass index and incidence of cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective observational studies. Lancet. 2008;371(9612):569-78.

126. Albuquerque RC, Baltar VT, Marchioni DM. Breast cancer and dietary patterns: a systematic review. Nutr Rev. 2014;72(1):1-17.

127. Aceves C, Anguiano B, Delgado G, Aceves C, Anguiano B, Delgado G. Is iodine a gatekeeper of the integrity of the mammary gland? Journal of Mammary Gland Biology & Neoplasia. 2005;10(2):189-96.

128. Lynch BM, Neilson HK, Friedenreich CM. Physical activity and breast cancer prevention. Recent Results Cancer Res. 2011;186:13-42.

129. Land CE, Tokunaga M, Koyama K, Soda M, Preston DL, Nishimori I, et al. Incidence of female breast cancer among atomic bomb survivors, Hiroshima and Nagasaki, 1950-1990. Radiat Res. 2003;160(6):707-17.

130. Hendrick RE. Radiation doses and cancer risks from breast imaging studies. Radiology. 2010;257(1):246-53.

131. Brody JG, Rudel RA, Michels KB, Moysich KB, Bernstein L, Attfield KR, et al. Environmental pollutants, diet, physical activity, body size, and breast cancer: where do we stand in research to identify opportunities for prevention? Cancer. 2007;109(12 Suppl):2627-34.

132. Ferro R, Parvathaneni A, Patel S, Cheriyath P. Pesticides and breast cancer. Advances in Breast Cancer Research. 2012;1:30-5.

133. Tsilidis KK, Allen NE, Appleby PN, Rohrmann S, Nothlings U, Arriola L, et al. Diabetes mellitus and risk of prostate cancer in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition. Int J Cancer. 2015;136(2):372-81.

134. Joung KH, Jeong JW, Ku BJ. The association between type 2 diabetes mellitus and women cancer: the epidemiological evidences and putative mechanisms. Biomed Res Int. 2015;2015:920618.

135. Viale G. The current state of breast cancer classification. Ann Oncol. 2012;23 Suppl 10:x207-10.

136. Lakhani SR, Ellis IO, Schnitt SJ, Tan PH, Van de Vijver MJ. WHO Classification of Tumours of the Breast. 4th ed: IARC Press; 2012.

137. Sinn HP, Kreipe H. A Brief Overview of the WHO Classification of Breast Tumors, 4th Edition, Focusing on Issues and Updates from the 3rd Edition. Breast Care (Basel). 2013;8(2):149-54.

138. Clarke RB. Steroid receptors and proliferation in the human breast. Steroids. 2003;68(10-13):789-94.

139. Hammond ME, Hayes DF, Dowsett M, Allred DC, Hagerty KL, Badve S, et al. American Society of Clinical Oncology/College Of American Pathologists guideline recommendations for immunohistochemical testing of estrogen and progesterone receptors in breast cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28(16):2784-95.

140. Penault-Llorca F, Bilous M, Dowsett M, Hanna W, Osamura RY, Ruschoff J, et al. Emerging technologies for assessing HER2 amplification. Am J Clin Pathol. 2009;132(4):539-48.

141. Goldhirsch A, Ingle JN, Gelber RD, Coates AS, Thurlimann B, Senn HJ, et al. Thresholds for therapies: highlights of the St Gallen International Expert Consensus on the primary therapy of early breast cancer 2009. Ann Oncol. 2009;20(8):1319-29.

142. Gerdes J, Schwab U, Lemke H, Stein H. Production of a mouse monoclonal antibody reactive with a human nuclear antigen associated with cell proliferation. Int J Cancer. 1983;31(1):13-20.

143. Perou CM, Sorlie T, Eisen MB, van de Rijn M, Jeffrey SS, Rees CA, et al. Molecular portraits of human breast tumours. Nature. 2000;406(6797):747-52.

144. Hugh J, Hanson J, Cheang MC, Nielsen TO, Perou CM, Dumontet C, et al. Breast cancer subtypes and response to docetaxel in node-positive breast cancer: use of an immunohistochemical definition in the BCIRG 001 trial. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27(8):1168-76. 145. Goldhirsch A, Wood WC, Coates AS, Gelber RD, Thurlimann B, Senn HJ, et al. Strategies for subtypes--dealing with the diversity of breast cancer: highlights of the St. Gallen International Expert Consensus on the Primary Therapy of Early Breast Cancer 2011. Ann Oncol. 2011;22(8):1736-47.

146. Cheung KL, Graves CR, Robertson JF. Tumour marker measurements in the diagnosis and monitoring of breast cancer. Cancer Treat Rev. 2000;26(2):91-102.

147. Harris L, Fritsche H, Mennel R, Norton L, Ravdin P, Taube S, et al. American Society of Clinical Oncology 2007 update of recommendations for the use of tumor markers in breast cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2007;25(33):5287-312.

148. Lee JS, Park S, Park JM, Cho JH, Kim SI, Park BW. Elevated levels of serum tumor markers CA 15-3 and CEA are prognostic factors for diagnosis of metastatic breast cancers. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2013;141(3):477-84.

149. Schwarzenbach H, Pantel K. Circulating DNA as biomarker in breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res. 2015;17(1):136.

150. Ignatiadis M, Lee M, Jeffrey SS. Circulating Tumor Cells and Circulating Tumor DNA: Challenges and Opportunities on the Path to Clinical Utility. Clin Cancer Res. 2015;21(21):4786-800.

151. van Schooneveld E, Wildiers H, Vergote I, Vermeulen PB, Dirix LY, Van Laere SJ. Dysregulation of microRNAs in breast cancer and their potential role as prognostic and predictive biomarkers in patient management. Breast Cancer Res. 2015;17:21.

152. Graveel CR, Calderone HM, Westerhuis JJ, Winn ME, Sempere LF. Critical analysis of the potential for microRNA biomarkers in breast cancer management. Breast Cancer (Dove Med Press). 2015;7:59-79.

153. Beatson GT. On the treatment of inoperable cases of carcinoma of the mamma: suggestions for a new method of treatment, with illustrative cases. Lancet. 1896;2:104-7.

154. Ito K, Maruchi N. Breast cancer in patients with Hashimoto's thyroiditis. Lancet. 1975;2(7945):1119-21.

155. Rasmusson B, Feldt-Rasmussen U, Hegedus L, Perrild H, Bech K, Hoier-Madsen M. Thyroid function in patients with breast cancer. Eur J Cancer Clin Oncol. 1987;23(5):553-6.

156. Turken O, Narln Y, Demlrbas S, Onde ME, Sayan O, Kandemlr EG, et al. Breast cancer in association with thyroid disorders. Breast Cancer Res. 2003;5(5):R110-3.

157. Hardefeldt PJ, Eslick GD, Edirimanne S. Benign thyroid disease is associated with breast cancer: a meta-analysis. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2012;133(3):1169-77.

158. Prinzi N, Baldini E, Sorrenti S, De Vito C, Tuccilli C, Catania A, et al. Prevalence of breast cancer in thyroid diseases: results of a cross-sectional study of 3,921 patients. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2014;144(3):683-8.

159. Maruchi N, Annegers JF, Kurland LT. Hashimoto's thyroiditis and breast cancer. Mayo Clin Proc. 1976;51(5):263-5.

160. Hedley AJ, Spiegelhalter DJ, Jones SJ, Clements P. Thyroid disease and breast cancer. Lancet. 1981;1(8219):558.

161. Sarlis NJ, Gourgiotis L, Pucino F, Tolis GJ. Lack of association between Hashimoto thyroiditis and breast cancer: a quantitative research synthesis. Hormones (Athens). 2002;1(1):35-41.

162. Simon MS, Tang MT, Bernstein L, Norman SA, Weiss L, Burkman RT, et al. Do thyroid disorders increase the risk of breast cancer? Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 2002;11(12):1574-8.

163. Michalaki V, Kondi-Pafiti A, Gennatas S, Antoniou A, Primetis H, Gennatas C. Breast cancer in association with thyroid disorders. J BUON. 2009;14(3):425-8.

164. Prinzi N, Sorrenti S, Baldini E, De Vito C, Tuccilli C, Catania A, et al. Association of thyroid diseases with primary extra-thyroidal malignancies in women: Results of a cross-sectional study of 6,386 patients. PLoS ONE. 2015;10(3):e0122958. 165. Muller I, Pinchera A, Fiore E, Belardi V, Rosellini V, Giustarini E, et al. High prevalence of breast cancer in patients with benign thyroid diseases. J Endocrinol Invest. 2011;34(5):349-52.

166. Kuijpens JL, Nyklictek I, Louwman MW, Weetman TA, Pop VJ, Coebergh JW. Hypothyroidism might be related to breast cancer in post-menopausal women. Thyroid. 2005;15(11):1253-9.

167. Cristofanilli M, Yamamura Y, Kau SW, Bevers T, Strom S, Patangan M, et al. Thyroid hormone and breast carcinoma. Primary hypothyroidism is associated with a reduced incidence of primary breast carcinoma. Cancer. 2005;103(6):1122-8.

168. Tosovic A, Becker C, Bondeson AG, Bondeson L, Ericsson UB, Malm J, et al. Prospectively measured thyroid hormones and thyroid peroxidase antibodies in relation to breast cancer risk. Int J Cancer. 2012;131(9):2126-33.

169. Adami HO, Hansen J, Rimsten A, Wide L. Thyroid function in breast cancer patients before and up to two years after mastectomy. Upsala Journal of Medical Sciences. 1979;84(3):228-34.

170. Hellevik AI, Asvold BO, Bjoro T, Romundstad PR, Nilsen TI, Vatten LJ. Thyroid function and cancer risk: a prospective population study. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 2009;18(2):570-4.

171. Moeller LC, Fuhrer D, Moeller LC, Fuhrer D. Thyroid hormone, thyroid hormone receptors, and cancer: a clinical perspective. Endocrine-Related Cancer. 2013;20(2):R19-29.

172. Houdebine LM, Delouis C, Devinoy E. Post-transcriptional stimulation of casein synthesis by thyroid hormone. Biochimie. 1978;60(8):809-12.

173. Vonderhaar BK, Greco AE. Lobulo-alveolar development of mouse mammary glands is regulated by thyroid hormones. Endocrinology. 1979;104(2):409-18.

174. Sellitti DF, Tseng YC, Latham KR, Sellitti DF, Tseng YC, Latham KR. Nuclear thyroid hormone receptors in C3H/HeN mouse mammary glands and spontaneous tumors. Cancer Research. 1983;43(3):1030-8.

175. Conde I, Paniagua R, Zamora J, Blanquez MJ, Fraile B, Ruiz A, et al. Influence of thyroid hormone receptors on breast cancer cell proliferation. Ann Oncol. 2006;17(1):60-4.

176. Nogueira CR, Brentani MM, Nogueira CR, Brentani MM. Triiodothyronine mimics the effects of estrogen in breast cancer cell lines. Journal of Steroid Biochemistry & Molecular Biology. 1996;59(3-4):271-9.

177. Gonzalez-Sancho JM, Garcia V, Bonilla F, Munoz A. Thyroid hormone receptors/THR genes in human cancer. Cancer Lett. 2003;192(2):121-32.

178. Ryodi E, Metso S, Jaatinen P, Huhtala H, Saaristo R, Valimaki M, et al. Cancer Incidence and Mortality in Patients Treated Either With RAI or Thyroidectomy for Hyperthyroidism. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2015;100(10):3710-7.

179. Shering SG, Zbar AP, Moriarty M, McDermott EW, O'Higgins NJ, Smyth PP. Thyroid disorders and breast cancer. Eur J Cancer Prev. 1996;5(6):504-6.

180. Giani C, Fierabracci P, Bonacci R, Gigliotti A, Campani D, De Negri F, et al. Relationship between breast cancer and thyroid disease: relevance of autoimmune thyroid disorders in breast malignancy. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1996;81(3):990-4.

181. Giustarini E, Pinchera A, Fierabracci P, Roncella M, Fustaino L, Mammoli C, et al. Thyroid autoimmunity in patients with malignant and benign breast diseases before surgery. Eur J Endocrinol. 2006;154(5):645-9.

182. Smyth PP, Shering SG, Kilbane MT, Murray MJ, McDermott EW, Smith DF, et al. Serum thyroid peroxidase autoantibodies, thyroid volume, and outcome in breast carcinoma. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1998;83(8):2711-6.

183. Fiore E, Giustarini E, Mammoli C, Fragomeni F, Campani D, Muller I, et al. Favorable predictive value of thyroid autoimmunity in high aggressive breast cancer. J Endocrinol Invest. 2007;30(9):734-8.

184. Farahati J, Roggenbuck D, Gilman E, Schutte M, Jagminaite E, Seyed Zakavi R, et al. Anti-thyroid peroxidase antibodies are associated with the absence of

distant metastases in patients with newly diagnosed breast cancer. Clin Chem Lab Med. 2012;50(4):709-14.

185. Jiskra J, Barkmanova J, Limanova Z, Lanska V, Smutek D, Potlukova E, et al. Thyroid autoimmunity occurs more frequently in women with breast cancer compared to women with colorectal cancer and controls but it has no impact on relapse-free and overall survival. Oncol Rep. 2007;18(6):1603-11.

186. Smyth PP. Role of iodine in antioxidant defence in thyroid and breast disease. Biofactors. 2003;19(3-4):121-30.

187. Kilbane MT, Ajjan RA, Weetman AP, Dwyer R, McDermott EW, O'Higgins NJ, et al. Tissue iodine content and serum-mediated 125I uptake-blocking activity in breast cancer. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2000;85(3):1245-50.

188. Sandhu MK, Brezden-Masley C, Lipscombe LL, Zagorski B, Booth GL, Sandhu MK, et al. Autoimmune hypothyroidism and breast cancer in the elderly. Breast Cancer Research & Treatment. 2009;115(3):635-41.

189. Eskin BA, Grotkowski CE, Connolly CP, Ghent WR. Different tissue responses for iodine and iodide in rat thyroid and mammary glands. Biol Trace Elem Res. 1995;49(1):9-19.

190. Eskin BA, Shuman R, Krouse T, Merion JA. Rat mammary gland atypia produced by iodine blockade with perchlorate. Cancer Res. 1975;35(9):2332-9.

191. Smyth PP, Smith DF, McDermott EW, Murray MJ, Geraghty JG, O'Higgins NJ. A direct relationship between thyroid enlargement and breast cancer. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1996;81(3):937-41.

192. Garner CN, Ganetzky R, Brainard J, Hammel JP, Berber E, Siperstein AE, et al. Increased prevalence of breast cancer among patients with thyroid and parathyroid disease. Surgery. 2007;142(6):806-13; discussion 13 e1-3.

193. Lehrer S, Green S, Martignetti JA, Rosenzweig KE. Association between breast and thyroid cancers. Advances in Genomics and Genetics. 2014;4:1-4.

194. Park JS, Oh KK, Kim EK, Chang HS, Hong SW. Sonographic screening for thyroid cancer in females undergoing breast sonography. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2006;186(4):1025-8.

195. Huang J, Walker R, Groome PG, Shelley W, Mackillop WJ, Huang J, et al. Risk of thyroid carcinoma in a female population after radiotherapy for breast carcinoma. Cancer. 2001;92(6):1411-8.

196. Weiss NS, Rossing MA. Healthy screened bias in epidemiologic studies of cancer incidence. Epidemiology. 1996;7(3):319-22.

197. Jemal A, Murray T, Ward E, Samuels A, Tiwari RC, Ghafoor A, et al. Cancer statistics, 2005. CA Cancer J Clin. 2005;55(1):10-30.

198. Fisher B, Dignam J, Wolmark N, Mamounas E, Costantino J, Poller W, et al. Lumpectomy and radiation therapy for the treatment of intraductal breast cancer: findings from National Surgical Adjuvant Breast and Bowel Project B-17. J Clin Oncol. 1998;16(2):441-52.

199. Angelousi AG, Anagnostou VK, Stamatakos MK, Georgiopoulos GA, Kontzoglou KC. Mechanisms in endocrinology: primary HT and risk for breast cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur J Endocrinol. 2012;166(3):373-81.

200. Tazebay UH, Wapnir IL, Levy O, Dohan O, Zuckier LS, Zhao QH, et al. The mammary gland iodide transporter is expressed during lactation and in breast cancer. Nat Med. 2000;6(8):871-8.

201. Spitzweg C, Morris JC. The sodium iodide symporter: its pathophysiological and therapeutic implications. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2002;57(5):559-74.

202. Dai G, Levy O, Carrasco N. Cloning and characterization of the thyroid iodide transporter. Nature. 1996;379(6564):458-60.

203. Smanik PA, Liu Q, Furminger TL, Ryu K, Xing S, Mazzaferri EL, et al. Cloning of the human sodium lodide symporter. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1996;226(2):339-45.

204. Carrasco N. lodide transport in the thyroid gland. Biochim Biophys Acta. 1993;1154(1):65-82.

205. Spitzweg C, Morris JC. Sodium iodide symporter (NIS) and thyroid. Hormones (Athens). 2002;1(1):22-34.

206. Spitzweg C, Bergert ER, Morris JC. Sodium iodide symporter: Its biology, clinical relevance, and potential role in the pathophysiology of autoimmune thyroid disease. Current Opinion in Endocrinology and Diabetes. 2001;8(5):259-65.

207. Spitzweg C, Harrington KJ, Pinke LA, Vile RG, Morris JC. Clinical review 132: The sodium iodide symporter and its potential role in cancer therapy. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2001;86(7):3327-35.

208. Wapnir IL, van de Rijn M, Nowels K, Amenta PS, Walton K, Montgomery K, et al. Immunohistochemical profile of the sodium/iodide symporter in thyroid, breast, and other carcinomas using high density tissue microarrays and conventional sections. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2003;88(4):1880-8.

209. Berger F, Unterholzner S, Diebold J, Knesewitsch P, Hahn K, Spitzweg C. Mammary radioiodine accumulation due to functional sodium iodide symporter expression in a benign fibroadenoma. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2006;349(4):1258-63.

210. Ryan J, Curran CE, Hennessy E, Newell J, Morris JC, Kerin MJ, et al. The sodium iodide symporter (NIS) and potential regulators in normal, benign and malignant human breast tissue. PLoS ONE [Electronic Resource]. 2011;6(1):e16023.

211. Beyer SJ, Jimenez RE, Shapiro CL, Cho JY, Jhiang SM, Beyer SJ, et al. Do cell surface trafficking impairments account for variable cell surface sodium iodide symporter levels in breast cancer? Breast Cancer Research & Treatment. 2009;115(1):205-12.

212. Peyrottes I, Navarro V, Ondo-Mendez A, Marcellin D, Bellanger L, Marsault R, et al. Immunoanalysis indicates that the sodium iodide symporter is not overexpressed in intracellular compartments in thyroid and breast cancers. Eur J Endocrinol. 2009;160(2):215-25.

213. Moon DH, Lee SJ, Park KY, Park KK, Ahn SH, Pai MS, et al. Correlation between 99mTc-pertechnetate uptakes and expressions of human sodium iodide symporter gene in breast tumor tissues. Nucl Med Biol. 2001;28(7):829-34.

214. Wapnir IL, Goris M, Yudd A, Dohan O, Adelman D, Nowels K, et al. The Na+/I- symporter mediates iodide uptake in breast cancer metastases and can be selectively down-regulated in the thyroid. Clin Cancer Res. 2004;10(13):4294-302.

215. Spitzweg C, Joba W, Eisenmenger W, Heufelder AE. Analysis of human sodium iodide symporter gene expression in extrathyroidal tissues and cloning of its complementary deoxyribonucleic acids from salivary gland, mammary gland, and gastric mucosa. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1998;83(5):1746-51.

216. Raspe E, Costagliola S, Ruf J, Mariotti S, Dumont JE, Ludgate M. Identification of the thyroid Na+/I- cotransporter as a potential autoantigen in thyroid autoimmune disease. Eur J Endocrinol. 1995;132(4):399-405.

217. Ajjan RA, Findlay C, Metcalfe RA, Watson PF, Crisp M, Ludgate M, et al. The modulation of the human sodium iodide symporter activity by Graves' disease sera. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1998;83(4):1217-21.

218. Ajjan RA, Kemp EH, Waterman EA, Watson PF, Endo T, Onaya T, et al. Detection of binding and blocking autoantibodies to the human sodium-iodide symporter in patients with autoimmune thyroid disease. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2000;85(5):2020-7.

219. Chin HS, Chin DK, Morgenthaler NG, Vassart G, Costagliola S. Rarity of anti-Na+/I- symporter (NIS) antibody with iodide uptake inhibiting activity in autoimmune thyroid diseases (AITD). J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2000;85(10):3937-40.

220. Tonacchera M, Agretti P, Ceccarini G, Lenza R, Refetoff S, Santini F, et al. Autoantibodies from patients with autoimmune thyroid disease do not interfere with the activity of the human iodide symporter gene stably transfected in CHO cells. Eur J Endocrinol. 2001;144(6):611-8.

221. Seissler J, Wagner S, Schott M, Lettmann M, Feldkamp J, Scherbaum WA, et al. Low frequency of autoantibodies to the human Na(+)/I(-) symporter in patients with autoimmune thyroid disease. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2000;85(12):4630-4.

222. Brix TH, Hegedus L, Weetman AP, Kemp HE. Pendrin and NIS antibodies are absent in healthy individuals and are rare in autoimmune thyroid disease: evidence from a Danish twin study. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2014;81(3):440-4.

223. Fierabracci P, Pinchera A, Tonacchera M, Agretti P, De Marco G, Albertini S, et al. Absence of interference of serum IgGs from patients with breast cancer and thyroid autoimmunity on the function of human iodide symporter gene stably transfected in CHO cells. J Endocrinol Invest. 2004;27(9):862-5.

224. Pohlenz J, Duprez L, Weiss RE, Vassart G, Refetoff S, Costagliola S. Failure of membrane targeting causes the functional defect of two mutant sodium iodide symporters. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2000;85(7):2366-9.

225. Young IT. Proof without prejudice: use of the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test for the analysis of histograms from flow systems and other sources. The journal of histochemistry and cytochemistry : official journal of the Histochemistry Society. 1977;25(7):935-41.

226. Liddell J. Antibody purification by ammonium sulfate precipitation: eLS. John Wiley & Sons Ltd, Chichester; 2003. Available from: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1038/npg.els.0003761/abstract

http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/store/10.1038/npg.els.0003761/asset/a0003761.p df?v=1&t=ii905iul&s=c9621eef696286638fc6e746d5d5079cefe087cc.

227. Gonzalez-Quintela A, Alende R, Gude F, Campos J, Rey J, Meijide LM, et al. Serum levels of immunoglobulins (IgG, IgA, IgM) in a general adult population and their relationship with alcohol consumption, smoking and common metabolic abnormalities. Clin Exp Immunol. 2008;151(1):42-50.

228. Sieverts H, Alabaster O, Goldschmidts W, Magrath I. Expression of surface antigens during the cell cycle in different growth phases of American and African Burkitt's lymphoma cell lines. Cancer Res. 1986;46(3):1182-8.

229. Kucharska AM, Czarnocka B, Demkow U. Anti-natrium/iodide symporter antibodies and other anti-thyroid antibodies in children with Turner's syndrome. Advances in experimental medicine and biology. 2013;756:131-8.

230. Jaume JC, Kakinuma A, Chazenbalk GD, Rapoport B, McLachlan SM. Thyrotropin receptor autoantibodies in serum are present at much lower levels than thyroid peroxidase autoantibodies: analysis by flow cytometry. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1997;82(2):500-7.

231. Patibandla SA, Dallas JS, Seetharamaiah GS, Tahara K, Kohn LD, Prabhakar BS. Flow cytometric analyses of antibody binding to Chinese hamster ovary cells expressing human thyrotropin receptor. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1997;82(6):1885-93.

232. Jones D, Kroos N, Anema R, van Montfort B, Vooys A, van der Kraats S, et al. High-level expression of recombinant IgG in the human cell line per.c6. Biotechnology progress. 2003;19(1):163-8.

233. Werner RG, Noe W, Kopp K, Schluter M. Appropriate mammalian expression systems for biopharmaceuticals. Arzneimittel-Forschung. 1998;48(8):870-80.

234. Wurm FM. Production of recombinant protein therapeutics in cultivated mammalian cells. Nature biotechnology. 2004;22(11):1393-8.

235. Schirrmann T, Al-Halabi L, Dubel S, Hust M. Production systems for recombinant antibodies. Frontiers in bioscience : a journal and virtual library. 2008;13:4576-94.

236. Koren E, Zuckerman LA, Mire-Sluis AR. Immune responses to therapeutic proteins in humans--clinical significance, assessment and prediction. Current pharmaceutical biotechnology. 2002;3(4):349-60.

237. Shankar G, Pendley C, Stein KE. A risk-based bioanalytical strategy for the assessment of antibody immune responses against biological drugs. Nature biotechnology. 2007;25(5):555-61.

238. Xue L, Johnson R, Gorovits B. Prevalence and isotypic complexity of the anti-Chinese hamster ovary host cell protein antibodies in normal human serum. The AAPS journal. 2010;12(1):98-106.

239. Metcalfe R, Jordan N, Watson P, Gullu S, Wiltshire M, Crisp M, et al. Demonstration of immunoglobulin G, A, and E autoantibodies to the human thyrotropin receptor using flow cytometry. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2002;87(4):1754-61.

240. Czarnocka B, Ruf J, Ferrand M, Carayon P, Lissitzky S. Purification of the human thyroid peroxidase and its identification as the microsomal antigen involved in autoimmune thyroid diseases. FEBS Lett. 1985;190(1):147-52.

241. Saunders B, editor. Peroxidases and catalases. G.L. Eichhorn ed. Amsterdam: Elsevier; 1973.

242. McLachlan SM, Rapoport B. The molecular biology of thyroid peroxidase: cloning, expression and role as autoantigen in autoimmune thyroid disease. Endocr Rev. 1992;13(2):192-206.

243. Libert F, Ruel J, Ludgate M, Swillens S, Alexander N, Vassart G, et al. Complete nucleotide sequence of the human thyroperoxidase-microsomal antigen cDNA. Nucleic Acids Res. 1987;15(16):6735.

244. Libert F, Ruel J, Ludgate M, Swillens S, Alexander N, Vassart G, et al. Thyroperoxidase, an auto-antigen with a mosaic structure made of nuclear and mitochondrial gene modules. EMBO J. 1987;6(13):4193-6.

245. Kimura S, Hong YS, Kotani T, Ohtaki S, Kikkawa F. Structure of the human thyroid peroxidase gene: comparison and relationship to the human myeloperoxidase gene. Biochemistry. 1989;28(10):4481-9.

246. McLachlan SM, Rapoport B. Thyroid peroxidase as an autoantigen. Thyroid. 2007;17(10):939-48.

247. Furtmuller PG, Zederbauer M, Jantschko W, Helm J, Bogner M, Jakopitsch C, et al. Active site structure and catalytic mechanisms of human peroxidases. Arch Biochem Biophys. 2006;445(2):199-213.

248. Ludgate M, Mariotti S, Libert F, Dinsart C, Piccolo P, Santini F, et al. Antibodies to human thyroid peroxidase in autoimmune thyroid disease: studies with a cloned recombinant complementary deoxyribonucleic acid epitope. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1989;68(6):1091-6.

249. Lozier J, Takahashi N, Putnam FW. Complete amino acid sequence of human plasma beta 2-glycoprotein I. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1984;81(12):3640-4. 250. Estienne V, Blanchet C, Niccoli-Sire P, Duthoit C, Durand-Gorde JM, Geourjon C, et al. Molecular model, calcium sensitivity, and disease specificity of

a conformational thyroperoxidase B-cell epitope. J Biol Chem. 1999;274(50):35313-7.

251. Kimura S, Kotani T, McBride OW, Umeki K, Hirai K, Nakayama T, et al. Human thyroid peroxidase: complete cDNA and protein sequence, chromosome mapping, and identification of two alternately spliced mRNAs. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1987;84(16):5555-9.

252. Zanelli E, Henry M, Charvet B, Malthiery Y. Evidence for an alternate splicing in the thyroperoxidase messenger from patients with Graves' disease. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1990;170(2):735-41.

253. Ferrand M, Le Fourn V, Franc JL. Increasing diversity of human thyroperoxidase generated by alternative splicing. Characterized by molecular cloning of new transcripts with single- and multispliced mRNAs. J Biol Chem. 2003;278(6):3793-800.

254. Niccoli-Sire P, Fayadat L, Siffroi-Fernandez S, Malthierry Y, Franc JL. Alternatively spliced form of human thyroperoxidase, TPOzanelli: activity, intracellular trafficking, and role in hormonogenesis. Biochemistry. 2001;40(8):2572-9.

255. Kiso Y, Furmaniak J, Morteo C, Smith BR. Analysis of carbohydrate residues on human thyroid peroxidase (TPO) and thyroglobulin (Tg) and effects of

deglycosylation, reduction and unfolding on autoantibody binding. Autoimmunity. 1992;12(4):259-69.

256. Cetani F, Costagliola S, Tonacchera M, Panneels V, Vassart G, Ludgate M. The thyroperoxidase doublet is not produced by alternative splicing. Mol Cell Endocrinol. 1995;115(2):125-32.

257. O'Brien PJ. Peroxidases. Chem Biol Interact. 2000;129(1-2):113-39.

258. Cheng G, Salerno JC, Cao Z, Pagano PJ, Lambeth JD. Identification and characterization of VPO1, a new animal heme-containing peroxidase. Free Radic Biol Med. 2008;45(12):1682-94.

259. Shin K, Tomita M, Lonnerdal B. Identification of lactoperoxidase in mature human milk. J Nutr Biochem. 2000;11(2):94-102.

260. Kim SS, Kim IJ, Kim SJ, Lee JY, Bae YT, Jeon YK, et al. Incidental diffuse thyroid 18F-FDG uptake related to autoimmune thyroiditis may be a favorable prognostic factor in advanced breast cancer. J Nucl Med. 2012;53(12):1855-62.

261. Lai OF, Zaiden N, Goh SS, Mohamed NE, Seah LL, Fong KS, et al. Detection of thyroid peroxidase mRNA and protein in orbital tissue. Eur J Endocrinol. 2006;155(2):213-8.

262. Paik S. Expression of IGF-I and IGF-II mRNA in breast tissue. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 1992;22(1):31-8.

263. Khandwala HM, McCutcheon IE, Flyvbjerg A, Friend KE. The effects of insulin-like growth factors on tumorigenesis and neoplastic growth. Endocr Rev. 2000;21(3):215-44.

264. Dupont J, Le Roith D. Insulin-like growth factor 1 and oestradiol promote cell proliferation of MCF-7 breast cancer cells: new insights into their synergistic effects. Mol Pathol. 2001;54(3):149-54.

265. Tonacchera M, Cetani F, Costagliola S, Alcalde L, Uibo R, Vassart G, et al. Mapping thyroid peroxidase epitopes using recombinant protein fragments. Eur J Endocrinol. 1995;132(1):53-61.

266. Chelly J, Concordet JP, Kaplan JC, Kahn A. Illegitimate transcription: transcription of any gene in any cell type. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1989;86(8):2617-21.

267. Schwanhausser B, Busse D, Li N, Dittmar G, Schuchhardt J, Wolf J, et al. Global quantification of mammalian gene expression control. Nature. 2011;473(7347):337-42.

268. Vogel C, Marcotte EM. Insights into the regulation of protein abundance from proteomic and transcriptomic analyses. Nat Rev Genet. 2012;13(4):227-32.

269. Sager R. Expression genetics in cancer: shifting the focus from DNA to RNA. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1997;94(3):952-5.

270. Franzke A, Peest D, Probst-Kepper M, Buer J, Kirchner GI, Brabant G, et al. Autoimmunity resulting from cytokine treatment predicts long-term survival in patients with metastatic renal cell cancer. J Clin Oncol. 1999;17(2):529-33.

271. Fyssas I, Syrigos KN, Konstantoulakis MM, Tsibloulis V, Manouras A, Peveretos P, et al. Thyroid autoantibodies and thyroid function in patients with pancreatic adenocarcinoma. Acta Oncol. 1997;36(1):65-8.

272. Yamashita N, Maruchi N, Mori W. Hashimoto's thyroiditis: a possible risk factor for lung cancer among Japanese women. Cancer Lett. 1979;7(1):9-13.

273. Syrigos KN, Konstantoulakis MM, Constantoulakis M, Marafelia P, Koutras D, Golematis BC. Thyroid autoantibodies and thyroid function in patients with gastric cancer. Acta Oncol. 1994;33(8):905-7.

274. Tan J, Buache E, Chenard MP, Dali-Youcef N, Rio MC. Adipocyte is a non-trivial, dynamic partner of breast cancer cells. Int J Dev Biol. 2011;55(7-9):851-9.

275. Berthois Y, Katzenellenbogen JA, Katzenellenbogen BS. Phenol red in tissue culture media is a weak estrogen: implications concerning the study of estrogen-responsive cells in culture. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1986;83(8):2496-500.

276. Crisp MS, Lane C, Halliwell M, Wynford-Thomas D, Ludgate M. Thyrotropin receptor transcripts in human adipose tissue. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1997;82(6):2003-5.

277. Obregon MJ. Thyroid hormone and adipocyte differentiation. Thyroid. 2008;18(2):185-95.

278. Kamatani N, Kubota M, Willis EH, Frincke LA, Carson DA. 5'-Methylthioadenosine is the major source of adenine in human cells. Advances in experimental medicine and biology. 1984;165 Pt B:83-8.

279. Li R, Shen Y. An old method facing a new challenge: re-visiting housekeeping proteins as internal reference control for neuroscience research. Life Sci. 2013;92(13):747-51.

280. Dubska M, Banga JP, Plochocka D, Hoser G, Kemp EH, Sutton BJ, et al. Structural insights into autoreactive determinants in thyroid peroxidase composed of discontinuous and multiple key contact amino acid residues contributing to epitopes recognized by patients' autoantibodies. Endocrinology. 2006;147(12):5995-6003.

281. Sharma S, Singh AK, Kaushik S, Sinha M, Singh RP, Sharma P, et al. Lactoperoxidase: structural insights into the function, ligand binding and inhibition. International journal of biochemistry and molecular biology. 2013;4(3):108-28.

282. Theorell H, Akeson A. Highly purified milk peroxidase: Ark Kemi Mineral Geol; 1943.

283. Cals MM, Mailliart P, Brignon G, Anglade P, Dumas BR. Primary structure of bovine lactoperoxidase, a fourth member of a mammalian heme peroxidase family. Eur J Biochem. 1991;198(3):733-9.

284. Singh AK, Singh N, Sharma S, Singh SB, Kaur P, Bhushan A, et al. Crystal structure of lactoperoxidase at 2.4 A resolution. Journal of molecular biology. 2008;376(4):1060-75.

285. Godlewska M, Gora M, Buckle AM, Porebski BT, Kemp EH, Sutton BJ, et al. A redundant role of human thyroid peroxidase propeptide for cellular, enzymatic, and immunological activity. Thyroid. 2014;24(2):371-82.

286. Hobby P, Gardas A, Radomski R, McGregor AM, Banga JP, Sutton BJ. Identification of an immunodominant region recognized by human autoantibodies in a three-dimensional model of thyroid peroxidase. Endocrinology. 2000;141(6):2018-26.

287. Zeng J, Fenna RE. X-ray crystal structure of canine myeloperoxidase at 3 A resolution. Journal of molecular biology. 1992;226(1):185-207.

288. Norman DG, Barlow PN, Baron M, Day AJ, Sim RB, Campbell ID. Threedimensional structure of a complement control protein module in solution. Journal of molecular biology. 1991;219(4):717-25.

289. Knott V, Downing AK, Cardy CM, Handford P. Calcium binding properties of an epidermal growth factor-like domain pair from human fibrillin-1. Journal of molecular biology. 1996;255(1):22-7.

290. Ruf J, Toubert ME, Czarnocka B, Durand-Gorde JM, Ferrand M, Carayon P. Relationship between immunological structure and biochemical properties of human thyroid peroxidase. Endocrinology. 1989;125(3):1211-8.

291. Banga JP, Tomlinson RW, Doble N, Odell E, McGregor AM. Thyroid microsomal/thyroid peroxidase autoantibodies show discrete patterns of cross-reactivity to myeloperoxidase, lactoperoxidase and horseradish peroxidase. Immunology. 1989;67(2):197-204.

292. McDonald DO, Pearce SH. Thyroid peroxidase forms thionamide-sensitive homodimers: relevance for immunomodulation of thyroid autoimmunity. J Mol Med (Berl). 2009;87(10):971-80.

293. Cocquet J, Chong A, Zhang G, Veitia RA. Reverse transcriptase template switching and false alternative transcripts. Genomics. 2006;88(1):127-31.

294. Mader RM, Schmidt WM, Sedivy R, Rizovski B, Braun J, Kalipciyan M, et al. Reverse transcriptase template switching during reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction: artificial generation of deletions in ribonucleotide reductase mRNA. J Lab Clin Med. 2001;137(6):422-8. 295. Loeser AA. A new therapy for prevention of post-operative recurrences in genital and breast cancer; a six-years study of prophylactic thyroid treatment. Br Med J. 1954;2(4901):1380-3.

296. Mittra I, Hayward JL. Hypothalamic-pituitary-thyroid axis in breast cancer. Lancet. 1974;1(7863):885-9.

297. Adami HO, Rimsten A, Thoren L, Vegelius J, Wide L. Thyroid disease and function in breast cancer patients and non-hospitalized controls evaluated by determination of TSH, T3, rT3 and T4 levels in serum. Acta chirurgica Scandinavica. 1978;144(2):89-97.

298. Hedley AJ, Jones SJ, Spiegelhalter DJ, Clements P, Bewsher PD, Simpson JG, et al. Breast cancer in thyroid disease: fact or fallacy? Lancet. 1981;1(8212):131-3.

299. Ditsch N, Liebhardt S, Von Koch F, Lenhard M, Vogeser M, Spitzweg C, et al. Thyroid function in breast cancer patients. Anticancer Res. 2010;30(5):1713-7.

300. McShane LM, Altman DG, Sauerbrei W, Taube SE, Gion M, Clark GM, et al. REporting recommendations for tumor MARKer prognostic studies (REMARK). Nat Clin Pract Oncol. 2005;2(8):416-22.

301. Ellis P, Barrett-Lee P, Johnson L, Cameron D, Wardley A, O'Reilly S, et al. Sequential docetaxel as adjuvant chemotherapy for early breast cancer (TACT): an open-label, phase III, randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2009;373(9676):1681-92.

302. Bliss JM, Ellis P, Kilburn L, Bartlett J, Bloomfield D, Cameron D, et al. Mature analysis of UK Taxotere as Adjuvant Chemotherapy (TACT) trial (CRUK 01/001); effects of treatment and characterisation of patterns of breast cancer relapse. Cancer Res Suppl. 2012;72(24):Abstract P1-13-03.

303. Loeser AA. Thyroid hormone for the prevention of postoperative recurrence of carcinoma of the female breast and genitalia. A review of 211 cases in a nine-year study. Journal of the International College of Surgeons. 1958;29(1-3):337-47.

304. Gorman CA, Becker DV, Greenspan FS. American thyroid association statement: breast cancer and thyroid hormone therapy. Annals of Internal Medicine. 1977;86(4):502-3.

305. Lyons AR, Edelstyn GA. Thyroid hormone as a prophylactic agent following radical treatment of breast cancer. British Journal of Cancer. 1965;19(1):116-21.

306. Hoffman DA, McConahey WM, Brinton LA, Fraumeni JF, Jr., Hoffman DA, McConahey WM, et al. Breast cancer in hypothyroid women using thyroid supplements. JAMA. 1984;251(5):616-9.

307. Tosovic A, Bondeson AG, Bondeson L, Ericsson UB, Manjer J, Tosovic A, et al. Triiodothyronine levels in relation to mortality from breast cancer and all causes: a population-based prospective cohort study. European Journal of Endocrinology. 2013;168(4):483-90.

308. Tosovic A, Bondeson AG, Bondeson L, Ericsson UB, Manjer J, Tosovic A, et al. T3 levels in relation to prognostic factors in breast cancer: a population-based prospective cohort study. BMC Cancer. 2014;14:536.

309. Fitzgibbons PL, Page DL, Weaver D, Thor AD, Allred DC, Clark GM, et al. Prognostic factors in breast cancer. College of American Pathologists Consensus Statement 1999. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2000;124(7):966-78.

310. Sobin LH. TNM: principles, history, and relation to other prognostic factors. Cancer. 2001;91(8 Suppl):1589-92.

311. Donegan WL, Spratt JS. Staging and Prognosis. Cancer of the Breast. 5th ed: Saunders; 2002. p. 477-506.

312. Patey DH, Scarff RW. The position of histology in the prognosis of carcinoma of the breast. Lancet. 1928;1:801-4.

313. Bloom HJ, Richardson WW. Histological grading and prognosis in breast cancer; a study of 1409 cases of which 359 have been followed for 15 years. Br J Cancer. 1957;11(3):359-77.

314. Elston CW, Ellis IO. Pathological prognostic factors in breast cancer. I. The value of histological grade in breast cancer: experience from a large study with long-term follow-up. Histopathology. 1991;19(5):403-10.

315. Rakha EA, El-Sayed ME, Lee AH, Elston CW, Grainge MJ, Hodi Z, et al. Prognostic significance of Nottingham histologic grade in invasive breast carcinoma. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26(19):3153-8.

316. Rakha EA, Reis-Filho JS, Baehner F, Dabbs DJ, Decker T, Eusebi V, et al. Breast cancer prognostic classification in the molecular era: the role of histological grade. Breast Cancer Res. 2010;12(4):207.

317. Nounou MI, ElAmrawy F, Ahmed N, Abdelraouf K, Goda S, Syed-Sha-Qhattal H. Breast Cancer: Conventional Diagnosis and Treatment Modalities and Recent Patents and Technologies. Breast Cancer (Auckl). 2015;9(Suppl 2):17-34.

318. Goldhirsch A, Winer EP, Coates AS, Gelber RD, Piccart-Gebhart M, Thurlimann B, et al. Personalizing the treatment of women with early breast cancer: highlights of the St Gallen International Expert Consensus on the Primary Therapy of Early Breast Cancer 2013. Ann Oncol. 2013;24(9):2206-23.

319. UK CR. About breast cancer chemotherapy 2015 [Available from: http://www.cancerresearchuk.org/about-cancer/type/breast-

cancer/treatment/chemotherapy/about-breast-cancer-chemotherapy - drugs.

320. Osborne CK, Zhao H, Fuqua SA. Selective estrogen receptor modulators: structure, function, and clinical use. J Clin Oncol. 2000;18(17):3172-86.

321. Harvey JM, Clark GM, Osborne CK, Allred DC. Estrogen receptor status by immunohistochemistry is superior to the ligand-binding assay for predicting response to adjuvant endocrine therapy in breast cancer. J Clin Oncol. 1999;17(5):1474-81.

322. Bardou VJ, Arpino G, Elledge RM, Osborne CK, Clark GM. Progesterone receptor status significantly improves outcome prediction over estrogen receptor status alone for adjuvant endocrine therapy in two large breast cancer databases. J Clin Oncol. 2003;21(10):1973-9.

323. Bedard PL, Cardoso F, Piccart-Gebhart MJ. Stemming resistance to HER-2 targeted therapy. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia. 2009;14(1):55-66.

324. Pusztai L, Mazouni C, Anderson K, Wu Y, Symmans WF. Molecular classification of breast cancer: limitations and potential. Oncologist. 2006;11(8):868-77.

325. D'Eredita G, Giardina C, Martellotta M, Natale T, Ferrarese F. Prognostic factors in breast cancer: the predictive value of the Nottingham Prognostic Index in patients with a long-term follow-up that were treated in a single institution. Eur J Cancer. 2001;37(5):591-6.

326. Olivotto IA, Bajdik CD, Ravdin PM, Speers CH, Coldman AJ, Norris BD, et al. Population-based validation of the prognostic model ADJUVANT! for early breast cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23(12):2716-25.

327. Bulow Pedersen I, Knudsen N, Carle A, Vejbjerg P, Jorgensen T, Perrild H, et al. A cautious iodization program bringing iodine intake to a low recommended level is associated with an increase in the prevalence of thyroid autoantibodies in the population. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2011;75(1):120-6.

328. Rachet B, Maringe C, Nur U, Quaresma M, Shah A, Woods LM, et al. Population-based cancer survival trends in England and Wales up to 2007: an assessment of the NHS cancer plan for England. Lancet Oncol. 2009;10(4):351-69.

329. Walters S, Rachet B, Westlake S, Cooper N, Rasulo D, Horn O, et al. Survival Rates in England, patients diagnosed 2001-2006 followed up to 2007. Office for National Statistics (ONS). 2009:1-11.

330. Carter CL, Allen C, Henson DE. Relation of tumor size, lymph node status, and survival in 24,740 breast cancer cases. Cancer. 1989;63(1):181-7.

331. Brandt J, Garne JP, Tengrup I, Manjer J. Age at diagnosis in relation to survival following breast cancer: a cohort study. World journal of surgical oncology. 2015;13:33.

332. Sant M, Capocaccia R, Verdecchia A, Esteve J, Gatta G, Micheli A, et al. Survival of women with breast cancer in Europe: variation with age, year of diagnosis and country. The EUROCARE Working Group. Int J Cancer. 1998;77(5):679-83.

333. Love RR, Duc NB, Dinh NV, Quy TT, Xin Y, Havighurst TC. Young age as an adverse prognostic factor in premenopausal women with operable breast cancer. Clin Breast Cancer. 2002;2(4):294-8.

334. Fredholm H, Eaker S, Frisell J, Holmberg L, Fredriksson I, Lindman H. Breast cancer in young women: poor survival despite intensive treatment. PLoS One. 2009;4(11):e7695.

335. Adami HO, Malker B, Holmberg L, Persson I, Stone B. The relation between survival and age at diagnosis in breast cancer. N Engl J Med. 1986;315(9):559-63.

336. Yancik R, Wesley MN, Ries LA, Havlik RJ, Edwards BK, Yates JW. Effect of age and comorbidity in postmenopausal breast cancer patients aged 55 years and older. JAMA. 2001;285(7):885-92.

337. Schonberg MA, Marcantonio ER, Li D, Silliman RA, Ngo L, McCarthy EP. Breast cancer among the oldest old: tumor characteristics, treatment choices, and survival. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28(12):2038-45.

338. Crowe JP, Jr., Gordon NH, Shenk RR, Zollinger RM, Jr., Brumberg DJ, Shuck JM. Age does not predict breast cancer outcome. Arch Surg. 1994;129(5):483-7; discussion 7-8.

339. Barchielli A, Balzi D. Age at diagnosis, extent of disease and breast cancer survival: a population-based study in Florence, Italy. Tumori. 2000;86(2):119-23.

340. Rapiti E, Fioretta G, Verkooijen HM, Vlastos G, Schafer P, Sappino AP, et al. Survival of young and older breast cancer patients in Geneva from 1990 to 2001. Eur J Cancer. 2005;41(10):1446-52.

341. Klauber-DeMore N. Tumor biology of breast cancer in young women. Breast Dis. 2005;23:9-15.

342. Anders CK, Johnson R, Litton J, Phillips M, Bleyer A. Breast cancer before age 40 years. Semin Oncol. 2009;36(3):237-49.

343. Diab SG, Elledge RM, Clark GM. Tumor characteristics and clinical outcome of elderly women with breast cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2000;92(7):550-6.

344. Valassiadou K, Morgan DA, Robertson JF, Pinder SE, Cheung KL. Successful management of elderly breast cancer patients treated without radiotherapy. World journal of surgical oncology. 2007;5:62.

345. Bernardi D, Errante D, Gallligioni E, Crivellari D, Bianco A, Salvagno L, et al. Treatment of breast cancer in older women. Acta Oncol. 2008;47(2):187-98.

346. Cutuli B, Quentin P, Rodier JF, Barakat P, Grob JC. Severe hypothyroidism after chemotherapy and locoregional irradiation for breast cancer. Radiother Oncol. 2000;57(1):103-5.

347. Bruning P, Bonfrer J, De Jong-Bakker M, Nooyen W, Burgers M. Primary hypothyroidism in breast cancer patients with irradiated supraclavicular lymph nodes. Br J Cancer. 1985;51(5):659-63.

348. de Groot S, Janssen LGM, Charehbili A, Dijkgraaf EM, Smit VTHBM, Kessels LW, et al. Thyroid function alters during neoadjuvant chemotherapy in breast cancer patients: results from the NEOZOTAC trial (BOOG 2010-01). Breast Cancer Research and Treatment. 2015;149(2):461-6.

349. Kumar N, Allen KA, Riccardi D, Bercu BB, Cantor A, Minton S, et al. Fatigue, weight gain, lethargy and amenorrhea in breast cancer patients on chemotherapy: is subclinical hypothyroidism the culprit? Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2004;83(2):149-59.

350. Smith GL, Smith BD, Giordano SH, Shih YC, Woodward WA, Strom EA, et al. Risk of hypothyroidism in older breast cancer patients treated with radiation. Cancer. 2008;112(6):1371-9.

351. Hancock SL, Cox RS, McDougall IR. Thyroid diseases after treatment of Hodgkin's disease. N Engl J Med. 1991;325(9):599-605.

352. Anker GB, Lonning PE, Aakvaag A, Lien EA. Thyroid function in postmenopausal breast cancer patients treated with tamoxifen. Scand J Clin Lab Invest. 1998;58(2):103-7.

353. Kostoglou-Athanassiou I, Ntalles K, Markopoulos C, Athanassiou P, Gogas J, Proukakis C. Thyroid function in postmenopausal women with breast cancer on tamoxifen. Eur J Gynaecol Oncol. 1998;19(2):150-4.

354. Zidan J, Rubenstein W. Effect of adjuvant tamoxifen therapy on thyroid function in postmenopausal women with breast cancer. Oncology. 1999;56(1):43-5.

355. Boomsma MF, Garssen B, Slot E, Berbee M, Berkhof J, Meezenbroek Ede J, et al. Breast cancer surgery-induced immunomodulation. J Surg Oncol. 2010;102(6):640-8.

356. Arczewska K, Godlewska M, Rudzinska M, Hanusek K, Krasuska W, Lyczkowska A, et al. Tpo expressed in the thyroid and in the breast tissue share similar antigenic properties. European Thyroid Journal. 2014;3:182.

357. Nishikawa T, Jaume JC, McLachlan SM, Rapoport B. Human monoclonal autoantibodies against the immunodominant region on thyroid peroxidase: lack of cross-reactivity with related peroxidases or thyroglobulin and inability to inhibit thyroid peroxidase enzymatic activity. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1995;80(4):1461-6. 358. Dayan CM, Londei M, Corcoran AE, Grubeck-Loebenstein B, James RF, Rapoport B, et al. Autoantigen recognition by thyroid-infiltrating T cells in Graves disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1991;88(16):7415-9.

359. Kawakami Y, Fisfalen ME, DeGroot LJ. Proliferative responses of peripheral blood mononuclear cells from patients with autoimmune thyroid diseases to synthetic peptide epitopes of human thyroid peroxidase. Autoimmunity. 1992;13(1):17-26.

360. Fisfalen ME, Soliman M, Okamoto Y, Soltani K, DeGroot LJ. Proliferative responses of T-cells to thyroid antigens and synthetic thyroid peroxidase peptides in autoimmune thyroid disease. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1995;80(5):1597-604.

361. Quaratino S, Thorpe CJ, Travers PJ, Londei M. Similar antigenic surfaces, rather than sequence homology, dictate T-cell epitope molecular mimicry. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1995;92(22):10398-402.

362. Laver WG, Air GM, Webster RG, Smith-Gill SJ. Epitopes on protein antigens: misconceptions and realities. Cell. 1990;61(4):553-6.

363. Banga JP, Barnett PS, McGregor AM. Immunological and molecular characteristics of the thyroid peroxidase autoantigen. Autoimmunity. 1991;8(4):335-43.

364. McLachlan SM, Rapoport B. Genetic and epitopic analysis of thyroid peroxidase (TPO) autoantibodies: markers of the human thyroid autoimmune response. Clin Exp Immunol. 1995;101(2):200-6.

365. Finke R, Seto P, Ruf J, Carayon P, Rapoport B. Determination at the molecular level of a B-cell epitope on thyroid peroxidase likely to be associated with autoimmune thyroid disease. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1991;73(4):919-21.

366. Libert F, Ludgate M, Dinsart C, Vassart G. Thyroperoxidase, but not the thyrotropin receptor, contains sequential epitopes recognized by autoantibodies in recombinant peptides expressed in the pUEX vector. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1991;73(4):857-60.

367. Wang Z, Gerstein M, Snyder M. RNA-Seq: a revolutionary tool for transcriptomics. Nat Rev Genet. 2009;10(1):57-63.

368. Katz Y, Wang ET, Airoldi EM, Burge CB. Analysis and design of RNA sequencing experiments for identifying isoform regulation. Nat Methods. 2010;7(12):1009-15.

369. Costagliola S, Rodien P, Many MC, Ludgate M, Vassart G. Genetic immunization against the human thyrotropin receptor causes thyroiditis and allows production of monoclonal antibodies recognizing the native receptor. J Immunol. 1998;160(3):1458-65.

370. Niccoli P, Fayadat L, Panneels V, Lanet J, Franc JL. Human thyroperoxidase in its alternatively spliced form (TPO2) is enzymatically inactive and exhibits changes in intracellular processing and trafficking. J Biol Chem. 1997;272(47):29487-92.